Captive animal behavior: Individual differences in learning and cognition, and implications on animal welfare

Edited by Jan Langbein and Christian Nawroth

Published in Frontiers in Veterinary Science Frontiers in Psychology





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not

be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83251-080-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83251-080-3

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Captive animal behavior: Individual differences in learning and cognition, and implications on animal welfare

Topic editors

Jan Langbein — Institute for Behavioural Physiology, Research Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN), Germany Christian Nawroth — Research Institute for Farm Animal Biology, Germany

Citation

Langbein, J., Nawroth, C., eds. (2023). *Captive animal behavior: Individual differences in learning and cognition, and implications on animal welfare.* Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83251-080-3

🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

- 04 Editorial: Captive animal behavior: Individual differences in learning and cognition, and implications on animal welfare Jan Langbein and Christian Nawroth
- 07 The Joint Log-Lift Task: A Social Foraging Paradigm Jean-Loup Rault, Irene Camerlink, Sébastien Goumon, Roger Mundry and Marek Špinka
- 19 Goats (*Capra hircus*) From Different Selection Lines Differ in Their Behavioural Flexibility Christian Nawroth, Katrina Rosenberger, Nina M. Keil and

Christian Nawroth, Katrina Rosenberger, Nina M. Keil and Jan Langbein

26 Intranasal Oxytocin Improves Social Behavior in Laboratory Beagle Dogs (*Canis familiaris*) Using a Custom-Made Social Test Battery

> Borbála Turcsán, Viktor Román, György Lévay, Balázs Lendvai, Rita Kedves, Eszter Petró and József Topál

- 40 How Inhibitory Control Relates to Positive and Negative Affective States in Red Junglefowl Laura Clare Garnham, Charlie Clarke and Hanne Løvlie
- 51 Judgment Bias During Gestation in Domestic Pigs Emily V. Bushby, Sheena C. Cotter, Anna Wilkinson, Mary Friel and Lisa M. Collins
- 58 Training of Motion Control May Not Improve Tool-Manipulation Ability in Rats (*Rattus norvegicus*) Akane Nagano
- 66 Personality traits affect learning performance in dwarf goats (*Capra hircus*)

Marie-Antonine Finkemeier, Annika Krause, Armin Tuchscherer, Birger Puppe and Jan Langbein

79 Horses wait for more and better rewards in a delay of gratification paradigm

Désirée Brucks, Anna Härterich and Uta König von Borstel

97 Brain gain—Is the cognitive performance of domestic hens affected by a functional polymorphism in the serotonin transporter gene?

Anissa Dudde, Loc Phi Van, Lars Schrader, Arnd J. Obert and E. Tobias Krause

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Laura Ann Boyle, Teagasc Food Research Centre, Ireland

*CORRESPONDENCE

Jan Langbein langbein@fbn-dummerstorf.de Christian Nawroth nawroth@fbn-dummerstorf.de

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

RECEIVED 18 November 2022 ACCEPTED 24 November 2022 PUBLISHED 02 December 2022

CITATION

Langbein J and Nawroth C (2022) Editorial: Captive animal behavior: Individual differences in learning and cognition, and implications on animal welfare. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 9:1102122. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.1102122

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Langbein and Nawroth. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Captive animal behavior: Individual differences in learning and cognition, and implications on animal welfare

Jan Langbein* and Christian Nawroth*

Institute of Behavioural Physiology, Research Institute for Farm Animal Biology, Dummerstorf, Germany

KEYWORDS

companion animals, farm animals, livestock, learning and cognition, personality

Editorial on the Research Topic

Captive animal behavior: Individual differences in learning and cognition, and implications on animal welfare

To provide adequate welfare for animals in captivity, it is important to consider not only the needs of the species, but also those of the individual. In this context, knowledge about individual differences in learning and cognitive functioning are of particular importance, as it can help to assess the extent to which captive animals are able to adapt and respond to changing housing conditions.

In the last decades, individual differences in learning and cognition have been studied systematically across a wide range of taxa (1). However, the underlying factors that cause this variation, as well as its potential welfare consequences, are still under debate (2). While ultimate factors tend to play a minor role in explaining behavioral variation in captive animals, a variety of proximate factors could be responsible for the individual variation we see in animals' performance in learning and cognitive tasks (Finkemeier et al.). These factors include a variety of genetic and environmental components, ranging from breed or feeding type, to housing conditions (single vs. group housed), to idiosyncrasies of different research sites (3-5). The observation of robust intra-species variation in behavior under identical environmental conditions has led to a significant increase in research on inter-individual behavioral variation, often coined as personality, in many animal taxa, especially in the field of behavioral ecology (6). This behavioral variation can be observed in levels of activity, as well as exploratory and social behaviors, beside others. While the influence of genetic, physiological and behavioral factors on individual response patterns in farm, laboratory, and zoo animals has received considerable attention in recent years, few studies have addressed the role of these traits in predicting inter-individual differences in learning and cognition.

The objective of this Research Topic was to promote interdisciplinary research approaches on the link between individual variation in genetics, physiology and behavior, and learning and cognition—ranging from fields such as developmental psychology to

applied ethology and addressing this variation in animals under human care, with particular emphasis on farm, companion and zoo animals. The manuscripts included in this Research Topic have examined the impact of genetics, neurotransmitters, hormones, critical life stages, and certain personality traits on learning and cognitive phenomena such as cooperation and selfcontrol and range from farm animals (goat, pig, and chicken) to companion (dog, horse) and laboratory animals (rat) as studied species.

Studies in our Research Topic often focused on the association between different behavioral parameters and inter-individual differences in learning and other cognitive phenomena. In a study in goats, Finkemeier et al. investigated the relationship between distinctive personality traits and discrimination learning. Stability in the personality trait boldness was found to have an impact on learning performance in a visual reversal-learning task, with less bold goats performing better than bolder ones. These results support the general hypothesis that proactive animals tend to stick to oncelearned routines and to react less flexibly to changing stimulus combinations (7). To study cooperative behavior in pigs, Rault et al. developed an ecologically relevant feeding paradigm, the so-called "joint log-lift task". To complete the task, two pigs must cooperate in lifting a log to receive a reward. While kinship had no influence on the cooperation behavior of individual dyads, inter-individual differences in sociability influenced the willingness to cooperate in pigs. The relationship between social competence and the impact of intranasal oxytocin on social behavior of dogs was studied by Turcsán et al. While oxytocin has been reported to have a general positive effect on social behavior, intranasal administration of oxytocin in this study increased social behavior in dogs toward humans only in animals that showed already a low baseline performance of interacting with humans. This indicates that the effect of oxytocin on social behavior is dependent on personality traits and the specific context. A study by Brucks et al. investigated self-control in horses. They found that horses wait until a maximum delay of 60 s to receive a highly valued reward rather than to get an immediately available reward of lower quality. While horses fed hay ad libitum instead of receiving a restricted diet achieved higher delay times, the trainability or patience of the horses had no influence on the maximum delay level.

Two of the submitted studies aimed to establish a relationship between different genetic predispositions and learning performance or flexibility in learning behavior. To test whether animals bred for high productivity have lower learning performance, Nawroth et al. compared the performance of dwarf goats and dairy goats in a visual discrimination and reversal-learning task. The results suggest that selection for high performance may have negatively affected the goats' behavioral flexibility with dwarf goats outperforming dairy goats in reversal learning. Dudde et al. investigated the role of the serotonin transporter (5-HTT) on anxiety and learning performance in

chicken. Chicken from selection lines with different 5-HTT polymorphisms were tested with regard to their fearfulness and performance in a simple discrimination task. Chicken with reduced 5-HTT expression showed increased anxiety-like behavior, as has also been demonstrated in humans. However, and in contrast to human research, animals with reduced 5-HTT expression were also the slowest learners compared to hens with moderate or high expression.

Finally, three of the included studies addressed the effects of ontogeny or specific critical life stages on the cognitive abilities in chicken and pig. Garnham et al. investigated the relationship between affective states and inhibitory control in the red jungle fowl. Inhibitory control was measured using a detour task, while measures for affective states derived from the tonic immobility test and a cognitive judgement bias test. While inhibitory control was associated with affective states in younger chicks, no such association was found in older hens. The study shows that the link between affective states and inhibitory control can change during ontogeny. In another study in pigs by Bushby et al., a spatial judgement bias task was used to investigate the extent to which gestation affects the mood of pregnant sows. The reaction of gilts to ambiguous probe locations were tested at different stages of gestation. The results suggest that the mood of pigs can change during pregnancy, which could have an impact on the assessment of the welfare of captive multiparous animals. A study by Nagano examined that modified training to handle a rake-shaped tool in relation to an unreachable reward did not improve the rats' tool manipulation ability.

The studies, summarized in this Research Topic will improve our understanding of the internal and external factors that influence the expression of cognitive abilities in companion, laboratory, and farm animals, and how this in turn can have implications for their welfare.

Author contributions

Both authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

Funding

This work was supported by grants from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, LA 1187/6-1) to JL.

Acknowledgments

We are sincerely grateful to all contributors of this Research Topic. We also want to thank the administrative

staff of Frontiers in Veterinary Science for their continuous support.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. Boogert NJ, Madden JR, Morand-Ferron J, Thornton A. Measuring and understanding individual differences in cognition. *Philos Transact R Soc B Biol Sci.* (2018) 373:20170280. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2017.0280

2. Dougherty LR, Guillette LM. Linking personality and cognition: a meta-analysis. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* (2018) 373:20170282. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2017.0282

3. Gnanadesikan GE, Hare B, Snyder-Mackler N, Call J, Kaminski J, Miklósi Á, et al. Breed differences in dog cognition associated with brainexpressed genes and neurological functions. *Integr Comp Biol.* (2020) 60:976–90. doi: 10.1093/icb/icaa112

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

4. Mader DR, Price EO. Discrimination learning in horses: effects of breed, age and social dominance. J Anim Sci. (1980) 50:962-5. doi: 10.2527/jas1980.505962x

5. Roelofs S, Alferink FAC, Ipema AF, van de Pas T, van der Staay FJ, Nordquist RE. Discrimination learning and judgment bias in low birth weight pigs. *Anim Cogn.* (2019) 22:657–71. doi: 10.1007/s10071-019-01262-5

6. Wolf M, Weissing FJ. An explanatory framework for adaptive personality differences. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* (2010) 365:3959-68. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2010.0215

7. Bolhuis JE, Schouten WG, de Leeuw JA, Schrama JW, Wiegant VM. Individual coping characteristics, rearing conditions and behavioural flexibility in pigs. *Behav Brain Res.* (2004) 152:351–60. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2003.10.024





The Joint Log-Lift Task: A Social Foraging Paradigm

Jean-Loup Rault^{1*}, Irene Camerlink^{1†}, Sébastien Goumon², Roger Mundry³ and Marek Špinka^{4,5}

¹ Institute of Animal Welfare Science, University of Veterinary Medicine, Vienna, Austria, ² ETH Zürich, Animal Physiology, Institute of Agricultural Sciences, Zürich, Switzerland, ³ Platform Bioinformatics and Biostatistics, University of Veterinary Medicine, Vienna, Austria, ⁴ Department of Ethology and Companion Animal Science, Czech University of Life Sciences, Prague, Czechia, ⁵ Department of Ethology, Institute of Animal Science, Prague, Czechia

Behavioural cooperation is under intense research. Yet, popular experimental paradigms often employ artificial tasks, require training, or do not permit partner choice, possibly limiting their biological relevance. We developed the joint log-lift task, a social foraging paradigm in which animals have to jointly lift a log to each obtain a food reward. The task relies on an obligate strategy, meaning that the only way to benefit is to work jointly. We hypothesised that (1) animals learn to spontaneously solve the task, and that (2) kin and (3) more sociable individuals would engage more often together in the task and achieve greater success than non-kin and less sociable individuals, respectively. We presented the task to 8 groups of juvenile domestic pigs (Sus scrofa domesticus) in their home pen for 30 min daily. Over the course of 9 days, the pigs showed evidence of learning by progressively switching from individual to joint behaviours, leading to 68% (62 out of 91 pigs) spontaneously solving the task. Success was influenced by sociability, but not kinship. There were large differences in success among dyads, hinting at the possible role of social dynamics and inter-individual differences in the ability and/or motivation to solve the task. The joint log-lift task allows researchers to investigate spontaneous cooperative tendencies of individuals, dyads and groups in the home environment through ad libitum engagement with the apparatus. This ecologically relevant paradigm opens the way to investigate social foraging experimentally at large scale, by giving animals free choice about when and with whom to work jointly.

Keywords: affiliation, coordination, cooperation, joint action, prosocial, spontaneous, sociability, social learning

INTRODUCTION

Cooperation, a behavioural strategy in which agents achieve a common goal through coordinated action (1), has been investigated in a variety of animal species ranging from mammals (2–5) and birds (6) to social arthropods (7–9). Some experimental paradigms have been particularly popular to investigate cooperation [reviewed in (10)], such as the "string pulling task" (or "loose-string paradigm") employed in more than 160 bird and mammal species (11). Such approaches have provided insightful knowledge on the socio-cognitive abilities of various species. Nevertheless, the biological relevance of some tests has been questioned because they use artificial paradigms (12) or cognitively complex tasks (13). Furthermore, most experiments did not provide the opportunity for partner choice, neglecting social factors as an important facet of cooperation. Consequently, support is growing to investigate cooperation across animal species using ecologically-relevant contexts and species-specific paradigms (10).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Laura Ann Boyle, Teagasc Food Research Centre, Ireland

Reviewed by:

Alejandro Sanchez Amaro, Max Planck Institute for Evolutionary Anthropology, Germany Marie J. Haskell, Scotland's Rural College, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Jean-Loup Rault jean-loup.rault@vetmeduni.ac.at

[†]Present address:

Irene Camerlink, Institute of Genetics and Animal Biotechnology, Polish Academy of Sciences, Jastrzebiec, Poland

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 22 July 2021 Accepted: 09 September 2021 Published: 11 October 2021

Citation:

Rault J-L, Camerlink I, Goumon S, Mundry R and Špinka M (2021) The Joint Log-Lift Task: A Social Foraging Paradigm. Front. Vet. Sci. 8:745627. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.745627

7

We aimed to develop a task that would fulfil the requirements of being biologically relevant, intuitive enough to be solved spontaneously, and applicable to a group setting so that animals can choose their partner and work voluntarily. We developed the joint log-lift task (JLLT), in which two animals have to jointly lift a log to each obtain a food reward. Hence, the approach simulates a social foraging task. The task relies on an obligate strategy, meaning that the individuals only benefit if they work jointly and do not get a (lower) reward for performing the task individually, mimicking many conditions of cooperation found in nature when the only way to access a resource is to cooperate (14). Furthermore, the apparatus is designed so that it can be placed in the home environment and presented to a social group, thus allowing free partner choice and voluntary engagement with the apparatus.

There are conflicting findings on the importance of social factors on the propensity to cooperate. The kinship selection theory (15) was initially the predominant explanation, by cooperating with genetically related individuals to enhance one's inclusive fitness. However, cooperation between non-kin occurs based on alternative mechanisms such as reciprocity (16). In addition, factors at group level related to social dynamics or social relationships have been found to be important for cooperation [reviewed in (10)]. Unfortunately, relatively few studies used setups that allow partner choice in order to better understand the social factors involved in cooperation (10, 12, 17–20).

We tested domestic pigs (*Sus scrofa domesticus*) on the JLLT, as they are highly social animals that engage in cooperative behaviours such as coordinated nursing solicitation by piglets (21), nursing synchronisation (22), and occasional communal rearing (23). Pigs also consider social cues while foraging (24, 25). Their wild boar ancestors are capable of efficient temporal and spatial coordination while foraging, when cooperation prevails over competition (26). Foraging in pigs is typically done with the snout, rooting in the soil or under organic materials laying on the ground to find food items, and pigs possess a particular strong force in their snout to dig or lift (27). Hence, the JLLT solicits a biologically-relevant behaviour for pigs by asking them to lift a log.

We hypothesised that (1) pigs learn to spontaneously solve the task by working jointly, (2) kin would engage more often together in the task and achieve higher success than non-kin, and (3) more sociable individuals would engage more often in the task and achieve greater success than less sociable individuals.

METHODS

Animals and Housing

Eight groups of mixed-sex young pigs (N = 91 pigs) of a commercial farm breed were studied from 7 to 9 weeks of age. Pigs were housed in 3.1×4.7 m partly-slatted floor pens, with a 3×1 m covered heated sleeping area, *ad libitum* access to feed through a multi-space feeder containing a commercial pig meal diet, and *ad libitum* access to water through four drinkers. They were provided with environmental enrichment in the form of straw, wood shavings in the sleeping area, and a small wood log hanging on a chain in the pen. Room temperature was recorded at

noon on each testing day, with an average temperature of 17.3° C (range: 15.1–18.8°C).

Joint Log-Lift Task Apparatus

The testing apparatus requires that two animals lift up a wooden log simultaneously to each receive a food reward (**Figure 1**; see **Supplementary Video**). If the log is lifted up on both sides simultaneously a magnet holds the log in the upper position and a food reward is released on each side (**Figure 1C**). If only one individual lifts up the log, or if individuals lift the log on both sides but each to a different height, the log cannot fix to the magnet due to the inclination and the food rewards remain inaccessible (**Figure 1B**).

The test apparatus was 75 cm wide and 63 cm high and had two openings at the front, each measuring $15 \times 25 \text{ cm}$ (width \times height) separated by 25.5 cm from each other. The sides were made of wood whereas the front was a 4 mm transparent Plexiglas to allow the animals and the camera to see the log moving. Two 33 cm round plastic food bowls were placed below each opening to receive the food rewards. The 70 cm long and 2 kg wooden log laid out horizontally in the apparatus, resting on the food bowls. A metal strip was attached in the middle of the top surface of the log to lock in with the magnet. The magnet was placed at a height of 30 cm in the middle of the apparatus above the middle of the log and held the log in place when the log was lifted high enough on both sides to come in contact with at least 50% of the magnet's surface area. The direction of movement of the log was guided by a metal rail in the centre that guided the log to move vertically. The magnet locked only when the log was lifted from both sides simultaneously to the required height.

Habituation

A food preference test was conducted in each group prior to testing by offering to the group simultaneous choices between a total of eight heaps of 60 g of either chocolate-coated raisins, apples cut into 0.5×0.5 cm cubes, Solettis (salted sticks), and dried mealworms, with two heaps per feed type. Preferences were ranked based on which heap of feed items was depleted first, on group level. Across the eight groups of pigs, 89% of the first depleted feed items were the apple pieces, whereas 75% of the second depleted feed items were the chocolate raisins, with the rest divided between the salted sticks and dried mealworms.

Thereafter, on 2 consecutive days prior to the test, the apparatus was placed in each pen for 10 min per day while the log was locked up on the magnet. This way, pigs could explore the apparatus and discover that it contains food rewards (apple pieces mixed with chocolate raisins) in the food bowls, which were rebaited with small portions when pigs had finished consuming the food rewards.

Testing Days

Tests took place over 9 consecutive days with 30 min daily testing sessions, starting from when pigs were 7 weeks of age. Tests were carried out between 09:30 and 15:00 h. Pigs were marked on their back with an animal marker spray for individual recognition and remarked, when necessary, after the test session of that day was completed. The test order of the groups were randomised across



TABLE 1 | Ethogram to record the behavioural interactions with the joint log-lift task apparatus.

Behaviour	Definition
Touch	A pig makes physical contact with the log with its snout
Attempt alone	One pig raises the log from one side alone, i.e., without another pig lifting on the other side
Attempt together	Two pigs jointly raise the log but do not manage to get it locked to the magnet at the top, because the movement is too uncoordinated or quick
Successful lift	Two pigs lift the log and successfully lock it to the magnet so that the log remains in the upper position

the testing days. Before the test, the experimenter stepped into the pen and set up a camcorder to video record the test from the front view of the apparatus. Entering the pen always woke up the pigs in the few occasions that they were asleep prior to testing, ensuring that they were aware of the start of the testing session. The test was started by placing the testing apparatus, with the log down, into the pen resting on the floor along the pen's door side. The pigs could then freely interact with the apparatus for 30 min per group. A single observer noted the timing, frequency and type of interactions with the apparatus according to an ethogram (Table 1) and the identities of the pigs displaying the behaviour. The observer stood outside the pen and behind the apparatus. When two pigs successfully lifted the log so that it remained fixed to the magnet, emitting a soft click sound, they received a food reward within 2 s of success with the experimenter manually placing a small amount (5–10 g) of small cut apple pieces (0.5 \times 0.5×0.5 cm, Jonagold apples) mixed with chocolate raisins in their food bowl from two openings on the top of the apparatus. The apparatus was reset immediately after the pigs had consumed the reward. Food was not present in the bowl until after the pigs had succeeded.

On the first 3 testing days, the apparatus was pre-baited (i.e., food placed in the reward location) to increase motivation so that the pigs could smell the food reward below the log but not reach it unless the log was lifted successfully by both pigs. Hence, one pig was unable to reach the food rewards alone. There were occasionally pigs who displaced others and therefore, to avoid this, we stopped pre-baiting after day 3 and rewarded the pair of pigs immediately after success to avoid free-riding. Therefore, on the remaining days, the food bowls were not pre-baited unless the group had not been successful in the previous day in which case we pre-baited the apparatus to maintain the pigs' interest in the task. This was the case for group 1 on test days 6, 7, and 8; group 3 on day 8; and group 7 on days 7 and 9.

Group Composition and Kinship

After weaning at 4 weeks of age, pigs were either kept with their original littermates ("littermate" groups; n = 4 groups), or a new group was composed by mixing four different litters ("mixed" groups; n = 4 groups) to generate variation in group composition. In the littermate groups, the number of pigs per group varied between 10 and 14, based on initial litter size and as the initial group composition (i.e., litter) was kept intact. The mixed groups were matched to have a similar variation in group size as the littermate groups, with an average group size of 12 (Std. dev.: 1.825; range: 10-14) pigs in the littermate groups and 11 (Std. dev.: 0.816; range: 10–12) pigs for the mixed groups. Due to routine practices at the farm, piglets were fostered-off only when the number of piglets exceeded the number of functional teats of the sow and within 72 h after birth. There were 15 fostered pigs of which four were in the littermates groups and 11 in the mixed groups. The only four fostered pigs in the "littermate" groups were considered as kins of the other pigs in their litter of adoption, because they spent most of their life up to weaning with them, although they were not genetically related, but in pigs familiarity prevails over genetic relatedness (28). None of the pigs were lost-to-follow-up (i.e., removed from the study, e.g., due to health reasons), so group composition remained unchanged throughout the experiment.

The variable "kinship" indicated for each possible dyad combination whether the individuals within a dyad interacting with the apparatus were littermates or not. The effect of kinship was nested within group composition, as pigs in littermate groups were all kin whereas pigs in mixed groups could interact with kin and non-kin. Depending on the size of the mixed groups (between 10 and 12 pigs originating from four litters), an animal could have between 77.8 and 88.9% of unrelated animals in the mixed groups, i.e., non-kin.

Sociability

Sociability was recorded for 4h daily for 5 days (3 days in the week after weaning and once weekly for the following 2 weeks). The following behaviours were recorded: nose-to-nose contact, nosing in proximity, nosing head, nosing body, allogrooming, ano-genital nosing, exploring together, social play, lying together, mounting, agonistic behaviour, oral manipulation, belly nosing, other behaviour, or being out of sight, with the ethogram detailed in (29). Three observers, using the app Animal Behaviour Pro (version 1.4.4., Animal Behaviour Pro) installed on iPads, recorded the behaviour using 5-min scan sampling for each individual, resulting in 48 scans per animal per day (240 scans per animal in total). Intra- and inter-observer reliability was tested as intraclass correlation coefficient in R (version 3.6.3; R Core Team). The intra-observer reliability reached values of over 96.3% and the inter-observer reliability reached an agreement of 83.5%. The frequencies from all observation days were summed by behaviour by animal, and thereafter expressed as a proportion of the total number of scans. We created the variable "sociability" as the sum of the proportion of scans when an individual was observed initiating nose-to-nose contact, nosing in proximity, nosing head, nosing body, allo-grooming, exploring together and social play. As discussed in Camerlink et al. (29) ambiguous or potentially negative social behaviours such as ano-genital nosing, belly nosing, mounting, agonistic behaviour, and oral manipulation, or inactive behaviour like lying together were discarded from the sociability score. This resulted in one score per individual based on the frequency of the socioaffiliative behaviours initiated toward group members. We then calculated sociability scores for all possible dyads in the group by averaging the sociability of both individuals associating as a dyad in the task, i.e., for the joint behaviours Attempt together and Successful lift.

Evidence of Understanding of the Social Nature of the Task

To determine whether the pigs showed evidence of understanding the need for a partner to solve the task, video footage of the six most successful groups on the last testing day (Day 9), when most pigs had learned how to solve the task, was analysed. We recorded lifting alone in presence or absence of a partner facing the second opening of the apparatus. We also recorded whether the lift was synchronised, defined as two pigs performing a Successful lift by lifting the log starting out from a horizontal position, or non-synchronised, defined as a Successful lift after one pig lifted the log up completely on its side (such that the log is in a diagonal position) followed by the second pig lifting the log on the other side.

Statistical Analysis

Hypothesis 1 regarding learning of the task was tested based on the changes in behaviour over time (test days). Hypothesis 2 regarding kinship was tested based on the predictor variables "group composition" (littermates vs. mixed) for all behaviours, and "kinship" for the joint behaviours (Attempt together and Successful lift) as the variable kinship depended on dyadic associations. Hypothesis 3 regarding sociability was tested based on the predictor variable "sociability" for the joint behaviours (Attempt together and Successful lift) as this variable also depended on dyadic associations.

The frequencies of the four apparatus-directed behaviours "Touch," "Attempt alone," "Attempt together," and "Successful lift" were analysed in separate models, models 1–4 as described below.

Statistical Analyses of Touch and Attempt Alone

The frequencies at which each individual touched the apparatus ("Touch"; model 1) and attempted to lift the log alone ("Attempts alone"; model 2) were analysed with Generalised Linear Mixed Models [GLMM; (30), with Poisson (model 1) or Negative binomial (model 2) error structures, and log link function (31)]. The key predictor variables were test day (1 to 9), group composition (mixed vs. littermate), sex (male vs. female), and the interaction between test day and group composition or sex if significant, as fixed effects. We also included fostering (yes vs. no) and the individuals' birth weight to account for possible variation related to early life experience and dominance. To avoid pseudo-replication we included random intercept effects for the individual, the litter from which it originated, the group, and the day of test. In order to avoid an "overconfident" model, to keep type I error rate at the nominal level of 0.05, and to model the effect of fixed effects terms potentially varying between, for instance, groups or dyads, we included all theoretically identifiable random slopes (32, 33); see Supplementary Table 1 for an overview of all models fitted and the random slopes included). As an overall test of the effects of the key predictors, and to avoid cryptic multiple testing (34), we compared this full model with a null model lacking these fixed effects but being otherwise identical. The full and respective null models were compared by means of a likelihood ratio test (35) and the significance of individual fixed effects determined by dropping them one at a time Rfunction drop1; (33). The full-null model comparisons were significant (model 1: $\chi^2 = 23.073$, df = 4, P < 0.001; model 2: $\chi^2 = 20.566$, df = 4, P < 0.001), indicating that the test predictors as a collective had a clear impact on those response variables.

Statistical Analyses of Attempt Together and Successful Lift

The frequencies of dyadic attempts to lift the log together ("Attempt together"; model 3) and to successfully lift together ("Successful lift"; model 4) were analysed with GLMMs with Poisson error structure and log link function. The predictor variables were test day (1 to 9), group composition (mixed vs. littermate), kinship (whether the two members of a dyad originated from the same litter or not), the interactions between



test day and group composition or kinship, the average sociability score per dyad, and the sex combination of the dyad (femalefemale, female-male, or male-male). We included random intercept effects for the pen, the dyad, the two members of the dyad, the two litters from which they originated, and test day nested within pen. Again, we included all theoretically identifiable random slopes (Supplementary Table 1). As animals could associate with various partners, we included all possible dyads and allocated "0" for dyads that never interacted. We compared this full model with a null model lacking the fixed effects but being otherwise identical. The full-null model comparisons were not significant for the test predictors as a whole (model 3: $\chi^2 = 3.945$, df = 5, P = 0.557; model 4: $\chi^2 = 7.403$, df = 5, P = 0.192), but significant main effects appeared in a reduced model after removal of the non-significant interactions (see results).

General Aspects of the Statistical Analysis

Data were fitted with models in R (version 3.6.3; R Core Team) using the function glmer of the package lme4 [version: 1.1-21; (36)]. We confirmed model stability by dropping levels of random effects one at a time and comparing the estimates derived for models fitted to those subsets with those obtained for the model for the full data set. We determined 95% confidence intervals of model estimates and fitted values by means of parametric bootstraps (N = 1,000 bootstraps; function bootMer of the packages lme4). None of the models was overdispersed (dispersion parameters model 1: 0.988; model 2: 0.715; model

3: 0.605; model 4: 0.352), and collinearity was no issue. Samples sizes are reported in **Supplementary Table 1**.

RESULTS

Behavioural Interactions With the Apparatus

Across the days, 68% (N = 62) of the animals performed at least once a Successful lift, i.e., solved the task through a joint action with another group member. The proportion of successful individuals on a given day rose quickly until day 3 and more slowly thereafter (**Figure 2**), with almost half of the pigs being successful on the last day ("on a given day" count) and two thirds of the pigs having succeeded at least once over the course of the 9 days ("cumulative count").

In total, there were 2261 Successful lifts over the 9 test days (**Figure 3**). Nevertheless, there was a large variation among the 91 individual animals in the number of Successful lifts. The top nine individuals from four different groups accounted for 50.5% of all Successful lifts, and there were large differences in the quantiles of Successful lifts across the 91 animals (minimum = 0, 1st decile = 0, 1st quartile = 0, median = 3, 3rd quartile = 64, 9th decile = 179 and maximum = 319 Successful lifts).

The frequency of behavioural interactions with the apparatus averaged 27.0 (min: 21.7, max: 34.4) interactions per pig and 30-min test across days, when all behaviours were summed up. Individual behaviours (Touch and Attempt alone) were progressively replaced by joint behaviours (Attempt together and Successful lift) (**Figure 3**).



FIGURE 3 | Benavioural interactions with the apparatus over the testing days, based on group averages (n = 8) of individual pig behaviour. The bars represent the standard errors.

Evidence of Learning

The frequency of Successful lifts increased over the course of the test days (P = 0.004; **Figures 3**, **4** and **Supplementary Table 2**). The frequency of Attempts together also tended to increase over the course of the test days (P = 0.08; **Figure 3** and **Supplementary Table 3**). The frequency of Attempts alone and Touches differed or tended to differ, respectively, according to the interaction of test day and group composition (see below).

Group Composition and Kinship

The frequency of Successful lifts and Attempts together did not significantly differ according to group composition or kinship (**Supplementary Tables 2, 3**, respectively).

The frequency of Attempts alone decreased according to the interaction of group composition and test day (P = 0.03; **Figure 5** and **Supplementary Table 4**), whereby it decreased over the course of the test days in both group compositions but was steeper in the mixed groups as compared to the littermate groups (MIX: -0.65+0.11, z = -5.71, P < 0.001; LIT: -0.33+0.1, z = -3.46, P = 0.001). The frequency of Touches also tended to decrease according to the interaction of group composition and

test day (P = 0.06; **Supplementary Table 5**) whereby the decrease over the course of the testing days also tended to be steeper in mixed groups as compared to the littermate groups.

Sociability

The frequency of Successful lifts increased with greater sociability score (P = 0.03; **Supplementary Table 2**). The frequency of Attempts together did not significantly differ according to sociability (**Supplementary Table 3**).

Dyads

Over the days, successful pigs gradually paired up with an increasing number of different partners (**Figure 6**), and over the last 3 days several pigs associated with 6 or more different partners. There was a large variation in the total number of success between dyads, indicating that the dyadic associations were strongly non-random. The average number of Successful lifts was 0.5 per 30 min daily session and 4.7 per dyad over the course of the 9 test days, but the distribution was highly skewed between dyads. On the one hand, only 26% (124 out of 479 possible) dyadic combinations of pigs successfully lifted together, in spite of the fact that pigs had the choice of partners within their group over the duration of the experiment. On the other hand,



some of these dyads were highly successful, with 39 dyads with 20 or more Successful lifts over the nine sessions, 12 dyads with 50 or more Successful lifts, and even three dyads with over 100 Successful lifts.

Evidence of Understanding of the Social Nature of the Task

From the subset of data analysed for the six most successful groups on the last testing day, out of 462 occurrences of lift alone, 434 (93.9%) were lifts in the presence of a partner facing the second opening of the apparatus, and the rest in absence of a partner. Of 448 lift successes, 112 (25%) were synchronised, and the rest non-synchronised.

DISCUSSION

Pigs solved the JLLT spontaneously, progressively switching from individual to joint behaviours, with almost half of the pigs being successful on the last day and two thirds of the pigs having succeeded at least once over the course of the 9 days. The JLLT relies on an obligate strategy, meaning that the individuals only benefit if they engage in the task jointly and do not get a (smaller) reward for performing the task individually. Thus, the task is more demanding than other situations where succeeding alone is possible (12, 14). This task can easily be adapted to socially foraging species in an ecologically-relevant manner, for instance for primates that may attempt to lift the log with their hands, elephants with their trunks, or other suids with their nose. The principle of the task can be also used for construction of a device, with a modified mechanical design, for species that use other specific motor skills during foraging, such as pulling a branch or scratching the ground. We posit that such a device could be designed for various species in which individuals often forage synchronously in close vicinity of each other and frequently use a specific motor pattern to access a food source.

Our findings do not provide evidence about the specific cognitive mechanisms behind the successful joint action of the pigs at the apparatus. We presume that the task may reflect cooperation, based on the definition by Noë (1) of "a behavioural strategy in which agents achieve a common goal



through coordinated action." However, the term "cooperation" remains debated (37), from simple definitions such as two or more animals acting simultaneously or sequentially to solve a problem (12, 38), to much stricter definitions requiring the capacity to understand the role of the partner and to share intentions (39). Consequently, terms such as similarity or independent cooperation (38), coordination (40), collaboration (41), and intentional cooperation (38) have been proposed to distinguish between different types of joint actions (i.e., "cooperation" in the wide sense of the term). Even within the same act of cooperation, the participating individuals may differ in what cognitive mechanisms they employ (42). The mechanisms involved in solving the JLLT remain to be elucidated.

The animals were able to solve the JLLT spontaneously. Spontaneous cooperation [e.g., (5, 18, 20, 43, 44)] has been much less studied than instrumental cooperation when animals are trained at the task (12, 13). Spontaneous learning was likely facilitated by the design of the apparatus, enticing an elementary natural foraging behaviour. It also allowed researchers to circumvent the need for prior separate individual training, which can be problematic when testing cooperation that requires coordination rather than the mere combination of two individuals having learnt to succeed independently (12, 45). Kune Kune free-ranging pigs failed to spontaneously solve the JLLT when presented with it for 18 trials over 3 sessions in selected pairs, but the Kune Kune pigs succeeded at it after training (46). Pigs in the present study managed to successfully solve the JLTT when presented with the task in the home

environment and in their group with *ad libitum* trials over 30min for 9 days, allowing for more trial-and-error opportunities than this other study. The success then depended solely on coordinating the action in time with a suitable partner within the group. The progressive change in behaviour from single to joint actions supports that the pigs learned how to solve the task, as experience is often necessary for cooperation (47). The time from the first exposure to the apparatus to solving the task was among the shortest ever recorded in studies with other tasks including primates (48), social canids (49), and parrots (50).

The highly skewed distribution of success across dyads indicates that mutual free choice of partners may be a key aspect for success. More sociable pigs were found to be more likely to perform Successful lifts, although their engagement in Attempts together did not differ, suggesting greater proficiency at the task in more sociable pigs. This possibly reflected social tolerance as a factor conducive to cooperation in other species (18, 51). Offering the task at group level also allowed us to test animals in their home environment, hence without disturbance (e.g., handling, novel environment), and with freechoice about when and with whom to work jointly. Similarly chimpanzees free to interact with an apparatus in their home enclosure selected their preferred cooperation partner to solve the task (5). Testing in the home environment allows accounting for social and other contextual features that may have core influences on the propensity of animals to interact with others (26, 45, 52, 53).



the mean number of partners per test day for a give

Kin were however not more likely to engage or succeed in the task than non-kin. The only difference was that pigs in mixed groups reduced their attempts alone quicker than pigs in littermate groups, but with no difference in attempting together or successful lifts. Pigs are able to recognise familiar individuals from a young age (28) and can form affiliation with kin (54) and non-kin (55). Nevertheless, pigs in the wild live in groups of genetically related females with little fissionfusion dynamics (56), possibly explaining their lack of kin discrimination. Kinship through inclusive fitness is a common explanation for cooperation, but cooperation can also operate based on reciprocity (16). The highly skewed distribution of lifts across the dyads indicates that successful pigs appeared to form preferential dyadic associations to solve the task. Thus, pigs may learn to associate with more proficient partners over the course of their trials, or based on their affiliative preferences (55).

The majority of pigs were highly motivated to work to access the high-value food reward, despite having *ad libitum* access to feed. Pigs show a high motivation for foraging when provided the opportunity (57). The number of successful individuals on a given day rose until day 3, the last day in which the apparatus was pre-baited, but pigs maintained interest thereafter, and whether pre-baiting the apparatus heightens interest requires further research. Given that pigs became increasingly successful over the days but the total number of interactions with the apparatus remained similar, it appears that a steady motivation was driving the learning process that was faster in some individuals, slower in others, and failed (within the given timeframe) in yet other individuals. Although the task theoretically allows each pig to engage with the apparatus when they want and with whom they want, a third of the pigs did not succeed, which suggests that either they were unable to solve the task, would have needed longer, or possibly were unable to access the apparatus during the relatively short testing sessions due to the monopolisation of the apparatus by other pigs. These limitations could be solved by providing access to the apparatus for longer test sessions and over a longer time period.

The underlying cognitive mechanism of the JLLT remains to be elucidated. One possibility is that pigs are using their capability to synchronise their behaviour (58) to achieve the time-coordinated joint action at the apparatus. It has been shown both through modelling and experimental research that synchronisation in pairs could be achieved without explicit communication and that it can promote joint performance (59, 60). However, the pigs in this study showed synchronised lifting in only one quarter of the coded test sessions. Nevertheless, other mechanisms can facilitate joint action or coordination (12), including social facilitation (61). Success in the JLLT task could also result from chance associations of individuals acting simultaneously, as seen in other social foraging tasks [e.g., (20)]. At least, pigs lifted in a large majority of cases (94%) when another partner was present at the other hole, rather than when no partner were present. Further research should use appropriate controls to test whether pigs take account of the partner's presence and behaviour [e.g., (46, 62)].

CONCLUSIONS

The feasibility of the JLLT makes it a versatile tool for experimental investigations of social foraging at large scale, by giving animals free choice about when and with whom to work jointly. This approach offers the possibility to study the role of partner choice, group social dynamics, personality, and proficiency in the task (ratio of success to failure) on the performance of different species of animals. At the same time, the variability of success in the JLLT between individuals and dyads within groups in the current study indicates that the task may be a valuable paradigm to assess various factors that affect social associations at different levels of animal social organisation.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found at: http://dx.doi.org/10.17632/4vb5xnm393.1.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Animal Ethics Committee of the University of Veterinary Medicine, Vienna, Austria (Research Protocol No. ETK-95/06/2019).

REFERENCES

- Noë R. Cooperation. In: Koob GF, Della Sala S, editors. *Encyclopedia of Behavioral Neuroscience*. 2nd edition. Amsterdam: Elsevier (2017). pp. 93–101. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-809324-5.00295-9
- Clutton-Brock TH, Russell AF, Sharpe LL. Meerkat helpers do not specialize in particular activities. *Anim Behav.* (2003) 66:531–40. doi: 10.1006/anbe.2003.2209
- Hall K. Cooperation among nonchimpanzee, nonhuman primates. In: Shackelford TK, Weekes-Shackelford V, editors. *Encyclopedia of Evolutionary Psychological Science*. Cham: Springer (2016). pp. 1446–1452.
- Schmelz M, Duguid S, Bohn M, Volter CJ. Cooperative problem solving in giant otters (Pteronura brasiliensis) and Asian small-clawed otters (Aonyx cinerea). Anim Cogn. (2017) 20:1107–14. doi: 10.1007/s10071-017-1126-2
- Suchak M, Eppley TM, Campbell M, de Waal FBM. Ape duos and trios: spontaneous cooperation with free partner choice in chimpanzees. *Peer J.* (2014) 2:e417. doi: 10.7717/peerj.417
- Heaney M, Gray RD, Taylor AH. Keas perform similarly to chimpanzees and elephants when solving collaborative tasks. *Plos ONE*. (2017) 12:e0169799. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0169799
- Matsuura K, Fujimoto M, Goka K, Nishida T. Cooperative colony foundation by termite female pairs: altruism for survivorship in incipient colonies. *Anim Behav.* (2002) 64:167–73. doi: 10.1006/anbe.2002.3062

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

J-LR, IC, MŠ, and SG designed the apparatus, wrote the manuscript, and participated in data analysis and interpretation. J-LR and IC conceived and designed the study. IC carried out the experimental work. RM carried out the statistical analyses. All authors gave final approval for publication.

FUNDING

MŠ was supported by grant 20-26831S from the Czech Science Foundation and grant MZE-RO0718 from the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Marie du Baret for help with conducting work on a prototype apparatus, Christian Haberl for help with building the apparatus, Rudolf Michlmayer for providing materials and tools for building the apparatus, Cindy Nyanzi for the behavioural analysis of the evidence of understanding of the task, and Ludwig Huber, Marianne Wondrak, and Melanie Koglmüller for intellectual discussion.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets. 2021.745627/full#supplementary-material

- Kim KW. Social facilitation of synchronized molting behavior in the spider Amaurobius Ferox (Araneae, Amaurobiidae). J Insect Behav. (2001) 14:401–9. doi: 10.1023/A:1011179531156
- 9. Deneubourg JL, Lioni A, Detrain C. Dynamics of aggregation and emergence of cooperation. *Biol Bull.* (2002) 202:262–7. doi: 10.2307/1543477
- Massen JJM, Behrens F, Martin JS, Stocker M, Brosnan SF. A comparative approach to affect and cooperation. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2019) 107:370– 87. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.09.027
- 11. Jacobs IF, Osvath M. The string-pulling paradigm in comparative psychology. *J Comp Psychol.* (2015) 129:89–120. doi: 10.1037/a0038746
- Noë R. Cooperation experiments: coordination through communication versus acting apart together. *Anim Behav.* (2006) 71:1–18. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2005.03.037
- Marshall-Pescini S, Dale R, Quervel-Chaumette M, Range F. Critical issues in experimental studies of prosociality in non-human species. *Anim Cogn.* (2016) 19:679–705. doi: 10.1007/s10071-016-0973-6
- 14. Bshary R, Zuberbuhler K, van Schaik CP. Why mutual helping in most natural systems is neither conflict-free nor based on maximal conflict. *Philos Transac R Soc B Biol Sci.* (2016) 371:10. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2015.0091
- Hamilton WD. The genetical evolution of social behaviour. I. J Theoret Biol. (1964) 7:1–16. doi: 10.1016/0022-5193(64)90038-4
- Clutton-Brock T. Cooperation between non-kin in animal societies. *Nature*. (2009) 462:51–7. doi: 10.1038/nature08366

- Chalmeau R, Visalberghi E, Gallo A. Capuchin monkeys, *Cebus apella*, fail to understand a cooperative task. *Anim Behav.* (1997) 54:1215– 25. doi: 10.1006/anbe.1997.0517
- Massen JJM, Ritter C, Bugnyar T. Tolerance and reward equity predict cooperation in ravens (*Corvus corax*). Sci Rep. (2015) 5:15021. doi: 10.1038/srep15021
- Melis AP, Hare B, Tomasello M. Chimpanzees recruit the best collaborators. Science. (2006) 311:1297–300. doi: 10.1126/science.1123007
- Petit O, Desportes C, Thierry B. Differential probability of "coproduction" in two species of macaque (*Macaca tonkeana*, *M. mulatta*). *Ethology*. (1992) 90:107–20. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0310.1992.tb00825.x
- Špinka M, Illmann G, Haman J, Šimeček P, Šilerová J. Milk ejection solicitations and non-nutritive nursings: an honest signaling system of need in domestic pigs? *Behav Ecol Sociobiol.* (2011) 65:1447–57. doi: 10.1007/s00265-011-1155-9
- Illmann G, Pokorná Z, Špinka M. Nursing synchronization and milk ejection failure as maternal strategies to reduce allosuckling in pair-housed sows (Sus scrofa domestica). *Ethology.* (2005) 111:652–68. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0310.2005.01083.x
- Fraser D, Kramer DL, Pajor EA, Weary DM. Conflict and cooperation: sociobiological principles and the behaviour of pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1995) 44:139–57. doi: 10.1016/0168-1591(95)00610-5
- Held S, Mendl M, Devereux C, Byrne RW. Social tactics of pigs in a competitive foraging task: the 'informed forager' paradigm. *Anim Behav.* (2000) 59:569–76. doi: 10.1006/anbe.1999.1322
- Held SDE, Byrne RW, Jones S, Murphy E, Friel M, Mendl MT. Domestic pigs, Sus scrofa, adjust their foraging behaviour to whom they are foraging with. Anim Behav. (2010) 79:857–62. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2009.12.035
- Focardi S, Morimando F, Capriotti S, Ahmed A, Genov P. Cooperation improves the access of wild boars (*Sus scrofa*) to food sources. *Behav Proc.* (2015) 121:80–6. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2015.10.019
- Studnitz M, Jensen MB, Pedersen LJ. Why do pigs root and in what will they root? A review on the exploratory behaviour of pigs in relation to environmental enrichment. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2007) 107:183– 97. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2006.11.013
- Stookey JM, Gonyou HW. Recognition in swine: recognition through familiarity or genetic relatedness? *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (1998) 55:291– 305. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(97)00046-4
- Camerlink I, Proßegger C, Kubala C, Galunder K, Rault JL. Keeping littermates together instead of social mixing benefits pig social behaviour and growth post-weaning. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2021) 235:105230. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2021.105230
- 30. Baayen RH. Analyzing Linguistic Data. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (2008).
- 31. McCullagh P, Nelder JA. *Generalized Linear Models*. London. Chapman and Hall (1989).
- Schielzeth H, Forstmeier W. Conclusions beyond support: overconfident estimates in mixed models. *Behav Ecol.* (2008) 20:416–20. doi: 10.1093/beheco/arn145
- Barr DJ, Levy R, Scheepers C, Tily HJ. Random effects structure for confirmatory hypothesis testing: keep it maximal. *J Mem Lang.* (2013) 68:255– 78. doi: 10.1016/j.jml.2012.11.001
- Forstmeier W, Schielzeth H. Cryptic multiple hypotheses testing in linear models: overestimated effect sizes and the winner's curse. *Behav Ecol Sociobiol.* (2011) 65:47–55. doi: 10.1007/s00265-010-1038-5
- Dobson AJ. An Introduction to Generalized Linear Models. Boca Raton, FL: Chapman & Hall/CRC (2002).
- Bates B, Maechler M, Bolker B, Walker S. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. J Stat Softw. (2015) 67:1–48. doi: 10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Taborsky M. Cooperation built the Tower of Babel. *Behav Processes*. (2007) 76:95–9. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2007.01.013
- Albiach-Serrano A. Cooperation in primates: A critical, methodological review. *Interact Stud Soc Behav Commun Bio Artif Syst.* (2015) 16:361–82. doi: 10.1075/is.16.3.02alb
- Tomasello M, Call J. Primate Cognition. New York, NY: Oxford University Press (1997). 508 p.

- Jaakkola K, Guarino E, Donegan K, King SL. Bottlenose dolphins can understand their partner's role in a cooperative task. *Proc R Soc B.* (2018) 285:20180948. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2018.0948
- Boesch C, Boesch H. Hunting behavior of wild chimpanzees in the Taï National Park. Am. J. Phys. Anthropol. (1989) 78:547–73. doi: 10.1002/ajpa.1330780410
- Suchak M, Watzek J, Quarles L, de Waal F. Novice chimpanzees cooperate successfully in the presence of experts, but may have limited understanding of the task. *Anim Cogn.* (2018) 21:87–98. doi: 10.1007/s10071-017-1142-2.
- Kuczaj SA, Winship KA, Eskelinen HC. Can bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) cooperate when solving a novel task? *Anim Cogn.* (2015) 18:543–50. doi: 10.1007/s10071-014-0822-4
- Seed AM, Clayton NS, Emery NJ. Cooperative problem solving in rooks (*Corvus frugilegus*). Proc R Soc B Biol Sci. (2008) 275:1421– 9. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2008.0111
- Schuster R, Perelberg A. Why cooperate? An economic perspective is not enough. *Behav Proc.* (2004) 66:261–77. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2004. 03.008
- Koglmüller M, Wondrak M, Camerlink I, Rault JL, Huber L. Are freeranging Kune Kune pigs (*Sus scrofa* domesticus) able to solve a cooperative task? *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2021) 240:105340. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2021. 105340
- Byrne RW. Machiavellian intelligence. Evol Anthropol Issues News Rev. (1996) 5:172– 80. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1520-6505(1996)5:5<172::AID-EVAN6>3.0.CO;2-H
- Visalberghi E, Quarantotti BP, Tranchida F. Solving a cooperation task without taking into account the partner's behavior: the case of capuchin monkeys (*Cebus apella*). J *Comp Psychol.* (2000) 114:297–301. doi: 10.1037/0735-7036.114. 3.297
- Drea CM, Carter AN. Cooperative problem solving in a social carnivore. Anim Behav. (2009) 78:967–77. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2009. 06.030
- Torres Ortiz S, Corregidor Castro A, Balsby TJS, Larsen ON. Problemsolving in a cooperative task in peach-fronted conures (Eupsittula aurea). Anim Cogn. (2020) 23:265–75. doi: 10.1007/s10071-019-01331-9
- Hare B, Melis AP, Woods V, Hastings S, Wrangham R. Tolerance allows bonobos to outperform chimpanzees on a cooperative task. *Curr Biol.* (2007) 17:619–23. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2007.02.040
- Gerber L, Connor RC, King SL, Allen SJ, Wittwer S, Bizzozzero MR, et al. Affiliation history and age similarity predict alliance formation in adult male bottlenose dolphins. *Behav Ecol.* (2020) 31:361–70. doi: 10.1093/beheco/arz195
- Schweinfurth MK, Taborsky M. Relatedness decreases and reciprocity increases cooperation in Norway rats. P R Soc B. (2018) 285:7. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2018.0035
- Newberry RC, Wood-Gush DGM. Social relationships of piglets in a semi-natural environment. *Anim Behav.* (1986) 34:1311– 8. doi: 10.1016/S0003-3472(86)80202-0
- Goumon S, Illmann G, Leszkowová I, Dostalová A, Cantor M. Dyadic affiliative preferences in a stable group of domestic pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2020) 230:105045. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2020.105045
- Podgorski T, Lusseau D, Scandura M, Sonnichsen L, Jedrzejewska B. Long-lasting, kin-directed female interactions in a spatially structured wild boar social network. *PloS ONE*. (2014) 9:e99875. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0099875
- 57. Stolba A, Wood-Gush DGM. The behavior of pigs in a semi-natural environment. *Anim Prod.* (1989) 48:419–26. doi: 10.1017/S0003356100040411
- Špinka, M, Gonyou, HW, Li, YZ, Bate, LA. Nursing synchronisation in lactating sows as affected by activity, distance between the sows and playback of nursing vocalisations. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2004) 88:13–26. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2004.02.018
- Dostálková I, Špinka M. Synchronization of behaviour in pairs: the role of communication and consequences in timing. *Anim Behav.* (2007) 74:1735– 42. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2007.04.014

- Valdesolo P, Ouyang J, DeSteno D. The rhythm of joint action: synchrony promotes cooperative ability. J Expe Soc Psychol. (2010) 46:693–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2010.03.004
- Walter NT, Markett SA, Montag C, Reuter M. A genetic contribution to cooperation: dopamine-relevant genes are associated with social facilitation. *Social Neurosci.* (2011) 6:289–301. doi: 10.1080/17470919.2010. 527169
- Plotnik JM, Lair R, Suphachoksahakun W, de Waal FBM. Elephants know when they need a helping trunk in a cooperative task. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2011) 108:5116–21. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1101765108

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Rault, Camerlink, Goumon, Mundry and Špinka. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Goats (*Capra hircus*) From Different Selection Lines Differ in Their Behavioural Flexibility

Christian Nawroth^{1*†}, Katrina Rosenberger^{2†}, Nina M. Keil^{2†} and Jan Langbein^{1†}

¹ Research Institute for Farm Animal Biology, Institute of Behavioural Physiology, Dummerstorf, Germany, ² Swiss Food Safety and Veterinary Office, Centre for Proper Housing of Ruminants and Pigs, Agroscope Tanikon, Ettenhausen, Switzerland

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Paolo Mongillo, University of Padua, Italy

Reviewed by:

Malgorzata Domino, Warsaw University of Life Sciences, Poland Simona Normando, University of Padua, Italy

*Correspondence:

Christian Nawroth nawroth.christian@gmail.com

[†]ORCID:

Christian Nawroth orcid.org/0000-0003-4582-4057 Katrina Rosenberger orcid.org/0000-0003-4053-187X Nina M. Keil orcid.org/0000-0002-3663-7682 Jan Langbein orcid.org/0000-0002-1170-5431

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Comparative Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 16 October 2021 Accepted: 27 December 2021 Published: 01 February 2022

Citation:

Nawroth C, Rosenberger K, Keil NM and Langbein J (2022) Goats (Capra hircus) From Different Selection Lines Differ in Their Behavioural Flexibility. Front. Psychol. 12:796464. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.796464

Given that domestication provided animals with more stable environmental conditions, artificial selection by humans has likely affected animals' ability to learn novel contingencies and their ability to adapt to changing environments. In addition, the selection for specific traits in domestic animals might have an additional impact on subjects' behavioural flexibility, but also their general learning performance, due to a re-allocation of resources towards parameters of productivity. To test whether animals bred for high productivity would experience a shift towards lower learning performance, we compared the performance of dwarf goats (not selected for production, 15 subjects) and dairy goats (selected for high milk yield, 18 subjects) in a visual discrimination learning and reversal learning task. Goats were tested individually in a test compartment and were rewarded by choosing either a white or a black cup presented by the experimenter on a sliding board behind a crate. Once they reached a designated learning criterion in the initial learning task, they were transferred to the reversal learning task. To increase the heterogeneity of our test sample, data was collected by two experimenters at two research stations following a similar protocol. Goats of both selection lines did not differ in the initial discrimination learning task in contrast to the subsequent reversal learning task. Dairy goats reached the learning criterion slower compared to dwarf goats (dairy goats = 9.18 sessions; dwarf goats = 7.74 sessions; P = 0.016). Our results may indicate that the selection for milk production might have affected behavioural flexibility in goats. These differences in adapting to changing environmental stimuli might have an impact on animal welfare e.g., when subjects have to adapt to new environments or changes in housing and management routines.

Keywords: animal cognition, discrimination learning, farm animals, reversal learning, ungulates

INTRODUCTION

To survive, animals need to flexibly adapt to their environment (Shettleworth, 2010). Their ability to learn, and associated levels of behavioural flexibility, have been linked to many socio-ecological parameters, such as the diversity of food sources and habitats (Rosati, 2017), and to complex social group structures (Amici et al., 2008, 2009). Behavioural flexibility refers to the adaptive change in the behaviour of an animal, e.g., an animal's ability to learn a now reversed learning contingency. Another factor with the potential to impact behavioural flexibility, or learning ability in general,

19

is artificial selection by humans, either by means of domestication (Price, 1999; Lindqvist and Jensen, 2009) or subsequent selection for specific production traits (Dudde et al., 2018). These differences can be of relevance in the context of various welfarerelated issues in farm animals, such as adaptation to new environments or changes in housing and management routines, but remain relatively unexplored.

To assess behavioural flexibility, researchers often rely on the assessment of an individual's reversal learning ability (Berg, 1948). Although the test design is identical, reversal learning necessitates different and more complex cognitive mechanisms compared to simple discrimination learning (Diekamp et al., 1999). After meeting a certain learning criterion in an initial discrimination task, subjects will have to inhibit responses to the originally rewarded stimulus and to respond to a previously unrewarded stimulus in a reversal task. By using learning and reversal learning tasks, one can thus not only measure the general ability of an individual to learn, but also how flexible it can adapt its learned response.

During the course of domestication, with more stable food security and environmental conditions, selection pressure for improved learning performance and flexible adaptation to novel contexts might have been altered in domestic animals (Price, 1999). Research on learning performance comparing domestic species and their wild ancestors has come up with inconclusive results. While Lindqvist and Jensen found impaired spatial learning in domestic fowl compared to their non-domesticated counterparts (Lindqvist and Jensen, 2009), Gunther et al. showed that domestic guinea pigs (Cavia porcellus) learned an association faster than non-domesticated cavies (Cavia aperea), while both groups did not differ in their reversal learning performance (Brust and Guenther, 2015). Wolves (Canis lupus), in turn, differ in their behavioural flexibility compared to domestic dogs (Canis lupus familiaris) (Marshall-Pescini et al., 2015). However, the directionality of this difference was dependent on the task that was used (Marshall-Pescini et al., 2015).

Not only domestication, but also further selection and breeding of farm animals for high productivity can have an indirect impact on behavioural traits due to an assumed relocation of resources, according to the so-called Resource Allocation Theory (Beilharz et al., 1993). As animals bred for high performance may invest more resources into production traits and less in other biological processes, these changes might also potentially affect their ability to learn and their flexibility to adapt to new or variable environments. Indeed, selection for high productivity has already been found to have altered foraging and exploration behaviour in farm animals (Schütz and Jensen, 2001; Colpoys et al., 2014). In terms of potential impacts on mental processes, recent work on different production lines of laying hens found no, or contradictory, associations between selection for production and learning performance: hens that have been bred for higher egg yield were faster to reach a learning criterion in a visual discrimination task, compared to lines that have not been selected for high egg yield. However, both lines did not differ in their performance in the subsequent reversal learning task (i.e., do not show differences in behavioural flexibility; Dudde et al., 2018). Further investigations in the context of different production traits are necessary to assess potential associations between the selection for production traits, learning performance and behavioural flexibility.

In this study, we assess learning and behavioural flexibility in goats. Goats, as grassland foragers and prey animals, rely heavily on vision when navigating and have already shown to be able to master visual and spatial reversal tasks (Langbein et al., 2008; Meyer et al., 2012). Thus, a visual discrimination task and a subsequent reversal learning task were used to investigate whether goats not selected for production traits (dwarf goats) and goats selected for high milk yield (dairy goats) differ in their (reversal) learning ability. Based on the Resource Allocation Theory (Beilharz et al., 1993), we hypothesised dwarf goats outperforming dairy goats in the learning task, as well as in the reversal learning task.

METHODS

Subjects, Housing, and General Procedure

To increase the heterogeneity of our sample, data was collected by two researchers at two research sites (Agroscope Tänikon in Ettenhausen, Switzerland, and the Research Institute for Farm Animal Biology in Dummerstorf, Germany) (Voelkl et al., 2018, 2020). 18 non-lactating female Nigerian dwarf goats (mean age \pm SD; Ettenhausen: 364.4 \pm 3.2 d, Dummerstorf: 361.7 \pm 19.2 d at start of habituation) and 18 non-lactating female dairy goats (Ettenhausen: 339 \pm 12.4 d, Dummerstorf: ~396 d at start of the initial visual discrimination task) participated in the experiment, that consisted of a visual discrimination task and a subsequent reversal learning task. The number of subjects for the current study was logistically limited due to their assignment for a specific treatment for a subsequent study (Nawroth et al., 2021). I.e., goats were a randomly chosen sub-sample of a larger group and were group-housed in 6 pens with 10 subjects each (of which three subjects per pen participated in this experiment and were thus assigned as one treatment group for a study that investigated the impact of test experience on individuals' performance in subsequent conceptually different tests) at both locations (Ettenhausen: n = 9 for dwarf and dairy goats each; Dummerstorf: n = 9 for dwarf and dairy goats each).

Dwarf goats for both locations were bred in Germany, Dummerstorf. Dairy goats were bred at different Swiss farms (Saanen and Chamois coloured goats) and one large German farm (Deutsche Edelziege). The Nigerian Dwarf goat is commonly kept as pet and zoo animal in Europe and not selected for productivity traits. The only selection aim in the Dummerstorf population was to avoid inbreeding. The potential milk yield of dwarf goats does likely not exceed 0.3 kg per day (Akinsoyinu et al., 1977). As it was common practise in Dummerstorf, dwarf goat kids stayed with their dams for 6 weeks before they were weaned. We used three of the most common high-producing dairy breeds in Switzerland and Germany (Saanen and Chamois coloured goats, Deutsche Edelziege). These animals had a potential milk yield of up to 3 kg per day (Vacca et al., 2018). In accordance with common practise in the dairy goat industry, the dairy goat kids had been separated from their dam shortly after birth and were artificially raised.

Initially, dwarf and dairy goats were housed in one large group pen (per selection line) at each location. At the age of 7–8 months, all goats were then moved to pens of 10 goats each. The total area of each dwarf goat pen was 14 m^2 ($\sim 3.6 \times 3.9 \text{ m}$), consisting of a deep-bedded straw area of 11 m² (\sim 2.8 × 3.9 m) and a 0.5 m elevated feeding place (1.4 m^2) . The total area of each dairy goat pen was 17.7 m² (\sim 3.9 × 4.55 m) consisting of a deep-bedded straw area of 13.4 $m^2~({\sim}4.55~{\times}~2.95\,m)$ and a 0.65 m elevated feeding place (1.82 m²). Hay was provided behind a feeding fence at the feeding place twice a day at around 8 am and 4 pm in Ettenhausen and at around 7 am and 1 pm in Dummerstorf. Each pen had one watering place and a mineral supply. Additional structures in the straw-bedded area included a wooden bench (for dwarf: 2.3 m long, 0.5 m high, 0.5 m wide; for dairy: 2.4 m long, 0.6 m high, 0.62 m wide) along the wall of the pen and a round wooden table (0.8 m high, Ø 1.1 m) in the centre of the pen. Pens and handling regimes were kept as similar as possible at both locations.

For individual habituation, shaping, training, and testing, goats were physically and visually separated from their pen-mates in a test area (450×200 cm), but kept acoustic contact to their pen-mates that were located in an adjacent waiting area (600×200 cm). The experimenter sat in another adjacent compartment (150×200 cm) separated from the tested animal by a grate, allowing subjects to insert their snouts through the bars. A sliding board (60×20 cm) was placed on the experimenter side of the grate on a small table (105×40 cm) at a height of ~35 or 40 cm (for dwarf goats and dairy goats, respectively) in front of the grate (**Figure 1**). Subjects were not food restricted before testing. Goats were tested once a day (~between 9:00 and 12:00, with time of testing counterbalanced between subjects). To decrease potential experimenter biases, two experimenters (CN and KR) were alternating between each test session at both research sites.

Habituation

Subjects were first introduced as a group (all subjects of each pen) for 2 days to the test arena and an adjacent waiting area for \sim 20 min per day. Subsequently, goats were introduced as pairs to the test arena. Each pair was provided \sim 10 pieces of reward (uncooked piece of pasta; positive reinforcement) over a period of 5 min *via* the sliding board (dwarf goats: 6 days; dairy goats: 4 days). Finally, subjects were habituated alone for 2 min, using the same procedure as for the paired habituation (dwarf goats: 13 days; dairy goats: 7 days). Habituation sessions were repeated until the individual showed no signs of arousal or stress during food delivery. All subjects reached the criterion to proceed with the shaping procedure.

Shaping

Shaping was introduced to familiarise subjects to the test procedure and to train them how to indicate a choice. In shaping trials, one flat plastic bowl (brown, diameter 14 cm, height 2 cm) was located in the middle of the sliding board. In the first four trials of a shaping session, the experimenter put a food reward into the bowl and then pushed the platform towards the grate. If the animal put its nose through one of the middle gaps in the grate, it received a reward (positive reinforcement).



FIGURE 1 | Example illustration of the test setup during the visual discrimination and reversal learning task. © Nordlicht/FBN.

This was repeated for six additional trials, but for these, the experimenter covered the bowl with a cup (light brown, diameter 12 cm, height 10.5 cm) before letting the subject make its choice. Shaping sessions were repeated until the individual showed no signs of arousal or stress during participation and instantly chose the baited position. If a subject did not make a choice within 60 s, a trial was repeated. If a trial had to be repeated twice, the session was terminated. Dwarf goats received a total of five shaping session, while dairy goats received a total of two sessions. Afterwards, all goats proceeded to the training. Dwarf and dairy goats differed in their emotional reactivity, so providing all goats with the same time of habituation and shaping might have led to different absolute levels of habituation/shaping for the two groups (Rosenberger et al., submitted)¹. In addition, we chose a criterion on the group, rather than the individual level, as these goats were part of the treatment group (the group that received cognitive stimulation) for a subsequent study (Nawroth et al., 2021).

Training

Training sessions were conducted for both selection lines and consisted of 10 trials each. All subjects received a maximum of two sessions per day. Two bowls were placed on the left and right side of the sliding board at a distance of 30 cm. The experimenter baited only one bowl in full view of the subject, then covered both bowls with identical cups (same size and colour as before) and pushed the board towards the grate. The subject made its choice by putting its snout through one of the outer left or right gaps in the grate (opposite the respective bowl) and the experimenter

¹Rosenberger, K., Simmler, M., Nawroth, C., Langbein, J., and Keil, N. (2021). *Reactivity of Domesticated Goats Towards Various Stressors Following Long-Term Cognitive Test Exposure* (submitted).

only delivered the reward if the subject was choosing the baited bowl. Each side was baited pseudorandomly five times per session and a maximum of five sessions were administered. Subjects were considered to have completed training when they achieved at least 8 out of 10 correct choices in two consecutive sessions (binomial test; P = 0.012).

Visual Discrimination Task

All subjects participated first in the visual discrimination learning task. In this task, the experimenter (E) baited one of two different coloured cups (black or white, diameter 14.5 cm, height 12.0 cm) surreptitiously. The two different coloured cups were placed with the opening upwards on the left and right side of the sliding board at a distance of \sim 30 cm (Figure 1). Half of the subjects of each selection line were rewarded for choosing one particular coloured cup, whereas the other half was rewarded by choosing the other colour. After a presentation of ~ 2 s, E pushed the board towards the grate. The subject was able to make a choice by putting its snout through one of the outer left or right gaps in the grate (opposite the respective bowl) and, if the correct choice (e.g., the baited cup) was made, the goat obtained the reward. To avoid olfactory cueing, a piece of uncooked pasta was attached inside each cup. Each test session consisted of two initial motivation trials (one piece of pasta placed on either the left or right uncovered bowl on the board) at the beginning and 12 subsequent test trials as described above. The location of the baited cup was presented in a pseudo-randomised order across trials, but the baited cup was never positioned on the same side more than two trials in a row. After the first and second incorrect choice in each session, the goat had the opportunity to correct its choice: the non-rewarded cup was withdrawn, and the rewarded cup was kept on the board. After the goats chose the rewarded cup, it received the reward and a new trial started. This correction trial was still scored as incorrect. The inclusion of correction trials was done to prevent frustration and the development of side biases. Any subsequent error resulted in an immediate withdrawal of both cups, leaving the goat unrewarded. Subjects received as many sessions as needed to reach the specific learning criterion (10 out of 12 correct in two consecutive sessions).

Reversal Learning Task

In the reversal learning task, the procedure was the same as in the initial discrimination task (including correction trials), except that in this task the previously unrewarded cup was rewarded, i.e., the reward contingencies were reversed. Again, we scored the number of sessions that goats needed to reach the learning criterion (10 out of 12 correct in two consecutive sessions).

Note that due to logistical reasons, each subject received a combined maximum number of 20 sessions for the visual discrimination and the reversal learning task. If a subject did not indicate a choice after 60 s, the trial was repeated. If the subject did not make a choice in the repeated trial, the session was terminated. After three consecutive terminated sessions, a subject was excluded from further testing. Consequently, two dwarf goats (Dummerstorf) were excluded from subsequent testing as they did not indicate a choice (visual discrimination learning session 1 and 8, respectively).

Ethical Note

Animal care and all experimental procedures were in accordance with the ASAB/ABS Guidelines for the Use of Animals in Research (Association for the Study of Animal Behaviour). All procedures involving animal handling and treatment were approved by the Committee for Animal Use and Care of the Ministry of Agriculture, Environment and Consumer Protection of the federal state of Mecklenburg-Vorpommern, Germany (Ref. Nr. 7221.3-1.1-062/17) and by the Swiss Cantonal Veterinary Office, Thurgau (Approval No. TG04/17 – 29343). Housing facilities met the Swiss welfare requirements for farm animals. All measurements were non-invasive, and a session lasted no more than 10 min for each individual goat. If the goats had become stressed, e.g., were frequently vocalising and not paying attention to the test procedure during a test session, the test would have been stopped.

Data Scoring and Analysis

A digital video camera (Ettenhausen: Sony HDR-CX240E; Dummerstorf: Panasonic HDC-SD60) was used to record all trials. We scored which cup (correct or incorrect) the test subject chose for each trial. A "correct" choice was scored if the subject chose the baited cup (i.e., by putting its snout through the respective gap in the grate). Fifteen dwarf goats and 18 dairy goats reached the learning criterion in the initial visual discrimination task. As one dairy goat took 10 sessions to finish in the visual discrimination task, it was subsequently not able to reach the criterion within the remaining 10 reversal learning sessions while all other goats did reach the criterion here, too. We assigned it to 12 reversal learning sessions, as this would have been the minimum number of total sessions for this task for this individual to reach the criterion.

To assess inter-observer reliability, 10% of the videos were coded by a second coder who was unfamiliar to the initial hypothesis. Inter-observer reliability for choice analysis showed a high level of agreement (Cohen's $\kappa = 0.996$, P < 0.001).

Statistical analyses were carried out in R v.3.6 (R Core Team, 2017). We scored the number of sessions a subject needed to reach the learning criterion [i.e., choosing correctly in 10 out of 12 trials (binomial test, P = 0.019) in two consecutive sessions] for both tasks. The number of sessions needed to reach this criterion was used as outcome variable and was analysed with a linear mixed-effects model (LMM) fit with gaussian family distribution (LMM; lmer function, lme4 library) (Pinheiro and Bates, 2000). Performances in the discrimination and reversal learning task were analysed separately in two models, because the underlying mechanisms to solve both tasks cannot be assumed to be identical (Diekamp et al., 1999). Both models included "Selection line" (factor with two levels: dwarf, dairy) and "Colour" of the rewarded container cup (factor with two levels: white, black) as well as their interaction as fixed factors. "Identity" of the goats nested in "Pen" (1-12) nested in "Location" (Ettenhausen, Dummerstorf) was included as a random factor to control for repeated measurements. For both models, we



checked the residuals of the models graphically for normal distribution and homoscedasticity (simulateResiduals function, DHARMa library). *P*-values were calculated using parametric bootstrap methods (1,000 bootstrap samples, PBmodcomp function, pbkrtest library). *P*-values calculated with parametric bootstrap tests give the fraction of simulated likelihood ratio test (LRT) statistic values that are larger or equal to the observed LRT value. This test is more adequate than the raw LRT because it does not rely on large-sample asymptotic analysis and correctly takes the random-effects structure into account (Halekoh and Højsgaard, 2014).

Code and raw data are available at the Electronic **Supplementary Material** (ESM) and here: https://osf.io/tfmwc/.

RESULTS

Training

Dwarf goats needed 2.94 ± 1.06 (mean \pm SD) sessions to reach the criterion (Ettenhausen 2.50 ± 0.71 sessions; Dummerstorf: 3.33 ± 1.15 sessions), while dairy goats needed 2.78 ± 0.85 sessions to reach the criterion (Ettenhausen 2.78 ± 0.92 sessions; Dummerstorf: 2.78 ± 0.79 sessions). One subject (dwarf goat, Ettenhausen) did not reach the criterion and was excluded from further testing.

Visual Discrimination Task

"Selection line" did not affect the number of sessions to reach the learning criterion in the initial visual discrimination task (est. \pm CI: dwarf goats: 4.70 \pm 0.43; dairy goats: 5.25 \pm 0.39; P = 0.38, **Figure 2**). The colour of the rewarded cup ("Colour") had an impact on the learning performance in the discrimination learning task, with the black stimulus being more easily learned than the white (est. \pm CI: black stimulus: 4.05 \pm 0.42; white stimulus: 5.89 \pm 0.41; P = 0.005). There was no interaction for "Colour" and "Selection line" (P = 0.39). The variation (SD) explained by the random effects "Location" and "Pen" was < 0.001 for both.

Reversal Learning Task

Dwarf goats needed fewer sessions compared to dairy goats to learn the reversal task ("Selection line," est. \pm CI: dwarf goats 7.74 \pm 0.62, dairy goats 9.18 \pm 0.60; P = 0.016, **Figure 2**). "Colour" did not affect performance in the reversal learning task (est. \pm CI: black stimulus: 8.10 \pm 0.62; white stimulus: 8.93 \pm 0.61; P = 0.12). There was no interaction for "Colour" and "Selection line" (P = 0.77). Variation (SD) explained by the random effect "Pen" was < 0.001, while the variation for "Location" was 0.7.

DISCUSSION

To determine how selection for high productivity impacts general learning capacity and behavioural flexibility, we investigated the ability of dwarf (not selected for production traits) and dairy goats (selected for milk production) to solve a visual discrimination and a subsequent reversal learning task. While both groups performed similarly in the initial learning task, we found that dwarf goats performed better in the reversal task compared to dairy goat. Although other confounding factors need to be addressed in future research to rule out alternative explanation, our results provide first support for the hypothesis that selection for high productivity may be associated with decreased behavioural flexibility, but not initial learning performance, in goats.

The performance of goats in the initial learning task in this study (ranging from 2 to 10 session to reach the learning criterion, totalling in 24–120 trials) did not differ between both selection lines. At least for goats, and contrary to the Resource Allocation theory, the selection for high production does appear to not notably affect learning performance in a visual discrimination task. The goats' general performance in the task appears to be comparable to the performance of sanctuary goats tested with a similar design, but a slightly different protocol (8–96 trials to reach a learning criterion Nawroth and Prentice, 2017). When dwarf goats were presented with a four-choice visual discrimination task using an automated learning device with a screen (i.e., presented 2D stimuli), they needed 180–620 trials until they reached a designated learning criteria (Langbein et al., 2007), indicating that providing live stimuli appears to enhance learning by making the set up less arbitrary (O'Hara et al., 2015). Many other factors, ranging from different thresholds regarding a learning criterion to differences in the design of these visual discrimination tasks have likely also contributed to this variation and make rigorous comparisons not feasible. Future research should aim to better standardise test protocols in order to increase comparability of results.

In the reversal task dwarf goats outperformed dairy goats which lends support to the hypothesis that the Resource Allocation theory can also be applied to some cognitive functions in farm animals (Beilharz et al., 1993). However, Dudde et al. did not find such a relationship in their reversal learning task (Dudde et al., 2018) between two lines of hens that have been bred for higher egg yield compared to two lines that have not been selected for high egg yield. One reason for a lack of this pattern could be a relatively high drop-out rate in the lines not selected for high egg yield (40 and 60% of individuals, respectively, at the start of the initial learning task), which could have led to a biassed overall comparison of both groups. In our study, the only drop-outs were as well from the line that was not selected for high performance (dwarf goats) but with a moderate rate only (\sim 17%). However, the difference in performance between dwarf and dairy goats in the reversal learning was relatively small, making it difficult to infer the biological meaningfulness of the observed effect when applied to other contexts in a farm setting in which learning might occur (e.g., locating and remembering new drinker and feeder positions after transfer to new environments).

Although both selection lines were handled in a similar manner at the research facilities, early ontogenetic factors could have also played a role and might explain the observed differences. As it is common for the dairy industry, the dairy goats used in this study had been separated from their dam right after birth. In contrast, dwarf goats had been allowed to stay with their mothers for 6 weeks. Research has shown that early separation from the dam and rearing by humans increased tameness scores in goats (Lyons et al., 1988). If this would have been the case with our subjects, we would have expected a better performance in dairy compared to dwarf goats, as tamer individuals exhibit less stress during handling, and stress, in turn, can affect memory and learning (Mendl, 1999; Valenchon et al., 2013; Brajon et al., 2016). In addition, differences in sociality, rather than behavioural flexibility, might account for the detected differences. Subjects of both selection lines might differ in how they cope with isolation during the test situation, which in turn could have impacted reversal learning performance. Another factor limiting the general applicability of our results is that we could only test one breed of the non-production line, heightening the risk that the found differences in the reversal learning task might be due to specifics of this breed (or even population), rather than a result of non-selection for production.

Interestingly, goats were faster to learn a colour association when the stimulus was a black cup rather than a white cup in the learning, but not reversal learning task. Goats might have been biassed due to the setup of the training sessions. Although light brown cups have been used during training, we cannot exclude the possibility that goats transferred this association to the darker cup in the test trials. So other settings, such as the colour and shape of the stimulus, can impact learning performance and future designs should aim to strongly adhere to species-specific limitations regarding visual acuity and colour discrimination ability. Although in our study we found no interaction with learning performance, this finding also highlights the need for a balanced presentation of the stimuli and/or stimulus preference tests prior to the test situation.

CONCLUSIONS

Differences in behavioural flexibility could affect the ability of specific selection lines to adapt to new environments or changes in housing and management routines and thus might be relevant for the welfare of domestic animals. Our results provide first support to the hypothesis that selection for high milk yield in goats might be associated with decreased behavioural flexibility.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Code and raw data are available in the **Supplementary Material** and in a public repository here: https://osf.io/tfmwc/.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All procedures involving animal handling and treatment were approved by the Committee for Animal Use and Care of the Ministry of Agriculture, Environment and Consumer Protection of the federal state of Mecklenburg-Vorpommern, Germany (Ref. Nr. 7221.3-1.1-062/17) and by the Swiss Cantonal Veterinary Office, Thurgau (Approval No. TG04/17 /17rova). Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CN, NK, and JL conceptualised the study. CN and KR collected the data. CN analysed the data and wrote the main part of the manuscript. All authors provided critical feedback on the manuscript and gave approval for submission.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, LA 1187/6-1 to JL), Swiss National Fond (SNF, 310030E-170537 to NK), and Open Access Fund of the Research Institute for Farm Animal Biology.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the staff of the Agroscope Research Station in Ettenhausen, Switzerland, and of the Research Institute for Farm Animals Biology in Dummerstorf, Germany, for assisting in this experiment and for caring for the animals. We would also like to thank Jana Benner and Jonas Barkhau for help with reliability coding.

REFERENCES

- Akinsoyinu, A. O., Mba, A. U., and Olubajo, F. O. (1977). Studies on milk yield and composition of the West African dwarf goat in Nigeria. J. Dairy Res. 44, 57–62. doi: 10.1017/S0022029900019920
- Amici, F., Aureli, F., and Call, J. (2008). Fission-fusion dynamics, behavioral flexibility, and inhibitory control in primates. *Curr. Biol. CB* 18, 1415–1419. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2008.08.020
- Amici, F., Call, J., and Aureli, F. (2009). Variation in withholding of information in three monkey species. *Proc. Biol. Sci. Royal Soc.* 276, 3311–3318. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2009.0759
- Association for the Study of Animal Behaviour. (2020). Guidelines for the treatment of animals in behavioural research and teaching. *Anim. Behav.* 159, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2019.11.002
- Beilharz, R. G., Luxford, B. G., and Wilkinson, J. L. (1993). Quantitative genetics and evolution: is our understanding of genetics sufficient to explain evolution? *J. Anim. Breed. Genet.* 110, 161–170. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0388.1993.tb00728.x
- Berg, E. A. A. (1948). simple objective technique for measuring flexibility in thinking. J. Gen. Psychol. 39, 15-22. doi: 10.1080/00221309.1948.9918159
- Brajon, S., Laforest, J. P., Schmitt, O., and Devillers, N. (2016). A preliminary study of the effects of individual response to challenge tests and stress induced by humans on learning performance of weaned piglets (*Sus scrofa*). *Behav. Proc.* 129, 27–36. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2016.05.007
- Brust, V., and Guenther, A. (2015). Domestication effects on behavioural traits and learning performance: comparing wild cavies to guinea pigs. *Anim. Cogn.* 18, 99–109. doi: 10.1007/s10071-014-0781-9
- Colpoys, J. D., Abell, C. E., Young, J. M., Keating, A. F., Gabler, N. K., Millman, S. T., et al. (2014). Effects of genetic selection for residual feed intake on behavioral reactivity of castrated male pigs to novel stimuli tests. *Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci.* 159, 34–40. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2014.06.013
- Diekamp, B., Prior, H., and Güntürkün, O. (1999). Functional lateralization, interhemispheric transfer and position bias in serial reversal learning in pigeons (*Columba livia*). Anim. Cogn. 2, 187–196. doi: 10.1007/s100710050039
- Dudde, A., Krause, E. T., Matthews, L. R., and Schrader, L. (2018). More than eggs – relationship between productivity and learning in laying hens. *Front. Psychol.* 9:2000. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02000
- Halekoh, U., and Højsgaard, S. (2014). A Kenward-Roger approximation and parametric bootstrap methods for tests in linear mixed models - the R package pbkrtest. J. Stat. Software 59:32. doi: 10.18637/jss.v059.i09
- Langbein, J., Siebert, K., and Nuernberg, G. (2008). Concurrent recall of serially learned visual discrimination problems in dwarf goats (*Capra hircus*). *Behav. Proc.* 79, 156–164. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2008.07.004
- Langbein, J., Siebert, K., Nürnberg, G., and Manteuffel, G. (2007). Learning to learn during visual discrimination in group housed dwarf goats (*Capra hircus*). J. Compar. Psychol. 121, 447–456. doi: 10.1037/0735-7036.121.4.447
- Lindqvist, C., and Jensen, P. (2009). Domestication and stress effects on contrafreeloading and spatial learning performance in red jungle fowl (*Gallus gallus*) and White Leghorn layers. *Behav. Proc.* 81, 80–84. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2009.02.005
- Lyons, D. M., Price, E. O., and Moberg, G. P. (1988). Individual differences in temperament of domestic dairy goats: constancy and change. *Anim. Behav.* 36, 1323–1333. doi: 10.1016/S0003-3472(88) 80201-X
- Marshall-Pescini, S., Virányi, Z., and Range, F. (2015). The effect of domestication on inhibitory control: wolves and dogs compared. *PLoS ONE*. 10:e0118469. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0118469
- Mendl, M. (1999). Performing under pressure: stress and cognitive function. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 65, 221–244. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(99) 00088-X

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg. 2021.796464/full#supplementary-material

- Meyer, S., Nürnberg, G., Puppe, B., and Langbein, J. (2012). The cognitive capabilities of farm animals: categorisation learning in dwarf goats (*Capra hircus*). Anim. Cogn. 15, 567–576. doi: 10.1007/s10071-012-0485-y
- Nawroth, C., and Prentice, P. M. (2017). McElligott AG. Individual personality differences in goats predict their performance in visual learning and non-associative cognitive tasks. *Behav. Process.* 134, 43–53. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2016.08.001
- Nawroth, C., Rosenberger, K., Simmler, M., Langbein, J., and Keil, N. (2021). Performance of goats in a detour and a problem-solving test following long-term cognitive test exposure. *R. Soc. Open Sci.* 8:210656. doi: 10.1098/rsos.210656
- O'Hara, M., Huber, L., and Gajdon, G. K. (2015). The advantage of objects over images in discrimination and reversal learning by kea, *Nestor notabilis. Anim. Behav.* 101, 51–60. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2014.12.022
- Pinheiro, J. C., and Bates, D. M. (2000). Mixed-Effects Models in S and S-PLUS. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4419-0318-1
- Price, E. O. (1999). Behavioral development in animals undergoing domestication. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 65, 245–271. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(99)00087-8
- R Core Team (2017). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Core Team.
- Rosati, A. G. (2017). Foraging cognition: reviving the ecological intelligence hypothesis. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 21, 691–702. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2017.05.011
- Schütz, K. E., and Jensen, P. (2001). Effects of resource allocation on behavioural strategies: a compariso of red jungle and two domesticated breeds of poultry. *Ethology* 107, 753–765. doi: 10.1046/j.1439-0310.2001.00703.x
- Shettleworth, S. J. (2010). *Cognition, Evolution, and Behavior*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Vacca, G. M., Stocco, G., Dettori, M. L., Pira, E., Bittante, G., and Pazzola, M. (2018). Milk yield, quality, and coagulation properties of 6 breeds of goats: environmental and individual variability. *J. Dairy Sci.* 101, 7236–7247. doi: 10.3168/jds.2017-14111
- Valenchon, M., Lévy, F., Fortin, M., Leterrier, C., and Lansade, L. (2013). Stress and temperament affect working memory performance for disappearing food in horses, *Equus caballus. Anim. Behav.* 86, 1233–1240. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2013.09.026
- Voelkl, B., Altman, N. S., Forsman, A., Forstmeier, W., Gurevitch, J., Jaric, I., et al. (2020). Reproducibility of animal research in light of biological variation. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 21, 384–393. doi: 10.1038/s41583-020-0313-3
- Voelkl, B., Vogt, L., Sena, E. S., and Würbel, H. (2018). Reproducibility of preclinical animal research improves with heterogeneity of study samples. *PLoS Biol.* 16:e2003693. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.2003693

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Nawroth, Rosenberger, Keil and Langbein. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Intranasal Oxytocin Improves Social Behavior in Laboratory Beagle Dogs (*Canis familiaris*) Using a Custom-Made Social Test Battery

Borbála Turcsán^{1*}, Viktor Román², György Lévay², Balázs Lendvai², Rita Kedves², Eszter Petró¹ and József Topál¹

¹ Institute of Cognitive Neuroscience and Psychology, Research Centre for Natural Sciences, Budapest, Hungary, ² Pharmacology and Drug Safety Research, Gedeon Richter Plc., Budapest, Hungary

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Christian Nawroth, Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN), Germany

Reviewed by:

Debottam Bhattacharjee, Utrecht University, Netherlands Jean-Loup Rault, University of Veterinary Medicine Vienna, Austria

> *Correspondence: Borbála Turcsán borbala.turcsan@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 29 September 2021 Accepted: 10 January 2022 Published: 24 February 2022

Citation:

Turcsán B, Román V, Lévay G, Lendvai B, Kedves R, Petró E and Topál J (2022) Intranasal Oxytocin Improves Social Behavior in Laboratory Beagle Dogs (Canis familiaris) Using a Custom-Made Social Test Battery. Front. Vet. Sci. 9:785805. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.785805 For a long time, oxytocin has been thought to have a generally positive effect on social cognition and prosocial behavior; however, recent results suggested that oxytocin has beneficial effects only under certain conditions. The aim of the present study was to explore potential associations between social competence and the effect of intranasal oxytocin on the social behavior of laboratory beagle dogs. We expected oxytocin treatment to have a more pronounced positive effect on dogs with lower baseline performance in a social test battery. Thirty-six adult dogs of both sexes received 32 IU intranasal oxytocin and physiological saline (placebo) treatment in a double-blind, cross-over design, with 17-20 days between the two sessions. Forty minutes after the treatment, dogs participated in a social test battery consisting of eight situations. The situations were carried out within one session and took 20-30 min to complete. Principal component analysis on the coded behaviors identified four components (Willingness to interact, Preference for social contact, Non-aversive response to nonsocial threat, and Non-aversive response to social threat). The subjects' behavior during the placebo condition was used to assess their baseline performance. We found that oxytocin treatment had a differential effect on the behavior depending on the baseline performance of the individuals in all components, but only two treatment × baseline performance interactions remained significant in a less sensitive analysis. In accordance with our hypothesis, oxytocin administration increased dogs' contact seeking and affiliative behaviors toward humans but only for those with low baseline performance. Dogs with low baseline performance also showed significantly more positive (friendly) reactions to social threat after oxytocin administration than after placebo, while for dogs with high baseline performance, oxytocin administration led to a more negative (fearful) reaction. These results indicate that similar to those on humans, the effects of oxytocin on dogs' social behavior are not universally positive but are constrained by individual characteristics and the context. Nevertheless, oxytocin administration has the potential to improve the social behavior of laboratory beagle dogs that are socially less proficient when interacting with humans, which could have both applied and animal welfare implications.

Keywords: oxytocin, dog, social behavior, individual differences, laboratory beagle

INTRODUCTION

Although the majority of research supports a generally positive effect of oxytocin on social behaviors, this neuropeptide also seems to play critical (and complex) roles also in agonistic or antisocial interactions (1, 2), such as maternal aggression (3). Moreover, a growing number of studies have demonstrated that the effect of oxytocin is not as uniformly beneficial as was previously thought but depends on the characteristics of the individual, on the (perceived) characteristics of the social partner, and on the situation and context itself [see review in Bartz et al. (4)]. In humans, there are numerous studies demonstrating such individual effects, with the best-documented example being the effect of oxytocin in social dilemma games. Oxytocin treatment could promote or actively hinder trust and cooperation in these tasks, depending on the participant's individual traits [e.g., attachment anxiety and avoidance (5, 6)], and on how the participants perceive/categorize their social partner [in-group vs. out-group: (7, 8); trustworthy vs. untrustworthy: (9); known vs. unknown: (10)], or the interaction of these two factors (11). These studies altogether suggest that oxytocin primarily affects anxiously attached, rejectionsensitive participants and promotes higher trust and cooperation toward familiar, trustworthy, or in-group partners, while in less anxious participants and when interacting with unknown, untrustworthy, or out-group partners, it has no or even negative effects (i.e., promotes distrust and less cooperation). These results indicate that oxytocin is not a universal pro-social enhancer but seems to selectively improve social behaviors in individuals who are in need of such enhancement, while others without such need do not benefit from oxytocin. In direct support of this, Bartz et al. (12) showed that oxytocin administration improved performance in an empathic-accuracy task but only in individuals who were less socially proficient during the baseline measurement, whereas it had no effect on more socially proficient individuals.

Contrary to humans, there are only a handful of studies that found similar interactional effects in other species, including dogs. Even though dogs are famous for their unique, humanlike social competence (13), their social behavior toward humans is not at all uniform [e.g., Persson et al. (14)]. While plenty of research has shown that oxytocin administration improves the dogs' social approach and human-directed affiliative behaviors [reviewed in Kis et al. (15), Buttner (16)], the question remains whether the effect of oxytocin treatment would be more pronounced in individuals with lower baseline social competence. Two studies, however, lend support to the existence of the differential effect of oxytocin treatment on dogs, depending on their basal levels of oxytocin and the genetic variants they carry on their oxytocin receptor gene (OXTR). More specifically, Romero et al. (17) reported that, after oxytocin nasal intake, social proximity seeking (the tendency to approach their partners) was significantly higher in dogs with low levels of endogenous oxytocin than in dogs with high levels of endogenous oxytocin (measured before intranasal administration). Persson et al. (18) showed that oxytocin treatment increased physical contact seeking with the owners in golden retrievers carrying the AA

genotype of the 19131AG OXTR-SNP, but it decreased this behavior in individuals with GG genotype.

Social competence is a multifaceted construct consisting of a range of social-emotional and cognitive skills needed for successful social adaptation. This is one of the central phenomena of social-developmental psychology [see, e.g., Junge et al. (19)], which, however, can also be used to conceptualize the general social ability of an animal during different types and contexts of social interactions (20). Social competence is also a central concept of studies of social cognition in dogs (13) and is often defined as the ability of the dog to exploit available social information to adaptively optimize their social behavioral responses. In dogs, social competence can be measured in the degree to which dogs are effective in their social interactions with other dogs and humans (i.e., their ability to adjust their behavior to meet the demands of different social contexts) when demonstrating cooperative and communicative skills and when to make and sustain social interactions, etc. It is also worth mentioning that different aspects of social competence can be improved through socialization with humans. One reason for the lack of direct empirical evidence regarding the potential moderating effect of the individual's baseline social competence on the effect of oxytocin treatment could be that the majority of studies in this field have been carried out on well-socialized family dogs.

The current study is thus aimed to fill this gap and investigate the effect of oxytocin on dogs with low social competence. It is reasonable to assume that beagles raised with limited human contact under controlled laboratory conditions represent a group with markedly lower social competence than family dogs. However, this group still retains a measure of variability in this regard (21), which makes them ideal subjects to study how baseline social competence alters the effect of oxytocin administration. In this study, we used a double-blind withinsubject design; that is, the dogs' responses were investigated in a test battery twice, once after receiving intranasal oxytocin and once after receiving a placebo treatment (in a randomized order). The baseline social competence of each dog was assessed based on their behavioral performance during a placebo treatment. Based on the results of Bartz et al. (12), we hypothesized that the dogs' baseline performance and their treatment would interact, and that oxytocin treatment would have a more pronounced positive effect for dogs with lower baseline performance.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

Thirty-seven laboratory beagle dogs participated in the experiment: 15 females and 22 males (none had been neutered). The age of the dogs varied from 2 to 8 years (mean \pm SD: 4.75 \pm 2.39 years). All dogs were bred by the same commercial breeder who specialized in breeding dogs for laboratory use (WOBE Kft., Budapest, Hungary). The dogs were brought to the research facility where the behavior test took place 1 month before the onset of testing for acclimatization. All dogs were kept indoors, mostly in same-sex pairs in kennels (2 \times 2 m), except one male and one female kennel with three dogs in double-sized

kennels. The dogs had visual contact with each other. All dogs participated in the same daily care routines including feeding, cleaning, and handling. The dogs were fed once a day at the same time and had an *ad libitum* supply of water, and their interaction with humans was limited to the daily feeding and cleaning of their kennels.

Procedure

The subjects participated in the test battery twice, with 17–20 days between the two sessions. Two female experimenters (BT and EP) conducted the tests. Half of the dogs were randomly assigned to one experimenter, who played the role of the caretaker for that dog in both test sessions, while the other female experimenter participated in the tests as the "unfamiliar" experimenter. The roles of the experimenters (i.e., caretaker or unfamiliar experimenter) were reversed for the other half of the dogs.

Pre-assessment and Familiarization

Two weeks before the first test session took place, the experimenters had visited each kennel to assess whether the dogs were capable of tolerating the presence of an unfamiliar human. One experimenter (the prospective "caretaker") entered the kennel, crouched down, called both dogs in a friendly manner, petted them, and offered them dry food (the same as their normal daily diet) from her hand. Dogs passed the assessment if they approached the experimenter within 1 min, tolerated petting (did not flee), and accepted the food (N = 30 dogs did so).

Dogs that did not meet these criteria (N = 7 dogs) participated in a familiarization session (ca. 10 min of social interaction with their assigned caretaker) the next day, with the aim of getting the dogs used to the presence of and physical contact from their caretaker. Familiarization took place in the same room as the behavior test, and the dogs were carried to the testing room by the caretaker. The procedure consisted of four phases.

Phase 1 (Passive Interaction, 3 Min)

The caretaker crouched next to the wall and remained passive. Whenever the dog approached her on its own, she gently petted the dog's head and back but did not force the contact and did not initiate interaction.

Phase 2 (Active Interaction, 2 Min)

The caretaker stood up, walked to the opposite wall, crouched down, and called the dog.

- If the dog approached her within 10 s, she praised and petted the dog for 20–30 s.
- If the dog did not approach her within 10 s but did not avoid her either, she stepped closer to the dog and gently petted it for 10 s and then stepped back to the wall and waited for 10 s.
- If the dog actively avoided her, she continued to talk to the dog for another 20 s. Whatever the dog's reaction was, after 30 s, the caretaker stood up, walked 3-4 m away, and repeated the above procedure three more times (altogether 4×30 s).

At the end of Phase 2, all seven of these dogs were willing to approach the caretaker within 1 min and tolerated physical contact from her.

Phase 3 (Food, \sim 2 Min)

The caretaker showed a piece of dry food (the same as their normal daily diet) to the dog and then put it on the floor and stepped away. If the dog picked up the food within 10 s, she repeated it four more times. If the dog did not eat the food within 10 s, she put down another piece next to it and stepped farther away, repeating this procedure until the dog ate the food (or until 2 min had elapsed). Once the dog ate the food off the floor, the caretaker repeated the same procedure, this time offering food from her hand. At the end of Phase 3, all seven of these dogs were willing to accept food from the caretaker.

Phase 4 (Collar and Leash, \sim 3 Min)

The caretaker put a collar and leash on the floor and a few pieces of dry food next to them. Once the dog sniffed the collar and leash, the caretaker put the collar on the dog, continuously praised and petted the dog for 10 s, and then removed the collar. After \sim 30 s, she put the collar back on the dog, attached the leash (but left it lying on the floor), continuously praised and petted the dog for 10 s, and then removed the leash. After \sim 30 s she put the leash back on and walked around the room with the dog on the leash, continuously calling and praising the dog.

Oxytocin/Placebo Treatment

The same two female experimenters (BT and EP) who carried out the behavior tests performed the drug treatments, and both were trained in these tasks. The caretaker held the dog while the experimenter administered the dose. Both experimenters were blind as to which treatment the dogs received. Dogs received a single intranasal dose of 32 IU (8 puffs in total, with a half dose administered to each nostril) of oxytocin (Syntocinon, Novartis, Basel, Switzerland) and placebo (physiological saline) treatments in a repeated-measures design. Intranasal administration procedure was unfamiliar to the dogs; thus, some dogs resisted the administration. If a puff was clearly missed (i.e., the dog moved its head right before the experimenter administered the puff), it was repeated. One dog (a 2.1-year-old female) actively and strongly resisted the intranasal administration and thus was excluded from the study. The order of the treatments was balanced between the remaining dogs: N = 18 dogs (10 males, 8 females, mean age 5.22 years) received oxytocin before the first test session, and placebo before the second test session; N = 18 dogs (12 males, 6 females, mean age 4.43 years) received the treatments in the reversed order. Intranasal administration of oxytocin or placebo was followed by an incubation period (22) spent in the kennels of 35-45 min. After the waiting period, the dog was removed from the kennel and transported to the testing room by the caretaker.

Social Test Battery

The test battery consisted of a warm-up phase and 8 tests, and it took \sim 20 to 30 min to complete. The tests were carried out on the same day and in the same order for all subjects. In some of the tests, the dogs remained leashed by default. However, since the dogs were not familiar with wearing a leash, if the dog showed strong resistance to the leash at any point of the test (i.e., constantly struggled, tried to escape, or displayed freezing behavior) and the caretaker could not calm the dog, she removed the leash and the test continued without it.

Warm-Up

The purpose of this phase was to familiarize the subject with the testing environment. The caretaker (hereafter C) carried the dog to the testing room $(3 \times 5 \text{ m})$ and put it down, and then she sat down on the floor next to the wall. There were objects (including a cardboard box, bags, newspapers, plastic bottles, and a tennis ball) placed around the room. The dog could move freely, while C remained passive in her position. If the dog approached C and initiated the interaction, C briefly petted the dog but otherwise ignored it. The warm-up was terminated after 3 min if the dog explored at least two objects (i.e., spent at least 5 s sniffing or manipulating them) and also approached C at least once during this period. If the dog did not meet these criteria, the warm-up continued until the dog did so or for a maximum of 10 min.

Test 1. Interaction With the Caretaker

The aim of this test was to assess how much the dog tolerates/seeks positive interaction with C. The dog was unleashed during the test. The test consisted of 4 trials; each trial was 30 s long.

In the first trial, C stood up and approached the dog in a normal upright (walking) posture and at a normal speed of walk while talking to it in a friendly manner. If the dog was friendly or passive (i.e., showed no avoidance or aggression), C petted the dog and talked to it until the end of the trial (30 s). If the dog moved away, C waited for 15 s and then tried to approach the dog again. If the dog did not move away this time, C petted the dog, and if the dog moved away again, C waited passively until the end of the trial. At the end of the trial, C stepped away from the dog (3-4 steps). In the second trial, C crouched down and called the dog in a friendly manner. If the dog approached her, she petted the dog and talked to it until the end of the trial (30 s). If the dog did not approach her, C waited for 15 s and then approached the dog and petted it. If the dog moved away, C waited passively until the end of the trial. The third and fourth trials were identical to the second one.

Test 2. Food Motivation

The aim of this test was to assess the dogs' preference for different food rewards (dry food or sausage) in a social context. The dry food was familiar to the dogs, but the sausage was not (at least during the first food motivation test session). C put a piece of dry food and a piece of sausage on the floor and verbally encouraged the dog to eat them (for 20 s). Then C offered the same food types to the dog from her hand and encouraged the dog to eat them. If the dog ate only the sausage or both food types, the sausage was used in further tests, and if the dog chose only the dry food or none of the foods, dry food was used.

Test 3. Greeting by an Unfamiliar Experimenter

The aim of this test was to assess how much the dog tolerates/seeks positive interaction with the unfamiliar

experimenter. It was based on the procedure of Turcsán et al. (21). The test consisted of 3 trials. The dog was held on a loose leash (if it tolerated being leashed) by C, who was standing next to it. In the first trial, the unfamiliar experimenter (hereafter E) approached the dog at \sim 1.5 m and called the dog for 15 s. If the dog stepped toward E, she petted the dog for 7–8 s. If the dog did not approach E, E stepped closer and tried to pet the dog. If the dog showed active avoidance, E talked to the dog for 7–8 s. At the end of the trial, E stepped away from the dog (2–3 steps). The second and third trials were similar to the first, except that E did not approach the dog at the beginning of the trial; she just called it from her location.

Test 4. Training for Eye Contact

The aim of this test was to assess how much the dog tolerates/seeks eye contact with C. It was based on the procedure of Wallis et al. (23). The dog was unleashed during the test. The test consisted of a pretraining phase and a test phase.

Pretraining Phase. C sat down on the floor next to the wall, called the dog, and offered a piece of food. Then she tried to make eye contact with the dog (by talking in a high-pitched voice, clapping, whistling, etc.). When the dog established eye contact, C praised the dog verbally and gave the food to the dog (if the dog refused to eat, C used only verbal praise). This procedure was repeated once more. C had 3 min to establish eye contact with the dog twice. If C succeeded, the test continued with the test phase; otherwise, the test was terminated.

Test Phase. C sat passively by the wall, avoiding any noise or sudden movement that would attract the dog's attention, and watched the dog for 3 min. Every time the dog established eye contact with her on its own, C rewarded the dog (with food and/or verbal praise), and then she continued to passively watch the dog.

Test 5. Potentially Threatening Moving Object

The aim of this test was to assess how the dog reacts to the approach of an apparently self-moving object. The object was a remote-controlled toy car (30 cm long, 15 cm wide, and 8 cm high) with a 50 \times 30 \times 15 cm cardboard box placed over it. The test consisted of two trials. In the first trial, the dog and C were standing at one end of the room. The dog was held on a loose leash. If the dog did not tolerate the leash (i.e., struggled, tried to escape, or froze and did not move), C removed the leash and gently held the dog's body until the test started. E placed the object at the opposite end of the room (\sim 5 m from the dog) and used a remote control to direct the object toward the dog, moving it slowly and haltingly (moving \sim 1.5 m, then stopping for a few seconds, and then moving again). The approach was terminated if (1) the dog showed active avoidance (retreated to the wall or moved behind C); (2) the dog approached the object; or (3) the object moved within 1 m of the dog. After the approach was terminated, C unleashed the dog (if it was on a leash), carried the object back to its starting point, and then took the dog back to its starting point. The second trial was identical to the first one, except that when the object started moving toward the dog,

C stepped $\sim 2 \text{ m}$ away from the dog. When the trial ended either because the dog showed avoidance/approach or because the object moved within 1 m to the dog—C unleashed the dog (if it was on a leash), went to the object, called the dog in a friendly manner (for a maximum of 30 s), and encouraged it to approach/interact with the object.

Test 6. Directional Gesturing

The aim of this test was to assess the dog's ability to rely on human directional signals (including pointing and gazing) when choosing between two objects. It was based on the procedure of Hernádi et al. (24). The test consisted of a pretraining phase and a test phase with three trials.

Pretraining Phase. C gently held the dog's body. E kneeled on the floor \sim 1.5 m from the dog and put a plastic plate with a piece of food 20–40 cm in front of the dog. The dog was allowed to eat the food. If the dog refused to eat it, both C and E encouraged the dog until it approached and (at least) sniffed the food/plate. Then they returned to their starting positions.

Test Phase. In the first trial, E placed two identical plastic plates on the floor ~ 1.8 m apart, both containing a piece of food. E attracted the dog's attention (by talking in a high-pitched voice, clapping, whistling, etc.), and once the dog looked at her, E pointed (sustained pointing) and gazed at one of the plates and then looked back at the dog. Then C released the dog. If the dog approached one of the plates at <10 cm, E picked up the other plate. If the dog did not approach any of the plates, E waited for 15 s and then picked up both plates. The second and third trials were similar to the first one, except for the cues given by E. In the second trial, E used momentary pointing, E pointed and gazed at one of the plates (the opposite one to the first trial) for 2-3 s, and then lowered her arm and looked back at the dog before it was released. In the third trial, E did not use pointing but only gazed at one of the plates (the same as in the first trial) for 2-3 s and then looked back at the dog before it was released. The side of the cued plate in the first trial was balanced between the dogs.

Test 7. Emotion Recognition

The aim of this test was to assess the dog's ability to rely on the human emotional expressions of joy and fear when choosing between two objects. It was based on the procedure of Turcsán et al. (25). The test consisted of two trials. In the first trial, C held the dog's collar or the dog's body, and E crouched down \sim 1.5 m from the dog and placed two objects of similar size (a yellow wooden toy and a red plastic cup) on the floor \sim 1.8 m apart. E stepped to one of the objects, picked it up, and showed the assigned emotional expression (joy or fear) for ~ 5 s. She expressed the emotion with facial expression, verbal exclamations, and body language and looked at the dog at least once during this time. Then E put down the object, went to the other object, and performed the other emotional expression. When E took up her original standing position (halfway between the two objects), C released the dog. If the dog made a choice (approached one of the objects within 10 cm), E picked up the other object. If the dog did not make a choice, E waited for 15s and then picked up both objects. The second trial was similar to the first one, except that E demonstrated the two emotions in the reverse order. The objects' location (right or left side), their assigned emotions, and the emotional expression displayed first by E were balanced between the dogs.

Test 8. Threatening Approach

The aim of this test was to assess how the dogs respond to a threatening approach by the experimenter. It was based on the procedure of Vas et al. (26). The dog and C were standing at one end of the room, and the dog was held on a loose leash. E stood \sim 5 m from the dog and called the dog's attention. When the dog looked at her, E started to slowly approach the dog with a slightly bent upper body, staring steadily into the eyes of the dog and without any verbal communication. If the dog interrupted the eye contact with E, she tried to attract the dog's attention by making some noise (coughing or tapping the ground with her foot) and then continued the approach. The approach was terminated if (1)the dog showed active avoidance (retreated to the wall or moved behind C), (2) the dog approached E within arm's reach, or (3) E reached the dog. After the approach was terminated, C unleashed the dog, and E went back to her starting point, crouched down, called the dog in a friendly manner, and petted the dog to resolve the situation.

Behavior Coding

All tests were videotaped and analyzed using Solomon Coder (beta 190802 by András Péter, *http://solomoncoder.com/*). Altogether, 28 variables (20 scores, 1 frequency, 7 latencies) were coded in the 8 tests of the battery (**Table 1**). Neither the coders nor the experimenters had any information about the treatment that the dog received. Note that the number of coded variables was high relative to the number of dogs investigated, and the range and variance of the continuous variables (frequency and latency) were markedly different compared to the score-type variables. We therefore reduced the number of variables and homogenized the range of the different variable types using the following steps.

First, the continuous variables (frequency and latencies) were recoded into 4 to 6 categories to match the range of the score variables and also to control for extreme values. The threshold values of the categories were decided based on the variables' histograms. Second, for the tests that included repeated trials (Interaction with caretaker, Greeting, and Potentially threatening moving object), we calculated the mean of the trials for each variable coded in that test. Third, in the cases of the Directional gesturing and Emotion recognition tests, the number of dogs that did not make a choice in any given trial was too high (ranging from 35.6 to 58.9%) to assess the dogs' ability to follow directional gestures or emotional cue. Thus, for these two tests, we analyzed the total number of valid choices the dog made. Fourth, we also created a composite score from the two variables assessing the dogs' willingness to eat food (measured in the Food motivation and Directional gesturing tests) by taking the sum of these scores. The final set contained 13 variables; their descriptions can be found in Table 1. Interobserver agreements for all variables were assessed by double coding N = 15 dogs (41.6% of the whole sample) by two TABLE 1 | Definition of the variables coded in the tests and their inter-observer reliability [Cohen's kappa or intraclass correlation (ICC)].

Subtest, variable	Definition	Data processing	
1. Interaction with the careta	aker		
Reaction to petting	When C tried to pet the dog, the dog: 0, avoided contact (turned or moved away); 1, passively tolerated contact (no sign of contact seeking or avoidance); 2, showed a little contact seeking (shortly sniffed C, kept eye contact); 3, actively sought contact with C (cuddle up, lick, and climb in lap). If the dog behaved differently at the beginning vs. the end of the trial, the mean of the scores assigned to the two behaviors was given.	Coded separately for the four trials. For the analysis, the mean of the four trials was calculated. ICC = 0.927, $F_{14,14}$ = 13.792, ρ < 0.001	
Latency of approach	From the moment C stepped outside the dog's reach until the dog got within arms' reach of C. If the dog never stepped out of reach, the latency was 0; if the dog did not approach C, the maximum (15 s) was given.	Coded separately for the three approaches. For the analysis the raw latency was recoded into categories based on its histogram: 0, 0–0.9 s; 1, 1–2.3 s; 2, 2.4–4.5 s; 3, 4.5–9 s; 4, 9–13 s; 5, 13–15 s. Then the mean score of the three approaches was calculated. ICC = 0.816, $F_{14,14} = 9.863$, $p < 0.001$	
2. Food motivation and 6. Di	rectional gesturing		
Accept food	If the dog ate food (1) or not (0).	Coded separately for the two tests. For the analysis, the two variables were summed. Cohen's kappa = 0.694, $N = 15$, $p < 0.001$	
3. Greeting by an unfamiliar	experimenter		
Reaction to petting	When E tried to pet the dog, the dog: 0, avoided contact (turned or moved away); 1, passively tolerated contact (no sign of contact seeking or avoidance); 2, showed a little contact seeking (shortly sniffed E, kept eye contact); 3, actively sought contact with E (cuddle up, lick, and climb in lap). If the dog behaved differently at the beginning vs. the end of the trial, the mean of the scores assigned to the two behaviors was given.	Coded separately for the three trials. For the analysis, the mean of the three trials was calculated. ICC = 0.683, $F_{14,14}$ = 3.020, p = 0.024	
Latency of approach	From the moment E called the dog/stepped outside the dog's reach until the dog got within arms' reach of E. If the dog approached E before her call or never stepped out of reach, the latency was 0; if the dog did not approach E, the maximum (15 s) was given.	Coded separately for the three trials. For the analysis, the raw latency data were recoded into categories based on its histogram: 0, 0–0.9 s; 1, 1–2.3 s; 2, 2.4–4.5 s; 3, 4.5–9 s; 4, 9–13 s; 5, 13–15 s. Then the mean score of the three trials was calculated. ICC = 0.973, $F_{14,14} = 47.054$, $\rho < 0.001$	
4. Training for eye contact			
Frequency of eye contacts	The number of eye contacts the dog established during the test phase (3 min). If the dog did not pass the pretraining phase, 0 (the minimum) was given.	For the analysis, the raw frequency data were recoded into categories based on its histogram: 0, 0–1; 1, 2–10; 2, 11–21; 3, >21. Cohen's kappa = 1.000, N = 15, p < 0.001	
5. Potentially threatening mo	oving object		
Type of reaction	The object stopped because the dog: 0, moved away, in the opposite direction as C; 1, moved behind C; 2, was passive; 3, approached the object.	Coded separately for the two trials. For the analysis, the mean of the two trials was calculated. ICC = 0.997 , $F_{14,14} = 341.714$, $p < 0.001$	
Distance from object	How far the object was from the dog when it stopped: Score $0, \ge 4$ m; Score $1, \ge 2$ and <4 m; Score $2, \ge 1$ and <2 m; Score $3, <1$ m.	Coded separately for the two trials. For the analysis, the mean of the two trials was calculated. ICC = 0.995, $F_{14,14} = 200.714$, $\rho < 0.001$	
Latency of sniffing	From the moment C called the dog to the object until the dog approached it at <10 cm. If the dog approached the object on its own while it was still moving, the latency was 0; if the dog did not approach the object at all, the maximum (30 s) was given.	For the analysis, the raw latency data were recoded into categories based on its histogram: 0, 0 s; 1, 1–5 s; 2, 5–20 s 3, 20–30 s. Cohen's kappa = 1.000, $N = 15$, $p < 0.001$	
6. Directional gesturing	-		
Choice	The plate the dog approached at <10 cm: 0, none; 1, any plate.	Coded separately for the three trials. For the analysis, the number of valid choices out of three was calculated. Cohen's kappa = 1.000, $N = 15$, $p < 0.001$	
7. Emotion recognition			
Choice	The object the dog approached at <10 cm: 0, none; 1, any object.	Coded separately for the two trials. For the analysis, the number of valid choices out of two was calculated. Cohen's kappa = 1.000 , $N = 15$, $p < 0.001$	

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Subtest, variable	Definition	Data processing
8. Threatening approach		
Type of reaction	The dog's final reaction (when the test was terminated): 0, active avoidance (moved away or behind C); 1, passive (no movement toward or away from E); 2, ambivalent (few hesitant steps toward/away from E, may show tail wagging); 3, friendly/appeasing (approached E).	Remained the same for the analysis. Cohen's kappa = 1.000, $N = 15$, $\rho < 0.001$
Distance from E	How far E was from the dog when she terminated the approach: Score 0, $>2 \text{ m}$; Score 1, 1–2 m; Score 2, <1 m; Score 3, the dog approached E.	Remained the same for the analysis. Cohen's kappa = 1.000, $N = 15$, $\rho < 0.001$

E, experimenter; C, caretaker.

independent coders. The inter-observer reliability, assessed by Cohen's kappa or intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC; two-way mixed model, absolute agreement) of all variables, was good or excellent (**Table 1**).

Statistical Analysis

The 13 variables coded in the first test session were subjected to principal component analysis (PCA) with Varimax rotation. We used the eigenvalue > 1 rule (27) to determine the number of components retained, and variables that failed to load > 0.5 on any component were excluded in a stepwise manner (28). Cronbach's α was calculated to assess the internal consistency of the resulting components. To calculate the component scores for each dog, we standardized the variables using z-transformation and then calculated the mean of the variables loading with at least 0.5 on a given component (variables that loaded negatively on a component were first multiplied by -1).

We used the component scores of the dog during the placebo treatment condition as a measure of their baseline social competence.

The component scores were used as dependent variables in generalized estimating equation models using restricted maximum likelihood estimation. Dog ID was set as a random factor. For fixed effects, we included the Treatment (oxytocin and placebo), the Test session (1st/2nd), and the Sex (male/female) of the dogs. The Baseline performance of that component (the corresponding component score of the dog during the placebo treatment) was entered as a covariate. Two-way interactions between treatment and the other variables were included in the models. Non-significant effects were removed from the model sequentially, in the order of their decreasing significance, starting with the interactions; non-significant main effects were removed only if they had no interaction left in the model (29). Regarding Baseline performance, we expected a significant interaction with treatment, which would indicate that oxytocin has a differential effect on the behavior of dogs with high and low social competence. If it was significant, to interpret the interaction, we split the Baseline performance at its median to create high and low groups and re-ran the model with this categorical variable. We used sequential Bonferroni correction to adjust the *p*-values of the *post-hoc* tests for multiple comparisons. If this interaction was not significant and was removed from the model, the main effect of *Baseline performance* was also removed, because—being part of the component score itself—this variable on its own was redundant with the dependent variable. All statistical tests were carried out using SPSS v.22.0.

RESULTS

Principal Component Analysis

The 13 variables were grouped into four components (**Table 2**), which together explained a relatively high proportion (76.7%) of the total variance. The first principal component included variables from the Directional gesturing, Emotion recognition, Food motivation, and Training for eye contact tests. Higher scores on this component indicate the dogs' willingness to accept food from a human and to make a choice in response to human directional gestures and emotional displays, as well as their increased tendency to make eye contact with the experimenter. Consequently, this component is referred to as "Willingness to interact."

The second component contained variables from the Interaction with the caretaker and Greeting by an unfamiliar experimenter tests. Higher scores on this component correspond to a more positive reaction to both familiar and unfamiliar humans (i.e., increased contact seeking toward both C and E, and more positive responses upon being petted by both C and E). Based on these, the second principal component is referred to as "Preference for social contact."

The third component, labeled as "Non-aversive response to non-social threat," contained variables only from the Potentially threatening moving object situation. A high score on this component indicates a more positive (less fearful) reaction to the approaching unfamiliar object.

The fourth principal component, labeled as "Nonaversive response to social threat," included variables from the Threatening approach test. A high score on this component is associated with a more positive (less fearful) response to the threatening approach of the experimenter. Cronbach's alpha values were high (>0.8) for all principal components (**Table 2**), indicating a good degree of internal consistency.

TABLE 2 | Results of the principal component analysis.

	Principal components			
Variable (test)	Willingness to interact	Preference for social contact	Non-aversive response to non-social threat	Non-aversive response to social threat
Number of valid choices (Directional gesturing—test 6)	0.913	0.051	0.200	0.104
Accept food (Directional gesturing + Food motivation-tests 2 and 6)	0.851	0.164	0.166	-0.036
Number of valid choices (Emotion recognition-test 7)	0.846	0.014	0.049	0.225
Number of eye contacts (Training for eye contact-test 4)	0.695	-0.016	0.227	0.031
Reaction to petting (Interaction with C-test 1)	-0.137	0.905	0.010	0.064
Reaction to petting (Greeting by E-test 3)	0.051	0.890	0.079	0.068
Latency of approach (Interaction with C-test 1)	-0.068	-0.815	0.041	0.046
Latency of approach (Greeting by $E-test 3$)	-0.260	-0.719	0.061	-0.232
Distance from object (Potentially threatening moving object-test 5)	0.066	-0.087	0.911	0.040
Type of reaction (Potentially threatening moving object-test 5)	0.285	-0.049	0.856	0.105
Latency of sniffing (Potentially threatening moving object-test 5)	-0.329	-0.182	-0.697	-0.245
Type of reaction (Threatening approach-test 8)	0.087	0.170	0.129	0.893
Distance from E (Threatening approach—test 8)	0.118	0.027	0.133	0.891
Eigenvalue	4.282	2.788	1.593	1.308
Explained variance	32.940	21.443	12.252	10.060
Cronbach's α	0.861	0.806	0.816	0.819

Loadings > 0.5 are in boldface. *E.* experimenter: *C.* caretaker.

The Effect of Familiarization, Age, and Sex on the Baseline Social Competence of the Dogs

Seven dogs that initially did not tolerate the presence of physical contact from their prospective caretaker participated in an additional familiarization procedure, with the aim to lower their (social) fear to a level where they could be tested in the battery without causing severe stress for the individuals. Given that the familiarization took place in the same room and utilized a procedure that was similar to later tests, we cannot exclude the possibility that the familiarization may have been more successful than intended, increasing the baseline social competence of these individuals from the lower end to the higher end of the spectrum. Before integrating these dogs together with the rest for later analyses, we first investigated if their baseline social competence was higher than that of the rest of the dogs.

We found that these dogs (N = 7) had lower scores in the placebo condition (baseline social competence, **Figure 1**) as compared to the rest of the dogs (N = 29) in all but one component (Mann–Whitney U test, Willingness to interact: z =1.963, p = 0.049; Preference for social contact: z = 2.378, p =0.016; Non-aversive response to non-social threat: z = 2.546, p =0.009). In the case of Non-aversive response to social threat, there was no significant difference between these 7 and the rest of the dogs (z = 0.609, p = 0.557). Thus, the results indicated that the baseline social competence of these dogs was still lower or at the same level as the rest of the dogs, which justified pooling the data together for further analyses. The dogs' component scores during the placebo condition did not correlate with the dogs' age (Spearman correlation, N = 36, highest $|\rho| = 0.095$, p > 0.449 for all) and did not significantly differ between males and females (Mann–Whitney *U*-test, N = 36, p > 0.133 for all).

Main and Interaction Effects of Treatment, Test Session, Sex, and Baseline Performance

Regarding the Willingness to interact component, we found a significant interaction between *Treatment* and *Test session* (χ^2 = 17.292, p < 0.001), and also between *Treatment* and *Baseline performance* ($\chi^2 = 5.279$, p = 0.022). However, when we divided the dogs into low and high groups by the median of the baseline performance and entered this categorical variable in the model to interpret this latter interaction, it was no longer significant $(\chi^2 = 2.214, p = 0.137)$. Post-hoc pairwise comparisons also did not show a significant difference in the oxytocin treatment between the low and high groups. When this interaction (and consequently, the categorical baseline performance variable) was removed from the model, the Treatment × Test session interaction also became non-significant ($\chi^2 = 0.005$, p = 0.942), and the final model contained only the main effect of Test session (1st/2nd; $\chi^2 = 12.562$, p < 0.001). The dogs showed a higher motivation to engage in the two-way object-choice tasks, were more willing to accept food from the experimenter, and engaged in more eye contact with her during the second (repeated) test session than during the first occasion (Figure 2).





Regarding the Preference for social contact component, Sex (male/female) and Test session (1st/2nd) had no main and interaction effects (p > 0.308 at removal); however, we found a significant interaction between *Treatment* and *Baseline performance* of the dogs ($\chi^2 = 5.509$, p = 0.019). When the *Baseline performance* was entered in the model as a categorical variable, its interaction with *Treatment* was still significant ($\chi^2 = 10.389$, p = 0.001). *Post-hoc* pairwise comparisons revealed that the effect of oxytocin administration was significant only in dogs with low baseline performance (Bonferroni-adjusted p = 0.004): these dogs showed a higher preference for social interaction with both familiar and unfamiliar humans in terms of contact seeking and response to human-initiated physical contact after intranasal administration of oxytocin than in the placebo condition. We found no effect of treatment in the case of dogs with high baseline performance (p = 0.357) (**Figure 3**).

Similar to the previous component, we found no main or interaction effect of *Sex* (male/female) or *Test session* (1st/2nd) on dogs' Non-aversive response to non-social threat (p > 0.156 at removal), but the *Treatment* × *Baseline performance* interaction was significant ($\chi^2 = 7.647$, p = 0.006). However, when we divided the dogs into low and high groups by the median, its interaction with *Treatment* was no longer significant ($\chi^2 = 2.287$, p = 0.130), and *post-hoc* comparisons also did not show a significant difference between the low and high groups in the effect of oxytocin vs. placebo treatment. When this interaction (and consequently, the categorical baseline performance variable) was removed from the model, the main effect of *Treatment* was not significant ($\chi^2 = 0.013$, p = 0.909).

Regarding the dogs' Non-aversive response to social threat, while *Test session* had no main or interaction effect (p > 0.374 at removal), we found two significant interactions: *Treatment* × *Sex*



treatment significantly increased the component score in dogs with low baseline performance (*p = 0.004), while the effect of treatment was not significant in dogs with high baseline performance (p = 0.357).

 $(\chi^2 = 3.901, p = 0.048)$ and Treatment × Baseline performance ($\chi^2 = 34.559$, p < 0.001). Regarding the former, *post-hoc* group comparisons did not show a significant or trend-level difference of the oxytocin treatment between males and females. However, for the *Treatment* × *Baseline performance* interaction, when the Baseline performance was entered in the model as a categorical variable, its interaction with *Treatment* was still significant (χ^2 = 16.751, p < 0.001). Post-hoc tests revealed that oxytocin had an opposite effect on dogs' reaction to the experimenter's threatening approach depending on their baseline performance: dogs with low baseline performance showed significantly more positive reaction (i.e., tolerated the approach longer before moving away and/or were more likely to react with approach instead of avoidance) after receiving oxytocin as compared to receiving placebo (Bonferroni-adjusted p = 0.002), while for dogs with high baseline performance, intranasal administration of oxytocin led to a significantly less positive reaction (Bonferroniadjusted p = 0.043) (Figure 4).

DISCUSSION

Although there is abundant research pointing to the social effects of oxytocin, less is known about how individual factors may moderate the effect of oxytocin in species other than humans. In this study, we set out to investigate the potential moderating effect of laboratory beagle dogs' baseline social competence on the association between oxytocin treatment and different aspects of social behavior. In accordance with our hypothesis and similar to human studies [e.g., Bartz et al. (12)], we have found that oxytocin treatment has a differential effect on the behavior, depending on the baseline social competence of the dogs. Individuals with low social competence benefit more from oxytocin treatment than socially more proficient individuals.

We tested various aspects of social behavior in laboratory beagles; however, three of the tasks included in the test battery (Training for eye contact, Directional gesturing, and Emotion recognition tasks) proved unsuitable for testing laboratory dogs. Even though these three tests aimed to measure phenotypes that, according to previous studies on family dogs, are affected by oxytocin [following gestural cues (30); willingness to make eye contact with humans (31); emotion recognition (32)], these test situations proved unfit for these purposes in our sample of laboratory beagles. This was probably because food rewards seemed insufficient to motivate the laboratory dogs to participate in the task, and/or their willingness to participate could have been influenced by a variety of situational factors, such as the unfamiliarity of the situation and/or the proximity of the stranger. The finding that one of the principal components, Willingness to interact, was composed of the dogs' willingness to accept food as well as behavioral variables coded in the abovementioned three tasks, clearly indicates that the degree of individual willingness to participate is one of the key challenges in testing laboratory dogs [similar to some other animals, like cats; e.g., Smith et al. (33)].

It is perhaps not surprising that the repetition of the test battery (the 1st and 2nd test sessions) had a significant effect on the Willingness to interact component—but only on this component. Dogs showed more willingness to actively participate in the test—regardless of the treatment—during the second test occasion. This suggests that they gathered positive experiences


and/or habituated to the unfamiliarity of the situation enough to be able to focus on the task itself. Increasing food motivation probably also played an important role in this effect. Note that some of the dogs showed food neophobia during the first session (i.e., they were reluctant to consume the sausage probably because it was unfamiliar to them). During the repeated test session, however, all dogs that were willing to accept dry food readily accepted this new type of food reward.

The findings of the present study confirmed the differential effects of oxytocin treatment on the dogs depending on their baseline performance in the test battery (a measure of social competence). Although all four sets (components) of behavioral measures significantly interacted with treatment, these interaction effects were not uniformly strong in all principal components. Regarding the Willingness to interact and the Nonaversive reaction to non-social threat components, we found a significant treatment \times baseline performance interaction only with a more sensitive assessment of the individual's baseline performance (i.e., when analyzed as a continuous score), whereas a comparison of the high- and low-performance groups (i.e., when grouped and analyzed as a categorical variable) did not show a significant difference between them. On the contrary, in the case of the other two components (Preference for social contact and Non-aversive reaction to social threat), significant differences remain between dogs even when categorized as high and low social competence groups in their reaction to oxytocin treatment. The results showed that oxytocin leads to a more positive reaction in both these components, but only in dogs

with lower baseline performance. Regarding the Non-aversive reaction to social threat component, it is also interesting to note that oxytocin treatment led to a more negative (fearful) reaction in those dogs who showed a highly positive reaction to the threatening human in the placebo condition. This is in line with human studies suggesting that the effect of this neuropeptide depends on various contextual and inter-individual factors [for a review, see Bartz et al. (4)], and this phenomenon manifests itself also in the context-dependent influence of oxytocin on brain function (34). Results of another recent study indicate that oxytocin may serve as a warning system against potential threat cues in the environment and thus has the potential to facilitate active defensive behaviors (35). This finding contradicts the popular belief that oxytocin generally enhances social motivation and affiliative behaviors and further supports the results of human studies indicating that oxytocin can also induce antisocial effects, like aggression, envy, and distrust (8, 36), especially in negative situations like threat or competition (37).

Moreover, these results are also (partly) in agreement with the findings of Hernádi et al. (38). In their study, oxytocin treatment led to a less positive reaction to the threatening approach in dogs, compared to the placebo treatment, but only when the owner was performing the test, and no treatment effect was found when an unfamiliar experimenter approached the dog in a threatening manner. However, contrary to our results obtained on dogs with a low (fearful) baseline reaction, Hernádi et al. (38) did not find a positive effect of oxytocin, probably because their sample lacked dogs that showed severe fear in this situation (i.e., only 10% of their subjects responded with avoidance in the test); thus, a low number of dogs could positively benefit from the effect of oxytocin.

The current study has some limitations; firstly, there were a limited number of dogs available for analysis; secondly, we had no a priori information about behavior measures indicating a high (or low) level of social competence in dogs. Thus, the dogs' baseline performance was obtained by direct measurement of the individual dog's behavior in the different tests of the battery during the placebo condition. Moreover, the categorization of the dogs into high- and lowperformance groups was rather rough. These could be especially problematic if task repetition affects the dogs' performance, as half of our subjects received a placebo in the second test session. Although we found such an effect only in the case of the Willingness to interact component, the repetition effect may overshadow a possible interaction between the baseline performance and the oxytocin treatment in this component. We advocate future studies to develop an independent measure of social competence that allows for a more objective method of categorization.

All in all, in at least two of the four components, we found that baseline performance indeed moderates the effect of oxytocin on the dogs' social behavior: oxytocin promotes increased social behavior only in individuals with poor social competence (low baseline performance in the placebo treatment) while having no or even a negative effect on dogs with sufficient social competence (high baseline performance). These results are consistent with the social salience hypothesis (4, 36, 37, 39), which suggests that oxytocin generally increases the salience of social cues, and its subsequent effects (whether positive or negative) depend on how these cues are interpreted, based on contextual information and the individuals' inclinations. Accordingly, oxytocin enhances positive behaviors (social approach, prosocial behaviors, and reduced stress) only when the attributed salience of the social context is positive, while in negative (competitive, aggressive, or threatening) contexts, oxytocin enhances negative behaviors (anxiety, competitive, or aggressive behaviors). In our case, increasing the salience of the social cues in positive contexts (Interaction with the caretaker and Greeting by an unfamiliar experimenter) indeed led to more positive reaction for dogs with low baseline preference for social contact (those that were less attuned to positive social information), while in the negative situation (Threatening approach), increasing the salience of the negative social cues led to more negative reactions for dogs with a more positive baseline reaction (those that were less attuned to negative social information). However, in the case of the Non-aversive reaction to social threat component, oxytocin also led to a more positive reaction for dogs with more negative baseline reactions, which suggests that other factors (e.g., social stress) may also play a role aside from the salience of social cues.

Alternatively, our findings are also in accordance with a putative inverted U-shaped correlation between endogenous oxytocin availability and social performance found in rats and humans [e.g., (40–42)]. Although endogenous oxytocin levels were not measured in our study, one might speculate that

baseline performance was associated with endogenous oxytocin levels. Accepting these preconditions, administration of oxytocin to low performers could have increased the otherwise low baseline oxytocin level and shifted them into a concentration range more optimal for social functioning [for a similar finding in dogs, see Romero et al. (17)]. On the other hand, in the case of high baseline performers, an already high endogenous oxytocin level was further increased by external oxytocin administration, which could have pushed them out of the optimum concentration range, resulting in a less positive social behavior. A similar phenomenon has been described in Syrian hamsters, where at the baseline level, females were more socially competent than males, and the same dose of externally administered oxytocin reduced the reward value of social interaction in females while increasing it in males (43). Note that oxytocin, especially when present in high concentrations, can also bind to vasopressin receptors, and vasopressin can have opposite effects on behavior compared to oxytocin (44).

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

In summary, the findings of the present study contribute to the growing body of evidence against the popular belief that oxytocin has a generally positive effect on social/prosocial behaviors and support the notion that oxytocin can help some individuals, but not others. This selective effect of oxytocin could explain at least some of the inconsistencies between previous dog oxytocin studies. Individuals with low social competence might be rare among family dogs, especially among pet dogs whose owners volunteer for research. Thus, different samples of family dogs could have different numbers of individuals or even no individuals on the negative end of the competence spectrum regarding the behavior in question, leading to a small or no association found in one study and significant associations in another. The social competence spectrum of laboratory dogs is supposedly much wider than that of family dogs, which made them a good choice for the purpose of our study. However, it is also reasonable to assume that for laboratory dogs on the negative end of the spectrum, even standard handling procedures can be stressful (21). In line with this notion, our findings show that oxytocin has a positive effect on the human-directed social behavior of these dogs, indicating that, in the absence of alternative opportunities (i.e., regular affiliative contact with humans), oxytocin administration has the potential to improve the wellbeing of these animals.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The research was carried out in accordance with the Hungarian regulations on animal experimentation and the guidelines for the use of animals in research described by

the Association for the Study of Animal Behavior (ASAB). Ethical approval was obtained from the National Animal Experimentation Ethics Committee (Ref. No. PE/EA/3742-4/2016). This study was also approved by the Local Ethical Committee of Gedeon Richter Plc. and was carried out in strict compliance with the European Directive 2010/63/EU regarding the care and use of laboratory animals for experimental procedures.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JT, VR, BT, and BL contributed to the conception and design of the study. JT was responsible for the funding acquisition. BT and EP carried out the behavioral experiments. BT performed the statistical analyses. BT and JT wrote the first draft of the

REFERENCES

- Goodson JL, Schrock SE, Kingsbury MA. Oxytocin mechanisms of stress response and aggression in a territorial finch. *Physiol Behav.* (2015) 15:154– 63. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2015.01.016
- Rault JL, Carter CS, Garner JP, Marchant-Forde JN, Richert BT, Lay DC. Repeated intranasal oxytocin administration in early life dysregulates the HPA axis and alters social behavior. *Phys Behav.* (2013) 112:40– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.02.007
- Bosch OJ, Meddle SL, Beiderbeck DI, Douglas AJ, Neumann ID. Brain oxytocin correlates with maternal aggression: link to Anxiety. J Neurosci. (2005) 25:6807–15. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1342-05.2005
- Bartz JA, Zaki J, Bolger N, Ochsner KN. Social effects of oxytocin in humans: context and person matter. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2011) 15:301– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2011.05.002
- Bartz J, Simeon D, Hamilton H, Kim S, Crystal S, Braun A. Oxytocin can hinder trust and cooperation in borderline personality disorder. *Soc Cog Affect Neurosci.* (2011) 6:556–63. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsq085
- De Dreu CKW. Oxytocin modulates the link between adult attachment and cooperation through reduced betrayal aversion. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2012) 37:871–80. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2011.10.003
- De Dreu CKW. Oxytocin modulates cooperation within and competition between groups: an integrative review and research agenda. *Horm Behav.* (2012) 61:419–28. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2011.12.009
- De Dreu CKW, Greer CK, Handgraaf LL, Shalvi MJ, Van Kleef S, et al. The neuropeptide oxytocin regulates parochial altruism in intergroup conflict among humans. *Science*. (2010) 328:1408–11. doi: 10.1126/science.1189047
- Mikolajczak M, Gross JJ, Lane A, Corneille O, Timary E, Luminet P, et al. Makes people trusting, not gullible. *Psychol Sci.* (2010) 21:1072– 74. doi: 10.1177/0956797610377343
- Declerck CH, Boone C, Kiyonari T. Oxytocin and cooperation under conditions of uncertainty: the modulating role of incentives and social information. *Horm Behav.* (2010) 57:368– 74. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2010.01.006
- Declerck CH, Boone C, Kiyonari T. The effect of oxytocin on cooperation in a prisoner's dilemma depends on the social context and a person's social value orientation. Soc Cog Affect Neurosci. (2014) 9:802–9. doi: 10.1093/scan/nst040
- Bartz JA, Zaki J, Bolger N, Hollander E, Ludwig NN, Kolevzon A. Oxytocin selectively improves empathic accuracy. *Psychol Sci.* (2010) 21:1426– 8. doi: 10.1177/0956797610383439
- Miklósi Á, Topál J. What does it take to become 'best friends'? Evolutionary changes in canine social competence. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2013) 17:287– 94. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2013.04.005
- Persson ME, Roth LSV, Johnsson M, Wright D, Jensen P. Human-directed social behavior in dogs shows significant heritability. *Genes Brain Behav.* (2015) 14:337–44. doi: 10.1111/gbb.12194

manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision and read and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This research was supported by Gedeon Richter Plc. and has been implemented with the support provided by the Ministry of Innovation and Technology of Hungary from the National Research, Development and Innovation Fund, financed under the K128448 funding scheme.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Myrtill Prátpál, Timea Vándor, and Ágoston Galambos for their help with the inter-observer coding.

- Kis A, Ciobica A, Topál J. The effect of oxytocin on human-directed social behavior in dogs (*Canis familiaris*). Horm Behav. (2017) 94:40– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2017.06.001
- Buttner AP. Neurobiological underpinnings of dogs' human-like social competence: How interactions between stress response systems and oxytocin mediate dogs' social skills. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2016) 71:198– 214. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.08.029
- Romero T, Nagasawa M, Mogi K, Hasegawa T, Kikusui T. Oxytocin promotes social bonding in dogs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:9085– 90. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1322868111
- Persson ME, Trottier AJ, Bélteky J, Roth LS, Jensen P. Intranasal oxytocin and a polymorphism in the oxytocin receptor gene are associated with human-directed social behavior in golden retriever dogs. *Horm Behav.* (2017) 95:85–93. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2017.07.016
- Junge C, Valkenburg PM, Deković M, Branje S. The building blocks of social competence: Contributions of the Consortium of Individual. *Development Dev Cog Neurosci.* (2020) 45:100861. doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2020.100861
- Oliveira RF. Social behavior in context: hormonal modulation of behavioral plasticity and social competence. *Int Comp Biol.* (2009) 49:423–40. doi: 10.1093/icb/icp055
- Turcsán B, Tátrai K, Petró E, Topál J, Balogh L, Egyed B. Comparison of behavior and genetic structure in populations of family and kenneled beagles. *Front Vet Sci.* (2020) 7:183. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00183
- Kis A, Hernádi A, Kanizsár O, Gácsi M, Topál J. Oxytocin induces positive expectations about ambivalent stimuli (cognitive bias) in dogs. *Horm Behav*. (2015) 69:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2014.12.004
- Wallis LJ, Range F, Müller CA, Serisier S, Huber L, Virányi Z. Training for eye contact modulates gaze following in dogs. *Anim Behav.* (2015) 106:27– 35. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2015.04.020
- Hernádi A, Kis A, Turcsán B, Topál J. Man's underground best friend: Domestic ferrets, unlike the wild forms, show evidence of dog-like social-cognitive skills. *PLoS One.* (2012) 7:e43267. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0043267
- Turcsán, B., Szánth,ó, F., Miklósi, Á., and Kubinyi, E. (2015). Fetching what the owner prefers? Dogs recognize disgust and happiness in human behavior. *Anim Cogn.* 18, 83–94. 014-0779-3 doi: 10.1007/s10071-014-0779-3
- 26. Vas J, Topál J, Gácsi M, Miklósi AC. A friend or an enemy? Dogs' reaction to an unfamiliar person showing behavioral cues of threat and friendliness at different times. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2005) 94:99–115. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2005.02.001
- 27. Kline P. An Easy Guide to Factor Analysis. London: Routledge. (1994).
- Budaev SV. Using principal components and factor analysis in animal behavior research: caveats and guidelines. *Ethology.* (2010) 116:472– 80. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0310.2010.01758.x
- 29. Crawley MJGLIM. For Ecologists. London: Blackwell Scientific Publications (1993).

- Oliva JL, Rault JL, Appleton B, Lill A. Oxytocin enhances the appropriate use of human social cues by the domestic dog (*Canis familiaris*) in an object choice task. *Anim Cogn.* (2015) 18:767–75. doi: 10.1007/s10071-015-0843-7
- Kis A, Hernádi A, Miklósi B, Kanizsár O, Topál J. Oxytocin modulates how dogs (*Canis familiaris*) look at human emotional faces. *An eye-tracking study Front Behav Neurosci.* (2017) 11:210. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2017.00210
- Somppi S, Törnqvist H, Topál J, Koskela A, Hänninen L, Krause CM. Nasal oxytocin administration alters the gazing behavior and pupil dilatation in domestic dogs. *Front Psychol.* (2017) 8:1854. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01854
- 33. Smith GE, Chouinard PA, Byosiere SEI. fits I sits: A citizen science investigation into illusory contour susceptibility in domestic cats (*Felis silvestris catus*). Appl Anim Behav Sci. (2021) 240:105338. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2021.105338
- Baettig L, Baeumelt A, Ernst J, Boeker H, Grimm S, Richter A. The awareness of the scared - context dependent influence of oxytocin on brain function. *Brain Imaging Behav.* (2020) 14:2073–83. doi: 10.1007/s11682-019-00143-2
- Olivera-Pasilio V, Dabrowska J. Oxytocin Promotes Accurate Fear Discrimination and Adaptive Defensive Behaviors. Front Neurosci. (2020) 14:583878. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2020.583878
- Shamay-Tsoory SG, Fischer M, Dvash J, Harari H, Perach-Bloom N, Levkovitz Y. Intranasal administration of oxytocin increases envy and schadenfreude (gloating). *Biol Psychiatr.* (2009) 66:864–70. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.06.009
- Shamay-Tsoory SG, Abu-Akel A. The social salience hypothesis of oxytocin. Biol Psychiatr. (2016) 79:194–202. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.07.020
- Hernádi A, Kis A, Kanizsár O, Tóth K, Miklósi B, Topál J. Intranasally administered oxytocin affects how dogs (*Canis familiaris*) react to the threatening approach of their owner and an unfamiliar experimenter. *Behav Proc.* (2015) 119:1–5. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2015.07.001
- 39. Olff M, Frijling JL, Kubzansky LD, Bradley B, Ellenbogen MA, Cardoso C. The role of oxytocin in social bonding, stress regulation and mental health: an update on the moderating effects of context and interindividual differences. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2013) 38:1883–94. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013.06.019
- Benelli A, Bertolini A, Poggioli R, Menozzi B, Basaglia R, Arletti R. Polymodal dose-response curve for oxytocin in the social recognition test. *Neuropeptides*. (1995) 28:251–5. doi: 10.1016/0143-4179(95)90029-2
- 41. Insel TR, Winslow JT. Central administration of oxytocin modulates the infant rat's response to social isolation. *Eur*

J Pharmacol. (1991) 203:149–52. doi: 10.1016/0014-2999(91)9 0806-2

- Wynn JK, Green MF, Hellemann G, Reavis EA, Marder SRA. dose-finding study of oxytocin using neurophysiological measures of social processing. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2019) 44:289– 94. doi: 10.1038/s41386-018-0165-y
- Borland JM, Rilling JK, Frantz KJ, Albers HE. Sexdependent regulation of social reward by oxytocin: an inverted U hypothesis. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2019) 44:97– 110. doi: 10.1038/s41386-018-0129-2
- Song Z, Albers HE. Cross-talk among oxytocin and arginine-vasopressin receptors: Relevance for basic and clinical studies of the brain and periphery. *Front Neuroendocrinol.* (2018) 51:14–24. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2017. 10.004

Conflict of Interest: VR, RK, GL, and BL are full-time employees of Gedeon Richter Plc. This study received funding from Gedeon Richter Plc. The funder had the following involvement with the study: Gedeon Richter Plc. provided laboratory space for the experiment and covered the costs associated with the care of laboratory beagles.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Turcsán, Román, Lévay, Lendvai, Kedves, Petró and Topál. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



How Inhibitory Control Relates to Positive and Negative Affective States in Red Junglefowl

Laura Clare Garnham^{1†}, Charlie Clarke^{1,2} and Hanne Løvlie^{1*}

¹ Division of Biology, Department of Physics, Chemistry and Biology, Linköping University, Linköping, Sweden, ² School of Biological Sciences, University of Manchester, Manchester, United Kingdom

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jan Langbein, Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN), Germany

Reviewed by:

Ivo Jacobs, Lund University, Sweden Claudia A. F. Wascher, Anglia Ruskin University, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Hanne Løvlie hanne.lovlie@liu.se

[†]ORCID:

Laura Clare Garnham orcid.org/0000-0003-4352-6275

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 09 February 2022 Accepted: 16 March 2022 Published: 08 April 2022

Citation:

Garnham LC, Clarke C and Løvlie H (2022) How Inhibitory Control Relates to Positive and Negative Affective States in Red Junglefowl. Front. Vet. Sci. 9:872487. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.872487

Individual differences in inhibitory control, an aspect of cognition, are found in many species. How this variation links to affective states is not much explored, and could be relevant for welfare. As less fearful, more optimistic, individuals may act more impulsively, inhibitory control could link to less negative, more positive, affective states. Alternatively, poorer inhibitory control could associate with more negative, less positive, affective states, as poorer inhibitory control can result in individuals being less able to adapt to changing environments and more likely to show stereotypies. We here explored in three cohorts (N = 209) of captive red junglefowl, the ancestor of domestic chickens, how inhibitory control associated with affective states. Specifically, we measured inhibitory control with a detour task, and negative and positive affective states with a tonic immobility test and a cognitive judgement bias test, respectively. Cognition and behaviour can differ between ages and sexes. Therefore, we investigated how inhibitory control related to affective states in younger chicks (\approx 2.5 weeks old), older chicks (\approx 5 weeks old) and sexually mature adults (\approx 28 weeks old) of both sexes. In younger chicks, poorer inhibitory control associated with less negative, more positive, affective states. We found no relationship between inhibitory control and affective states in older chicks or adults, nor sex differences regarding how inhibitory control related to affective states. Overall, our results suggest that inhibitory control can link to affective states and that the nature of these links can change over ontogeny.

Keywords: affective state, animal welfare, chicken, cognitive bias, fowl, impulsivity, tonic immobility

INTRODUCTION

Individual variation in cognition [i.e., how individuals acquire, process, store, and act on environmental information (1)] is repeatedly observed across taxa [e.g., (2-4)]. Nevertheless, the implications of this variation for individuals are not well-known. Determining how cognition links to affective states could help us ensure good welfare for animals. Affective states (i.e., emotional states) can be perceived as negative [e.g., stress (5), fear (6, 7)], or positive [e.g., pleasure

(8)]. In turn, more positive and less negative affective states could be considered an indicator of good welfare (9, 10). Thus, it is not surprising that how cognition and affective states relate has become a focus of recent research. Thus far, affective state has been found to influence various aspects of individual variation in cognition, including learning (11) and decision making (12). Nonetheless, there are still potential relationships between cognition and affective states that are not much explored.

One potential relationship between cognition and affective states that is scarcely investigated is how inhibitory control relates to affective states. Inhibitory control [an executive function which allows individuals to inhibit their prepotent responses (13)] is an aspect of cognition repeatedly shown to vary between individuals of the same species [e.g., (14-16)]. Inhibitory control can be measured using a detour task, which explores whether an individual can inhibit the prepotent response of trying to obtain a reward directly through a transparent barrier and instead obtain it by detouring around the barrier [e.g., (14, 17, 18)]. A potential functional cause for a relationship between inhibitory control and affective states in non-human animals could be neuropsychology, specifically, how risk-seeking vs. avoidant individuals are. Individuals with less negative, and more positive, affective states are likely to be less fearful [e.g., (6, 7)] and more optimistic [e.g., (19, 20)]. A lower fearfulness implies that these individuals will be less concerned about potential risks, while higher optimism implies that they are more likely to assume that taking risks will result in positive consequences. On the other hand, individuals with more negative and less positive affective states could be expected to be more fearful [e.g., (6, 7)] and less optimistic [e.g., (19, 20)], which could lead to these individuals being more avoidant. Taken together, we could expect individuals with more risk-seeking, impulsive behaviour (i.e., showing poorer inhibitory control) to show more positive, less negative, affective states. To our knowledge, this expectation has not yet been empirically explored. Inhibitory control could also connect to affective state via the consequences that poorer inhibitory control can have for individuals. First, individuals with poorer inhibitory control are less able to adapt to changing situations [e.g., (21)]. Second, individuals with poorer inhibitory control are generally more impulsive [e.g., (22-24)], which can make them more likely to display behaviours with seemingly negative consequences [e.g., stereotypies (25-27)]. Taken together, poorer inhibitory control could be predicted to have negative consequences for individuals, and thus link to more negative, less positive, affective states. That aspects of inhibitory control can be worsened by stress-inducing experiences [e.g., cortisol dosing (28), forced isolation (29)] supports such a link, though further studies are needed to confirm or reject this.

To determine how variation in inhibitory control could influence affective states, we need to be able to measure affective states. Animals with more negative affective states [e.g., more fearful (6, 7), more stressed (30, 31)] remain longer in tonic immobility, that is they remain motionless for longer after having been restrained on their back and tonic immobility has been induced (32). Animals with more positive affective states show higher levels of positive judgement bias [i.e., optimism (e.g., 19, 20)]. More optimistic individuals are faster to approach a novel ambiguous cue that is intermediate between learnt positive and negative cues in a cognitive judgement bias test [e.g., (33, 34)]. If poorer inhibitory control links to more negative, less positive, affective states, it should correlate positively with negative affective states and negatively with positive affective states. Impulsivity (thus also inhibitory control) can link to affective states in humans. For example, in humans, higher impulsivity regarding alcohol consumption has been found to link to both more negative and more positive affective states (35), and increased impulsivity is associated with increases in daily stress (36). Overall, how impulsivity relates to affective state in humans appears to depend on the measures of impulsivity and affective states explored [reviewed in (37)]. Despite the interest in how inhibitory control connects to affective states in humans, this connection is yet to be investigated in other animals.

If inhibitory control links to affective states there is potential for these relationships to differ over ontogeny (i.e., different relationships may be found at different ages). For example, inhibitory control can be slow to develop {at least in some primates, [e.g., humans and rhesus monkeys, Macaca mulatta, (38, 39)]}. Further, individuals can learn to improve their inhibitory control over time (18, 40). Taken together, this suggests that individuals should improve in inhibitory control as they age. This has been observed in humans [e.g., (41, 42)], but lacks research in other animals. Less is known about changes in affective states over ontogeny, however that inhibitory control can change over ontogeny implies that the relationship between inhibitory control and affective states may also do so. Relationships between inhibitory control and affective states could also differ between sexes. Both inhibitory control and affective states show sex differences. Males typically have poorer inhibitory control (when it comes to avoiding impulsive actions), but are better at inhibiting impulsive choices (i.e., waiting for a larger, delayed reward rather than going for an instant, small reward), than females (43). The nature of sex differences in affective states differs between species (44). Overall, while sex differences in the relationship between inhibitory control and affective states could be expected, they are less clear to predict the nature of.

We here explored how inhibitory control relates to affective states in red junglefowl, Gallus gallus. If inhibitory control is linked to affective states via how risk seeking vs. risk avoidant individuals are, we hypothesised that individuals with poorer inhibitory control would have a less negative, more positive, affective states. If inhibitory control linked to affective states due to poorer inhibitory control having negative consequences, we hypothesised that individuals with poorer inhibitory control would have more negative, less positive, affective states would have. Red junglefowl, along with their descendant, the domestic chicken (45), are increasingly used for behavioural and cognitive studies [reviewed in (46)]. Chickens are one of the world's most intensively farmed animals [reviewed by (47, 48)], and face severe welfare issues such as feather pecking, vent pecking, and cannibalism (27, 49). The population of junglefowl we used for this study are known to show individual variation in inhibitory control [e.g., (40, 50)], which can show temporal consistency across time in both chicks (51) and adults (52). Fowl are known to show easily discernable tonic immobility reactions (53), thus tonic immobility can be used to measure negative affective states in this species. Cognitive judgement bias tests are validated for measuring positive affective states or optimism in non-human animals (54, 55) and the cognitive judgement bias test used here was specifically developed for use in junglefowl (34, 50, 56). As junglefowl and domestic chickens develop from chicks to adults, they may display changes in behaviour and cognition, as well how these relate to each other [e.g., (34, 57–59)]. Thus, we explored relationships between inhibitory control and affective states in three ages, young chicks (\approx 2.5 weeks), older chicks (\approx 5 weeks) and sexually mature adults (\approx 28 weeks). We also included both males and females in this study to explore whether relationships between inhibitory control and affective states differed between sexes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals and Housing

The red junglefowl used for this study came from a pedigree bred population belonging to Linköping University, Sweden [see (56) for further details]. Specifically, we used three cohorts (Cohort 1 was hatched in 2016, Cohort 2 in 2017, and Cohort 3 in 2019). Birds were tested between 1 and 6 weeks of age [i.e., as chicks, before the age at which they would typically become independent from their mothers, (60, 61)] and between 27 and 29 weeks of age [i.e., as sexually mature adults, sexual maturity occurs at around 20-25 weeks of age, (62, 63)]. We collected data from all cohorts when they were young chicks, \approx 2.5 weeks old when their inhibitory control was measured (Cohort 1: $N_{\text{females}} = 36$, $N_{\text{males}} = 34$; Cohort 2: $N_{\text{females}} = 23$, $N_{\text{males}} = 29$; Cohort 3: $N_{\text{females}} = 35$, $N_{\text{males}} = 23$). We did not test all cohorts at all ages, rather we tested Cohort 1 also as adults, ≈28 weeks old when their inhibitory control was measured ($N_{\text{females}} = 51$, N_{males} = 48), and Cohort 3 also as older chicks, \approx 5 weeks old when their inhibitory control was measured ($N_{\text{females}} = 35$, $N_{\text{males}} =$ 23). Not all younger chicks tested in Cohort 1 were retested as adults (42 younger chicks from Cohort 1 were retested as adults), nor were all younger chicks tested in Cohort 3 retested as older chicks (54 younger chicks from Cohort 3 were retested as older chicks). Also, in Cohort 1, some of the birds that were tested as adults were not tested as younger chicks, which was due to that these birds had been control birds for other studies when they were chicks. Chicks were sexed at 6 weeks of age, when moulting into sex specific plumage. Thus, for both younger and older chicks, experimenters were blind to the chicks' sex. We used artificial incubators to hatch our birds, thus reducing potential maternal effects. We gave each bird a numbered wing tag soon after hatching to enable individual identification. As chicks, birds were housed in mixed-sex groups in cages ($72 \times 71 \times 53$ cm, $L \times W \times H$), which contained perches, heaters, and saw-dust for dustbathing. In 2016 and 2017, we distributed chicks evenly between the cages, whereas in 2019, we housed them either in small (consisting of seven individuals) or large (consisting of 16 individuals) groups as part of another study. In 2016 and 2019, we designated a home pen to each chick, so they lived in stable social groups, while in 2017, we regularly moved chicks between

pens. Differences in how cohorts were kept, as chicks, were due to differences in other studies taking place in parallel. As adults, birds were kept in two single-sex enclosures (6 m³) equipped with perches, shelters, saw-dust for dustbathing, and access to an outdoor area ($400 \times 260 \times 250$ cm, L × W × H). For both chicks and adults, we used artificial lighting that was set so that the lights were on between 7 a.m. and 7 p.m., and birds always had access to *ad libitum* commercial poultry feed and water. Testing took place between 8 a.m. and 6 p.m. and birds were tested singly. The experiments were consistent with Swedish ethical requirements (Linköping Ethical Committee, ethical permit numbers 50-13 and 288-2019).

Experimental Set-Up

Birds took part in tests in the following order: cognitive judgement bias test, detour task, tonic immobility test. Birds participated once in the tonic immobility and cognitive judgement bias tests (apart from in Cohort 1, where birds participated in these tests once as young chicks, and once as adults). Thus, we used the same measures of negative affective state and positive affective state for analyses of both younger chicks and older chicks. The detour task and cognitive judgement bias test took place in arenas which varied in their dimensions according to whether chicks or adults were being tested (dimensions of arena used for chicks: $48 \times 39 \times 15$ cm: dimensions of arena used for adults: 90 \times 50 \times 60 cm, L \times W \times H). To minimise isolation stress during testing, we habituated all subjects, when they were chicks, to being alone in the testing arenas before they were tested [sensu (64)]. Rewards during testing and training always consisted of $\approx 1/3$ of a fresh mealworm for chicks, and a whole fresh mealworm for adults. For tests that consisted of a training phase and a testing phase (i.e., detour task, cognitive judgement bias test), birds were returned to their cage for a minimum of 1 h after completing training before commencing testing, to maintain reward motivation and minimise duration of time spent in social isolation. Birds were sometimes initially helped during training to find rewards. This was done by either tapping near the reward with tweezers, leaving a trail of mealworms, or guiding with a hand. Birds were never helped to find rewards during testing. For tests that consisted of multiple trials (i.e., detour task, cognitive judgement bias test) a trial started after a bird was placed in the arena and ended either when the bird obtained the reward (both tests), approached a cue within 2 cm (cognitive judgement bias test, at this distance a bird can see if their chosen cue is rewarded or not), or left the arena (both tests). At the start of trials, in tests which involved interacting with testing equipment (i.e., detour task, cognitive judgement bias test), for both training and testing trials, birds were placed into the arena at one of the short ends of the arena opposite, and facing away, from the testing equipment. This latter prevented them from automatically approaching the testing equipment without intending to. Testing equipment was repositioned and rebaited between trials, without birds being able to watch this.

Measuring Inhibitory Control

To measure inhibitory control, we used a detour task [*sensu* (40, 50)]. For each age, each bird was only tested once. Inhibitory control shows moderate temporal consistency between younger and older chicks in this population [Cohort 3 used in this study, (51)], and in adults (52).

Training Phase

Before a bird could take part in the detour task, we needed to familiarise it with obtaining a reward by navigating around a barrier (18). Specifically, birds learnt, over a series of trials, to obtain a reward from the centre of an opaque tube ($5\emptyset \times 8L$ cm for chicks and $7\emptyset \times 8L$ cm for adults) by walking to one of the ends of the tube and putting their head into one of the tube's openings. We considered a bird ready for testing once it had obtained the reward, without pecking at the tube or needing help to find the reward, in five consecutive trials.

Testing Phase

During the testing phase of the detour task, we presented each bird with a transparent tube with a reward at its centre. The dimensions of the tube, as well as the position of both the bird and tube, at the start of each trial, were identical to those in the training phase. We measured each bird's inhibitory control as the number of trials (out of five) in which it inhibited the impulsive response of trying to peck the reward directly through the transparent tube, and instead used the detour learnt in the training phase to obtain the reward. We termed this measure "Inhibitory control," where a higher measure indicated better inhibitory control (14). We used only five trials to reduce aspects of learning affecting this measure (18, 40). Variation in inhibitory control measures ranged from 0 to 5 for all ages.

Measuring Negative Affective State

To measure negative affective state, we used a tonic immobility test [e.g., (7, 65), sensu (50, 57)]. Tonic immobility has shown moderate temporal consistency in our population of junglefowl for both chicks (58) and adults (57). We induced tonic immobility by laying a bird on its back in a V-shaped wooden cradle (20 \times 10 cm) and gently holding the bird down, for 15 s, with one hand over its chest, applying light pressure, and another over its eyes. After this, we slowly removed our hands and measured "Negative affective state" as the time taken (s) by the bird to return to standing; the longer this latency, the more negative [i.e., more fearful (6, 7), more stressed (30, 31)] the affective state of the bird [e.g., (65, 66)]. While testing, the experimenter avoided eye contact with the test bird. If, following restraint, the bird did not remain on its back for at least 3 s, we did not consider tonic immobility to be induced, so we repeated the restraint. In 2016 and 2017, we used a maximum of three attempts to induce tonic immobility, while, in 2019, this was increased to 5. If we were unable to induce tonic immobility in a bird, we gave it a "Negative affective state" measure of 0 s. If a bird remained immobile for 600 s, we gave it a "Negative affective state" measure of 600s and then gently brought it out of tonic immobility by hand. Eight younger chicks, three older chicks and in 15 adults were given a measure of 600 s for "Negative affective state." Four younger chicks, and three adults, were not tested in the tonic immobility test. This was due to these birds being accidentally omitted from data collection due to experimenter error. Variation in our negative affective state measure ranged from 0 to 600 s for chicks and 4.37–600 s for adults.

Measuring Positive Affective State

To measure positive affective state, we used a cognitive judgement bias test [*sensu* (34)].

Training Phase

Before a bird could participate in our cognitive judgement bias test, it needed to learn to associate a white cue with a reward, and a black cue with the absence of a reward. A cue consisted of a bowl (5 \times 3 cm, Ø \times H), in front of a laminated card (9 cm²) of matching colour. To teach the birds to associate the cues with their outcomes, we simultaneously presented them with both a rewarded white cue and an unrewarded black cue, separated by an opaque divider, several consecutive times. To prevent the development of side preferences, we varied which side the rewarded cue was presented on (left or right) according to a pre-determined, pseudorandom sequence. For each trial, there were three possible outcomes: "pass", in which the bird approached the rewarded cue without needing help, "fail", in which the bird approached the unrewarded cue or left the arena, or "helped", in which the bird was helped to find the rewarded cue (note that we only initially helped birds and not during testing). We deemed a bird ready to progress to the testing phase once it had scored six consecutive passes. This criterion was chosen as it is very unlikely to be reached by chance (56). The number of trials birds received in this training stage varied depending on how many they needed to reach our set learning criterion. In terms of sessions, birds typically needed 1 or 2 (max 4) to reach our set learning criterion.

Testing Phase

During cognitive judgement bias testing, we presented birds with single cues, either rewarded white, unrewarded black, or one of three novel, unrewarded grey cues (i.e., light grey: 25% white/75% black, mid grey: 50% white/50% black, or dark grey: 75% white/25% black) in a pseudorandom order over a series of trials. Three different grey cues were used due to other investigations which also used data from this test. For this study, we used response to the mid grey cue to measure positive affective state, as this cue is the most ambiguous between the learnt positive and negative cue. Birds saw the mid grey cue 2 times in 2016 and 3 times in 2017 and 2019. To measure "Positive affective state," we recorded average latency (s) to approach the mid grey cue. A shorter latency indicated higher optimism and, thus, a more positive affective state (9, 33, 34). Note the inverse nature of this measure. We also recorded each bird's average latency to approach the rewarded cue in this test. We gave chicks up to 30 s and adults up to 60 s to approach the cue (since adults were in larger arenas and can show lower food motivation than chicks). Ten younger chicks, eight older chicks and 13 adults were given max values in this test. Seventeen younger chicks, six older chicks, and 29 adults did not complete the cognitive judgement bias test, either because they failed to learn the cue reward association at the training stage or did not complete the test. The latter was due to low food motivation. Variation in our positive affective state measure ranged from 0.93 to 30 s for chicks and 1.70 to 60 s for adults.

Statistical Analyses

We used R studio version 4.1.2 (67) to analyse our data. As the data did not fit assumptions of normality, we used non-parametric tests. We considered *p*-values ≤ 0.05 to imply significant results.

We explored temporal consistency in our measures of inhibitory control and affective states between younger chicks and adults (in Cohort 1), and temporal consistency in our measure of inhibitory control between younger chicks and older chicks (in Cohort 3), using Spearman's rank correlation tests.

As fowl can display changes in behaviour and cognition, and relationships between these, over ontogeny [e.g., (34, 57-59)], we analysed data from younger chicks, older chicks, and adults separately. To explore how inhibitory control related to affective state in our birds, we created models using the package "lme4" (68). Before designing the models, we investigated how independent our two affective state measures were by exploring the relationship between them, within each age, using Spearman's rank correlation tests. We found that "Negative affective state" (i.e., latency to righten in a tonic immobility test) and "Positive affective state" (i.e., latency to approach a novel, ambiguous cue in cognitive judgement bias test) were not correlated in younger chicks ($R_s = 0.07$, p = 0.38, N = 162) or older chicks ($R_s = -0.22$, p = 0.11, N = 50) and were only moderately correlated in adults $(R_s = -0.29, p = 0.01, N = 69)$. Therefore, we made separate models for "Negative affective state" and "Positive affective state" for all ages. Initially, we made a generalised linear mixed model for younger chicks, again using "lme4", with "Cohort" (1-3) as a random effect. However, as "Cohort" explained very little variation, we used generalised linear models instead, also made in "lme4". We did not include individual ID as a random effect, since only one measure per age was included in our data. In all our models, our measure of affective states (either "Negative affective state" or "Positive affective state") was our response variable. For adults and the older chicks, the predictor variables in our models were "Inhibitory control" and an interaction between "Sex" (male = 0, female = 1) and "Inhibitory control." These predictor variables were also included in the model for younger chicks, along with an interaction between "Cohort" and "Inhibitory control." We included interactions between "Sex" and "Inhibitory control," and "Cohort" and "Inhibitory control," in our models, but did not include "Sex" and "Cohort" as separate predictors. This was because we were specifically interested in whether the relationship between inhibitory control and affective states differed between sex or cohort, not whether affective states differed between sex or cohort. If, for any of our models, an interaction was not significant, we removed this interaction from the model. This resulted in the removal of the interaction between "Sex" and "Inhibitory control" from all our models. The interaction between "Cohort" and "Inhibitory control" was significant in the model for younger chicks, thus we did further analyses to investigate how the relationship between inhibitory control and affective state differed between cohorts. To do this, we first subsetted the data for younger chicks into the three separate cohorts and then ran simple models (affective state measure \sim inhibitory control) for each subset separately. In all our models for "Positive affective state," we included average latency to approach the rewarded cue as a covariate, thus accounting for individual differences in response speed not due to differences in optimism (e.g., general speed, motivation). For all our models, our response variables were continuous and nonnormal, thus we used a gamma distribution. As gamma requires only positive values in response variables, we replaced 0 s in the data with 0.01.

As results can be influenced by outliers or max values (the presence of max values could create ceiling effects that mask relationships in the data), we ran the analyses first with all data, and then (1) with outliers removed (first only extreme outliers and then also mild outliers, defined below), and (2) with max values removed. We defined extreme outliers as data points that were $3 \times$ the interquartile range of the upper or lower quartiles, and mild outliers were as data points that were $1.5 \times$ the interquartile range of the upper or lower quartiles (69, 70). Max values were measures of 600 for "Negative affective state," 30 for "Positive affective state" in younger and older chicks, 60 for "Positive affective state" in adults.

RESULTS

We found no qualitative effects of outliers or max values on any of our analyses, that is the patterns we detected, and what we found to be significant or non-significant, did not differ between analyses using all data, analyses using data with outliers removed, or analyses using data with max values removed. Therefore, we here only report results from analyses using all data. We found no sex differences in relationships between inhibitory control and affective states for any of our ages (in all models the interaction between sex and inhibitory control was p > 0.1).

Inhibitory control was not consistent between younger chicks and adults (in Cohort 1, $R_s = -0.07$, p = 0.64, N = 42), though it was consistent between younger chicks and older chicks (in Cohort 3, $R_s = 0.32$, p = 0.02, N = 54). Our measure of negative affective state did not show consistency between younger chicks and adults (in Cohort 1, $R_s = 0.006$, p = 0.97, N = 42), nor did our measure of positive affective state ($R_s = -0.13$, p = 0.51, N = 41).

How Inhibitory Control Linked to Affective States in Younger Chicks

In younger chicks (i.e., ≈ 2.5 weeks old), birds that had higher "Inhibitory control" had a significantly higher "Negative affective state" (t = 2.49, estimate = 0.005, SE = 0.002, p = 0.01, N = 177, **Figure 1A**). Further, the interaction between "Cohort" and "Inhibitory control" was a significant predictor of "Negative affective state" (t = -2.89, estimate = -0.002, SE < 0.001, p = 0.004). However, the relationships between "Inhibitory control"

and "Negative affective state" between cohorts were all nonsignificant when cohorts were analysed separately (Cohort 1: t =0.88, estimate < 0.001, SE = 0.002, p = 0.88, N = 70; Cohort 2: t = 0.84, estimate = 0.02, SE = 0.002, p = 0.41, N = 49; Cohort 3: t = -0.37, estimate < 0.001, SE < 0.001, p = 0.69, N = 58). Younger chicks with better inhibitory control also had a higher "Positive affect state" measure (t = 2.75, estimate = 0.04, SE = 0.01, p = 0.006, N = 164, Figure 1B; recall that a higher "Positive affective state" measure implies a less positive affective state, because the measure used was latency to approach the ambiguous cue). The interaction between "Cohort" and "Inhibitory control" was also a significant predictor of "Positive affective state" (t =-3.44; estimate = -0.02, SE = 0.004, p < 0.001). When the relationship between "Inhibitory control" and "Positive affective state" was looked at within each cohort separately, it was nonsignificant in Cohort 1 (t = 0.061, estimate = 0.001, SE = 0.016; p = 0.95, N = 66, Cohort 2 (t = 0.91, estimate = 0.007, SE = 0.008, p = 0.37, N = 46), and Cohort 3 (t = -1.19, estimate = -0.04, SE = 0.005, p = 0.41, N = 52). Thus, in younger chicks, inhibitory control was positively linked to negative affective state and negatively linked to positive affective state.

How Inhibitory Control Linked to Affective States in Older Chicks

In older chicks (i.e., \approx 5 weeks old), "Inhibitory control" did not link to either "Negative affective state" (t = -0.55; estimate = <-0.001, SE = 0.004, p = 0.59, N = 58) or "Positive affective state" (t = 0.73; estimate = 0.002, SE = 0.004, p = 0.79, N = 0.93).

How Inhibitory Control Linked to Affective States in Adults

In adults (i.e., ≈ 28 weeks old), "Inhibitory control" did not link to either "Negative affective state" (t = -1.62; estimate = -0.001, SE = 0.001, p = 0.11, N = 96) or "Positive affective state" (t = -0.59; estimate = 0.002, SE = 0.003, p = 0.56, N = 70).

DISCUSSION

We here investigated whether inhibitory control linked to affective states in red junglefowl at three different ages (younger chicks, older chicks, and adults, thus two different developmental stages, chicks and adults) and in both males and females. Our measures of affective states were not correlated. Regarding relationships between inhibitory control and affective states, we found that, in younger chicks, poorer inhibitory control was linked both to a less negative affective state (significantly, yet weakly) and, somewhat stronger, to a positive affective state (again significantly, though still weak). We found no links between inhibitory control and either positive or negative affective states in older chicks, or adults. Finally, we found no sex differences in relationships between inhibitory control and affective states, at any age.

Our measure of negative affective state did not correlate with our measure of positive affective state. This indicates that our affective state measures are two (relatively) independent measures, which capture separate aspects of affective states. This





supports the concept that affective states are not unilinear, that is, that positive affective state cannot simply be considered the opposite of negative affective state, or vice versa (33, 71). To put it another way, optimism is not simply a lack of fearfulness and fearfulness is not simply a lack of optimism. Thus, by using multiple tests of affective state here, we could get at both positive and negative affective states and so explore the effects of inhibitory control on affective states at a broader level, than if we had only focused on one aspect of affective state. We recommend future researchers to do likewise. An interesting avenue for future research could be to explore a more complete description of the aspects of affective state in animals.

Our measures of inhibitory control, negative affective state, and positive affective state, were not consistent over the transition from chickhood to adulthood. On the other hand, inhibitory control was found to be moderately consistent over a shorter time span (between younger and older chicks). That measures were not consistent between chicks and adults is not unexpected, as red junglefowl undergo two major developmental changes, during this transition, which could potentially result in changes to their behaviour and/or cognition. First, becoming fully independent from their mother [at around 10-12 weeks of age, (60, 61)] and second, sexual maturation [at around 24-25 weeks of age, (62, 63)]. That our measure of inhibitory control was consistent over a shorter time span suggests that this captures individual variation, at least to some extent. We could not here explore temporal consistency in negative, or positive affective state, over shorter time spans, as we only took one measure of these per developmental stage (i.e., as chicks or as adults). Previous studies, on this species, have found negative affective state to be moderately consistent over time, within chicks (58) and adults (57), and positive affective state to be weakly consistent over time (and mainly driven by environmental effects), within chicks (34, 56). We acknowledge that, as temporal consistency in our measures varied (from low to moderate), and we used single, rather than repeated, measures of behavioural variation in our analyses, we here used unpartitioned phenotypic correlations to investigate among-individual patterns. This approach, though common practise in animal behaviour research, is problematic. While behavioural correlations may reflect among individual correlations, this should not be assumed outright (72, 73). Thus, further research able to partition variation of within and between individual patterns is needed to determine whether the patterns we observed here, reflect patterns found on the between individual level.

For the current work, we made two hypotheses. First, if inhibitory control linked to affective states via risk seeking vs. risk avoidance, and individuals with a poorer inhibitory control would be expected to have less negative, more positive, affective states. Second, if inhibitory control linked to affective states due to poorer inhibitory control having negative consequences, individuals with poorer inhibitory control were predicted to have more negative, less positive, affective states. Our results for younger chicks offer support for our first hypothesis, and not for our second hypothesis, in that we found a link between poorer inhibitory control and less negative, more positive, affective states. Thus, in younger chicks, poorer inhibitory control appeared to be associated with better welfare, if welfare is indicated by more positive, less negative affective states. In older chicks and adults, we found no connections between inhibitory control and affective states. Our second hypothesis was partly based on previous findings that individuals with poorer inhibitory control are less able to adapt to changing situations. However, our birds were not exposed to many changing situations in which being less able to adapt could have been expected to influence affective states. This is based on that (besides from Cohort 2, i.e., younger chicks tested in 2017), our birds did not experience changing situations in

terms of where they were housed, or who they were housed with. Further, all birds were carefully habituated to the main change of situation they regularly experienced (i.e., taking part in testing) to reduce this causing stress. We also based our second hypothesis on previous findings that individuals with poorer inhibitory control are more likely to display behaviours that can have negative connotations [e.g., (25-27)], and that stress can worsen inhibitory control (28, 29). Our methods may have prevented such behaviour and stress from influencing affective states in our birds. First, we did not observe birds behaving in ways similar to described in previous work [e.g., feather pecking, vent pecking (26, 27, 49)]. Moreover, we tried to avoid stressing our birds as much as possible. Studies are needed to further explore and directly tests potential relationships between inhibitory control and affective states. This can be done, for example, by manipulating affective states (e.g., through providing enrichment, or stressors) and measuring how this affects inhibitory control. Such studies are currently scarce. So far, exposure to enrichment or stressors seem to result in poorer inhibitory control (28, 29, 40, 74, 75), though more research is needed to test the generality of this. As well as exploring how affective states directly affect inhibitory control, we encourage studies which aim to better understand how inhibitory control links to known welfare issues, for example, feather pecking. Feather pecking is a major welfare issue for chickens (27), which are one of the world's most intensively farmed animals [reviewed by (47, 48)]. The relationship between feather pecking and inhibitory control is currently unclear as, while the idea that feather pecking results from higher impulsivity has some support [e.g., (26, 27)], this is not always the case [e.g., (76)]. More research is therefore needed to disentangle the relationship between feather pecking and inhibitory control, as well as to explore how inhibitory control relates to other welfare issues.

We here assessed negative affective state with a tonic immobility test and positive affective state with a cognitive judgement bias test. While these tests are both well-established (7, 77) and can be used in a variety of species (7, 54, 55, 77, 78), they have their potential drawbacks. The reaction seen in tonic immobility test is thought to have developed as a defensive reaction to a predator attack (79, 80). Based on this, the tonic immobility test could be assumed to mimic a predator attack and, consequently, to be stressful and/or fear inducing to animals that experience it. Thus, the tonic immobility test itself could have negative implications for welfare if used frequently. The cognitive judgement bias test, while not intrinsically stressful, can be costly in terms of time, as animals need to be trained to reach a learning criterion before they can be tested. There are, therefore, incentives to develop less stressful and simpler ways to assess affective states. Especially useful would be single tests that can assess both positive and negative affective states simultaneously. That, in younger chicks, measures from the detour task associated with measures from both the tonic immobility test and the cognitive judgement bias test could imply that a detour task could, in some cases, function as such a test. However, we would advise against this. First, the relationships we found between inhibitory control and affective states were weak.

Furthermore, various factors, besides inhibitory control and affective states, may affect an individual's performance in a detour task. These include variation in food motivation, differences in how individuals are trained for the detour (81), and learning ability [as individuals can learn to improve inhibitory control over time (18, 40)]. To reduce the influence of these factors, we used a reward with high motivation for both chicks and adults. Further, we ensured that all birds were taught the detour in the same way and the number of trials birds had in this test was kept low (to avoid effects of learning). Another controversial aspect of the detour task is that its results do not necessarily correlate with other measures of inhibitory control [e.g., (82, 83)]. This, however, does not necessarily imply that detour tasks do not measure inhibitory control, but rather that inhibitory control is a complex construct consisting of distinct aspects (82, 83), one of which the detour task captures. Nevertheless, we acknowledge that we here explored the relationship between a particular aspect of inhibitory control and affective states, and that, to determine relationships between inhibitory control and affective states, in general, a battery of inhibitory control tasks should perhaps be used, to capture a broader picture of inhibitory control.

By collecting data from younger chicks, older chicks, and adults we were able to explore whether relationships between inhibitory control and affective states differed over ontogeny. Our results suggested that they were (since patterns were detected in younger chicks, but not in older chicks or adults). We acknowledge that we may have found links between inhibitory control and affective states in younger chicks only, because our sample size for younger chicks was larger than our sample size for older chicks and adults. However, finding differences over ontogeny in relationships between inhibitory control and affective states in red junglefowl, could be expected. Fowl are known to differ as they age in other aspects of behaviour and cognitive performance, including relationships between these [e.g., (57-59)]. These changes in behaviour and cognitive performance may be due to social and physiological changes which occur during maturation from chicks to adults [reviewed in (57)]. However, how, and why, social and physiological changes may affect behaviour or cognition is not fully understood. That younger chicks which were more impulsive in a detour task were also showed more fearful responses in a tonic immobility test and were less optimistic in a cognitive judgement bias test indicates that these chicks may have had a proactivereactive behavioural syndrome. More proactive individuals are typically less fearful, more impulsive, and more optimistic, than more reactive individuals (84-87). That measures of impulsivity, fearfulness and optimism did not correlate in older chicks or adults suggests that this syndrome may fade as birds age. Another reason why relationships between inhibitory control and affective states change over ontogeny could be because individuals, including red junglefowl, can improve their inhibitory control over time (18, 40). Overall, our results suggest that age can affect the relationship between inhibitory control and affective states (both negative and positive), and we encourage future research to investigate the generality of this further. This could be done, for example, by measuring how individuals' inhibitory control relates to affective states at multiple points during their lives.

Previous work, in other species, has shown that both inhibitory control and affective states can differ between sexes (43, 44). Therefore, the relationship between inhibitory control and affective states could also be expected to differ between sexes, especially species which can show sex differences in behaviour, such as fowl (57, 88). Nevertheless, we did not observe sex differences in relationships between inhibitory control and affective states in the red junglefowl used in this study. Earlier studies have also found a lack of, or only weak, sex differences in aspects of behaviour [e.g., tonic immobility (57)] or cognition [e.g., learning speed in discrimination and spatial learning tests (64)] in this species. Regardless, we still encourage future studies on relationships between cognition and affective states to investigate sex differences in these relationships where possible.

Overall, we here show that, based on behavioural correlations, inhibitory control seems to link to both positive and negative affective states, and thus in turn, that inhibitory control, an aspect of cognition, may have implications for welfare. However, the nature of links we observed between inhibitory control and affective states varied over ontogeny. Such links may also differ between sexes, though we found no evidence of that here. Overall, this study, along with other recent studies [e.g., (11, 12)], suggests that individual variation in cognition can link to affective state, knowledge which in turn could help us to improve the welfare of animals [e.g., (89–91)].

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Linköping Ethical Committee, Linköping District Court (ethical permit numbers 50-13 and 288-2019).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LG came up with the idea for the study. LG and HL designed the study. LG collected data together with members of the Løvlie Group (see acknowledgements) and analysed it based on communication with HL. LG wrote the manuscript with input from HL and CC. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

HL received funding from the Swedish research council FORMAS (Grant No. 2015-11891) and LiU Neuro Systemsbiology for costs associated with housing of birds or paying of PhD-salary (to LG).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thank you to all the members of the Løvlie Group who assisted with data collection over the years: Sabina Ahlgren-Porthen, Sara Forslind, Josefina Zidar, Enrico Sorato, Sarah Child, Sarah Ryding, Anastasia Kreschenko, Irina Petkova, Susana Garcia-Domingues, Kristoffer Lundgren, Alessandra Munari, and Lelde Suksta. We also thank Lejla Betik, Julia Buskas, and Enya van Poucke for animal care.

REFERENCES

- 1. Shettleworth, SJ. Cognition, Evolution, and Behavior. 2nd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2010).
- Koppik M, Hoffmeister TS, Brunkhorst S, Kieß M, Thiel A. Intraspecific variability in associative learning in the parasitic wasp Nasonia vitripennis. *Anim Cogn.* (2015) 18:593–604. doi: 10.1007/s10071-014-0828-y
- Croston R, Branch CL, Kozlovsky DY, Dukas R, Pravosudov VV. Heritability and the evolution of cognitive traits. *Behav Ecol.* (2015) 26:1447– 59. doi: 10.1093/beheco/arv088
- Bensky MK, Bell AM. Intraspecific variation in cue-specific learning in sticklebacks. *Anim Behav.* (2018) 137:161– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2018.01.003
- 5. Grandin T. Genetics and the Behavior of Domestic Animals. San Diego: Academic Press (1998).
- Hicks B, Patrick C. Psychopathy and negative emotionality: analyses of suppressor effects reveal distinct relations with emotional distress, fearfulness, and anger-hostility. J Abnorm Psychol. (2006) 115:76–287. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.115.2.276
- Forkman B, Boissy A, Meunier-Salaün M, Canali E, Jones R. A critical review of fear tests used on cattle, pigs, sheep, poultry and horses. *Physiol Behav.* (2007) 92:340–74. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.03.016
- Berridge K, Kringelbach M. Affective neuroscience of pleasure: reward in humans and animals. *Psychopharmacology*. (2008) 199:457–80. doi: 10.1007/s00213-008-1099-6
- 9. Harding E, Paul E, Mendl M. Animal behaviour: cognitive bias and affective state. *Nature*. (2004) 427:312. doi: 10.1038/427312a
- Makowska I, Weary D. Assessing the emotions of laboratory rats. Appl Anim Behav Sci. (2013) 148:1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2013.07.017
- Rygula R, Popik, P. Trait "pessimism" is associated with increased sensitivity to negative feedback in rats. *Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci.* (2016) 16:516– 26. doi: 10.3758/s13415-016-0410-y
- Berlinghieri F, Panizzon P, Penry-Williams I, Brown, C. Laterality and fish welfare - a Review. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2021) 236:105239. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2021.105239
- Schachar R, Logan G. Impulsivity and inhibitory control in normal development and childhood psychopathology. *Dev Psychol.* (1990) 26:710– 20. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.26.5.710
- MacLean EL, Hare B, Nunn CL, Addessi E, Amici F, Anderson RC, et al. The evolution of self-control. *PNAS*. (2014) 111:E2140– 8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1323533111
- Langley EJG, Adams A, Beardsworth CE, Dawson DA, Laker PR, Van Horik JO, et al. Heritability and correlations among learning and inhibitory control traits. *Behav Ecol.* (2020) 31:798–806. doi: 10.1093/beheco/ araa029
- Lucon-Xiccato T, Montalbano G, Dadda M, Cristiano B. Lateralization correlates with individual differences in inhibitory control in zebrafish. *Biol Lett.* (2020) 16:20200296. doi: 10.1098/rsbl. 2020.0296
- Jentsch J, Roth R, Taylor J. Object retrieval/detour deficits in monkeys produced by prior subchronic phencyclidine administration: evidence for cognitive impulsivity. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2000) 48:415–24. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(00)00926-4
- Kabadayi C, Bobrowicz K, Osvath, M. The detour paradigm in animal cognition. Anim Cogn. (2017) 21:21–35. doi: 10.1007/s10071-017-1152-0
- Nygren T, Isen A, Taylor P, Dulin J. The influence of positive affect on the decision rule in risk: focus on outcome (and especially avoidance of loss) rather than probability. *Organ Behav Hum Decis Process*. (1996) 66:59– 72. doi: 10.1006/obhd.1996.0038

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets. 2022.872487/full#supplementary-material

- Brydges N, Leach M, Nicol K, Wright R, Bateson M. Environmental enrichment induces optimistic cognitive bias in rats. *Anim Behav.* (2011) 81:169–75. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2010.09.030
- 21. Gilbert SJ, Burgess PW. Executive function. Curr Bio. (2008) 18:R110-4. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2007.12.014
- Winstanley CA, Eagle DM, Robbins TW. Behavioral models of impulsivity in relation to ADHD: 6 translation between clinical and preclinical studies. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2006) 26:379–95. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2006.01.001
- Dalley JW, Everitt BJ, Robbins TW. Impulsivity, compulsivity, and top-down cognitive control. Neuron. (2011) 4:680–94. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.01.020
- 24. Schippers MC, Bruinsma B, Gaastra M, Mesman TI, Denys D, De Vries TJ, et al. Deep brain stimulation of the nucleus accumbens core affects trait impulsivity in a baseline-dependent manner. *Front Behav Neurosci.* (2017) 11:52. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2017.00052
- Garner J, Mason G. Evidence for a relationship between cage stereotypies and behavioural disinhibition in laboratory rodents. *Behav Brain Res.* (2002) 136:83–92. doi: 10.1016/S0166-4328(02)00111-0
- 26. Kops M, De Haas E, Rodenburg B, Esther E, Korte-Bouws G.A.H., Berend O, et al. Selection for low mortality in laying hens affects catecholamine levels in the arcopallium, a brain area involved in fear and motor regulation. *Behav Brain Res.* (2013) 257:54–61. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2013.09.035
- 27. de Haas E, van der Eijk J. Where in the serotonergic system does it go wrong? Unravelling the route by which the serotonergic system affects feather pecking in chickens. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2018) 95:170– 88. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.07.007
- Lyons D, Lopez J, Yang C, Schatzberg A. Stress-level cortisol treatment impairs inhibitory control of behavior in monkeys. *J Neurosci.* (2000) 20:7816– 21. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-20-07816.2000
- Schrijver N, Würbel H. Early social deprivation disrupts attentional, but not affective, shifts in rats. *Behav Neurosci.* (2001) 115:437–42. doi: 10.1037/0735-7044.115.2.437
- Zulkifli I, Rasedee A, Syaadoh ON, Norma MTC. Daylength effects on stress and fear responses in broiler chickens. *Asian Aust J Anim Sci.* (1998) 11:751–4. doi: 10.5713/ajas.1998.751
- Kozak A, Rozempolska-Rucińska I, Kasperek K, Bownik A. Level of stress in relation to emotional reactivity of hens. *Ital J Anim Sci.* (2019) 18:1252– 8. doi: 10.1080/1828051X.2019.1642150
- Campbell D, Dickson E, Lee C. Application of open field, tonic immobility, and attention bias tests to hens with different ranging patterns. *PeerJ.* (2019) 7:e8122. doi: 10.7717/peerj.8122
- Mendl M, Burman OHPP, Parker RMAA, Paul ES. Cognitive bias as an indicator of animal emotion and welfare: emerging evidence and underlying mechanisms. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2009) 118:161– 81. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2009.02.023
- 34. Zidar J, Campderrich I, Jansson E, Wichman A, Winberg S, Keeling L, et al. Environmental complexity buffers against stressinduced negative judgement bias in female chickens. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:5404. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-23545-6
- 35. Peterson SJ, Smith GT. Impulsigenic personality: is urgency an example of the jangle fallacy? *Psychol Assess.* (2019) 31:1135–44. doi: 10.1037/pas0000740
- Sharpe BM, Simms LJ, Wright AGC. Impulsivity, affect, and stress in daily life: examining a cascade model of urgency. J Pers Disord. (2021) 35:494– 512. doi: 10.1521/pedi_2020_34_465
- Sperry S, Lynam D, Walsh M, Horton L, Kwapil T. Examining the multidimensional structure of impulsivity in daily life. *Pers Individ Differ*. (2016) 94:153–8. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2016.01.018
- Diamond, A. Developmental time course in human infants and infant monkeys, and the neural bases of, inhibitory control in reaching. *Ann NY Acad Sci.* (1990) 608:637–76. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1990.tb48913.x

- Diamond, A. Executive functions. Ann Rev Psychol. (2013) 64:135– 68. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143750
- Ryding S, Garnham LC, Abbey-Lee RN., Petkova I, Kreshchenko A, Løvlie, et al. Impulsivity is affected by cognitive enrichment and links to brain gene expression in red junglefowl chicks. *Anim Behav.* (2021) 178:195– 207. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2021.06.007
- Davis E, Bruce J, Snyder K, Nelson, C. The X-trials: neural correlates of an inhibitory control task in children and adults. *J Cogn Neurosci.* (2003) 15:432–43. doi: 10.1162/089892903321593144
- Kray J, Ritter H, Mueller, L. The interplay between cognitive control and emotional processing in children and adolescents. *J Exp Child Psychol.* (2020) 193:104795. doi: 10.1016/j.jecp.2019.104795
- Weafer J, de Wit H. Sex differences in impulsive action and impulsive choice. *Addict Behav.* (2014) 39:1573–9. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2013.10.033
- Whittaker A, Barker T. A consideration of the role of biology and test design as confounding factors in judgement bias tests. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2020) 232:105126. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2020.105126
- Fumihito A, Miyake T, Sumi S, Takada M, Ohno S, Kondo N. One subspecies of the red junglefowl (*Gallus gallus* gallus) suffices as the matriarchic ancestor of all domestic breeds. *PNAS.* (1994) 91:12505– 9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.26.12505
- Garnham L, Løvlie H. Sophisticated fowl: the complex behaviour and cognitive skills of chickens and red junglefowl. *Behav Sci.* (2018) 8:13. doi: 10.3390/bs8010013
- Pizzari, T. The wood-gush legacy: a sociobiology perspective to fertility and welfare in chickens. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2016) 181:12–8. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2016.01.025
- 48. Nicol, C. Understanding the Behaviour and Improving the Welfare of Chickens. Cambridge: Burleigh Dodds Science Publishing (2020).
- Lambton S, Knowles T, Yorke C, Nicol C. The risk factors affecting the development of vent pecking and cannibalism in free-range and organic laying hens. *Anim Welf.* (2015) 24:101–111. doi: 10.7120/09627286.24.1.101
- Garnham LC, Porthén SA, Child S, Forslind S, Løvlie H. The role of personality, cognition, and affective state in same-sex contests in the red junglefowl. *Behav Ecol Sociobiol.* (2019) 73:149. doi: 10.1007/s00265-019-2762-0
- Garnham LC, Garcia Dominguez S, Thornton A, Shaw R, Løvlie H. The effect of experimentally manipulating group size on cognitive performance in red junglefowl chicks.
- Garnham LC, Boddington R, Løvlie H. Variation in inhibitory control does not influence social rank, foraging efficiency, or risk taking, in red junglefowl females. *Anim Cogn.* (2022). doi: 10.1007/s10071-022-01598-5
- Jones R. The tonic immobility reaction of the domestic fowl: a review. Worlds Poult Sci J. (1986) 42:82–96. doi: 10.1079/WPS19860008
- 54. Lagisz M, Zidar J, Nakagawa S, Neville V, Sorato E, Paul E, et al. Optimism, pessimism and judgement bias in animals: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2020) 118:3–17. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.07.012
- 55. Neville V, Nakagawa S, Zidar J, Paul ES, Lagisz M, Bateson M, et al. Pharmacological manipulations of judgement bias: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2020) 108:269–86. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.11.008
- Sorato E, Zidar J, Garnham L, Wilson A, Løvlie H. Heritabilities and covariation among cognitive traits in red junglefowl. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond* B. (2018) 373:20170285. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2017.0285
- Favati A, Zidar J, Thorpe H, Jensen P, Løvlie H. The ontogeny of personality traits in the red junglefowl, *Gallus gallus. Behav Ecol.* (2016) 27:484– 93. doi: 10.1093/beheco/arv177
- Zidar J, Balogh A, Favati A, Jensen P, Leimar O, Løvlie H. A comparison of animal personality and coping styles in the red junglefowl. *Anim Behav.* (2017) 130:209–20. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2017.06.024
- 59. Zidar J, Balogh A, Favati A, Jensen P, Leimar O, Sorato E, et al. The relationship between learning speed and personality is ageand task-dependent in red junglefowl. *Behav Ecol Sociobiol.* (2018) 72:168. doi: 10.1007/s00265-018-2579-2
- McBride G, Parer IP, Foenander F. The social organization and behaviour of the feral domestic fowl. *Anim Behav Monogr.* (1969) 2:125–81. doi: 10.1016/S0066-1856(69)80003-8

- Collias N, Collias E, Jennrich RI. Dominant red junglefowl (*Gallus gallus*) hens in an unconfined flock rear the most young over their lifetime. *Auk.* (1994) 111:863–72. doi: 10.2307/4088818
- 62. Delacour J. The Pheasants of the World. London: Country Life (1951).
- Wright D, Rubin C, Schutz K, Kerje S, Kindmark A, Brandström H, et al. Onset of sexual maturity in female chickens is genetically linked to loci associated with fecundity and a sexual ornament. *Reprod Domest Anim.* (2012) 47:31–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0531.2011.01963.x
- 64. Zidar J, Sorato E, Malmqvist AM, Jansson E, Rosher C, Jensen P, et al. Early experience affects adult personality in the red junglefowl: a role for cognitive stimulation? *Behav Processes*. (2017) 134:78–86. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2016.06.003
- Gallup GG. Tonic immobility as a measure of fear in domestic fowl. *Anim Behav.* (1979) 27:316–7. doi: 10.1016/0003-3472(79)90159-3
- Hansen I, Braastad BO, Storbraten J, Tofastrud M. Differences in fearfulness indicated by tonic immobility between laying hens in aviaries and in cages. *Anim Welf.* (1993) 2:105–12.
- 67. R Core Team. R version 4.1.2 (2021) "Bird Hippie" Copyright (C). Vienna: The R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2021).
- Bates D, Mächler M, Bolker B, Walker S. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. J Stat Softw. (2015) 67:1–48. doi: 10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Hodge VJ, Austin J. A survey of outlier detection methodologies. Artif Intell Rev. (2004) 22:85–126. doi: 10.1023/B:AIRE.0000045502.10941.a9
- 70. Asikoglu O. Outlier detection in extreme value series. JMEST. (2017) 4.
- Paul E, Harding E, Mendl, M. Measuring emotional processes in animals: the utility of a cognitive approach. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2005) 29:469– 91. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2005.01.002
- Brommer, J. On between-individual and residual (co)variances in the study of animal personality: are you willing to take the "individual gambit"? *Behav Ecol* Soc. (2013) 67:1027–32. doi: 10.1007/s00265-013-1527-4
- Niemelä P, Dingemanse, N. On the usage of single measurements in behavioural ecology research on individual differences. *Anim Behav.* (2018) 145:99–105. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2018.09.012
- Dalley JW, Theobald DE, Pereira EAC, Li PMMC, Robbins TW. Specific abnormalities in serotonin release in the prefrontal cortex of isolationreared rats measured during behavioural performance of a task assessing visuospatial attention and impulsivity. *Psychopharmacology*. (2002) 164:329– 40. doi: 10.1007/s00213-002-1215-y
- Kirkpatrick K, Marshall TA, Clarke J, Cain ME. Environmental rearing effects on impulsivity and reward sensitivity. *Behav Neurosci.* (2013) 127:712– 24. doi: 10.1037/a0034124
- Heinsius J, van Staaveren N, Kwon IY, Li A, Kjaer JB, Harlander-Matauschek A. Chickens selected for feather pecking can inhibit prepotent motor responses in a go/no-go task. Sci Rep. (2020) 10:6485. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-63618-z
- Gygax, L The A to Z of statistics for testing cognitive judgement bias. *Anim Behav.* (2014) 95:59–69. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2014.06.013
- Gallup GG Jr. Animal hypnosis: factual status of a fictional concept. *Psychol Bull.* (1974) 81:836–53. doi: 10.1037/h0037227
- Benoff FH, Siegel PB. Genetic analysis of tonic immobility in young Japanese quail (Coturnix cotunix japonica). *Anim Learn Behav.* (1976) 4:160– 2. doi: 10.3758/BF03214027
- Woodruff M L. Limbic modulation of contact defensive immobility (animal hypnosis). *Psychol Rec.* (1977) 27:161–75. doi: 10.1007/BF03394439
- Van Horik J, Beardsworth C, Laker P, Whiteside M, Madden, J. Response learning confounds assays of inhibitory control on detour tasks. *Anim Cogni.* (2020) 23:215–25. doi: 10.1007/s10071-019-0 1330-w
- Brucks D, Marshall-Pescini S, Wallis LJ, Huber L, Range F. Measures of dogs' inhibitory control abilities do not correlate across tasks. *Front Psychol.* (2017) 8:849. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017. 00849
- Loyant L, Waller BM, Micheletta J, Joly M. Validation of a battery of inhibitory control tasks reveals a multifaceted structure in non-human primates. *PeerJ*. (2022) 10:e12863. doi: 10.7717/peerj.12863
- Sih A, Bell A, Johnson JC. Behavioral syndromes: an ecological and evolutionary overview. *Trends Ecol Evol.* (2004) 19:372– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2004.04.009

- Uskul AK, Greenglass E. Psychological wellbeing in a Turkish-Canadian sample. Anxiety Stress Coping. (2005) 18:269-78. doi: 10.1080/10615800500205983
- Sih A, Del Giudice M. Linking behavioural syndromes and cognition: a behavioural ecology perspective. *Philos Trans R Soc B.* (2012) 367:2762– 72. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2012.0216
- Asher L, Friel M, Griffin K, Collins LM. Mood and personality interact to determine cognitive biases in pigs. *Biol Lett.* (2016) 12:20160402. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2016.0402
- Nätt D, Agnvall B, Jensen P. Large sex differences in chicken behavior and brain gene expression coincide with few differences in promoter DNA-methylation. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e96376. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.00 96376
- Boissy A, Erhard H. How studying interactions between animal emotions, cognition, and personality can contribute to improve farm animal welfare. In: Grandin T, Deesing MJ, editors. *Genetics and the Behavior of Domestic Animals*. New York, NY: Elsevier (2014). p. 81–113.
- Nawroth C, Langbein J, Coulon M, Gabor V, Oesterwind S, Benz-Schwarzburg J, et al. Farm animal cognition-linking behavior, welfare and ethics. *Front Vet Sci.* (2019) 6:24. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2019.00024

 Ferreira V, Guesdon V, Calandreau L. How can the research on chicken cognition improve chicken welfare: a perspective review. Worlds Poult Sci J. (2021) 77:679–98. doi: 10.1080/00439339.2021.1924920

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Garnham, Clarke and Løvlie. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Judgment Bias During Gestation in Domestic Pigs

Emily V. Bushby^{1,2}, Sheena C. Cotter¹, Anna Wilkinson¹, Mary Friel² and Lisa M. Collins^{1,2*}

¹ School of Life Sciences, University of Lincoln, Lincoln, United Kingdom, ² School of Biology, Faculty of Biological Sciences, University of Leeds, Leeds, United Kingdom

In humans and rats, changes in affect are known to occur during pregnancy, however it is unknown how gestation may influence mood in other non-human mammals. This study assessed changes in pigs' judgment bias as a measure of affective state throughout gestation. Pigs were trained to complete a spatial judgment bias task with reference to positive and negative locations. We tested gilts before mating, and during early and late gestation, by assessing their responses to ambiguous probe locations. Pigs responded increasingly negatively to ambiguous probes as gestation progressed and there were consistent inter-individual differences in baseline optimism. This suggests that the pigs' affective state may be altered during gestation, although as a non-pregnant control group was not tested, an effect of learning cannot be ruled out. These results suggest that judgment bias is altered during gestation in domestic pigs, consequently raising novel welfare considerations for captive multiparous species.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Christian Nawroth, Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN), Germany

Reviewed by:

Inonge Reimert, Wageningen University and Research, Netherlands Irene Camerlink, Polish Academy of Sciences (PAN), Poland

> *Correspondence: Lisa M. Collins I.collins@leeds.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 22 February 2022 Accepted: 12 April 2022 Published: 12 May 2022

Citation:

Bushby EV, Cotter SC, Wilkinson A, Friel M and Collins LM (2022) Judgment Bias During Gestation in Domestic Pigs. Front. Vet. Sci. 9:881101. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.881101 Keywords: pregnancy, gestation, cognitive bias, affective state, information processing, pig

BACKGROUND

Research investigating the links between pregnancy, affect and cognition is most often carried out with a human-centric focus with studies typically using case studies and cohorts. In humans, changes in affective state during pregnancy are common and alterations in levels of anxiety, depression and cognitive ability have been demonstrated in humans and rodents (1-3). These changes are often linked to the large and rapid hormone fluctuations that occur during the gestational period (4, 5). Where human subjects cannot be used, rodent models are often employed to experimentally investigate how factors such as diet, enrichment or stress can influence behavior during gestation (6–8). To infer anxiety and depressive-like behaviors, lab-based behavioral tests, such as a forced swim or open-field test are often used (9). These studies are conducted under laboratory conditions and are generally aimed at modeling human gestation, rather than investigating how gestation may impact on the rodent itself. Results from both human and rodent studies are varied, however most show that affective state is altered throughout gestation [for review see (2)] and it is clear that pregnancy impacts maternal affective state.

Understanding an animals' affective state better enables us to understand their subjective experience, both positive and negative, and is a key component of animal welfare (10). Affective state can influence and alter cognitive processes, such as judgment (11, 12), which may then be used to infer and understand an animals' affective state. Cognitive bias or judgment bias is the influence of affect on information processing, with more content individuals likely to make positive assumptions about ambiguous stimuli, and vice versa (13). Judgment bias tests have been used to assess changes in affective state in a range of species, including pigs, dogs, honeybees and European starlings (14–17). Research typically focuses on the impact of external stimuli on judgment bias;

this is likely to act via alteration to the internal, physiological environment ultimately resulting in changes in behavior and judgment bias (11, 18, 19). As such, we would expect internal stimuli, such as physiological changes, would also impact judgment bias directly even in the absence of external influences. Pregnancy is one of the biggest physiological changes a mammal may experience, involving major hormonal and cognitive adjustments (20, 21), yet little is known of how information processing and affective state may change in relation to gestation in animals.

The domestic pig (Sus scrofa domesticus) has been used as a human model in a wide range of medical research such as infectious disease (22), nutritional (23) and neurological studies (24). Pigs allow for longer lifespan studies and are more anatomically and physiologically similar to humans than other laboratory species, such as rodents (25, 26). More commonly, pigs are farmed around the globe for meat production. Modern intensive farming systems have been designed to produce food as quickly and cost efficiently as possible, and research is continually ongoing to understand how animal welfare can be optimized within these systems. Despite many studies on the behavioral and welfare needs of sows during gestation (27-30), only two studies used a specific judgment bias task to assess affective state in gestating sows. These studies focused on using judgment bias as a welfare indicator in gestating sows however, did not investigate how gestation itself influenced judgment bias (31, 32). More recently another study showed that gestating gilts that were classified as "friendly" visited an electronic sow feeder more often than individuals that were classified as "fearful" (33). The authors hypothesized that this feeding behavior may be similar to a judgment bias task and that the friendly individuals may have been more optimistic. However, again this study did not investigate how gestation itself influenced judgment bias.

We investigated how gestation may alter judgment, and therefore affective state, in domestic pigs. We compared withinindividual affective state, as measured by a spatial judgment bias test, before mating, and during early and late gestation. We hypothesized that within-individual judgment bias would be more pessimistic during gestation than prior to mating, leading to an increase in latency to approach ambiguous cues throughout gestation. This is the first study to our knowledge to investigate the possible impact of gestation on judgment bias in domestic pigs.

METHODS AND MATERIALS

This work was carried out between July and October 2015 (replicate one) and between January and July 2017 (replicate two) on a pig farm in the UK.

Animal Housing and Husbandry

20 gilts (primiparous female pigs; N = 10 for each replicate) were selected based on age and time until first mating. Using gilts allowed for training time before gestation, as there is limited time between pregnancies once a sow has begun breeding. The average age of all 20 pigs on day one of training was 241.7 (SD: 15.93) days. Replicate two contained one Duroc and three



one location at a time

Landrace pigs, the breed of all other individuals was Large White. Pigs were housed in pens of five or six animals, each pen (4.67 \times 5.35 m) contained a sheltered sleeping area with straw bedding $(2.70 \times 4.67 \text{ m})$ and a run partially exposed to outdoor elements, such as wind and natural light $(2.65 \times 4.67 \text{ m})$. A standard lactating sow ration was fed once a day before mating and throughout gestation; there was continuous access to water and natural lighting. During the course of the study the animals remained within the same groups and pens to keep the external environment as controlled as possible throughout. The study pigs were able to interact with pigs in the pen next door via the gate and animals in the Neighboring pens may have been moved/changed. Due to involvement in a separate study, replicate one pigs received Regumate[®] (containing a steroidal progestin) orally with feed 23 days before planned estrus to allow for Synchronized farrowing. As of June 2020, no previous research was found investigating possible effects of Regumate[®] on affective state or behavior of pigs. Due to this research taking place on a working farm, it was not possible to test a separate nonpregnant control group and each pig was used as its own control.

Judgement Bias

The training and testing area (**Figure 1**) used comprised of a testing room $(3.72 \times 5.26 \text{ m})$ and a starting room $(3.72 \times 1.79 \text{ m})$. All pigs were habituated to the test area in groups for two to three sessions, and then individually for a maximum of seven sessions to habituate the pigs to eating from a bowl which was initially placed in the center of the test area. Following this, individuals were trained to associate the bowl in two opposite corner locations with a positive (*P*) and a negative (*N*) outcome. When

in the P location, the bowl contained a small amount of chocolate raisins (replicate 1) or sugar-coated chocolates (replicate 2) and when it was in the N location, the bowl contained unpalatable food (bitter tasting coffee beans) to discourage the pigs from approaching this location. The pigs were trained to discriminate between these reference locations by first only receiving positive trials and then later interspersing negative trials. Latency to reach the bowl was recorded using video cameras and was then used as a metric to assess whether each individual had learned the discrimination. Each trial was 30 s in duration. Correct responses were recorded when the subject approached and touched their nose to the bowl during the positive (P) trials; during negative (N) trials, a correct response was recorded when the individual did not approach the bowl within 30 s. The location of P and N was counterbalanced across individuals. For both replicates a criterion of 70% correct responses in the last 20 trials was required before moving onto the testing phase. Per individual, forty-four training trials were conducted during replicate one and sixty-two for replicate two. Replicate two required more training trials due to the pigs being slower to differentiate between the positive and negative locations, though had a higher rate of meeting the criterion by the end of training. Five pigs from replicate one failed to meet this criterion and were removed from the study. Two pigs from replicate 2 did not meet this criterion. The analysis represents only those 13 that met the learning criterion.

Each testing session comprised two sets of nine trials carried out on the same day, involving five different bowl locations; the three intermediate ambiguous probes: near positive (NP), middle (M) and near negative (NN), interspersed with P and N reference locations (e.g. P, N, M, P, N, NP, P, N, NN). Only one bowl was in the arena during each trial. The ambiguous probes were placed in predetermined equidistant positions (0.74 m) and were not reinforced (i.e., they were left empty). They were presented in a pseudo-randomized order and interspersed among training trials. All "during gestation" testing sessions were preceded by five "reminder" training trials the day before testing. Each pig was tested three times: before gestation (1-2 weeks before mating); early gestation (4 weeks after mating); and late gestation (10-11 weeks after mating). One pig in replicate two was not tested before gestation and was only tested in the early and late test phases.

Statistical Analysis

All data were analyzed in R version 3.4.1 using general linear mixed effects models with the *lmer* function in the package *lme4* (34). The response variable was natural logged to ensure that the residuals conformed to the assumptions of normality. To test the effects of gestation time on judgment bias, the response variable was *log time taken to approach* the presented probes; fixed explanatory effects were *probe location*, coded as a continuous variable from positive (1) to negative (5) with ambiguous locations at points 2, 3, and 4; and *gestation time* coded as a factor with three levels (pre, early and late gestation). *Probe location squared* was included as initial data exploration suggested curvature in the fits. Interactions between

	Statistical model	dotaile
IADLE I	Statistical model	uetans.

Model	Random slope	Random intercept
1	1	Gestation time: Pig ID
2	1	Replicate/Gestation time: Pig ID
3	Location	Gestation time: Pig ID
4	Location	Replicate/Gestation time: Pig ID
5	Location ²	Gestation time: Pig ID
6	Location ²	Replicate/Gestation time: Pig ID
7	Location + location ²	Gestation time: Pig ID
8	Location + location ²	Replicate/Gestation time: Pig ID

Random models with fixed slopes (models 1 and 2) or slopes allowed to vary across probe location (models 3–8), with experimental replicate included (models 2, 4, 6, and 8) or not (models 1, 3, 5, and 7).

gestation time and *probe location* and *probe location squared* were also included.

To find the most appropriate structure for the random model, we compared eight models: two intercept only models and six combinations of random intercept and slope models such that random intercepts were fitted for each pig at each experimental timepoint (or for each pig independent of experimental replicate), with variation allowed between gestation times and the shape of the curve was allowed to vary between pigs (**Table 1**).

The Akaike Information Criteria (AIC) values for all models were compared using the *model.sel* function in the *MuMIn* package (35). In each case the residuals of the final minimal model were visually assessed for deviations from normality. For the final models, predicted fits were produced using the *predict* function in base *R*. R^2 values for each model were calculated using the *r.squaredGLMM* function in the *MuMIn* package (35). For every model, the general pattern of results was robust, with the different random models only affecting the predictions very slightly. The best model is reported in the main text, and the corresponding figure for the other model where AIC comparison had delta <2 is reported as supplementary information.

RESULTS

Judgment Bias

The pigs' responses to ambiguous locations in the judgement bias test changed throughout gestation (**Tables 2**, **3**; **Figure 2**). Pigs consistently approached the positive probe quickly and the negative probe slowly (or not at all), getting generally slower during gestation (**Figure 2**). However, whilst the mean speed of approach was fairly linear between positive and negative pre- and early gestation (**Figures 2A,B**), by late gestation, pigs showed a shift toward pessimism, such that the positive probe continued to be approached quickly but ambiguous probes were approached more slowly (**Figure 2C**).

All models retained all interactions and gave qualitatively similar results. The best model was model 1, where the intercept was allowed to vary for each pig at each gestation time (**Table 1**). However, the result for model 2, where the intercept was

TABLE 2 | Table of candidate LMERs.

Model	df	AICc	$\Delta \text{ AIC}_{c}$	w	r ² (F only)	r ² (F + R)
1	12	215.2	0.00	0.580	0.751	0.805
2	11	216.9	1.72	0.245	0.748	0.806
3	16	219.7	4.50	0.061	0.751	0.805
5	13	219.8	4.57	0.059	0.751	0.805
7	13	221.2	6.01	0.029	0.750	0.818
4	22	222.2	7.02	0.017	0.738	0.810
6	16	224.1	8.89	0.007	0.740	0.817
8	16	227.5	12.35	0.001	0.729	0.833

Table of candidate LMERs explaining time to approach the probe in relation to the interaction between the location of the presented probe and the gestation time for pigs that reached the 70% learning criterion only (n = 13). Each model retained all fixed terms (Location*Gestation time+Location*Gestation time) with only the random model varying. Model corresponds to the random model listed in **Table 1**, AIC_c, corrected Akaike Information Criteria values; Δ AIC_c, difference in AIC_c values between the best model (lowest AIC_c) and the given model; w, Akaike weights; r^2 (F only), r^2 for the fixed plus random model.

Term	Model 1			Model 2		
	DF	F	Р	DF	F	Ρ
Location	1, 141	62.96	<0.001	1, 141	62.96	<0.001
Gestation time	2, 168	2.03	0.134	2, 167	2.04	0.133
Location ²	1, 141	9.57	0.002	1, 141	9.57	0.002
Location: gestation time	2, 141	6.07	0.003	2, 141	6.07	0.003
Location ² : gestation time	2, 141	6.16	0.003	2, 141	6.16	0.003

Minimum adequate linear mixed effects model for the effects of probe location and gestation time on the time taken for pigs to approach the probe under testing, for pigs that reached the 70% learning criteria only (n = 13). The results equate to the best supported random models.

allowed to vary for each pig at each gestation time, within each replicate, was equally well supported (delta AIC <2; Table 2, Supplementary Figure 1).

DISCUSSION

In livestock species, judgment bias tasks are typically used to assess the impact of external factors, for example environmental enrichment (36) or stocking density (37). However, internal factors, such as the large physiological changes associated with gestation, also have the potential to influence affective state and therefore judgment bias. The aim of this study was to assess judgment bias in domestic pigs throughout gestation. It was hypothesized that the gilts would be more pessimistic during gestation than prior to mating, as indicated by an increase in latency to approach the ambiguous cues. Our results suggest this to be the case, with the gilts taking longer to approach the ambiguous locations in the later stage of gestation than before mating which indicates that judgment bias changed as gestation progressed. This was most apparent at the middle and most ambiguous location (Figure 2) and suggests the pigs were more pessimistic during the late gestational stage. Crucially, the latency to reach the positive location did not vary markedly throughout gestation, highlighting that changes, such as impaired locomotion or an increase weight, did not affect the gilts' response latencies to the other four locations (**Figure 2**). This also shows that the gilts were highly motivated by the reward, even though they were not feed-restricted. Thus, these results suggest increased pessimism during the late stage of gestation, despite the fact that the immediate external environment remained constant. This may infer that, alongside external factors, internally-driven factors can also influence judgment bias and affective state in domestic pigs. Although this result should be interpreted in light of the pigs being their own control and no separate control group being tested.

In this study, a spatial go/no-go judgment bias test was used as this type of task has been successfully used with pigs previously (14, 31, 32, 36). Previous judgment bias studies with livestock species have shown that a change of bias can occur in response to a change in external factors, such as enrichment (36) or handling (38). Recent studies by Horback and Parsons (31, 32) also used a spatial go/no-go task and found that group housed gestating sows displayed both positive and negative biases despite having the same external conditions. Interestingly, the sows' behavioral traits influenced judgment bias however, these studies were not specifically focusing on the effect of gestation on judgment bias, and therefore it is unclear if the stage of gestation may also play a role in these bias differences. The possibility that pigs' judgment bias may change from a positive to a more negative state during the late stage of gestation suggests that the pigs' welfare needs may change too. This highlights the importance of considering the impact of large physiological changes, such as gestation, on animal welfare. This study may have implications not only for the welfare of farmed animals that experience gestation, but also for research into affective state during gestation in other captive multiparous mammalian species, including how this may impact cumulatively across the life course on their health and welfare. For example, in humans, multiparous women appear to be more at risk and have a different pattern of anxious or depressive symptoms compared to primiparous women (39, 40). In humans, hormone fluctuations and other physiological changes throughout pregnancy are often correlated with changes in mood and affective state (4, 5). Pigs are frequently used as models for humans in medical and pharmaceutical studies (22, 23, 41, 42), so it is possible that a change in affective state during gestation may be caused by comparative mechanisms, however, further research is required to validate this.

Alongside this interesting result, there are some limitations to take into consideration. Previous studies have shown that multiple testing time points can result in an increase in pessimistic responses (43, 44) and this increase in latencies during the later testing phases is similar to what was found in this study. As it was not possible to test a non-pregnant control group, this effect of learning cannot be ruled out. However, the effects of gestation represent a plausible driver for the changes in affect we report as previous research in rodents and humans has shown that mood and affective state can vary throughout gestation (1-3), with negative mood more likely to be present during the first and third trimester in humans



FIGURE 2 | The time to approach each location at three stages of gestation. Log time taken to approach each location for pigs at three different stages of the pig's 16-week gestational period; (A) pre-gestation, (B) early gestation (5 weeks), and (C) late gestation (10–11 weeks). The open circles are raw data points and the lines are model predictions from the minimal adequate model fixed to the level of experimental replicate 1. Results from model 1 are shown, where the intercept is allowed to vary for each pig at each gestation time. Pigs 1–5 are from replicate 1 and pigs 6–15 are from replicate 2.

(45, 46). Future studies should consider the role of learning by including a non-gestating control group, and whether ambiguous trial locations should be rewarded or un-rewarded (47). There were also some differences between replicates, such as one replicate receiving Regumate[®], and different rewards being used. Despite this, the effect of replicate on the data was marginal, showing that the change in judgment bias over the course of gestation was robust and not influenced by these differences between replicates.

In conclusion, this study suggests that judgment bias in farmed domestic pigs may change with stage of gestation, inferring that internally driven stimuli may directly affect judgment bias without external influence. This study raises novel welfare considerations for captive primiparous, and possibly multiparous, species and provides a basis for future research into the effect of gestation on judgment bias in non-human animals.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data and R code is available from the Open Science Framework database: https://osf.io/32wgy/.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The University of Lincoln, College of Science Ethics Committee approved this study (COSREC189; COSREC262). The animal owners provided written informed consent for participation of their animals in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EB carried out data collection. LC conceived of the study. SC carried out statistical analysis. All authors assisted with study design and coordination, drafting the final manuscript, and gave final approval for publication.

FUNDING

LC and MF were funded by the Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council Grant BB/K002554/2.

REFERENCES

- Macbeth AH, Gautreaux C, Luine VN. Pregnant rats show enhanced spatial memory, decreased anxiety, and altered levels of monoaminergic neurotransmitters. *Brain Res.* (2008) 1241:136– 47. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2008.09.006
- Macbeth AH, Luine VN. Changes in anxiety and cognition due to reproductive experience: a review of data from rodent and human mothers. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2010) 34:452– 67. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.08.011
- Ferreira CR, Orsini MC, Vieira CR. do Amarante Paffaro AM, Silva RR. Prevalence of anxiety symptoms and depression in the third gestational trimester. *Arch Gynecol Obstet.* (2015) 291:999–1003. doi: 10.1007/s00404-014-3508-x
- Workman JL, Barha CK, Galea LAM. Endocrine substrates of cognitive and affective changes during pregnancy and postpartum. *Behav Neurosci.* (2011) 126:54–72. doi: 10.1037/a0025538
- Uguz F, Gezginc K, Kayhan F, Sari S, Buyukoz D. Is pregnancy associated with mood and anxiety disorders? A cross-sectional study. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. (2010) 32:213–5. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2009.11.002
- 6. Tang M, Liu Y, Wang L, Li H, Cai H, Zhang M, et al. An Ω -3 fatty aciddeficient diet during gestation induces depressive-like behavior in rats: the role of the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) system. *Food Funct.* (2018) 9:3481–8. doi: 10.1039/C7FO01714F
- Rosenfeld A. WellerA. Behavioral effects of environmental enrichment during gestation in WKY and Wistar rats. *Behav Brain Res.* (2012) 233:245– 55. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2012.05.006
- de Brito Guzzo SFC, Rafael C, Fitipaldi BM, Garcia AA, Dias KV, Luiz YJ, et al. Impact of chronic stressors on the anxiety profile of pregnant rats. *Physiol Behav.* (2015) 142:137–45. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2015.02.014
- Belovicova K, Bogi E, Csatlosova K, Dubovicky M. Animal tests for anxietylike and depression-like behavior in rats. *Interdiscip Toxicol.* (2017) 10:40– 3. doi: 10.1515/intox-2017-0006
- Mendl M, Burman OH, Paul ES. An integrative and functional framework for the study of animal emotion and mood. *Proc R Soc B Biol Sci.* (2010) 277:2895–904. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2010.0303
- Mendl M, Burman OH, Parker RM, Paul ES. Cognitive bias as an indicator of animal emotion and welfare: Emerging evidence and underlying mechanisms. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2009) 118:161–81. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2009.02.023
- Boissy A, Arnould C, Chaillou E, Désiré L, Duvaux-Ponter C, Greiveldinger L, et al. Emotions and cognition: a new approach to animal welfare. *Anim Welf.* (2007) 16:37–43.
- Bethell EJ, A. "how-to" guide for designing judgment bias studies to assess captive animal welfare. J Appl Anim Welf Sci. (2015) 18:18– 42. doi: 10.1080/10888705.2015.1075833
- Asher L, Friel M, Griffin K, Collins LM. Mood and personality interact to determine cognitive biases in pigs. *Biol Lett.* (2016) 12:20160402. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2016.0402
- Bateson M, Desire S, Gartside SE, Wright GA. Agitated honeybees exhibit pessimistic cognitive biases. *Curr Biol.* (2011) 21:1070– 3. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2011.05.017

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the farm staff for their help and cooperation.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets. 2022.881101/full#supplementary-material

- Mendl M, Brooks J, Basse C, Burman O, Paul E, Blackwell E, et al. Dogs showing separation-related behaviour exhibit a "pessimistic" cognitive bias. *Curr Biol.* (2010) 20:R839–40. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2010.08.030
- Matheson SM, Asher L, Bateson M. Larger, enriched cages are associated with "optimistic" response biases in captive European starlings (Sturnus vulgaris). *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2008) 109:374–83. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2007. 03.007
- Verbeek E, Ferguson D, Lee C. Are hungry sheep more pessimistic? The effects of food restriction on cognitive bias and the involvement of ghrelin in its regulation. *Physiol Behav.* (2014) 123:7–75. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.09.017
- Oliveira FR, Nogueira-Filho SL, Sousa MB, Dias CT, Mendl M, Nogueira SS. Measurement of cognitive bias and cortisol levels to evaluate the effects of space restriction on captive collared peccary (Mammalia, Tayassuidae). *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2016) 181:76–82. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2016.05.021
- Soldin OP, Guo T, Weiderpass E, Tractenberg RE, Hilakivi-Clarke L, Soldin SJ. Steroid hormone levels in pregnancy and 1 year postpartum using isotope dilution tandem mass spectrometry. *Fertil Steril.* (2005) 84:701– 10. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2005.02.045
- Steiner M, Dunn E, Born L. Hormones and mood: from menarche to menopause and beyond. J Affect Disord. (2003) 74:67–83. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0327(02)00432-9
- 22. Meurens F, Summerfield A, Nauwynck H, Saif L, Gerdts V. The pig: a model for human infectious diseases. *Trends Microbiol.* (2012) 20:50– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2011.11.002
- Roura E, Koopmans SJ, Lallès JP, Le Huerou-Luron I, De Jager N, Schuurman T, et al. Critical review evaluating the pig as a model for human nutritional physiology. *Nutr Res Rev.* (2016) 29:60–90. doi: 10.1017/S0954422416000020
- 24. Sauleau P, Lapouble E, Val-Laillet D, Malbert CH. The pig model in brain imaging and neurosurgery. *Animal.* (2009) 3:1138–51. doi: 10.1017/S1751731109004649
- 25. Flisikowska T, Kind A, Schnieke A. Genetically modified pigs to model human diseases. *J Appl Genet.* (2014) 55:53–64. doi: 10.1007/s13353-013-0182-9
- 26. Fan N, Lai L. Genetically modified pig models for human diseases. J Genet Genomics. (2013) 40:67–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jgg.2012.07.014
- Algers B, Uvnäs-Moberg K. Maternal behaviour in pigs. Livest Sci. (2007) 52:78–85. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2007.03.022
- Boyle LA, Leonard FC, Lynch PB, Brophy P. Effect of gestation housing on behaviour and skin lesions of sows in farrowing crates. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2002) 76:119–34. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(01)00211-8
- Damm BI, Lisborg L, Vestergaard KS, Vanicek J. Nest-building, behavioural disturbances and heart rate in farrowing sows kept in crates and schmid pens. *Livest Sci.* (2003) 80:175–87. doi: 10.1016/S0301-6226(02)00186-0
- Wischner D, Kemper N, Krieter J. Nest-building behaviour in sows and consequences for pig husbandry. *Livest Sci.* (2009) 124:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2009.01.015
- Horback KM, Parsons TD. Judgement bias testing in group-housed gestating sows. *Behav Processes*. (2019) 159:86–92. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2018.12.021
- Horback KM, Parsons TD. Judgement bias of group housed gestating sows predicted by behavioral traits, but not physical measures of welfare. *PLoS* ONE. (2022) 17:e0264258. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0264258

- Rooney HB, Schmitt O, Courty A, Lawlor PG, O'Driscoll K. Like mother like child: do fearful sows have fearful piglets? *Animals.* (2021) 11:1232. doi: 10.3390/ani11051232
- R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. (2017). R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Available online at: https://www.R-project.org/ (accessed April 20, 2022).
- Bartoń K. MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. R Package Version 1421. (2018). Available online at: https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/MuMIn/MuMIn. pdf
- Douglas C, Bateson M, Walsh C, Bédué A, Edwards SA. Environmental enrichment induces optimistic cognitive biases in pigs. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2012) 139:65–73. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2012.02.018
- 37. Scollo A, Gottardo F, Contiero B, Edwards SA. Does stocking density modify affective state in pigs as assessed by cognitive bias, behavioural and physiological parameters? *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2014) 153:26– 35. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2014.01.006
- Doyle RE, Fisher AD, Hinch GN, Boissy A, Lee C. Release from restraint generates a positive judgement bias in sheep. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2010) 122:28–34. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2009.11.003
- Canário C, Figueiredo B. Anxiety and depressive symptoms in women and men from early pregnancy to 30 months postpartum. J Reprod Infant Psychol. (2017) 35:431–49. doi: 10.1080/02646838.2017.1368464
- Dipietro JA, Costigan KA, Sipsma HL. Continuity in self-report measures of maternal anxiety, stress, and depressive symptoms from pregnancy through two years postpartum. J Psychosom Obstet Gynecol. (2008) 29:115– 24. doi: 10.1080/01674820701701546
- Flisikowska T, Kind A, Schnieke A. The new pig on the block: modelling cancer in pigs. *Transgenic Res.* (2013) 22:673– 80. doi: 10.1007/s11248-013-9720-9
- Verma N, Rettenmeier AW, Schmitz-Spanke S. Recent advances in the use of Sus scrofa (pig) as a model system for proteomic studies. *Proteomics*. (2011) 11:776–93. doi: 10.1002/pmic.201000320
- Doyle RE, Vidal S, Hinch GN, Fisher AD, Boissy A, Lee C. The effect of repeated testing on judgement biases in sheep. *Behav Process.* (2010) 83:349– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2010.01.019

- 44. Murphy E, Nordquist RE, van der Staay FJ. Responses of conventional pigs and Göttingen miniature pigs in an active choice judgement bias task. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2013) 148:64–76. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2013. 07.011
- Markon KE, Brunette CA, Whitney BM, O'Hara MW. Mood during pregnancy: Trends, structure, and invariance by gestational day. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2021) 140:260–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2021. 06.006
- Rallis S, Skouteris H, McCabe M, Milgrom J, A. prospective examination of depression, anxiety and stress throughout pregnancy. *Women Birth.* (2014) 27:36–e42. doi: 10.1016/j.wombi.2014. 08.002
- 47. Jones S, Neville V, Higgs L, Paul ES, Dayan P, Robinson ES, et al. Assessing animal affect: an automated and self-initiated judgement bias task based on natural investigative behaviour. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:1– 12. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-30571-x

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Bushby, Cotter, Wilkinson, Friel and Collins. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Training of Motion Control May Not **Improve Tool-Manipulation Ability in** Rats (Rattus norvegicus)

Akane Nagano^{1,2*}

¹ Laboratory for Imagination and Executive Functions, RIKEN Center for Brain Science, Wako, Japan, ² Japan Society for the Promotion of Science, Chiyoda-ku, Japan

In recent times, previous studies have reported the manipulation of tools by rats and degus in controlled experimental settings. However, a previous study reported that only one out of eight experimentally naïve rats could manipulate a rake-shaped tool according to the position of a food reward without prior experience of obtaining the reward with the tool before the test. The present study aimed to improve the training of rats and investigate rodents' ability to manipulate tools according to food position. Stricter criteria were employed when training the rats to promote the rats' monitoring of their own tool manipulation. Additional training was introduced to give them the opportunity to learn that the reward moved closer to them by pulling an object connected to the reward. The present study showed that only one of eight rats could manipulate a tool according to the position of the reward without prior experience of obtaining the reward with the tool or perceiving that part of the tool came in contact with the reward, as the previous study showed. The change in training did not enhance the rats' tool-manipulation ability according to the food position. These procedures should be conducted in a wider variety of animals to investigate whether the training in motion control can promote the subjects' effective tool-use behavior.

Jean-Baptiste Leca,

University of Lethbridge, Canada Sevim Isparta, Ankara University, Turkey

Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal

*Correspondence: Akane Nagano akane.nagano@riken.jp

OPEN ACCESS

Biology (FBN), Germany

Edited by:

Christian Nawroth

Reviewed by:

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Comparative Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 29 April 2022 Accepted: 22 June 2022 Published: 13 July 2022

Citation:

Nagano A (2022) Training of Motion Control May Not Improve Tool-Manipulation Ability in Rats (Rattus norvegicus). Front. Psychol. 13:931957. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.931957

Keywords: rats, rodents, tool-use behavior, tool-manipulation, motion control

INTRODUCTION

Tool-use behavior in non-human animals has been investigated mainly in primates and birds (Bentley-Condit and Smith, 2010). The reason is that these animals have relatively high visual acuity, so it is easier to test their tool-use behavior than it would be in low-visual-acuity animals (Shumway, 2008). St Amant and Horton (2008, p. 1203) proposed the definition of tool-use: "Tooluse is the exertion of control over a freely manipulable external object (the tool) with the goal of (1) altering the physical properties of another object, substance, surface, or medium (the target, which may be the tool user or another organism) via a dynamic mechanical interaction, or (2) mediating the flow of information between the tool user and the environment or other organisms in the environment." In non-human primates, previous studies have reported that monkeys could be trained to manipulate a rake-shaped tool to obtain food beyond their reach in situations in which they could not obtain the food by pulling the tool perpendicularly to themselves via a

step-by-step protocol [e.g., Japanese macaques (*Macaca fuscata*): Yamazaki et al., 2009; common marmosets (*Callithrix jacchus*): Yamazaki et al., 2011]. The distance between the rake and reward was gradually extended in the training used in these previous studies. In birds, a Goffin's cockatoo (*Cacatua goffiniana*) spontaneously manufactured a stick tool from a European larch and used it to rake food beyond its reach, but the other two cockatoos did not use tools to obtain the food (Auersperg et al., 2012).

Many researchers have attempted to shed light on the evolutionary processes of physical causal understanding by conducting tool-use tasks with a variety of animal species (Bentley-Condit and Smith, 2010). Primates, including humans, emerged through divergence of evolutionary processes from a common ancestor of mammals to rodents (Krubitzer, 2009). Thus, investigations of tool-use behavior in rodents, which have shared evolutionary processes with humans, are essential to shed light on the evolutionary processes of physical causal understanding in humans.

Recent studies have investigated tool-use behavior in relatively low-visual-acuity rodents (Prusky et al., 2002), including rats (Rattus norvegicus) (Nagano and Aoyama, 2017a,b; Nagano, 2019a,b, 2021) and degus (Octodon degus) (Okanoya et al., 2008; Kumazawa-Manita et al., 2013) in controlled experimental settings. Previous studies on rats have reported that these rodents manipulated a rake-shaped tool based on the position of the food reward placed beyond their reach after undergoing tooluse training (Nagano and Aoyama, 2017b; Nagano, 2019b). In this test, the rats could use only the position of the reward in relation to the rake as a cue to manipulate the rake effectively, and could not obtain the reward just by pulling the rake perpendicularly to themselves because the rake was placed at the center of the experimental apparatus, and the reward was randomly placed on either the left or right side of the rake. However, the rats could manipulate the rake in the direction of the reward by using a strategy similar to that learned during training because they had the experience of obtaining the reward by using tools (Nagano and Aoyama, 2017b; Nagano, 2019b). In contrast, Nagano (2021), who used the same test implemented in the two previous studies (Nagano and Aoyama, 2017b; Nagano, 2019b), reported that a rat manipulated the rake according to the reward position without prior experience of obtaining the reward with the tool or perceiving that a part of the tool came in contact with the reward that might cause it to move. However, only one out of the eight rats could manipulate the rake according to the position of the reward (Nagano, 2021). Thus, it could not be concluded that rats have a primitive ability to manipulate tools according to food position. In the main training (rake-manipulation training) by Nagano (2021), the rats were trained to move the rake laterally over successively greater distances without any food reward placed on the experimental apparatus. This training differed from the previous studies (Nagano and Aoyama, 2017b; Nagano, 2019b), particularly in that it promoted the manipulation of the rake in the lateral direction. Additionally, the rats were trained to obtain a reward on the apparatus directly with their paws or mouth (food-obtaining training).

The test mentioned above, where the rake was placed at the center and the food reward placed on either the left or right side of the rake, followed the food-obtaining training. Nagano (2021) suggested improving the methods for rake-manipulation and food-obtaining training as follows: the rake-manipulation training should employ stricter criteria to promote the rats' monitoring of their own manipulation of the rake, and the rats should be offered the experience of pulling something (i.e., thread sewn into the food reward in the present study) to obtain the reward. This incorporates the suggestions of Connolly and Dalgleish (1989) and Ramsey et al. (2021) that visual monitoring is necessary for tool-manipulation. Moreover, Nagano (2021) did not confirm whether their low visual acuity was the cause of their low performance in the test. In the study, the rats could obtain the reward just by moving the rake laterally over a certain distance in the training (Nagano, 2021). Therefore, it is possible that the rats could not manipulate the rake in the direction of the reward due to the awkwardness of their paws movements in the test of this previous study, not due to their low visual acuity (Nagano, 2021). Therefore, further confirmation is required to discount the possibility that most of the rats could not manipulate the rake based on the position of the reward due to their low visual acuity.

The present study aimed to improve the training techniques applied in Nagano (2021) as well as to investigate the effect of this enhanced training technique on the ability of rodents with low-visual acuity to manipulate tools according to food position without prior experience of obtaining rewards using the tool. In the rake-manipulation training in the present study, stricter criteria for success were employed to promote the rats' monitoring than those in Nagano (2021). Focusing on both the motion of their own paws and the criteria that exist in the external environment may promote them to pay attention to the relationship between their own motion and the external objects (the tool and food rewards) in the tool-use situations. In addition, another kind of training was introduced instead of the food-obtaining training, in which the rats were trained to pull a thread fastened to a food reward or a thread fastened to no reward. One of the purposes of this training was to promote the rats to pay attention to the position of the reward in the positional discrimination test. The rats never perceived that one object collided with another object and sent it into motion in the food-obtaining training. I hypothesized as follows: if trainings of motion control improve the tool-manipulation ability in rats, better performances by the rats would be observed in this test than in those of Nagano (2021).

A raking tool was used for the behavioral task for rats in the present study because the previous studies have reported that degus and rats could use rake-shaped tools (Kumazawa-Manita et al., 2013; Nagano and Aoyama, 2017a,b; Nagano, 2019a,b, 2021), and the animals in the present study were expected to learn to use the raking tool in a shorter period because it is easier for them to handle the tool with their forelimbs. Tool-use behavior in rats in the wild has never been reported (Bentley-Condit and Smith, 2010), and spontaneous tool-use behavior has never been observed in the experimental settings (Nagano and Aoyama, 2017a,b; Nagano, 2019a,b, 2021). However, rats are skillful in using their forelimbs dexterously to pull strings

Motion Control and Tool-Manipulation

to obtain a food (Blackwell et al., 2018). The movement consists of alternating forelimb movements in which a limb is advanced to grasp a string and withdraw it toward the body in order to retrieve a food reward. The movements of aim, advance, grasp, pull and push are associated with hand shape changes including collect, overgrasp, grasp and release (Blackwell et al., 2018). Irvine et al. (2010) have also reported that rats handle objects with their forelimbs spontaneously and dexterously.

METHODS

Animals

Eight experimentally naïve three-month-old male Brown-Norway rats (subject numbers: BN57–BN64; Shimizu, Kyoto, Japan) were individually housed in wire cages. On the last day of free feeding, the rats weighed an average of 273.38 g (SD = 6.93). During training and testing, rats were maintained at around 85% of their free feeding weight. However, all rats could gain approximately 10 g/month. The animal room was maintained under a 12-h light/dark cycle (light phase: 8:00– 20:00). All training and testing sessions were conducted during the light phase. All procedures and treatments were approved by the Doshisha University Animal Experiment Committee (protocol number: A17051), and were conducted in accordance with guidelines established by the Doshisha University Ethics Review Committee.

Apparatus

Experiments were performed in an experimental box identical to the one used in the previous study on rats (Nagano, 2021) (see **Supplementary Material** for details). The sliding doors were mounted on the front of the box. One of two kinds of sliding doors (one without a hole and one with a square hole) was always placed in front of the box. The door had a square hole in its upper portion and was used to offer rewards to the rats by hand. An experimental board, on which the tool and reward were presented, was set in front of the door. Black lines were drawn in a square lattice on the board.

The tool was identical to the one used in the previous study (Nagano, 2021) (Figure 1A, see Supplementary Material for details). The rake-shaped tool had a rectangular blade and a wire handle. In addition, two kinds of threads (one with a reward and one without a reward) were used in the training immediately before the test (Figure 1B, see Supplementary Material for details). Three-hundred and four threads were used for each kind of thread (608 threads in total). For threads with a reward, one end of each strand was sewn to a piece of cereal, and the other end was tied to a gem clip. For threads without a reward, one end of each strand was tied into a knot without a reward, and the other end was tied to a clip.

Procedure

Training

The training consisted of rake-pulling training, rakemanipulation training, and thread-pulling training (**Figure 2**, see **Supplementary Material** for details). Each daily experimental



rake-manipulation training, and positional discrimination test. (B) Examples of threads with a reward and without a reward used in the thread-pulling training. One end was sewn to the reward for threads with a reward or tied into a knot for threads without a reward. The other end of both types of threads was tied to a gem clip.

session consisted of 40 trials, with the exception of the threadpulling training, for which a session consisted of 38 trials. A piece (one-eighth to one-sixth) of chocolate-flavored loop cereal was used as a food reward in each trial.

Rake-Pulling Training

The rake-pulling training procedure in the present study was similar to that in Nagano (2021). The experimenter presented the rake-shaped tool on the experimental board without any food reward, and the rats first learned to pull the rake to the end of the experimental board (i.e., toward the experimental box). The rake was alternately placed on either side.

This training was divided into eight phases (**Figures 2**, **3**, and see **Supplementary Material** for details), and the criterion for reward obtainment gradually became stricter. At the beginning of Phase 1, the experimenter placed the rake so that the distance from the door of the experimental box was 0 cm, and offered a



reward when the rat touched the rake with either its paw, nose, or mouth (successful trial). The experimenter offered a reward by hand through the small hole in the sliding door in successful trials (**Supplementary Video 1**). In Phases 2 to 8, the distance between the blade of the rake and the door was increased by 1.0 cm in each phase (**Figure 3A**).

Rake-Manipulation Training

In the rake-manipulation training, the rats were trained to move the rake laterally within fixed ranges (Figure 2 and Supplementary Figure 1). In Nagano (2021), a trial was considered a success when the rat pulled the rake so that either of the wires glued to the rake blade touched the door while the wire of the rake blade passed over a criterion line in each phase. In the present study, the criterion for a successful trial was made stricter by narrowing the range that the rake blade had to be brought to. Apart from this alternation, the used procedure followed that in Nagano (2021).

In this training, the same procedure was used as in the rake-pulling training, except that the criterion for a successful trial became stricter. The criterion ranges were set to 5.0-mm intervals to the right of the rake when the rake was placed on the left side of the experimental board from the rat's perspective (Supplementary Figure 1A). The criterion ranges in each phase became narrower toward the center of the board every time the rat attained each criterion (Supplementary Figure 1). The four criterion ranges corresponded to the four phases: 25.0 mm for Phase 1 and 10.0 mm for Phase 4. This arrangement was mirrored when the rake was placed on the right side of the experimental board, where criterion ranges for Phases A to D corresponded to those for Phases 1 to 4, respectively (Supplementary Figure 1B). In each phase, once the rat pulled the rake so that either of the wires glued to the rake blade touched the door while the wire of the rake blade that was close to the center of the board was positioned within the criterion range, the experimenter retrieved the rake and offered the rat a reward through the hole in the door (successful trial, Supplementary Video 2); when the wire of the rake blade closer to the center of the board did not fall within the criterion range, the experimenter retrieved the rake without offering a reward (failed trial, Supplementary Video 3). Thus, the rake and reward were never presented simultaneously. Through this procedure, the rats were trained to laterally manipulate within gradually narrower ranges. The rake-manipulation training continued until the rat achieved the criterion of the last phase under both arrangement conditions (Phases 4 and D) and succeeded in 32 or more trials for two consecutive sessions.

Thread-Pulling Training

In the thread-pulling training, the rats were trained to pull the thread with or without a reward with their paws or mouth (Figure 2, Supplementary Video 4). The first purpose of the training was to offer the rats opportunities to learn that the reward perceived through the sliding door was identical to the reward obtained by the rat in the experimental box, and that the reward was moved toward the rats by pulling an object (the gem clip tied by the embroidery thread). The second purpose of the training was to confirm that they could identify the position of the reward placed at a distance similar to that in the subsequent test. The thread was never removed from the reward on the experimental board, and therefore the rats were not meant to realize that any hard object (part of the tool) was in contact with the reward at all. The sliding door without holes was used. The daily experimental sessions consisted of 38 trials.

Positional Discrimination Test

After the thread-pulling training, the positional discrimination test was performed for one session according to a procedure similar to that used in previous studies on rats (Nagano and Aoyama, 2017b; Nagano, 2019b, 2021) (**Figure 2**). In this test, the experimenter examined whether the rats could manipulate the



rake laterally in relation to the position of food, even when the tool and food were presented simultaneously for the first time. The rake was placed at the center of the experimental board, and the reward was placed on either the left or right side of the rake (**Figure 3B**). The rats could obtain the reward when they pulled the rake in relation to the position of the reward until they pulled the rake to the position of the reward in the vertical direction (**Supplementary Video 5**). The rats were required to move the rake laterally before pulling it to obtain the reward.

Data Analyses and Statistical Methods

Rat behavior was analyzed using video records from the training and the positional discrimination test. The statistical analyses were performed using SPSS Statistics version 25.0. The criterion for statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

The manipulation direction of the rake was analyzed using the method used in previous studies on rats (Nagano and Aoyama, 2017b; Nagano, 2019b, 2021). In this test, when the rat manipulated the rake toward the reward, it was recorded as a correct-direction trial. In contrast, when the rat manipulated the rake away from the reward, it was recorded as an incorrect-direction trial. These determinations were based on whether the intersection point of the blade and the handle was on the left or right side of the center line of the experimental board when the rat pulled the rake 2.0 cm (i.e., to the horizontal line contacting the reward). The correct-direction rate is a behavioral index that would enable the detection of trials in which the subject understood the appropriate direction to move the tool to obtain the reward, but does not successfully manipulate the rake because of insufficient motor ability (Nagano and Aoyama, 2017b). Trials in which the rat did not pull the rake, stopped pulling it before pulling it 2.0 cm toward itself, or flipped the rake out of reach before pulling it 2.0 cm toward itself were excluded from this analysis (BN57: seven trials; BN58: 18 trials; BN59: 19 trials; BN60: one trial; BN61: one trial; BN62: zero trial; BN63: one trial; BN64: zero trial).

In addition, the position of each rat's nose was analyzed when it first touched the rake with the left or right paw in each trial based on the video recordings from the positional discrimination test. This analysis was conducted to investigate whether the position of the rat in relation to the rake and the reward influenced their correct-direction rate by using the method used in previous studies on rats (Nagano and Aoyama, 2017b; Nagano, 2019b, 2021). For this analysis, the first column on the experimental board was divided into 21 areas (Areas 1–21) based on the squares on the board (**Supplementary Figures 3**, 4), and the position of the rat's nose was recorded after the trial began. The position of each rat's nose was determined from the video frame at the moment the rat first touched the rake.

To analyze the relationships between the position of rats' noses and the correct-direction rates in the positional discrimination test, the first column (Areas 1-21) of the experimental board was divided into the area to the left (Areas 1-10) and right (Areas 12-21) of the rake handle, with Area 11 at the center (Supplementary Figures 3, 4). The number of trials in which the rat's nose was in the left or right side area at the time of the first touch on the rake was calculated for each trial. Moreover, when the reward was placed left of the rat's view (20 out of 40 trials), if the rat's nose was in the left side area, then it was recorded as an ipsilateral trial. Under the same conditions, if the rat's nose was in the right side area, then it was recorded as a contralateral trial. Similarly, when the reward was placed right of the rat's view (20 out of 40 trials), if its nose was in the right side area, then it was recorded as an ipsilateral trial; but if the rat's nose was in the left side area, then it was recorded as a contralateral trial. Trials in which rats' noses were located in the center (Area 11) of the board when they first touched the rake were not considered ipsilateral or contralateral.

For the rake-manipulation training, the daily success rates were calculated by dividing the number of trials in which each rat moved the rake laterally within the criterion range within 60 s (number of successful trials) by the total number of trials (40 trials per day).

In the thread-pulling training, the average thread-pulling rates per session were calculated for the threads with and without a reward separately. The thread-pulling rates were calculated by dividing the number of trials in which each rat pulled the thread (with or without a reward) to the position in which the reward or knot entered in the box (number of threadpulling trials) by the total number of trials in each thread condition (19 trials per session). A two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed with thread type and session as withinsubject factors, followed by simple main effect analyses. In addition, the average thread-contacting rates per session were calculated for the threads with a reward and threads without a reward separately. The thread-contacting rates were calculated by dividing the number of trials in which the rat touched the rake with its paws or mouth within 60 s (number of thread-contacting trials) by the total number of trials in thread condition (19 trials per session). A two-way ANOVA was performed with thread type and session as within-subject factors followed by simple main effect analyses.

The success rate was also calculated for each rat in the positional discrimination test by determining whether the rats manipulated the rake toward the reward (in the correctdirection) or not (in the incorrect-direction), and comparing the number of trials in which the rake was moved in either direction (40 trials). The correct-direction rate was calculated by dividing the number of trials in which each rat manipulated the rake toward the reward (number of correct-direction trials) by those in which the rat manipulated the rake in either direction. The correct-direction trials included trials in which the rat manipulated the rake in the correct-direction but failed to obtain the reward. Using binomial tests, the number of correctand incorrect-direction trials was compared for each rat. In the binomial tests, the null hypothesis was that the correctdirection rate was 50%. In addition, data analysis showed whether each rat manipulated the rake in the correct-direction from the beginning of the session in the test. The daily sessions (40 trials) were divided into eight blocks to calculate the average correctdirection rate of rake manipulation, with each block consisting of five trials. Trials 31-35 in one rat (BN58) and Trials 26-40 in another (BN59) were excluded from this analysis because the individuals never pulled the rake in these trials.

Ipsilateral trials were calculated for each rat to analyze the relationship between the position of the rats' noses and the correct-direction rates in the positional discrimination test. The number of ipsilateral and contralateral trials was compared for each rat using two-tailed binomial tests.

RESULTS

Results from the rake-pulling, rake-manipulation, and threadpulling training are described in **Supplementary Material**.

Positional Discrimination Test

The success rates in the positional discrimination test were low in all the rats (5.0–40.0%, **Figure 4A**). One of the eight rats (BN64) manipulated the rake in the correct-direction significantly more frequently than in the incorrect-direction (BN57–BN63: *n. s.*, BN64: p < 0.01, binomial tests, **Figure 4B**). In addition, the performance of the one rat (BN64) that manipulated the rake in the correct-direction the most did not show a trend toward improvement in its correct-direction rate within a session (**Supplementary Figure 8**).

The position of each rat's nose the first time it touched the rake with the left or right paw in each trial was analyzed in the positional discrimination test (Supplementary Figures 3, 4). The purpose of this analysis was to investigate the possibility that one rat (BN64) just moved to a position closer to the reward immediately before pulling the rake, and therefore initially had the rake close to itself; this may have resulted in a correctdirection rate above the chance level (50%) during the test. For instance, perhaps the rat used a strategy of moving closer to the reward (left side) based on the position of the rake handle to try to obtain the reward with its paws and manipulated the rake in the left direction (correct-direction). One of eight rats (BN64) positioned its nose on the side of the handle of the rake opposite to the reward rather than to the same side as the reward (BN57-BN63: *n. s.*; BN64: p < 0.01, binomial tests, Supplementary Table 1), and the rat manipulated the rake in the correct-direction significantly more frequently than in the incorrect-direction.



DISCUSSION

The findings of the present study, in which the modified training procedure was applied, were found to be similar to that of Nagano (2021). The present study showed that one of the eight rats could manipulate a tool according to the position of the food reward without prior experience of obtaining the reward with the tool or perceiving that part of the tool came in contact with the reward. The hypothesis of this study, that the training of motion control improves the tool-manipulation ability in rats, was not supported. The correct-direction rate did not improve within a session after several trials of learning that manipulating the rake in the appropriate direction yielded a reward. In addition, the position of one rat's (BN64) nose when it first touched the rake was not ipsilateral to the side of the experimental board on which the reward was placed, confirming that the rat did not resort to the simple strategy of moving closer to the reward to try and grab it with its paws before attempting to use the rake to obtain the reward. The rat positioned its nose on the side of the handle of the rake opposite the reward, and a similar tendency was observed in previous rat studies (Nagano and Aoyama, 2017b; Nagano, 2021).

However, it is possible that the rat (BN64) could manipulate the rake in the direction of the reward by chance. Only this rat may have had a behavioral tendency to manipulate the rake in the direction of the reward for some reason (e.g., an innate behavioral tendency to manipulate objects toward foods). It would not be possible that the other seven rats could not manipulate the rake in the correct-direction because, due to their low visual acuity, they could not identify the position of the reward presented on the experimental board (Prusky et al., 2002). In the thread-pulling training, the rats pulled the threads with a reward significantly more often than the thread with no reward. To the best of our knowledge, only the present study and Nagano (2021) have indicated that some animals can manipulate tools according to the position of the target without prior experience of perceiving that one object collided with another object and sent it into motion in controlled experimental settings.

There were some limitations in the present study. It may be possible that the abilities of rodents to manipulate tools appropriately can be detected by conducting the experiments under environmental conditions that match to their biological needs. Rats are nocturnal animals (Norton et al., 1975), but the experiment in the presented study was conducted during the light phase due to the rules of the shared animal room with other researchers in the research institution. Testing the nocturnal rodents during the dark phase would be needed to detect their cognitive abilities more appropriately in future studies (Balcombe, 2010). Moreover, only male rats were used as the subjects in the present studies, as were the previous rat studies (Nagano and Aoyama, 2017a,b; Nagano, 2019a,b, 2021). To testify about the generality of the relationship between the motion control and tool-manipulation, testing with female rats would be needed in future studies. Alternatively, sex differences in tool-use may be observed in rats like capuchin monkeys (Sapajus libidinosus) (Falótico et al., 2021). In addition, the experimenter always manipulated the door with her left hand to avoid subconsciously giving the rats cues about the position of the food reward in the positional discrimination test. It may be possible that this procedure created the rats' side bias, and they manipulated the rake in the same direction in the most of trials.

The changes that the present study made to the experimental procedures used in Nagano (2021) did not enhance the detection of the rodents' ability to manipulate tools according to food position. It is possible that the tool-manipulation monitoring is not an important factor for tool manipulation in rodents. The procedures in the present study should be conducted in a wider variety of animals to investigate whether tool-manipulation monitoring promotes the subjects' effective tool-use behavior. Moreover, it can be examined whether the subjects can perceive the reward placed at the same position as the test by conducting the thread-pulling training immediately before the test. In addition, the appropriate distance between the subject and the reward can be determined by applying a procedure similar to the thread-pulling training technique adopted in the present study. Therefore, the procedure in the present study is valuable for investigating tool-use behavior in animals with relatively low visual acuity, such as rats, as well as in animals with relatively high visual acuity.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below: https://osf.io/3x8tz/?view_only=f5c4b90614bd496e8ba6ddd3ed26207a.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Doshisha University Animal Experiment Committee.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AN designed and performed the experiments, made the experimental apparatus, analyzed the data, wrote the manuscript, and prepared the figures.

REFERENCES

- Auersperg, A. M., Szabo, B., Von Bayern, A. M., and Kacelnik, A. (2012). Spontaneous innovation in tool manufacture and use in a Goffin's cockatoo. *Curr. Biol.* 22, R903–R904. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2012.09.002
- Balcombe, J. (2010). Laboratory rodent welfare: thinking outside the cage. J. Appl. Anim. Welf. 13, 77–88. doi: 10.1080/10888700903372168
- Bentley-Condit, V., and Smith, E. O. (2010). Animal tool use: current definitions and an updated comprehensive catalog. *Behaviour* 147, 185–221. doi: 10.1163/ 000579509X12512865686555
- Blackwell, A. A., Köppen, J. R., Whishaw, I. Q., and Wallace, D. G. (2018). String-pulling for food by the rat: assessment of movement, topography and kinematics of a bilaterally skilled forelimb act. *Learn. Motiv.* 61, 63–73.
- Connolly, K., and Dalgleish, M. (1989). The emergence of a tool-using skill in infancy. *Dev. Psychol.* 25, 894–912. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.25.6.894
- Falótico, T., Bueno, C. Q., and Ottoni, E. B. (2021). Ontogeny and sex differences in object manipulation and probe tool use by wild tufted capuchin monkeys (*Sapajus libidinosus*). Am. J. Primatol. 83:e23251. doi: 10.1002/ajp.23251
- Irvine, K. A., Ferguson, A. R., Mitchell, K. D., Beattie, S. B., Beattie, M. S., and Bresnahan, J. C. (2010). A novel method for assessing proximal and distal forelimb function in the rat: the Irvine, *Beatties* and *Bresnahan* (IBB) forelimb scale. *JoVE* 46, e2246. doi: 10.3791/2246
- Krubitzer, L. (2009). In search of a unifying theory of complex brain evolution. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1156, 44–67. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04421.x
- Kumazawa-Manita, N., Hama, H., Miyawaki, A., and Iriki, A. (2013). Tool use specific adult neurogenesis and synaptogenesis in rodent (*Octodon degus*) hippocampus. *PLoS One* 8:e58649. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0058649
- Nagano, A. (2019a). Development of a control task for clarifying the neural mechanisms underlying tool-use behavior in rats (*Rattus norvegicus*). *MethodsX* 6, 2845–2854. doi: 10.1016/j.mex.2019.11.022
- Nagano, A. (2019b). Rats' (*Rattus norvegicus*) tool manipulation ability exceeds simple patterned behavior. *PLoS One* 14:e0226569. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0226569
- Nagano, A. (2021). Behavioral task to assess physical causal understanding in rats (*Rattus norvegicus*). *Curr. Psychol.* doi: 10.1007/s12144-020-01315-w
- Nagano, A., and Aoyama, K. (2017a). Tool-use by rats (*Rattus norvegicus*): toolchoice based on tool features. *Anim. Cogn.* 20, 199–213. doi: 10.1007/s10071-016-1039-5
- Nagano, A., and Aoyama, K. (2017b). Tool manipulation by rats (*Rattus norvegicus*) according to the position of food. *Sci. Rep.* 7, 1–11. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-017-06308-7

FUNDING

This work was supported by JSPS KAKENHI (Grant Numbers 17J03299, 18H06484, 19K20652, and 21J00781).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study is part of the author's unpublished doctoral thesis at Doshisha University. The thesis was written under Kenjiro Aoyama's direction.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg. 2022.931957/full#supplementary-material

- Norton, S., Culver, B., and Mullenix, P. (1975). Development of nocturnal behavior in albino rats. *Behav. Biol.* 15, 317–331. doi: 10.1016/S0091-6773(75)91 717-4
- Okanoya, K., Tokimoto, N., Kumazawa, N., Hihara, S., and Iriki, A. (2008). Tooluse training in a species of rodent: the emergence of an optimal motor strategy and functional understanding. *PLoS One* 3:e1860. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0001860
- Prusky, G. T., Harker, K. T., Douglas, R. M., and Whishaw, I. Q. (2002). Variation in visual acuity within pigmented, and between pigmented and albino rat strains. *Behav. Brain Res.* 136, 339–348. doi: 10.1016/S0166-4328(02)00 126-2
- Ramsey, R., Kaplan, D. M., and Cross, E. S. (2021). Watch and learn: the cognitive neuroscience of learning from others' actions. *Trends Neurosci.* 44, 478–491. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2021.01.007
- Shumway, C. A. (2008). Habitat complexity, brain, and behavior. *Brain Behav. Evol.* 72, 123–134. doi: 10.1159/000151472
- St Amant, R., and Horton, T. E. (2008). Revisiting the definition of animal tool use. *Anim. Behav.* 75, 1199–1208. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2007.09.028
- Yamazaki, Y., Echigo, C., Saiki, M., Inada, M., Watanabe, S., and Iriki, A. (2011). Tool-use learning by common marmosets (*Callithrix jacchus*). *Exp. Brain Res.* 213, 63–71. doi: 10.1007/s00221-011-2778-9
- Yamazaki, Y., Kurihara, Y., Iriki, A., and Watanabe, S. (2009). Changes in the repertoire of tool-using behaviour in Japanese monkeys. *CARLS Ser. Adv. Study Logic Sensibility* 3, 29–37.

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Nagano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Edward Narayan, The University of Queensland, Australia

REVIEWED BY

E. Tobias Krause, Friedrich-Loeffler-Institute, Germany Maria Vilain Rørvang, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Sweden

*CORRESPONDENCE Jan Langbein langbein@fbn-dummerstorf.de

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Animal Behavior and Welfare, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

RECEIVED 09 April 2022 ACCEPTED 27 June 2022 PUBLISHED 15 July 2022

CITATION

Finkemeier M, Krause A, Tuchscherer A, Puppe B and Langbein J (2022) Personality traits affect learning performance in dwarf goats (*Capra hircus*). *Front. Vet. Sci.* 9:916459. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.916459

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Finkemeier, Krause, Tuchscherer, Puppe and Langbein. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Personality traits affect learning performance in dwarf goats (*Capra hircus*)

Marie-Antonine Finkemeier^{1,2†}, Annika Krause^{1†}, Armin Tuchscherer³, Birger Puppe^{1,2} and Jan Langbein^{1*}

¹Institute of Behavioural Physiology, Research Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN), Dummerstorf, Germany, ²Behavioural Sciences, Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, University of Rostock, Rostock, Germany, ³Institute of Genetics and Biometry, Research Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN), Dummerstorf, Germany

A wide range of species exhibit time- and context-consistent interindividual variation in a number of specific behaviors related to an individual's personality. Several studies have shown that individual differences in personalityassociated behavioral traits have an impact on cognitive abilities. The aim of this study was to investigate the relationship between personality traits and learning abilities in dwarf goats. The behavior of 95 goats during a repeated open field (OF) and novel object test (NO) was analyzed, and two main components were identified using principal component analysis: boldness and activity. In parallel, the goats learned a 4-choice visual initial discrimination task (ID) and three subsequent reversal learning (RL) tasks. The number of animals that reached the learning criterion and the number of trials needed (TTC) in each task were calculated. Our results show that goats with the lowest learning performance in ID needed more TTC in RL1 and reached the learning criterion less frequently in RL2 and RL3 compared to animals with better learning performance in ID. This suggests a close relationship between initial learning and flexibility in learning behavior. To study the link between personality and learning, we conducted two analyses, one using only data from the first OF- and NO-test (momentary personality traits), while the other included both tests integrating only animals that were stable for their specific trait (stable personality traits). No relationship between personality and learning was found using data from only the first OFand NO-test. However, stability in the trait boldness was found to have an effect on learning. Unbold goats outperformed bold goats in RL1. This finding supports the general hypothesis that bold animals tend to develop routines and show less flexibility in the context of learning than unbold individuals. Understanding how individual personality traits can affect cognitive abilities will help us gain insight into mechanisms that can constrain cognitive processing and adaptive behavioral responses.

KEYWORDS

discrimination learning, personality, cognition, open field test, novel object test, serial reversal, goats

Introduction

A wide range of species exhibit time- and contextconsistent interindividual variation in behaviors, such as activity, exploration, boldness, aggressiveness and sociability, which are all traits related to an individual's personality (1–5). More than 100 years ago, Pavlov was the first to suggest that canine personality could also be a marker for differential performance in associative learning (6). Regardless, potential relationships between animal personality and interindividual differences in cognitive abilities have been relatively understudied in nonhuman animals (7, 8); however, in the last decade, they have attracted new interest across a wide range of taxa, while the causes and strengths of this variation are still under discussion (9).

Proximate factors (attention, selectivity, persistence, and experience) represent behavioral mechanisms that have a major impact on individual learning and cognitive performance (10). Current frameworks that determine behavioral phenotypes that are stable across time and context, such as animal personality (1, 11), temperament (12), coping style theory (13) and behavioral flexibility (14), which are all interrelated (15) have been hypothesized to be functionally related to individual differences in learning and were used to explain consistent within-species interindividual variation in cognitive abilities such as learning and memory. In this way, personality may affect performance in cognitive tasks in that individual variation in attention and encounter rates of environmental stimuli act to either facilitate or inhibit learning (6). It is assumed that natural selection could have parallel effects on cognition and animal personality simultaneously, leading to a correlation between cognition and various personality traits, as both follow a continuum between fast and slow phenotypes (16). The link between variation in personality and cognition forms the basis of the cognitive style hypothesis and is centered on a speed-accuracy trade-off that assumes that individuals may apply different cognitive styles (fast or accurate) based on personality or coping style (7, 17). Proactive individuals, which tend to be bolder, more active, neophilic and fast explorers, learn at higher speeds but at the cost of accuracy. They are likely to become entrenched in a previously learned strategy and thus are less flexible when confronted with new challenges compared to reactive individuals, who are characterized as being rather shy, neophobic, and slow explorers (12, 13, 18). Furthermore, proactive animals are more rigid and fast in decision-making, while reactive animals are thought to be more attentive to environmental changes and stimuli. Attention to environmental cues and cognitive ability are positively related to behavioral flexibility and the ability of an individual to adjust to an ever-changing environment (6, 19). In contrast to much empirical work demonstrating a relationship between personality and learning abilities in different species (20-22), some recent authors cast doubt on a general parallelism

between behavioral and cognitive dispositions, as some studies failed to show this link (8, 9, 23-25). For instance, while fast-exploring great tit males (Parus mayor) showed more flexible learning abilities than slow-exploring males, female slow explorers outperformed fast explorers, showing a sex dependency in the relationship between personality types and learning (26). Two different zebrafish (Danio rerio) strains classified as proactive and reactive were able to learn and recall the fearful association of an associative fear conditioning task. While both coping style strains showed no differences in memory, reactive zebrafish acquired fear memory at a significantly faster rate than proactive zebrafish (27). Another study on narrow-striped mongooses (Mungotictis decemlineata) tested the relationship between learning performance, social information and individual differences in boldness: learning performance of seven wild female groups (of two to six individuals each) was tested with an artificial feeding box using a demonstrator-observer paradigm. Bold individuals as well as individuals in groups with demonstrators were faster in learning the task, while individuals without a demonstrator learned the task more slowly, indicating an interaction between personality traits, use of social cues and learning performance (28). In male African striped mice (Rhabdomys pumilio), proactive individuals (measured by boldness, activity and exploration) performed better than reactive males in two learning tests: a string-pulling task to obtain food and a door-opening task to reach the nest (29). On the other hand, in guinea pigs and female guppies (Poecilia reticulata) exploration, sociability and boldness were not intercorrelated with learning performance (30, 31), again indicating that relationships between personality traits and learning are quite diverse in a number of different species.

In recent years, interest in individual differences in a variety of taxa has increased, including in livestock research (reviewed by 15). There is mounting evidence that these differences play an important role in various contexts in pigs (32-34), cows (35-37), horses (38-40), chickens (41, 42) and goats (43, 44). General knowledge about the cognitive capabilities of livestock (i.e., their ability to acquire, process, store and use information) is of great interest, as cognitive capacities have a major impact on how they are able to interact with their environment (45). Farm animals see themselves confronted with a multitude of challenges (i.e., automated feeding regimes, inflexible housing conditions, rigid management practices) during their lifetimes that have very specific and individual cognitive requirements. To date, numerous studies have focused on quantifying and understanding species-specific cognitive abilities and learning skills in farm animals. For instance, in a visual discrimination task, pigs were able to discriminate between two visual stimuli, and even 1/3 performed well in the reversal task (46). In an acoustic discrimination task, pigs were trained to visit the feeding site after discriminating an individual acoustic signal to obtain a food reward (47). In horses, observers were allowed

to watch demonstrators opening a feeding apparatus: While young and lower ranking horses learned the task, older and higher ranking horses did not, showing an age and rank dependency in learning (48). Chickens were able to complete visual occlusion, have biological motion perception and were able to discriminate object and spatial representations, to name a few (reviewed by 42). Meyer and colleagues used an automated learning device that presents artificial symbols via a screen and found that goats have clear categorization capacities (49). They were also successful in object permanence tasks (50) and were seeking cognitive challenges by choosing to work for a reward even if they have the possibility of getting it for free, named "contrafreeloading" (51, 52). In playback experiments, it has been shown that goats were able to recall offspring vocalizations for at least 1 year (53, 54). Training a series of visual discrimination tasks showed that goats were able to improve their performance in a learning-to-learn process and develop a learning set (55). In summary, a wide range of cognitive tests has been applied in farm animals to assess a range of cognitive traits. However, differences in cognitive ability between and within individuals of the same species across repeated measurements or across different experimental conditions have also been noted but the causes of these differences remain largely unexplained (7, 8, 45). To date, there is only limited knowledge about a phenotypic link between individual personality and learning capacities in farm animals.

In the current study, we investigated the potential relationship between specific personality traits and learning performance in female dwarf goats. A 4-choice visual discrimination task and three subsequent reversal learning tasks were applied to characterize the learning abilities of the goats. Reversal learning paradigms are commonly used to test behavioral flexibility, a type of phenotypic plasticity that can influence how animals cope with environmental changes. To investigate the relationship between the consistency of certain personality traits and learning, first only data from the first personality test and then the combined data from both personality tests were used separately to test the respective effect on learning performance.

First of all, we expected a relationship between learning and reversal learning in that good learners in the visual discrimination task would need more trials to reach the learning criterion in the reversal learning task and vice versa. This is based on the findings of other studies showing that fast learners exhibited lower behavioral flexibility and, therefore, performed worse in a reversal learning paradigm compared to slow learners (56).

Second, we expected no interrelation between the personality traits deriving only from the first personality test and discrimination learning or reversal learning. On the other hand, taking consistent personality traits into account (data from both personality tests), we expected the more active and bold individuals to disproportionately achieve the learning criterion in the discrimination task faster while inactive and unbold individuals would perform better in the reversal learning tasks, in line with studies regarding behavioral flexibility in the context of coping style (7, 57).

Animals, materials and methods

Animals and housing

The experiments were conducted with 108 juvenile female Nigerian dwarf goats (Capra aegagrus hircus) bred from a line at the Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN, Dummerstorf, Germany). Due to our breeding program, two experimental runs were conducted per year. From birth to weaning (Figure 1), goats were housed in mixed groups consisting of three to five adult females and their male and female kids. The pens (12 m²) were littered with wheat straw as bedding material and contained a hayrack and a round feeder to deliver concentrate (800 g to 1,000 g twice per pen, Vollkraft, Mischfutterwerk GmbH, Güstrow, Germany). Hay and water were provided ad libitum. After weaning (seven weeks of age), female goat kids were kept in groups of up to 16 animals per group in pens as described above, with an additional climbing rack as an enrichment activity. All animals were ear tagged and wore a collar with a responder (Urban, Wuesting, Germany) for individual recognition at the free accessible automated learning device. The operating principle of the learning device has been described in detail elsewhere (49). In the following weeks, the kids were shaped to the learning device. During this time, we conducted repeated OF- and NO-tests (Figure 1). At 12 weeks of age, kids were kept in groups of up to eight animals per group in pens as described above. As the number of goat kids was different in every lambing season, runs one and two of the study were conducted with 32 kids each, run three with 14 kids and run four with 30 kids. From here on they will be referred to as goats.

Behavioral testing

To obtain the respective personality traits, we conducted repeated OF- and NO-tests. Repetitions were performed after 14 days as Takola et al. (58), who conducted a meta-analysis including 115 studies, found that repeatability of responses to novel objects was significant an greater in short-term studies than in long-term studies. In both tests, each goat stayed alone in an arena for 5 min. For both tests, we used an arena (3 × 4.8 m) with opaque walls (2 m high) in a different part of the barn, which was separated from the home pens by two doors. The arena was divided into 12 identical segments (1 × 1.2 m), which were indicated by white lines on the floor. A fully enclosed start box (1 × 1 × 1 m) was connected to the arena and had a



guillotine door. For the first NO-test, a traffic cone, and for the second test, a medicine ball was used as the object. To ensure that the object could not be displaced by the focal animal, the object was fixed with a chain hanging from the ceiling. All tests were video recorded (Panasonic WV-CP500). For both tests and both test repetitions, we recorded 82 behavioral measures for each subject coded with Observer XT (Version 12, Noldus Information Technology, The Netherlands). The OF- and NO-tests were conducted on two consecutive days, the same for the repetitions. Further details concerning the testing procedure and the recorded behavioral measures were described by Finkemeier et al. (44).

Visual discrimination learning

Shaping

Over 6 weeks, we shaped the goats stepwise to the learning device. The learning device was integrated into the home pen with free access for all goats 24/7. We used drinking water as a reward (30 ml for each correct choice), which was only accessible at the learning device. For detailed information regarding the shaping procedure, see Langbein et al. (59). In short, we started with a float switch hanging in a water bowl with a button directly above the switch. By pressing the button, the goats could add 30 ml of water to the bowl. After 1 week, the float switch was removed, and we installed first one, later two buttons 20 cm above the bowl, one of which had to be pressed to fill water in the bowl. The reward button was changed weekly and at the end of the shaping phase, daily. At the end of the shaping phase, all goats were able to push the buttons and ensure their water demand independently. According to the veterinary and food control government, the daily water demand of dairy goats ranges between 1.5 and 4 L and based on our experience from previous learning experiments in dwarf goats, we can expect between 23.7 and 28.5 number of drinking actions (30 ml per

action), which equals daily water consumption between 0.83 and 0.99 L (51).

Training

After completing shaping, goats were regrouped to up to eight animals per group into identically equipped pens, including the learning device. The learning device consisted of a 15-inch LCD screen (resolution of 640 x 480 pixels) behind a transparent acrylic panel. The screen was divided into four virtual sectors. In each sector, we displayed a different symbol (size $\sim 7 \text{ cm}^2$). To allow the goats to choose one of the symbols, four press buttons were mounted on the acrylic panel, one button beside each sector. Figure 2 gives a schematic overview of the compartment with the learning device. For a detailed description of the training procedure, see Langbein et al. (59).

During the first week, the goats were presented with a white screen, and all four buttons were rewarded. Next, the goats were presented with the first two training sets (Figures 3A,B). The symbol to learn was marked by a frame. The position of the symbols changed randomly after each trial. Each set was presented for 14 days. Similar to the shaping phase, goats were rewarded with 30 ml water for each correct choice. The device was accessible 24/7 for all goats. Even animals that did not learn the task were able to obtain enough water by increasing the number of trials at the device. At the end of training (60), all goats were able to use the device properly and reached the defined learning criterion (please see the *Data analysis and statistics* section for further details).

Initial discrimination learning and reversal learning

To investigate the impact of personality on the learning performance of the goats, a new 4-choice discrimination task was presented (Figure 3C). This initial discrimination task (ID)



was trained for 14 days. To investigate the effect of personality on the flexibility of learning behavior, three reversal-discrimination tasks were subsequently presented (RL1-3). The same set of symbols was used as in ID, but in each reversal task, a different one of the three previously unrewarded stimuli was now the stimulus to be discriminated (Figures 3D–F). All other conditions were identical to Training.

Ethical note

All animal care and experimental procedures were performed in accordance with the German welfare requirements for farm animals and the "Guidelines for the treatment of animals in behavioral research and teaching" (61). All procedures involving animal handling and treatment were approved by the Committee for Animal Use and Care of the Ministry of Agriculture, Environment and Consumer Protection of the federal state of Mecklenburg-Vorpommern, Germany (Ref. 7221.3-2-005/14).

Data preparation

From 108 tested goats, we excluded those for whom technical issues concerning the learning device occurred (e.g., technical failure of the software and hardware of the learning device and/or loss of transponder for individual identification of the animal.). Finally, a total of 95 goats were included in all further analyses.

The learning performance of the goats was characterized by two steps: First, we analyzed whether the animals reached the learning criterion in ID and in RL1-3, respectively and, if so, we analyzed how many trials they needed to do so (trials to criterion, TTC). Given the four-symbol choice task where chance responding to a given symbol is 25%, the criterion for a statistically significant level (p < 0.05) of correct responding was determined according to the Binomial test when n = 20 and p = 0.25, to be 46% of correct choices in at least two consecutive blocks of 20 trials (learning criterion). This reflects the same learning success compared to the learning criterion of 75% in similar studies applying the common two-choice design (55).

Based on the TTC, we calculated the respective quartiles for the learning performance in ID (Table 1) to test its impact on learning performance in RL1-3. Consequently, Q1 indicated animals with the highest learning performance (lowest number of TTCs) in ID, and Q4 indicated the animals with the lowest learning performance (highest number of TTCs) in ID.

The personality traits boldness and activity were calculated by conducting a principal component analysis (PCA) for the initial OF- and NO-tests and their respective repetitions (please see 44 for further details). We selected 11 behavioral measures (see Supplementary Material) out of 82 identical for both test periods, which were not affected by season and body weight and/or are commonly used in animal personality studies (44, 62, 63). Using these measures, we calculated one PCA for each test repetition (PCA1+PCA2). We found two main PCs in PCA1 (overall MSA = 0.7). The first PC (PC1a; eigenvalue = 3.5) consists of four measures with loadings above 0.7 and below-0.7 describing the interaction with the novel object. The second PC (PC1b; eigenvalue = 2) consists of two measures with loadings above 0.7 and below -0.7 describing active-like behavior. We labeled PC1a "boldness" and PC1b "activity." The two PCs explained 32 and 18.2% of the variation in the data, respectively. In PCA2 (overall MSA = 0.71), we found two similar main principal components, with the first describing the interaction with the novel object (PC2a; eigenvalue = 3.7) and the second describing active-like behavior (PC2b; eigenvalue = 1.3), explaining 34% and 12% of the variation in the data, respectively. Finally, we calculated PC scores (from -3 to +3) for each personality trait for each animal in each of the two test periods, where each individual score was calculated from the standardized original data and the respective loadings of each PC separately for PCA1 and PCA2. These scores were used for any further statistical analysis.

We tested the impact of the personality traits on learning performance and characterized *momentary* and *stable* personality traits using either the first or both OF- and NO-tests as the basis for the calculations. Using the personality scores resulting from the PCA1 (*activity* and *boldness* scores from -3 to +3), the respective quartiles were calculated to test the impact of a *momentary* personality trait on cognitive performance (see Table 1 for *activity* and *boldness* quartiles). Conversely, to investigate whether consistency in these personality traits had an effect on learning performance, we selected animals that



showed stable *activity* and *boldness* scores in the repeated OFand NO-tests (= *stable* personality traits). Stability was met if the scores from the first and second OF- and NO-tests were similar (both either positive or negative) for each personality trait (including a protection zone of \pm 0.5 from the zero line).

Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were conducted in SAS® 9.4 (SAS Institute Incorporated, Cary, North Carolina, USA). The data were evaluated by various analyses of variance (ANOVAs) using the GLIMMIX procedure.

Relationship between learning performance and reversal learning

To measure the impact of learning performance in ID, allocated among the four quartiles, on the overall achievement of the learning criterion during RL1-3, we used the variance function for the binomial distribution (binary data) and the logit link function in the statistical model. For more detailed analyses of learning, we ran a model with TTC in RL1-3 as our response variable and evaluated the effect of learning performance in ID (allocated to the respective quartiles, see above), task (RL1, RL2, RL3) and their interaction, which were fitted as fixed effects. Both models contained motherID, pens and season nested in replicates as random effects.

Impact of a momentary personality traits on cognitive performance

The impact of the quartiles of *activity* (A1-A4; from very inactive to very active) and *boldness* (B1-B4; from very unbold to very bold) in PCA1 as fixed factors was tested on the number of

animals reaching the learning criterion and on the TTC in RL1-3. In each model, motherID, pen and season nested in replicates were included as random effects.

Impact of stable personality traits on learning performance

To investigate whether consistency in specific personality traits had an effect on learning performance, we selected animals that showed stable *activity* and *boldness* scores in the repeated OF- and NO-tests. Out of 95 animals, 32 animals showed a stable value in *activity* (16 active, 16 inactive), and 42 animals showed a stable value in *boldness* (16 bold, 26 unbold) across the repeated OF- and NO-tests. The selected animals were then assigned to the groups *stable in activity* (inactive or active) or *stable in boldness* (unbold or bold), which were used as fixed effects on the TTC in ID and RL1-3 in the statistical model. In these models, motherID, replicates and season were included as random effects.

Least squared means (LSMs) and their standard errors (SEs) were computed for the fixed effects in all models, and pairwise differences in the LSM were tested using the Tukey–Kramer correction. All analyses included the animal as a repeated factor in the random statement, and mean differences with p < 0.05 were considered significantly different.

Results

Relationship between learning performance and reversal learning

A significant effect of learning performance in ID (Q1-Q4) was found on the number of goats that reached the learning
TABLE 1 Calculation of the respective quartiles concerning. (A) the learning performance (number of TTC) in the initial discrimination task (ID); (B) the activity scores based on the results of the principal component analyses of the first open field/novel object test (44); and (C) the boldness scores based on the results of the principal component analyses of the first open field/novel object test. Respective lower and higher limits as well as the category description and number of animals per quartile are indicated.

Quartile label	Lower limit	Higher limit	Description	n (animals)
(A) Quartile limits bas	ed on the number of TTCs			
Q1	20	20	"High performer"	24
Q2	40	80	"Good performer"	22
Q3	100	200	"Poor performer"	24
Q4	220	1,700	"Low performer"	24
(B) Quartile limits bas	ed on activity scores			
A1	-3	-0.5248	"Very inactive"	24
A2	-0.5249	0.0459	"Inactive"	23
A3	0.046	0.6414	"Active"	24
A4	0.6415	3	"Very active"	24
(C) Quartile limits bas	ed on boldness scores			
B1	-3	-0.9164	"Very unbold"	24
B2	-0.9165	-0.0655	"Unbold"	24
B3	-0.0656	0.7794	"Bold"	23
B4	0.7795	3	"Very bold"	24

criterion in RL2 ($F_{3,41} = 4.56$, p < 0.01) and RL3 ($F_{3,41} = 5.05$, p < 0.01), while a tendency was found concerning RL1 (F_{3,41} = 2.48, p < 0.1). In other words, 46% of the low performers in ID (Q4) were not able to learn the first reversal task (n = 11). This effect was significant for the second (71%; n =17) and third reversal tasks (79%; n = 19). Goats with the lowest learning performance in ID (Q4) reached the learning criterion in RL2 less frequently compared to goats with only poor learning performance in ID (Q3) (p < 0.01) and also tend to reach the learning criterion less frequently compared to goats with good (Q2, p < 0.1) and very good (Q1, p < 0.1) learning performance in ID. Additionally, low performers in ID (Q4) reached the learning criterion in RL3 less frequently compared to all other groups of learning performance in ID (Q1-Q3), as shown in Figure 4A (Q1 and Q3: p < 0.05, Q2: 0.01). Regarding the animals that successfully reached the learning criterion in RL1, RL2 or RL3, we found an effect of learning performance in ID on TTC in the reversal tasks ($F_{3,145} = 5.21$, p < 0.001). Pairwise comparisons indicate that low performers (Q4) needed significantly more TTC than the other learning groups (Q1-Q3) in RL1 (p < 0.01, Figure 4B), while this difference is not apparent in RL2 and RL3 (all p > 0.1). Furthermore, we found a significant effect of task on TTC ($F_{2,145} = 20.3$, p < 0.001) in that the animals significantly reduced their TTC in RL3 compared to RL1 and RL2 (p < 0.001, respectively) that was mainly apparent in Q4 regarding the TTC in RL3 compared to RL1 (p < 0.05). However, the interaction between learning performance in the ID and RL tasks revealed no significant effect.

Impact of momentary personality traits on learning performance

The statistical analysis indicated no significant effects of *activity* (A1-A4) or *boldness* (B1-B4), based on only the first conducted OF- and NO-tests, on the number of goats that reached the learning criterion during RL1-3. Furthermore, *activity* and *boldness* did not show any significant effects on the TTC either during ID nor during RL1-3.

Impact of stable personality traits on learning performance

We found no significant effects of *stability* in *activity* or *boldness* on the number of goats that reached the learning criterion in RL1-3. Regarding TTC, *stability in activity* (inactive vs. active) was not found to have a significant effect on TTC in ID or RL1-3 (Figure 5A). In contrast, *stability in boldness* (unbold vs. bold) significantly affected TTC in RL1 ($F_{1,7} = 11.36$, p < 0.05). As shown in Figure 5B, bold animals exhibited a lower learning performance (higher number of TTCs) in RL1 than unbold animals. This effect was not observed in RL2 and RL3.

Discussion

Our study investigated the potential relationship between specific personality traits and individual learning performance



FIGURE 4

Performance of different groups of goats in the reversal learning task: (A) proportion of goats that reached the learning criterion during reversal tasks RL1-RL3. (B) Number of trials to reach the learning criterion (TTC) in reversal tasks RL1-RL3. The groups Q1-Q4 indicate the learning performance during the initial discrimination task (ID): Q1: TTC in ID = 20, Q2: TTC in ID = 40-80, Q3: TTC in ID = 100-200, Q4: TTC in ID > 220. Data are presented as least squared means and standard errors (LSM \pm SE); *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001.



reach the learning criterion in the reversal tasks RL1-RL3 of goats assigned to the inactive (black bars) vs. active groups (gray bars). (B) Number of trials to reach the learning criterion in the reversal tasks RL1-RL3 of goats assigned to the groups unbold (black bars) vs. bold (gray bars). Data are presented as least squared means and standard errors (LSM \pm SE); *p < 0.05.

by using a visual discrimination paradigm. Goats learned to associate a visual stimulus with a reward in the initial 4choice visual discrimination task (ID) presented 24/7 using an automated learning device and were able to reverse their associations in a serial reversal task (RL1-3). Their performance in the three consecutive RL's depended on their learning success in the ID in that low performers in the ID also performed low in the RL's. Taking specific personality traits (measured once) into account, we did not find any evidence of a relationship between *activity* and/or *boldness* and learning performance, either in the discrimination task or in the reversal tasks. However, including only the animals that were *stable* for personality trait *activity* and/or *boldness* (measured twice), no evidence for any link between *activity* and learning performance was found, while *boldness* revealed a significant link to learning performance in the first reversal task in that unbold individuals outperformed bold individuals in RL1.

The learning performance of the goats in the three consecutive reversal tasks depended on their learning success in the initial learning task. A higher proportion of goats performing low in the initial discrimination task did not achieve the learning criteria in the reversal tasks compared to the goats

that learned the initial discrimination task better. This effect is not as obvious in the first reversal task but reaches significance in the second and third reversal tasks. Additionally, the lowperforming goats that were able to reverse the initially learned association needed more trials to solve the reversal task, which was significant at least in RL1. This indicates a relationship between visual discrimination learning and reversal learning in goats in the sense that the learning speed in the visual discrimination task would predict the learning performance in a reversal task regarding low-performing learners. Unexpectedly, goats who performed low in the initial discrimination task also performed low in the reversal task. This finding contrasts other learning studies showing that good learners (high learning speed) seem to be poor reversal learners (low learning speed), which has been demonstrated in guppies (64) and parrots (65). Discrimination learning underlies the ability to associate a stimulus with appetitive (or aversive) stimuli, whereas reversal learning involves the capability of extinguishing a previously learned association to form a new association. This is thought to be more cognitively challenging, as previously learned cues must be deleted before a new association can be formed. Reversal learning tasks are frequently used as a measure of behavioral flexibility, as they require the subjects to flexibly adjust their behavior when the reward-related contingencies that they have previously learned are reversed (66). The clear difference between low performers and the other three learning groups in learning performance may indicate less flexibility and greater perseverance in low performers once they understood the initial discrimination task. One possible explanation comprises the role of the individual stress level during learning. A range of studies have demonstrated that elevated corticosterone levels affect learning performance across taxa, although the degree to which learning is affected and whether exposure results in benefits or decrements depends on the extent and timing of corticosterone exposure (67–69). The low-performing individuals in our study may be more stressed compared to the other three groups of learners due to the stress originating from the learning task itself or from external factors such as dominance or rank within the group. These factors have already been found to show a relationship to learning performance and might have impaired learning performance in the initial discrimination task. To shed light on this issue, and as we did not investigate the individual stress level in our study, future research should take into account the stress responses of animals in such learning tests. However, the learning performance of the other three learning groups in the discrimination task did not have an effect on reversal learning; thus, we did not find a negative correlation, as has been shown in red junglefowl (70). The learning groups might differ in several aspects associated with performance, such as motivation or physical strength. We also take into account differences in general learning ability, as some animals might be more cognitively impaired than others, which is likely to

explain the differences observed in discrimination and reversal

learning. Furthermore, goats seem to be able to improve their performance across three reversals by progressively reducing their TTC, indicating that they are getting better at switching to the alternative stimulus. Similar serial reversal learning experiments, in which the alternation of training to criterion and contingency reversal was repeated several times, have revealed that rats, pigeons, frogs and goats improve their performance over successive reversals in a learning-to-learn process (71–73). In our study, we found that low performers were able to improve their TTC across the reversal tasks, but we must note that goats that did not achieve the learning criterion at all in RL1-3 fell out of scope.

Taking specific personality traits into account, we did not find any evidence of a relationship between the two momentary personality traits activity and boldness (measured once) and learning performance either in the discrimination task or in the reversal tasks. We might have expected, based on previous studies concerning personality measures and learning/cognition, that bold and/or active individuals learn to associate a cue with a reward faster than unbold and/or inactive individuals (7, 74) but perform lower in reversal learning (56, 75, 76). A possible explanation for the lack of a link between personality traits and learning success in this analysis may be that only a single measurement of personality was integrated in the analysis. A recent review stated that personality measured just once cannot provide enough information about all aspects of personality differences (77). This is easily comprehensible, as animal personality refers per definition to the repeatable part of an individual's behavior (12, 78), and a behavior measured only once probably reflects mostly the within-individual rather than the among-individual component (77, 79). Among studies that have investigated the relationship between personality and cognition in nonhuman animals, some conducted a behavioral test only once to characterize specific personality traits and often failed to show interrelations between personality and learning, while it is recommended to measure personality traits across time and contexts by applying several repetitions of different tests to find a connection between personality and learning capabilities (28, 31, 80). For example, Christensen et al. (81) found that behavior toward a novel object (labeled exploration) correlated with learning performance in a visual discrimination task in horses. More exploratory horses were more successful in a two-choice visual discrimination task (81). Similar to our study, the NO-test was conducted repeatedly, indicating that relationships between cognitive performance and personality can be found when personality traits are confirmed to be stable over time because they are measured at least twice.

In our study, the behavior of the individuals was observed in two tests that were independent from each other, and two separate PCA were conducted. In a following step, we used the data from both personality tests, including only the animals that were stable for personality trait *activity* and/or *boldness*, to test whether stability in a specific personality trait would have an effect on learning performance. We found no evidence for any link between activity and learning, either in ID or in RL, whereas boldness revealed a significant link to learning performance in RL1. By exhibiting a higher level of activity and exploration, active personality types sample their environment more rapidly, albeit more superficially. As a consequence, these animals should learn novel tasks more quickly but at the cost of accuracy and responsiveness to changes in the meaning of cues (6, 13, 57). Caused by their superficial sampling and inaccuracy, they were thought not to perceive the change in cue meaning during reversal learning and thus would make a greater number of mistakes when associating the symbols with the reward. In contrast, inactive types were thought to have a reduced learning speed but reveal more learning flexibility through their greater attention toward cue relevancy, increasing their accuracy under variable environmental conditions. We therefore expected active individuals to successfully reach the learning criterion in the discrimination task more rapidly and that inactive individuals would outperform active individuals in the context of reversal learning tasks. In testing these predictions, we found that activity did not have any influence on learning success in the goats. Similar results were reported by Chung et al. (17), where active ("fast") lizards did perceive a change in cue meaning (other than expected) and were not less accurate than their inactive ("slow") conspecifics when tested in a two-phase associative task. In general, several terms in the context of animal personality research have referred to partially overlapping concepts (82), and traits such as exploration, boldness (and sociability) are most commonly used in the context of animal personality. Only a few studies find a direct relationship between activity and learning success, and if so, they reveal different results (17, 74, 83). This may be due to varying definitions and measurements of activity. While some studies measure activity as the number and rate of transitions between squares (17; lizard) or swim distance (83; guppies), others use locomotion behavior that results in a change in body position in space as an indicator for activity (74; cavies). This impairs the general comparability across experimental studies, measurement methods and statistical analyses. There is some evidence that links between activity and learning abilities are highly task dependent. For example, fearful and active individuals perform better in an avoidance task, whereas the authors did not find such a relationship in a backwardss-forwards task in horses (84). It is therefore possible that activity might reveal a predisposition to react to specific stimuli involved in learning.

However, we found a significant impact of the *stable* (repeatedly measured) personality trait *boldness* on learning performance in RL1 (unbold individuals outperform bold individuals) but not in ID. This partly reflects the general assumption that bold or proactive individuals are better at learning a discrimination task, but unbold or reactive individuals are better at adapting to changes in an already learned task reflecting a higher behavioral flexibility (7, 57, 76, 85–87). This

association has been shown in studies with great tits (26) and red junglefowls (88), while others fail to show this relationship (31). Differences in the readiness to approach a novel stimulus have been described as risk-taking behavior, novelty-seeking, proactivity or boldness in different studies across different species and have been shown to be a distinguishing factor between individuals differing in coping patterns or personality traits (13, 89-91). It is assumed that bold/proactive animals are more successful in forming routines during learning, which results in being less able to react flexibly in adapting their behavior to changing environmental conditions (20, 92, 93). Interestingly, the difference in learning success only refers to the first reversal task and disappeared in RL2 and RL3, as bold individuals were able to improve their learning performance. We assume that they learned to form a new routine of the concept of reversal, strengthening the hypothesis that bold individuals are fast learners in the sense that they quickly form routines. This interpretation fits with Cockrem's (92) classification of personalities in that proactive individuals may perform better in environments that are constant or predictable compared to reactive individuals who perform better in unpredictable conditions. Reactive individuals may tend to generalize a formerly learned rule (i.e., "one of the symbols is rewarded") more quickly being able to shift the general rule to a new symbol. On the other hand, fast explorers may learn more about the absolute properties of the stimulus in the visual discrimination task and thus fail to classify new symbols immediately "correctly." Once the reward reversal was no longer new (RL2 and RL3), proactive individuals learned that the general concept changes and were able to form a new routine. Even so, it is unclear why and how learning more or less flexibly is related to how individuals react to a novel object in the context of a standardized behavioral test. At least, novelty seems to play an important role in driving these processes, as differences between individuals refer to both the novel object and the novel (first) reversal learning task. In most studies, the trait boldness refers to behavioral reactions to novel stimuli and situations and is often measured in a NO- or novel human test (reviewed by 8). However, boldness has also been used in predator-dependent contexts showing a relationship to learning performance, whereas boldness measured in a NO-test did not, especially when measured only once (reviewed by 9). Furthermore, boldness concepts may refer to an individual's reactions to risky situations (12, 94), while exploration is often used in the context of an individual's reactions to new situations (12). The differences between a new and/or risky situation are not easily detectable and depend to a large amount on the type of experimental setup and recorded parameters (12, 18, 82).

To address our findings, the performance of the goats in the three reversal tasks depended on their learning success in the initial discrimination task in that low performers in the initial discrimination task also performed low in the reversal tasks. We found evidence in the current study that there is a relationship

Conclusion

To conclude, in the present study, one personality trait, *boldness*, proved to have substantial consequences on learning performance in a reversal task. Our findings show that we should take personality bias into account when conducting learning or cognitive experiments and underline the importance of the repeated measurement of individual personality traits. However, the explanation for the observed interrelations between personality traits and learning performance is currently unclear and requires further empirical and theoretical investigation. To understand whether intrinsic differences in learning exist across individuals, we need to investigate the extent to which learning and personality traits covary and identify the mechanisms that can constrain cognitive processing and adaptive behavioral responses.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below: https://osf.io/wudj7/?view_only=ed372f7bdded4ff2a46901a0bdc15081.

Ethics statement

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Committee for Animal Use and Care of the Ministry of Agriculture, Environment and Consumer Protection of the federal state of Mecklenburg-Vorpommern, Germany (Ref. 7221.3-2-005/14).

Author contributions

JL conceptualized the study. M-AF and AK collected and analyzed the data and did the statistical analysis together with

AT. M-AF, AK, JL, and BP contributed to the conception of the manuscript. M-AF, AK, and JL wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, ME 4280/1-1).

Acknowledgments

We thank Katrin Siebert, Dieter Sehland, Heinz Deike, Axel Braatz, and Kerstin Haß for excellent technical and experimental help. Thank also to Dr. Susann Oesterwind who participated in the study at an earlier stage.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fvets.2022.916459/full#supplementary-material

References

1. Groothuis TG, Carere C. Avian personalities: characterization and epigenesis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2005) 29:137–50. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2004.06.010

^{2.} Réale D, Garant D, Humphries MM, Bergeron P, Careau V, Montiglio PO. Personality and the emergence of the pace-of-life syndrome concept at the population level. *Phil Trans Royal Soc B.* (2010) 365:4051–63. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2010.0208

^{3.} Tremmel M, Muller C. Insect personality depends on environmental conditions. *Behav Ecol.* (2013) 24:386–92. doi: 10.1093/beheco/ars175

^{4.} Kelleher SR, Silla AJ, Byrne PG. Animal personality and behavioral syndromes in amphibians: a review of the evidence, experimental approaches, and implications for conservation. *Behav Ecol Sociobiol.* (2018) 72:26. doi: 10.1007/s00265-018-2493-7

5. Roth TC, Rosier M, Krochmal AR, Clark L. A multi-trait, field-based examination of personality in a semi-aquatic turtle. *Ethol.* (2020) 126:851–7. doi: 10.1111/eth.13030

6. Carere C, Locurto C. Interaction between animal personality and animal cognition. *Curr Zool.* (2011) 57:491–8. doi: 10.1093/czoolo/57.4.491

7. Sih A, Del Giudice M. Linking behavioural syndromes and cognition: a behavioural ecology perspective. *Phil Trans Royal Soc B.* (2012) 367:2762–72. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2012.0216

8. Griffin AS, Guillette LM, Healy SD. Cognition and personality: an analysis of an emerging field. *Trends Ecol Evol.* (2015) 30:207–14. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2015.01.012

9. Dougherty LR, Guillette LM. Linking personality and cognition: a metaanalysis. Phil Trans Royal Soc B. (2018) 373:20170282. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2017.0282

10. Wat KKY, Banks PB, McArthur C. Linking animal personality to problemsolving performance in urban common brushtail possums. *Anim Behav.* (2020) 16:35–45. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2020.01.013

11. Gosling SD. From mice to men: what can we learn about personality from animal research? *Psych Bull.* (2001) 127:45–86. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.45

12. Réale D, Reader SM, Sol D, McDougall PT, Dingemanse NJ. Integrating animal temperament within ecology and evolution. *Biol Rev Cam Philos Soc.* (2007) 82:291–318. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-185X.2007.00010.x

13. Koolhaas JM, Korte SM, De Boer SF, van Der Vegt BJ, van Reenen CG, Hopster H, et al. Coping styles in animals: current status in behavior and stress-physiology. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (1999) 23:925–35. doi: 10.1016/S0149-7634(99)00026-3

14. Bond AB, Kamil AC, Balda RP. Serial reversal learning and the evolution of behavioral exibility in three species of North American corvids (Gymnorhinus cyanocephalus, Nucifraga columbiana, Aphelocoma californica). *J Comp Psychol.* (2007) 121:372–9. doi: 10.1037/0735-7036.121.4.372

15. Finkemeier MA, Langbein J, Puppe B. Personality research in mammalian farm animals: concepts, measures, and relationship to welfare. *Front Vet Sci.* (2018) 5:131. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00131

16. Jones NAR, Webster M, Newport C, Templeton CN, Schuster S, Rendell L. Cognitive styles: speed-accuracy trade-offs underlie individual differences in archerfish. *Anim Behav.* (2020) 160:1–14. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2019.11.019

17. Chung M, Goulet CT, Michelangeli M, Wong BBM, Chapple DG. Does personality influence learning? A case study in an invasive lizard. *Oecologia*. (2017) 185:641–51. doi: 10.1007/s00442-017-3975-4

18. Sih A, Bell A, Johnson JC. Behavioral syndromes: an ecological and evolutionary overview. *Trends Ecol Evol.* (2004) 19:372–8. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2004.04.009

19. Wechsler B, Lea SEG. Adaptation by learning: Its significance for farm animal husbandry. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2007) 108:197–214. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2007.03.012

20. Brust V, Wuerz Y, Krüger O. Behavioural flexibility and personality in zebra finches. *Ethol.* (2013) 119:559-69. doi: 10.1111/eth.12095

21. Mesquita FO, Borcato FL, Huntingford FA. Cue-based and algorithmic learning in common carp: a possible link to stress coping style. *Behav Proc.* (2015) 115:25–9. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2015.02.017

22. Udino E, Perez M, Carere C, d'Ettorre P. Active explorers show low learning performance in a social insect. *Cur Zool*. (2017) 63:555–60. doi: 10.1093/cz/zow101

23. Boogert NJ, Reader SM, Laland KN. The relation between social rank, neophobia and individual learning in starlings. *Anim Behav.* (2006) 72:1229-39. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2006.02.021

24. Lalot M, Ung D, Péron F, d'Ettorre P, Bovet D. You know what? I'm happy. Cognitive bias is not related to personality but is induced by pair-housing in canaries (Serinus canaria). *Behav Proc.* (2017) 134:70– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2016.09.012

25. Harris C, Liedtke J, Drees C, Schuett W. Exploratory behaviour is not related to associative learning ability in the carabid beetle Nebria brevicollis. *Behav Proc.* (2020) 180:7. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2020.104224

26. Titulaer M, van Oers K, Naguib M. Personality affects learning performance in difficult tasks in a sex-dependent way. *Anim Behav.* (2012) 83:723– 30. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2011.12.020

27. Baker MR, Wong, RY. Contextual fear learning and memory differ between stress coping styles in zebrafish. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:9935. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-46319-0

28. Rasolofoniaina BN, Kappeler PM, Fichtel C. Neophobia and social facilitation in narrow-striped mongooses. *Anim Cog.* (2021) 24:165–75. doi: 10.1007/s10071-020-01429-5

29. Rochais C, Pillay N, Schradin C. Do alternative reproductive tactics predict problem-solving performance in African striped mice? *Anim Cog.* (2021) 24:703–16. doi: 10.1007/s10071-020-01459-z

30. Brust V, Guenther A. Stability of the guinea pig personality – cognition – linkage over time. *Behav Proc.* (2017) 134:4–11. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2016.06.009

31. Kniel N, Guenther A, Godin JGJ. Individual personality does not predict learning performance in a foraging context in female guppies, Poecilia reticulate. *Anim Behav.* (2020) 167:3–12. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2020.07.007

32. Ruis MAW, te Brake JHA, van de Burgwal JA, de Jong IC, Blokhuis HJ, Koolhaas JM. Personalities in female domesticated pigs: behavioural and physiological indications. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2000) 66:31–47. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(99)00070-2

33. Zebunke M, Repsilber D, Nürnberg G, Wittenburg D, Puppe B. The backtest in pigs revisited-an analysis of intra-situational behaviour. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2015) 169:17–25. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2015.05.002

34. Krause A, Puppe B, Langbein J. Coping style modifies general and affective autonomic reactions of domestic pigs in different behavioral contexts. *Front Behav Neurosci.* (2017) 11:103. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2017.00103

35. Graunke KL, Nürnberg G, Repsilber D, Puppe B, Langbein J. Describing temperament in an ungulate: a multidimensional approach. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:1–12. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0074579

36. Foris B, Zebunke M, Langbein J, Melzer N. Evaluating the temporal and situational consistency of personality traits in adult dairy cattle. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:1–16. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0204619

37. Neave HW, Costa JHC, Weary DM, von Keyserlingk MAG. Personality is associated with feeding behavior and performance in dairy calves. *J Dairy Sci.* (2018) 101:7437–49. doi: 10.3168/jds.2017-14248

38. Lansade L, Bouissou MF. Reactivity to humans: a temperament trait of horses which is stable across time and situations. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2008) 114:492–508. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2008.04.012

39. Ijichi C, Collins LM, Elwood RM. Pain expression is linked to personality in horses. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2014) 152:38–42. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2013.12.007

40. Roberts K, Hemmings AJ, Moore-Colyer M, Parker MO, McBride SD. Neural modulators of temperament: a multivariate approach to personality trait identification in the horse. *Physiol Behav.* (2016) 167:125–31. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.08.029

41. Agnvall B, Ali A, Olby S, Jensen P. Red Junglefowl (Gallus gallus) selected for low fear of humans are larger, more dominant and produce larger offspring. *Animal.* (2014) 8:1498–505. doi: 10.1017/S1751731114001426

42. Marino L. Thinking chickens: a literature review of cognition, emotion, and behavior in the domestic chicken. *Anim Cog.* (2017) 20:127-41. doi: 10.1007/s10071-016-1064-4

43. Nawroth C, Prentice PM, McElligott AG. Individual personality differences in goats predict their performance in visual learning and non-associative cognitive tasks. *Behav Proc.* (2017) 134:43–53. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2016.08.001

44. Finkemeier MA, Oesterwind S, Nürnberg G, Puppe B, Langbein J. Assessment of personality types in Nigerian dwarf goats (Capra hircus) and cross-context correlations to behavioural and physiological responses. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2019) 217:28–35. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2019.05.004

45. Shettleworth SJ. Cognition, Evolution, and Behavior. New York, NY: Oxford university press. (2010).

46. Gieling ET, Musschenga MA, Nordquist RE, van der Staay FJ. Juvenile pigs use simple geometric 2D shapes but not portrait photographs of conspecifics as visual discriminative stimuli. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2012) 142:142– 53. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2012.10.018

47. Zebunke M, Langbein J, Manteuffel G, Puppe B. Autonomic reactions indicating positive affect during acoustic reward learning in domestic pigs. *Anim Behav.* (2011) 81:481–9. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2010.11.023

48. Krüger K, Farmer K, Heinze J. The effects of age, rank and neophobia on social learning in horses. *Anim Cogn.* (2014) 17:645-55. doi: 10.1007/s10071-013-0696-x

49. Meyer S, Nürnberg G, Puppe B, Langbein J. The cognitive capabilities of farm animals: Categorisation learning in dwarf goats (Capra hircus). *Anim Cogn*. (2012) 15:567–76. doi: 10.1007/s10071-012-0485-y

50. Nawroth C, von Borell E, Langbein J. Object permanence in the dwarf goat (Capra aegagrus hircus): Perseveration errors and the tracking of complex movements of hidden objects. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2015) 167:20–6. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2015.03.010

51. Langbein J, Siebert K, Nürnberg G. On the use of an automated learning device by group-housed dwarf goats: do goats seek cognitive

challenges? Appl Anim Behav Sci. (2009) 120:150–8. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2009. 07.006

52. Rosenberger K, Simmler M, Nawroth C, Langbein J, Keil N. Goats work for food in a contrafreeloading task. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:22336. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-78931-w

53. Briefer EF, de la Torre MP, McElligott AG. Mother goats do not forget their kids' calls. *Phil Trans Roy Soc B*. (2012) 279:3749–55. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2012.0986

54. Briefer EF, Haque S, Baciadonna L, McElligott AG. Goats excel at learning and remembering a highly novel cognitive task. *Front Zool.* (2014) 11:20. doi: 10.1186/1742-9994-11-20

55. Langbein J, Siebert K, Nürnberg G, Manteuffel G. Learning to learn during visual discrimination in group housed dwarf goats (Capra hircus). *J Comp Psychol.* (2007) 121:447–56. doi: 10.1037/0735-7036.121.4.447

56. Bebus SE, Small TW, Jones BC, Elderbrock EK, Schoech SJ. Associative learning is inversely related to reversal learning and varies with nestling corticosterone exposure. *Anim Behav.* (2016) 111:251–60. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2015.10.027

57. Bolhuis JE, Schouten WGP, de Leeuw JA, Schrama JW, Wiegant VM. Individual coping characteristics, rearing conditions and behavioural flexibility in pigs. *Behav Brain Res.* (2004) 152:351–60. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2003.10.024

58. Takola E, Krause TE, Müller C, Schielzeth H. Novelty at second glance: a critical appraisal of the novel object paradigm based on meta-analysis. *Anim Behav.* (2021) 180:123–42. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2021.07.018

59. Langbein J, Nürnberg G, Manteuffel G. Visual discrimination learning in dwarf goats and associated changes in heart rate and heart rate variability. *Physiol Behav.* (2004) 82:601–9. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2004.05.007

60. Langbein J, Nürnberg G, Puppe B, Manteuffel G. Selfcontrolled visual discrimination learning of group-housed dwarf goats (Capra hircus): behavioral strategies and effects of relocation on learning and memory. *J Comp Psychol.* (2006) 120:58–66. doi: 10.1037/0735-7036.120.1.58

61. Guidelines for the treatment of animals in behavioural research and teaching. *Anim Behav.* (2020) 159:I-XI. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2019.11.002

62. Finkemeier MA, Trillmich F, Guenther A. Match-mismatch experiments using photoperiod expose developmental plasticity of personality traits. *Ethol.* (2016) 122:80–93. doi: 10.1111/eth.12448

63. Forkman B, Boissy A, Meunier-Salaun MC, Canali E, Jones RB. A critical review of fear tests used on cattle, pigs, sheep, poultry and horses. *Physiol Behav.* (2007) 92:340–74. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.03.016

64. Lucon-Xiccato T, Bisazza A. Discrimination reversal learning reveals greater female behavioural flexibility in guppies. *Biol Lett.* (2014) 10:20140206. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2014.0206

65. van Horik JO, Emery NJ. Serial reversal learning and cognitive flexibility in two species of Neotropical parrots (Diopsittaca nobilis and Pionites melanocephalia). *Behav Proc.* (2018) 157:664–72. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2018.04.002

66. Izquierdo A, Brigman JL, Radke AK, Rudebeck PH, Holmes A. The neural basis of reversal learning: an updated perspective. *Neurosci.* (2017) 345:12–26. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.03.021

67. de Kloet ER, Oitzl MS, Joels M. Stress and cognition: are corticosteroids good or bad guys? *Trends Neurosci.* (1999) 22:422–6. doi: 10.1016/S0166-2236(99)01438-1

68. Pravosudov VV, Mendoza SP, Clayton NS. The relationship between dominance, corticosterone, memory, and food caching in mountain chickadees (Poecile gambeli). *Horm Behav.* (2003) 44:93–102. doi: 10.1016/S0018-506X(03)00119-3

69. Kitaysky AS, Kitaiskaia EV, Piatt JF, Wingfield JC. Benefits and costs of increased levels of corticosterone in seabird chicks. *Horm Behav.* (2003) 43:140–9. doi: 10.1016/S0018-506X(02)00030-2

70. Sorato E, Zidar J, Garnham L, Wilson A, Løvlie H. Heritabilities and covariation among cognitive traits in red junglefowl. *Phil Trans Royal Soc B.* (2018) 373:20170285. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2017.0285

71. Pubols Jr BH. Successive discrimination reversal learning in the white rat: a comparison of two procedures. *J Comp Physiol Psychol.* (1957) 50:319–22. doi: 10.1037/h0048892

72. Bullock DH, Bitterman ME. Habit reversal in the pigeon. J Comp Physiol Psychol. (1962) 55:958. doi: 10.1037/h0041070

73. Liu Y, Day LB, Summers K, Burmeister SS. Learning to learn: advanced behavioural flexibility in a poison frog. *Anim Behav.* (2016) 111:167–72. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2015.10.018

74. Guenther A, Brust V, Dersen M, Trillmich F. Learning and personality types are related in cavies (Cavia aperea). *J Comp Psychol.* (2014) 128:74–81. doi: 10.1037/a0033678

75. Guillette LM, Reddon AR, Hurd PL, Sturdy CB. Exploration of a novel space is associated with individual differences in learning speed in black capped chickadees, Poecile atricapillus. *Behav Proc.* (2009) 82:207–14. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2009.07.005

76. Guillette LM, Reddon AR, Hoeschele M, Sturdy CB. Sometimes slower is better: slow-exploring birds are more sensitive to changes in a vocal discrimination task. *Phil Trans Royal Soc B.* (2011) 278:767–73. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2010.1669

77. Dingemanse NJ, Wright J. Criteria for acceptable studies of animal personality and behavioural syndromes. *Ethology.* (2020) 126:865-9. doi: 10.1111/eth.13082

78. Dingemanse NJ, Kazem AJ, Réale D, Wright J. Behavioural reaction norms: animal personality meets individual plasticity. *Trends Ecol Evol.* (2010) 25:81–9. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2009.07.013

79. Dingemanse NJ, Dochtermann NA, Nakagawa S. Defining behavioural syndromes and the role of 'syndrome deviation' in understanding their evolution. *Behav Ecol Sociobiol.* (2012) 66:1543–8. doi: 10.1007/s00265-012-1416-2

80. Dugatkin LA, Alfieri MS. Boldness, behavioral inhibition and learning. *Ethol Ecol Evol.* (2003) 15:43–9. doi: 10.1080/08927014.2003.9522689

81. Christensen JW, Ahrendt LP, Malmkvist J, Nicol C. Exploratory behavior towards novel objects is associated with enhanced learning in young horses. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:1428. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-80833-w

82. Carter AJ, Feeney WE, Marshall HH, Cowlishaw G, Heinsohn R. Animal personality: what are behavioural ecologists measuring? *Biol Rev.* (2013) 88:465–75. doi: 10.1111/brv.12007

83. Burns JG, Rodd FH. Hastiness, brain size and predation regime affect the performance of wild guppies in a spatial memory task. *Anim Behav.* (2008) 76:911-22. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2008.02.017

84. Lansade L, Simon F. Horses' learning performances are under the influence of several temperamental dimensions. *Appl Anim Behav Sci.* (2010) 125:30–7. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2010.02.010

85. Benus RF, Koolhaas JM, van Oortmerssen GA. Individual differences in behavioural reaction to a changing environment in mice and rats. *Behaviour*. (1987) 100:105–22. doi: 10.1163/156853987X00099

86. Benus RF, Den Daas S, Koolhaas JM, van Oortmerssen GA. Routine formation and flexibility in social and non-social behaviour of aggressive and non-aggressive male mice. *Behaviour.* (1990) 112:176–93. doi: 10.1163/156853990X00185

87. Range F, Bugnyar T, Schlögl C, Kotrschal K. Individual and sex differences in learning abilities of ravens. *Behav Proc.* (2006) 73:100-6. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2006.04.002

88. Zidar J, Balogh A, Favati A, Jensen P, Leimar O, Sorato E, et al. The relationship between learning speed and personality is ageand task-dependent in red junglefowl. *Behav Ecol Sociobiol.* (2018) 72:168. doi: 10.1007/s00265-018-2579-2

89. Benus RF. Coping in female mice from lines bidirectionally selected for male aggression. *Behaviour*. (2001) 138:997–1008. doi: 10.1163/156853901753286533

90. Campbell T, Lin S, DeVries C, Lambert K. Coping strategies in male and female rats exposed to multiple stressors. *Physiol Behav.* (2003) 78:495– 504. doi: 10.1016/S0031-9384(03)00033-7

91. de Boer SF, van der Vegt BJ, Koolhaas JM. Individual variation in aggression of feral rodent strains: a standard for the genetics of aggression and violence? *Behav Genet.* (2003) 33:485–501. doi: 10.1023/A:1025766415159

92. Cockrem JF. Stress, corticosterone responses and avian personalities. J Orni. (2007) 148:169-78. doi: 10.1007/s10336-007-0175-8

93. Coppens CM, de Boer SF, Koolhaas JM. Coping styles and behavioural flexibility: towards underlying mechanisms. *Phil Trans Royal Soc B.* (2010) 365:4021–8. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2010.0217

94. Thomson JS, Watts PC, Pottinger TG, Sneddon LU. Plasticity of boldness in rainbow trout: oncorhynchus mykiss: do hunger and predation influence risk-taking behaviour? *Horm Behav.* (2012) 61:750–7. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2012.03.014

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Christian Nawroth, Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN), Germany

REVIEWED BY Michael Beran, Georgia State University, United States Juliane Bräuer, Max Planck Institute for Evolutionary Anthropology, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Désirée Brucks desiree.brucks@me.com

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Comparative Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

RECEIVED 27 May 2022 ACCEPTED 06 July 2022 PUBLISHED 22 July 2022

CITATION

Brucks D, Härterich A and König von Borstel U (2022) Horses wait for more and better rewards in a delay of gratification paradigm. *Front. Psychol.* 13:954472. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.954472

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Brucks, Härterich and König von Borstel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Horses wait for more and better rewards in a delay of gratification paradigm

Désirée Brucks*, Anna Härterich and Uta König von Borstel

Animal Husbandry, Behaviour and Welfare Group, Institute of Animal Breeding and Genetics, University of Giessen, Giessen, Germany

Self-control, defined as the ability to forgo immediate satisfaction in favor of better pay-offs in the future, has been extensively studied, revealing enormous variation between and within species. Horses are interesting in this regard because as a grazing species they are expected to show low self-control whereas its social complexity might be linked to high self-control abilities. Additionally, self-control may be a key factor in training and/or coping with potentially stressful husbandry conditions. We assessed horses' selfcontrol abilities in a simplified delay of gratification test that can be easily implemented in a farm setting. In Experiment 1, we gave horses (N = 52) the choice between an immediately available low-quality reward and a delayed high-quality reward that could only be obtained if the horse refrained from consuming the immediate reward. Different experimenters (N = 30) that underwent prior training in the procedures, tested horses in two test phases either with their eyes visible or invisible (sunglasses). Twenty horses waited up to the maximum delay stage of 60 s while all horses performed worse in the second test phase. In Experiment 2, we improved the test procedure (i.e., one experimenter, refined criterion for success), and tested 30 additional horses in a quality and quantity condition (one reward vs. delayed bigger reward). Two horses successfully waited for 60 s (quality: N = 1, quantity: N = 1). Horses tolerated higher delays, if they were first tested in the quantity condition. Furthermore, horses that were fed hay ad libitum, instead of in a restricted manner, reached higher delays. Coping behaviors (e.g., looking away, head movements, pawing, and increasing distance to reward) facilitated waiting success and horses were able to anticipate the upcoming delay duration as indicated by non-random distributions of giving-up times. We found no correlations between owner-assessed traits (e.g., trainability and patience) and individual performance in the test. These results suggest that horses are able to exert self-control in a delay of gratification paradigm similar to other domesticated species. Our simplified paradigm could be used to gather large scale data, e.g., to investigate the role of self-control in trainability or success in equestrian sports.

KEYWORDS

self-control, inhibitory control, delay of gratification, horses, coping behavior, error times

Introduction

Being able to wait for something with a better outcome instead of going for an immediate but inferior outcome is advantageous in multiple situations (Beran, 2008). For example, while foraging it might pay to wait until sufficient gum has extruded from the tree before consuming it or to wait until the prey is in a favorable position before launching the attack (Stevens, 2014). But also, in social interactions it might prove beneficial for subordinate individuals to wait until the dominant ones have left the food resource before starting to feed (Johnson-Ulrich and Holekamp, 2020). The ability or capacity to invest more effort into obtaining a more valuable outcome instead of selecting a less valuable outcome has been termed selfcontrol (see Beran, 2015 for a review). Self-control is essential in improving decision-making processes as it facilitates goaldirected behavior and ultimately future planning (Santos and Rosati, 2015). The ability of self-control is one aspect of inhibitory control, which additionally encompasses response or motor inhibition (regulation of impulsive motor actions) and cognitive inhibition (ability to control conditioned responses; Miller et al., 2019a). Self-control is generally assumed to be more cognitively demanding than response inhibition as it involves an additional decision component. Indeed, past research has shown that individual self-control abilities are linked to success in later life in humans (Shoda et al., 1990; Moffitt et al., 2011; but see Watts et al., 2018). Also, in chimpanzees, self-control is linked to other measures of general intelligence (Beran and Hopkins, 2018). This indicates that self-control plays an important role in cognitive processing of information.

While self-control is certainly beneficial in natural contexts [e.g., mate choice (Sozou and Seymour, 2003); foraging (Stevens and Stephens, 2010)], it might be equally important for domesticated animals that are no longer facing foraging decisions or mate choice but are subjected to various situations that most non-domesticated species would never experience in the wild. These situations include prolonged social isolation, frequently encountering unfamiliar individuals, living in barren and captive environments, and being subjected to procedures that might be stressful to the animals, to name just a few examples. In particular, farm animals are often kept in housing conditions that do not resemble their natural habitat (i.e., barren environments that limit expression of natural behaviors and induce frustration) and thus require flexible behavioral responses to cope with these conditions (e.g., Mason et al., 2013). Specifically, in these conditions, self-control is potentially beneficial as it allows individuals to flexibly adapt to their environment by optimizing decisionmaking processes in tempting and/or conflicting situations. It has been hypothesized that domesticated animals were selected for tamer and less aggressive behavior (Price, 1999), which might be linked to enhanced inhibitory control abilities in certain situations. Indeed, it has been shown that aggressiveness

is linked to inhibitory control in a way that aggressive individuals often exhibit elevated impulsivity (e.g., hamsters: Cervantes and Delville, 2007; rats: Coppens et al., 2014; dogs: Gobbo and Zupan Šemrov, 2022). Furthermore, recent research found that inhibitory control is linked to emotional states in young chicken (Garnham et al., 2022). Accordingly, individual differences in inhibitory control might directly affect animal welfare, for example, explaining why some individuals cope with environmental or social conditions while others fail to do so. Individuals with better self-control might be less prone to develop stereotypical behaviors because they can restrain themselves from engaging in impulsive actions. Additionally, inhibitory control might play an important role during humananimal interactions. Animals with better inhibition might be less reactive in stressful situations and, thus, perceived as easier to handle. Self-control, in particular, might enhance attention in a training setting as the animals can better focus on the human signals instead of being tempted by the later reward.

Enormous variation in self-control abilities across animal species have been reported consistently. Accordingly, multiple hypotheses have been proposed as an attempt to explain the observed variation. These hypotheses are based on physiological explanations (Mayack and Naug, 2015; Miller et al., 2015), metabolic rate and longevity (Stevens and Mühlhoff, 2012; Stevens, 2014), brain size (MacLean et al., 2014) but also foraging ecology (Stevens et al., 2005) and social complexity (Amici et al., 2008; Lucon-Xiccato et al., 2022). However, considering that domesticated species show a decreased brain size (Kruska, 2007) and have an altered metabolic state depending on selection purposes (Rauw et al., 2017), some hypotheses might be difficult to test in domesticated species. Nevertheless, a handful of domesticated species have been tested in delay of gratification paradigms to assess their self-control abilities. On a group level, dogs waited between four to 25 times longer (Leonardi et al., 2012; Brucks et al., 2017b; Range et al., 2020) compared to pigs (Zebunke et al., 2018; Krause et al., 2021) and chicken (Abeyesinghe et al., 2005); however, domesticated animals generally exhibited rather low self-control abilities compared to other non-domesticated species (e.g., longtailed macaques: Pelé et al., 2010; cleaner wrasse: Aellen et al., 2021). While certainly differences in experimental procedures and paradigms are accountable for some variation (Susini et al., 2021), more data on domesticated species' self-control abilities, in particular of farm animals, is needed in order to better understand whether and how domestication affected selfcontrol abilities.

In addition to this species-level variation, individual differences in inhibitory control abilities are frequently reported in studies. For example, sex (e.g., Brandão et al., 2019), age (e.g., Krause et al., 2021), food motivation (Meier et al., 2017; van Horik et al., 2017), social rank (Johnson-Ulrich and Holekamp, 2020), individual body conditions [i.e., hunger levels (Mayack and Naug, 2015)], but also the social environment

(Lucon-Xiccato et al., 2022) can affect individual inhibition capacities. For example, chicken reared in a cognitively enriched environment exhibited poorer inhibitory control than chicken reared in a standard environment (Ryding et al., 2021). Consequently, to capture a species' inhibitory control abilities, a large sample size is needed. Furthermore, it needs to be considered that not all measures of inhibitory control are necessarily tapping into the same behavioral construct (e.g., Bray et al., 2013; Marshall-Pescini et al., 2015; Brucks et al., 2017a); accordingly, comparative conclusions should only be drawn if either the same experimental paradigm is employed or if multiple different tests are used.

Horses (Equus caballus) have not been tested for their self-control abilities so far, even though they represent an interesting model species in this regard. Firstly, horses are generalist herbivores and can find food in rather evenly distributed patches (e.g., Salter and Hudson, 1979). This feeding ecology potentially requires only very little self-control as horses need to make only few decisions during foraging compared to carnivore or frugivore species that face resources with quickly changing availability and quality (Stevens et al., 2005). Nonetheless, horses show distinct resource preferences based on macronutrient and protein content (van den Berg et al., 2016) and sample from different foraging patches before making a choice (Devenport et al., 2005; Goodwin et al., 2007). Data on self-control in grazing species is missing so far. Secondly, horses live in complex social organizations that require high levels of social flexibility (Krueger, 2008; Maeda et al., 2021). According to the social complexity hypothesis, species living in complex social organizations that necessitate repeated interactions with various different partners possess enhanced inhibitory control abilities since they need to inhibit social behaviors in various situations (Amici et al., 2008; Johnson-Ulrich and Holekamp, 2020; but see Lucon-Xiccato et al., 2022). And thirdly, horses are domesticated species and high levels of inhibitory control are likely favorable for handling and training. In particular, selfcontrol could be important in a training setting, as it might allow animals to better attend to human signals, and the prospect of appraisal (in case of correct responses), instead of focusing on immediate rewards. Whether domestication per se affected inhibitory control abilities (Marshall-Pescini et al., 2015; Gatto et al., 2018; Brucks et al., 2019), and selfcontrol in particular (Range et al., 2020), is not clear; however, data of domesticated animals is particularly interesting for testing the links between self-control and animal welfare. As hypothesized also elsewhere (e.g., Langbein, 2018; Zebunke et al., 2018), individuals with better inhibition abilities might be better equipped for coping with stressful conditions, such as overcrowded housing, and lack of environmental stimulation. Especially horses are subjected to various housing conditions and training techniques that can affect trainability, handleability, and rideability (König von Borstel, 2013).

Various different experimental paradigms have been developed to test self-control abilities across animal species (see Miller et al., 2019a for a review). Broadly, these paradigms can be divided into two categories depending on the delivery mode of the rewards. In accumulation tasks, food items are delivered, either automatically via a remotely controlled device (Evans and Beran, 2007) or by an experimenter (Hillemann et al., 2014), one item at a time with a fixed interval between items until the subject starts to consume the accumulated food items. In exchange tasks, the subject is handed a less valuable reward and after a certain delay, this reward can be exchanged for a more valuable reward (e.g., Leonardi et al., 2012; Auersperg et al., 2013). Depending on the morphology of the animal species, this task is potentially inducing more or less temptation. For example, while a monkey can hold the food item with his/her hands, a dog would be required to hold the reward with his/her mouth and thus taste organ. Accordingly, the exchange task has been modified for some species to circumvent this potential confounding effect. For example, in dogs (Brucks et al., 2017b) and wolves (Range et al., 2020), rewards were delivered on retractable containers instead of handing the reward directly to the animals' mouth. And recently, another experimental paradigm has been established, the so-called rotating tray task, in which the rewards are placed on a disk and rotate within reach of the animals without overt involvement of humans (e.g., Bramlett et al., 2012; Miller et al., 2019b; Brucks et al., 2021). While these paradigms certainly represent standardized tests for a laboratory setting, they are difficult to implement in an applied context as they require either larger apparatuses (e.g., rotating tray) or extensive training to familiarize the animals with the required action for obtaining the more valuable reward (e.g., exchange task).

In the current study, we aimed at establishing a simplified version of the exchange task that could be easily implemented in non-standardized environments (e.g., barns, stables, and meadows) and applied also by lay persons. Horses were given a choice between a less preferred immediate reward and a highly preferred but delayed reward presented on the experimenter's hands in front of the horse. Considering that this experimental paradigm involves close and direct social interactions with an experimenter, the gaze of the experimenter could add an additional social inhibition component that could increase the horses' success in the task. For example, dogs behave in a more inhibited way in a food context depending on whether the experimenter's eyes are visible or not (Call et al., 2003). Also, horses are sensitive to human social cues (i.e., body orientation, gestures) (e.g., Proops and McComb, 2010) and potentially also gaze directions (Birke et al., 2011). Accordingly, we tested whether horses perform differently depending on whether the experimenters' eyes are visible in Experiment 1. Based on the results of Experiment 1, we aimed at refining the protocol to allow a better comparison of horses' self-control abilities with other species. Consequently, we adopted similar procedures as used in other studies, in terms of reward types, delay stages, criteria for success, and also tested horses in a more standardized setting. In Experiment 2, we tested a new population of horses in two conditions, a quality (less preferred reward vs. highly preferred reward) and a quantity (one reward vs. multiple reward items) condition. To find out whether certain behaviors facilitated waiting success, we coded the horses' behavior during the test. Furthermore, to explore whether individual horse characteristics (i.e., nervousness, trainability, patience, and food motivation) are linked to self-control and whether horse owners can assess their horses' self-control, we asked the horse owners to fill in a questionnaire.

Horses are a grazing species and thus potentially require little self-control during foraging but also live in a complex social environment that potentially requires enhanced self-control abilities. Accordingly, two mutually exclusive hypotheses can be derived: if horses show good self-control abilities this could be seen as support for the social complexity hypothesis; however, a lack of self-control would support the feeding ecology hypothesis. Furthermore, we hypothesize that distraction behaviors emitted during the waiting period facilitate waiting success. Accordingly, horses that show more distraction behaviors are expected to be more successful in delaying gratification than horses showing fewer of these distraction behaviors.

Experiment 1

Methods

Subjects and housing

We tested 56 privately-owned horses of various breeds in a delay of gratification paradigm. Four horses did not complete testing due to health-related issues (N = 2) and frustration/aggression during the test (N = 2), one horse developed aggressive behaviors during the course of the second phase of the test, accordingly, data from the first test phase could still be collected from this horse. Thus, in total, 52 horses (29 F/23 M; age: 15.1 ± 7.0 years, range: 3.5-30.5 years) of various breeds (see **Supplementary Data 1** for individual characteristics) were included in the analyses. The horses were kept in group-housing conditions (N = 32) or in individual boxes with daily access to outdoor areas (N = 20). Hay was provided either *ad libitum* (N = 20) or in a restricted manner ($3-5 \times$ a day; N = 32).

The tests were conducted by thirty different experimenters (3 M/27 F) that were familiar with the horses (e.g., owner of horse, rider of horse, horse from same social group as own horse). Each experimenter tested two horses. Due to the exclusion of four horses, data from four experimenters that tested only one horse were present in the data set. To ensure reliability between the different experimenters, they were

required to complete a training session at the beginning of data collection. This training session included reading the detailed procedures and providing a video sequence of performing the food preference test as well as the training phase (see description below). The study coordinator (DB) checked all videos and gave feedback in case that the procedure was not performed correctly. Only when the procedures were applied accurately, the experimenters were allowed to start data collection.

Experimental procedures

Each horse was tested individually in a box or paddock. The horses were either free to move or tied to the wall in case no box was available. In case that a door from a box or a stranded wire (not electrified) was used to separate the horse and experimenter it was ensured that the horses could easily reach across the barrier with their head and neck. The test areas were chosen to minimize distractions during the test. The experimenters stood in front of the horse at a distance of 1–2 m (depending on the horse's size) and were instructed to behave passively during the test (i.e., no verbal commands or gestures).

The food rewards were stored on the ground behind the experimenter and out of reach for the horses. Instead of presenting the food items on containers or a rotating tray as in previous studies, we presented the food items on the experimenter's hands in front of the horse but out of reach (similar to e.g., Leonardi et al., 2012; Auersperg et al., 2013). Food was presented on open hand palms on each side of the body (approximately 40 cm distance between hands) at the height of the experimenter's hip (see **Supplementary Video**). The distance between both hands and the horse's head was between 20 and 30 cm at the beginning of each trial ('start position'). This distance was maintained in a dynamical way, i.e., if a horse reached forward with extended head, the experimenter could take a step back to avoid that the horses reached the delayed food reward before the respective delay-time was over.

Food preference test

To find a highly preferred food reward and a less preferred but still consumable food reward for each horse, we conducted a food preference test at the beginning of the experiment. Horse owners were asked about their horses' preferences and to validate these suggestions, the horses were repeatedly offered both reward types simultaneously. To ensure that the horses would consume the less preferred reward consistently, if no better reward was offered, the horses were presented with one piece of the owner-suggested low-value reward (LVR) at a time. This was repeated for a total of 10 trials. If the horse readily consumed each piece of the reward type, it was used as LVR in the subsequent test. For all of the horses in Experiment 1, hay (either as a loose bundle or as cobs) was used as LVR.

Once the LVR was determined, the horses were presented with a choice between the LVR and a high value reward (HVR; e.g., carrot, apple, and banana; see **Supplementary Material** for HVRs per horse). The experimenter visibly placed one piece of the HVR on one hand and a small bundle of hay (=LVR) on the other hand. Both hands (with open palms) were presented to the horse for 3 s before both hands were simultaneously stretched forward within the horses' reach. The horses were allowed to select and consume one of the rewards while the experimenter retracted the hand holding the food reward that was not selected (see **Supplementary Video**). The horses' choice was noted and the next trial was started. To prevent horses from developing a side preference, the sides of the HVR and LVR were alternated between each trial.

Twenty trials were conducted per session. If a horse selected the HVR in 16 out of the 20 trials (one-sided binomial test: p = 0.001), he/she reached the criterion and the HVR was used in the subsequent test. In case that a horse did not reach the criterion, the food preference test was repeated for a total of three sessions. If no preference was shown, a different reward type was used as HVR. If a horse did not reach the criterion within six sessions in total, she/he was excluded from the study. Some horses developed side preferences and the experimenter performed 15 trials with food only on the non-preferred hand to counteract this preference. Following this step, another food preference session was conducted.

Training

In the training phase, the horses were familiarized with the test procedure and the concept of gaining access to the HVR only if the LVR is not consumed. For each horse, it was randomly determined on which hand the less preferred and highly-preferred reward was positioned and these sides were kept constant throughout the study. To ensure that the horses were paying attention to the test, the experimenter initiated a trial only if the horse was looking toward the experimenter. If a horse was not attentive (e.g., head turned away), the experimenter called the horse by her/his name and made an attention-getting sound that the horse was familiar with (e.g., clicking with tongue or whistling). In case that this was not successful, the same procedure was repeated twice; however, if a horse was still not attentive, the test was terminated and repeated at a later point in time.

At the beginning of each trial, both reward types were presented on the hand palms for 3 s in the start position. The hand holding the LVR was now stretched out within reach of the horse while the hand holding the HVR remained in the start position out of reach (see **Supplementary Video**). If the horse did not consume the LVR, the hand with the HVR was also stretched forward after 1 s had passed. If the horse consumed the LVR, the hand holding the HVR was instantly closed and withdrawn. In total, 15 trials were conducted per session. Horses reached training criterion, if they refrained from eating the LVR and instead waited for the HVR in at least twelve of the 15 trials (one-sided binomial test: p = 0.004). If this criterion was not reached, another session was conducted. In case of horses not

reaching this criterion within six sessions they were excluded from the experiment.

Test phase

Horses that reached the training criterion entered the test phase, in which the delay between the immediately available LVR and the delayed HVR was increased in a stepwise manner depending on each horse's success. As before, both reward types were presented simultaneously at the beginning of each trial on the predetermined hands ('start position') for 3 s before stretching the hand holding the LVR within the horse's reach while the hand holding the HVR remained in the start position and hence out of reach (see **Supplementary Video**). Both hands remained motionless throughout the trial duration. If the horse did not consume the LVR, the HVR was made available by stretching the hand forward after the delay had passed. If a horse consumed the LVR, the hand holding the HVR was closed and withdrawn. The next trial started after an inter-trial interval of 5–10 s, once the horse had finished chewing.

Per session 15 trials were conducted. Up to three sessions were performed per day with at least a 5-min break in-between sessions (see **Table 1** for overview). Each test was video recorded. If a horse waited for the HVR in at least three out of 15 trials within a session, he/she proceeded to the next delay stage. The delay between LVR and HVR was increased in a stepwise manner depending on the horses' success, starting at 2 s, then 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, 40, 50, and up to a maximum of 60 s. If a horse did not reach this criterion, the session was repeated. A maximum of six sessions was conducted per delay stage and if a horse did not reach the criterion within these six sessions, the test was terminated.

The horses were tested until they gave up waiting or reached the maximum delay stage of 60 s. All horses were tested in two test phases: (1) *eyes visible*: the experimenter directly gazed at the horse during the whole delay duration; (2) *eyes invisible*: the experimenter wore sunglasses during the test, thus, shielding the eyes. Horses were randomly assigned to start with either of the two test phases (eyes visible first: N = 25; eyes invisible first: N = 31) and switched to the respective second phase (at the 2 s delay) once they gave up waiting or once they had reached the maximal delay stage of 60 s.

Analyses

For each test session, the number of choices for the HVR (=waiting) as well as number of trials waiting for the LVR (=not waiting) was noted. Based on this data the maximum delay stage (last delay stage that was successfully completed) was extracted for each horse. If a horse did not pass the training criterion, it was excluded from the analyses (N = 4). If a horse did not pass the 2 s delay stage in the test phase, a maximum delay of 0 s was entered. If a horse successfully passed all

Order	Phase	Choice	Delay	Sessions	Trials	Criteria
1	Food Preference Test	LVR vs. HVR	-	Until criterion reached or max. 6	20	Choice for HVR in at least 16 trials
2	Training	LVR vs. HVR after 1 s	1 s	Until criterion reached or max. 6	15	Waiting for HVR in at least 12 trials
3	Test – eyes visible ^a	LVR vs. HVR after Xs	2, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, 40, 50, and 60 s	Until criterion reached or max. 6 per delay stage	15	Waiting for HVR in at least 3 trials
4	Test – eyes invisible ^a	LVR vs. HVR after Xs	2, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, 40, 50, and 60 s	Until criterion reached or max. 6 per delay stage	15	Waiting for HVR in at least 3 trials

TABLE 1 Overview and order of training and test procedure (for a horse assigned to the eyes visible-first test group).

^a The order of the two test phases was counterbalanced across horses. Once a horse had reached her/his max. delay stage, the next phase started at the 2 s delay.

delay stages up to the maximum delay stage, 60 s was entered as maximum delay.

A second coder coded 15% of the videos. To assess interobserver reliability, we calculated the intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC) using the 'irr' package (version 0.84.1; Gamer et al., 2019). Consistency between coders was very good [ICC (two-way, consistency): LVR choices: ICC = 0.949, p < 0.001].

To assess whether individual and environmental factors affect the maximum delay stage tolerated by horses, we fitted an ordinal mixed model [i.e., cumulative linear mixed model (CLMM) with a logit-link function (Agresti, 2002)]. Maximum delay (factor: 0, 2, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, 40, 50, and 60) was set as the response variable while age in months (numeric), sex (factor: F, M), test phase (factor: eyes invisible and visible), test order (numeric: 1 and 2), housing (factor: group and individual), and roughage feeding management (factor: *ad libitum* and restricted) were included as predictors. An interaction term between test phase and test order was included to assess whether starting with a particular test phase influenced the maximally tolerated delay time. To control for repeated testing of horses and the involvement of different experimenters, we included horse ID and experimenter ID as random effects.

As a means to avoid 'cryptic multiple testing' (Schielzeth and Forstmeier, 2009), the full model was compared to a conceptual null model (comprising only housing and sex as predictors). Significance was determined by dropping one predictor at a time from the full model and compared the results with the full model using the *drop1* function. Model comparison was done by utilizing a likelihood ratio test (Dobson and Barnett, 2018). Considering that each horse was tested only twice (i.e., once in each test phase), random slopes were not identifiable. Prior to fitting the model, we checked the distribution of age, which was symmetrical, and subsequently scaled age to a mean of 0 and a standard deviation of 1 to facilitate model convergence.

The model was fitted using R (version 4.0.2; R Core Team, 2021) using the function *clmm* of the package 'ordinal' (version 2019.12-10; Christensen, 2019). Model assumptions of the CLMM (i.e., proportional odds, collinearity, and model stability) were assessed (see **Supplementary File** for diagnostics). Confidence intervals (95%) of the estimates and fitted values were determined by a parametric bootstrap

(N = 1000 bootstraps) using a function kindly provided by Roger Mundry. The data set included 95 observations from 48 horses (note that horses that failed the training criterion were excluded from the analyses).

Results

On a group level, the horses tolerated a maximum delay of 36.08 ± 22.85 s (mean \pm SD; median: 40 s). Twenty horses (41.67%) reached the maximum delay stage of 60 s (see **Figure 1**).

The full-null model comparison revealed that the full model described the data significantly better than the conceptional null model (Likelihood Ratio Test: $\chi^2 = 16.02$, df = 5, *p* = 0.007).

The interaction between test phase and order did not reveal significance (see Table 1). Likewise, no effect of sex or housing on the maximally tolerated delay stage could be detected. Older horses tended to reach higher delay stages compared to younger horses. And horses that had access to hay ad libitum tolerated higher delays (45.63 \pm 20.01 s) compared to horses fed hay in a restricted manner (29.15 \pm 22.43 s; see Table 2 and Figure 2). Since the interaction between test phase and order was not significant, we removed the interaction from the model to assess the main effects of the two variables (see Supplementary Table 3 for the estimates of the reduced model). Accordingly, test phase (eyes visible, invisible) did not significantly affect the horses' performance (CLMM: -0.186 ± 0.436 , p = 0.669), however, the horses waited only for shorter delays in the second test $(33.60 \pm 24.47 \text{ s})$ compared to the first test $(38.52 \pm 21.12 \text{ s};$ CLMM: -0.931 ± 0.459 , p = 0.038; Figure 1).

Experiment 2

Methods

Subjects and housing

We tested 30 horses [19 M/11 F; age (mean \pm SD): 16.1 \pm 6.2 years, range: 5.4–27.8 years; see **Supplementary Data 1** for details] of different breeds. Some horses were



privately-owned (N = 14) while other horses belonged to an equestrian center (N = 16). The horses were kept either in individual boxes with daily access to outdoor areas (N = 15) or in group-housing conditions (N = 15). To ensure an equal food motivation between horses that were fed hay *ad libitum* and horses that were fed hay in a restricted manner 2–3 times a day, all tests were conducted 0.5 h after the horses consumed their hay portion (restricted feeding) or at times of the day when the horses had not fed from the hay for at least 0.5 h (*ad libitum* feeding).

Owners were asked to fill in a questionnaire prior to starting the data collection. The questionnaire included questions related to (1) the horses' general trainability (How easily does your horse learn novel skills? How would you rate your horse's trainability?), (2) food motivation (How insistent is your horse when you have food in your bag? How food motivated is your horse?), and (3) coping abilities (How skittish is your horse? How patient is your horse? How susceptible to stress is your horse?). The questions could be answered on a 6-point Likert scale (see **Supplementary Data 3** for details).

Experimental procedure

The experimental setup and procedures were identical to those employed in Experiment 1; however, we made some small adjustments: All horses were tested individually in the same test-box (approx. $3 \text{ m} \times 3 \text{ m}$) with a nylon stable guard fixed to the door adjusted to chest height to ensure that all horses could reach across the box door independent of their height. To avoid visual distractions during the test, a fabric panel construction (1.85 m height) was set up around the test arena (see **Supplementary Video**).

The horses were tested in two conditions: a *quality condition* with the choice between an immediately available low-value reward (LVR) and a delayed high-value reward (HVR). And a *quantity condition*, in which the horses were given the choice between an immediately available low quantity reward (LQR; 1

Term	Estimate	SE	lower CI	upper CI	Chisq	df	P-value
0 2	-6.409	1.888	-11.599	-3.187			2
2 5	-5.663	1.837	-10.499	-2.378			2
5 10	-5.092	1.800	-9.453	-1.826			2
10 15	-4.719	1.775	-9.145	-1.521			2
15 20	-3.383	1.692	-7.530	-0.266			2
20 25	-2.933	1.669	-6.909	0.208			2
25 30	-2.509	1.650	-6.623	0.578			2
30 40	-2.025	1.637	-6.032	1.097			2
40 50	-1.520	1.630	-5.484	1.614			2
50 60	-1.052	1.626	-4.771	2.133			2
Phase (eyes invisible)	1.309	2.558	-3.854	6.472			2
Order	-0.443	0.930	-2.480	1.326			2
Age ¹	0.846	0.477	-0.026	1.902	3.242	1	0.072
Sex (male)	0.648	0.820	-0.956	2.317	0.643	1	0.422
Feeding (restricted)	-2.239	0.873	-4.555	-0.733	7.391	1	0.007
Housing (individual)	0.094	0.886	-1.657	1.970	0.011	1	0.916
Phase (eyes invisible) \times order	-1.006	1.697	-4.406	2.359	0.363	1	0.547

TABLE 2 Effects of predictors on maximum delay duration based on CLMM with horse and experimenter as random effects (full model).

¹Age was z-transformed to a mean of zero and standard deviation of one. Original variable: 176.71 ± 84.60 months.

 $^2\mathrm{Not}$ shown due to limited interpretability. Significant effects (p < 0.05) are highlighted in bold.



Maximum delay stages reached by horses fed hay *ad libitum* and restricted. Bubbles depict the frequency of maximally tolerated delay stages while the size of the bubbles corresponds to the number of horses [range: 1 (smallest bubble) - 23(largest bubble)]. The red horizontal bar depicts the fitted model and the error bars show the confidence limits for all other variables in the model centered to a mean of zero.

piece of reward) and a delayed high quantity reward (HQR; 5 pieces of reward). These quantity differences were selected as horses have been shown to successfully discriminate between

even smaller quantities (Uller and Lewis, 2009; Petrazzini, 2014) (but see Henselek et al., 2012). Half of the trials in the quantity condition comprised the LVR reward (i.e., 1 vs. 5 pieces of LVR) and half of the trials the HVR (1 vs. 5 pieces of HVR). The order of LVR and HVR trials was semi-randomized with each trial type no more than twice in a row. Accordingly, two food preference tests were conducted, one for the quality condition and a separate preference test for the quantity condition [using the same criterion as in Experiment 1 (i.e., 16 out of 20 trials choice for HQR/HVR)] prior to starting with the respective condition (see **Supplementary Table 4** for timeline). Likewise, the training phase was conducted twice (once for each test condition). The horses were randomly assigned to start either with the quality condition (N = 15) or the quantity condition (N = 15) before switching to the respective other once they stopped waiting. In-between the two test conditions a break of 2 weeks was implemented.

And, horses were tested until they gave up waiting (i.e., not reaching criterion within 5 sessions) with no fixed upper delay limit. The order in which horses were tested was randomized per day and counterbalanced in total in a way that each horse was at least once tested first or last. Test sessions were performed on four consecutive days followed by a 3-day break. One female experimenter (AH) tested all horses wearing sunglasses throughout the test to minimize provision of subconscious mimic-based cues to the horse.

Analyses

Behavioral coding

The videos were coded using Solomon Coder (2015 by András Péter). The subject's choice (HVR or LVR) was coded as well as the latency to consume the reward. Furthermore, we analyzed the horses' behavior during the delay duration. Specifically, we coded the distance to the hand holding the LVR, the horses' attention, and other behaviors, such as oral manipulations, head movements, chewing, Flehmen, pawing, as well as reward-directed behaviors (see **Table 3** for detailed descriptions).

A second coder coded 10% of the videos and inter-observer reliability was calculated. Consistency between coders was good [ICC (two-way, consistency): LQR choices: ICC = 0.992, p < 0.001; looking away: ICC = 0.991, p < 0.001; head movements: ICC = 0.719, p < 0.001; large distance to food: ICC = 0.953, p < 0.001; pawing: ICC = 0.988, p < 0.001; chewing: ICC = 0.959, p < 0.001; sniffing LVR: ICC = 0.912, p < 0.001; pushing LVR: ICC = 0.810, p < 0.001; latencies to take food: all ICC > 0.842, all p < 0.001].

Statistical analyses

For each horse, the maximally tolerated delay stage was extracted. Furthermore, the behaviors recorded during the waiting duration (i.e., large distance, looking away, chew, oral manipulation, head movement, flehmen, and pawing) were summed up and subsequently divided by the total session duration to account for differences in length between sessions. Reward-directed behaviors were not included in the analysis, as these were observed only in a subset of horses (N = 6) and occurred rarely (median \pm SD: 0.00 \pm 0.08 proportion per test duration).

Similar to the analyses of Experiment 1, we wanted to find out whether individual characteristics affected individual performance in the test; accordingly, we included age, sex (factor: female and male), as well as housing (factor: individual and group) and feeding management (factor: restricted and *ad libitum*) as predictors. Furthermore, to assess whether horses performed better in the quality or quantity condition and whether the order of these tests matters, we included an interaction term between test condition (factor: quality and quantity) and test order (numeric: 1 and 2) into the model. To account for repeated testing of horses, horse ID was included as a random effect. Considering that each horse could reach only two maximum delay stages, no random slopes were identifiable. Prior to fitting the model, we *z*-transformed age to a mean of 0 and a standard deviation of 1.

Initially, we aimed at fitting a cumulative linear mixed model (CLMM) to model maximum delay as a factor; however, the proportional odds were strongly violated (see Supplementary Table 6). Consequently, we switched to fitting a generalized linear mixed model (GLMM1) with a poisson error distribution and a log-link function using the glmer function within the 'lme4' package (version 1.1-27.1; Bates et al., 2015). The same predictors were entered but maximum delay was included as a numeric variable. Model assumptions were checked prior to fitting the model (i.e., no zeroinflation was detectable and residuals of the random intercepts were symmetrical; see Supplementary File for additional diagnostics). We obtained confidence intervals via the bootMer function (N = 1000 bootstraps) within the lme4 package. The data set used for the maximum delay analyses consisted of 49 observations from 29 horses.

For ruling out that horses' performance was affected by satiation due to the high number of trials per session, we ran an additional binomial model (GLMM2) with success (binary: waiting/not waiting) as response variable and trial number (numeric: 1–15) as predictor. Horse ID was entered as random effect and trial number as random slope (see **Supplementary File** for details).

Verifying that the owners' answers to the questionnaire were indeed tapping into the same behavioral construct as intended, we ran correlations between all seven questions (see **Supplementary Data 3**). Variables that exhibited a high correlation, were averaged for further analyses. For assessing whether the owners' assessment of their horses' self-control abilities, general trainability, food motivation, coping abilities, and patience were linked to the individually reached maximum delay times, we ran Spearman correlations with a Bonferroni correction for multiple testing. For this

Category	Variable	Description
Latency choice	Latency to consume LVR/HVR	Time from start of trial until horse either closed his/her lips around the LVR or until the delay time has passed
Attention	Look away	Head turned away in $>\!45^\circ$ angle from experimenter
Distance	Large distance	Horses' mouth is more than 0.5 m away from the hand holding the LVR
Other behaviors	Empty chew ^a	Horse chews without having food in his/her mouth
	Oral manipulation	Licking, nibbling or biting into barrier/box/door or own body parts
	Head movement	Any repeated movements with the head (i.e., horizontal and vertical movements or rotational movements)
	Flehmen	Lifting the upper lip, usually associated with a forward stretched neck
	Pawing	Repeatedly lifting one leg and scratching with the hoof on the ground
Reward-directed behaviors	Sniffing LVR	Sniffing on LVR without taking it into the mouth
	Pushing LVR	Pushing hand holding LVR away with mouth or head

TABLE 3 Ethogram of coded behaviors.

^aOnly coded after 10 s of a trial had elapsed to avoid coding instances of horses still chewing the previous reward.

analysis, we used only the highest delay stage that each horse reached in the test.

To analyze how coping behaviors affected individual waiting success within a session, we fitted a logistic generalized linear mixed model (GLMM3). The response variable was entered as a two-column matrix with the number of successes (=choice HVR) and the number of failures (=choice LVR) per individual using the *cbind* function (Baayen, 2008). Since we were interested in the influence of coping behaviors as delays increased and whether horses used these coping behaviors differently across the two test conditions, we included two interaction terms between coping and delay, and between coping and test phase into the model. Furthermore, age and sex were included into the model as control variables. As random effects, we included horse ID and session number nested within horse ID.

To avoid overconfident model estimates and to maintain the type I error rate at 0.05, random slopes were included into the model (Schielzeth and Forstmeier, 2009). Delay (as a numeric variable) and coping behaviors were included as slopes for the intercept of session number nested in horse ID; and delay (as numeric variable) as well as an interaction between test phase (manually dummy coded and centered to a mean of 0) and coping behaviors were included as slopes for the intercept of horse ID.

The model was fitted using the *glmer* function with the 'lme4' package (version 1.1–27.1; Bates et al., 2015) with a binomial error distribution and logit-link function. After an exploratory analysis, we decided to set the 10 s delay stage as reference level for the delay variable as this seems to be a more biologically relevant stage than the 2 s delay (see **Supplementary File** for details). Confidence intervals were obtained via parametric bootstrapping (N = 1000 bootstraps) using the function *bootMer* within the lme4 package. The data set for this analysis consisted of 551 observations form 29 horses.

To assess whether the horses' success in the quantity condition differed between trials with the HVR and the LVR, we fitted an additional binomial GLMM (GLMM4) with the number of waiting success (=choice delayed option) and the number of failures (=choice immediate option) as a response matrix. As predictors, we included age (*z*-transformed to mean of 0 and standard deviation of 1), sex (factor: female and male) and an interaction term between reward type (factor: LVR and HVR) and delay stage (factor: 0, 2, 5, 10, 20, 30, 40, 60, and 80 s). To account for repeated testing of horses, we included two random intercept terms: horse ID and session number nested within horse ID. Delay (numeric) and reward type (factor) were included as random slopes for both random effects terms (see **Supplementary File** for model diagnostics).

Deciding early on in a trial whether it is worth waiting or not is generally seen as an indication for anticipation of the upcoming delay duration, as it does not pay to invest energy into a resource that is devaluated by a large delay (e.g., Pelé et al., 2010; Auersperg et al., 2013). To find out whether the horses gave up waiting at a random time point within each trial or rather at the beginning or end of a trial, we ran an analysis of the error times. The distribution of observed error times (=latency to consume LVR) was compared with the distribution of error times expected under the null hypothesis of a constant giving up chance during the trial. If horses can anticipate the upcoming delay duration, we would expect that horses decide early on in a trial whether the delayed reward is worth waiting for. Using a Kaplan-Meier survival analysis, we calculated the estimated probability to continue waiting at each time point that the horses gave up waiting. The error times (i.e., time point at which the LVR was consumed) as well as successful trials (i.e., successfully waiting for HVR) were entered as censored data. The survival probability (chance to wait longer than elapsed time within a trial) and the expected distribution (chance to wait under null hypothesis) were compared using an adjusted Kolmogorov–Smirnov test (Haccou and Meelis, 1992). The analysis was run only for the delay stages above 5 s.

Results

Maximum delay

In the second experiment, seven horses did not pass training in the quality condition (25%) while all horses passed the training in the quantity condition. One horse was not food motivated and was excluded at the beginning of the study. An additional horse lost interest in the test and refused to participate at some point during the second test condition (the first test condition was still included in the analyses) and another horse did not pass the food preference test for the quality condition.

On a group level, the horses tolerated a delay of 13.35 ± 14.45 s (median: 10 s) in the quality and 15.07 ± 11.17 s (median: 10 s) in the quantity condition (see Figure 3).

Overall, the full model fitted the data significantly better than the null model (Likelihood ratio test: $\chi^2 = 11.11$, p = 0.049). Age did not significantly affect individual performance (see **Table 4**). Horses fed hay *ad libitum* tended to reach higher delay stages than horses fed hay in a restricted manner. Furthermore, we could detect a significant interaction between condition and test order. Horses that started with the quantity condition performed better in the quality condition compared to horses that started with the quality condition first (see **Table 4** and **Figure 4**).

We found no effect of trial number on success (GLMM: -0.008 ± 0.007 , *z*-value = -1.146, *p* = 0.252), accordingly, horses were equally likely to wait in the beginning, middle, and end of a session (see **Supplementary File** for details).

The owners' assessment of their horses' self-control abilities was not related to the maximum delay stage that their horse reached (Spearman: N = 29, $r_s = 0.02$, p = 0.903). Furthermore, none of the other variables showed a significant correlation with the horses' performance in the test (see **Supplementary Data 3**).

Influence of distraction behaviors on waiting performance

The full model fitted the data significantly better than the conceptual null model with only sex and age as predictors (Likelihood ratio test: $\chi^2 = 130.42$, df = 17, p < 0.001). Horses that showed more coping behaviors were more successful, in particular during the delay stages of 20, 30, and 40 s compared to the 10 s delay stage (see **Table 5** and **Supplementary Figure 2**). During lower delay stages (i.e., 2 and 5 s), coping behaviors did not affect waiting success. For the high delay stages (60 and 80 s), coping behaviors were not linked to waiting success either. Coping behaviors did not differ between the two test conditions (see **Table 5**).

In the quantity condition, the full model containing the reward type – delay stage interaction did not explain the data

better compared to the null model lacking the reward type term (LRT: $\chi^2 = 9.05$, df = 8, p = 0.338). Accordingly, the interaction between reward type and delay was not significant (LRT: $\chi^2 = 3.77$, df = 7, p = 0.805). To assess whether reward type affected waiting success as a main effect, we fitted a reduced model lacking the interaction term between reward type and delay stage; however, also as a main effect, reward type did not significantly affect waiting success (GLMM: -0.035 ± 0.202 , z = -0.174, p = 0.862; see **Supplementary Table 11** for complete model results).

Error times

The majority of horses (21 out of 29 horses) gave up waiting at the beginning of trials instead of at random time points throughout the trials (see **Supplementary Data 2**). These early error times occurred more often during higher delay times than during lower times. Interestingly, the majority of horses gave up waiting earlier than expected by a constant giving up chance in the quality condition (i.e., in higher delay stages; 75% of horses) while only half of the horses gave up waiting significantly earlier than expected in the quantity condition (see **Supplementary Material**).

Discussion

We found that horses were able to wait for a delayed reward of better quality and quantity up to 60 s in a delay of gratification paradigm. Individual variation in self-control was consistently explained by hay feeding management in both experiments as horses having access to hay *ad libitum* reached higher delay stages than horses with restricted access to hay. We found no correlations between the behavioral traits assessed by the owners and the horses' success in the test. Horses that engaged in many distraction behaviors were more successful than horses that exhibited only few of these behaviors during the waiting time.

Individual variation in self-control

We observed great individual variation in self-control abilities amongst the horses. Some horses did not manage to pass the 2 s delay, whilst others successfully waited for 60 s. Older horses tended to reach higher delays in Experiment 1 but this effect was not replicated in Experiment 2. Also, sex did not explain individual differences; however, it needs to be noted that no horses below 3.5 years and no stallions were included in the study. The horses' housing conditions (group-living vs. individual boxes) did not account for the observed individual differences in self-control; however, the hay feeding regime was related to individual performance. In both experiments, we found that horses with permanent access to hay (*ad libitum* feeding) reached or tended to reach higher delay



Term	Estimate	SE	Lower CI	Upper CI	Chisq	df	P-value
Intercept	0.980	0.484	-0.006	1.947			2
Condition (QUAN)	2.077	0.662	0.689	3.403			2
Order	0.946	0.314	0.296	1.578			2
Age ¹	0.073	0.096	-0.127	0.257	0.557	1	0.456
Feeding (restricted)	-0.431	0.227	-0.859	0.031	3.403	1	0.065
Condition (QUAN) \times Order	-1.202	0.421	-1.994	-0.318	7.382	1	0.007

 1 Age was z-transformed to a mean of zero and standard deviation of one. Original variable: 197.06 \pm 77.74 months.

 2 Not shown due to limited interpretability. Significant effects (p < 0.05) are highlighted in bold.

stages compared to horses with only restricted access to hay. While satiation during the course of sessions did not account for success, this effect might be due to two factors, on the one hand, unlimited access to hay might make horses generally more satiated, which in turn can facilitate self-control. On the other hand, general food availability might affect self-control abilities. If food is constantly available without any shortages (as in horses fed hay *ad libitum*), it might be valued differently and more risky foraging decisions for delayed options could be made. For example, honey bees show less self-control, if they are hungry (Mayack and Naug, 2015) and experiences of food shortage reduces self-control in children (Jackson et al., 2018). During food-shortages, immediate energy intake rather than waiting, and thus, increasing the risk of losing all of the available

food, is likely more adaptive. While one study found no effect of satiation on self-control abilities in capuchins (De Petrillo et al., 2015), more studies investigating the effects of food availability and resulting relative food values on self-control are warranted. These results open up numerous novel research questions pertaining to the influence of food availability (i.e., hay feeding regime) on general learning capacities, cognitive performance, and emotional states in horses.

Horses that engaged in certain behaviors while waiting for the delayed reward were more successful. In particular, increasing the distance to the LVR, looking away, repetitive horizontal or vertical head movements, pawing, empty chewing, and nibbling of box or body, were related to a better performance in the test. All these behavioral patterns are related



FIGURE 4

Maximum delay stages reached by horses in the quality (QUAL) and quantity (QUAN) test condition as a function of test order. Bubbles depict the frequency of maximally tolerated delay stages while the area of the bubbles corresponds to the number of horses (range: 1–7). The red horizontal bar depicts the fitted model and the error bars show the confidence limits for feeding management centered to a mean of zero.

TABLE 5	Effects of age, sex, amou	nt of coping behaviors, tes	t phase and delay	on number of successful trials (GLMM3).

Term	Estimate	SE	Lower CI	Upper CI	Chisq	df	P-value
Intercept	-0.709	0.640	-1.894	0.518			2
Age ¹	0.130	0.390	-0.613	0.956	0.110	1	0.740
Sex (M)	0.054	0.777	-1.402	1.442	0.005	1	0.945
Coping behav ¹	1.304	0.288	0.727	1.980			2
Phase (Quan)	0.652	0.382	-0.080	1.441			2
Delay 2 s	2.361	0.29	1.805	2.897			2
Delay 5 s	1.462	0.194	1.101	1.842			2
Delay 20 s	-4.165	0.352	-4.886	-3.537			2
Delay 30 s	-7.874	0.718	-9.428	-6.656			2
Delay 40 s	-12.548	1.372	-13.937	-11.037			2
Delay 60 s	-15.747	3.461	-16.692	-14.395			2
Delay 80 s	-26.931	4.613	-27.802	-25.980			2
Cope:Phase	-0.314	0.316	-0.955	0.370	0.972	1	0.324
Cope:Delay 2 s	-0.023	0.212	-0.582	0.526	3	3	0.914
Cope:Delay 5 s	0.229	0.173	-0.191	0.645	3	3	0.185
Cope:Delay 20 s	0.553	0.185	0.026	1.084	3	3	0.003
Cope:Delay 30 s	0.864	0.243	0.138	1.734	3	3	<0.001
Cope:Delay 40 s	1.341	0.468	0.147	2.474	3	3	0.004
Cope:Delay 60 s	0.314	1.188	-0.963	1.539	3	3	0.791
Cope:Delay 80 s	1.924	1.367	0.920	3.262	3	3	0.159

Note that the 10 s delay stage was set as reference level for the delay variable.

 1 Variables were scaled to a mean of 0 and a standard deviation of one. Original variables (mean \pm SD): age = 197.06 \pm 77.74 months; proportion of coping behaviors per test duration = 0.40 \pm 0.38.

²Not depicted due to limited interpretability.

 3 Likelihood ratio test for coping × delay: Chisq = 20.296, df = 7, *p* = 0.005. Significant effects (p < 0.05) are highlighted in bold.

to directing the attention away from the available LVR. To tease apart whether these behaviors are indeed a way to divert the attention away from the food reward or rather only represent individual differences in general activity or frustration, one would need to implement a control condition, in which food is present but inaccessible (similar to Evans and Beran, 2007). Interestingly, these behavioral patterns seem to be very similar across animal species from parrots (e.g., Auersperg et al., 2013; Brucks et al., 2021), to canids (Range et al., 2020), cephalopods (Schnell et al., 2021), chimpanzees (Evans and Beran, 2007), and humans (Steelandt et al., 2012). We also observed reward-directed behaviors in horses (i.e., sniffing LVR and pushing LVR away); however, since these behaviors were recorded only very infrequently, we were not able to analyze them. Similar reward-directed behaviors have so far only been reported in chimpanzees (Evans and Beran, 2007), children (Steelandt et al., 2012) and in a gray parrot (Koepke et al., 2015) and were not consistently related to success.

Furthermore, we found that the horses exhibited nonrandom giving up times, especially during higher delay stages and more frequently in the quality condition compared to the quantity condition. Deciding whether a delayed reward is worth waiting should be made in the beginning of a trial to reduce the amount of effort invested into a reward that is temporally discounted by a delay. Especially, during higher delays it pays to make such waiting decisions early on in a trial. Similarly, also dogs (Leonardi et al., 2012; Brucks et al., 2017b), parrots (Auersperg et al., 2013; Schwing et al., 2017; Brucks et al., 2021), and primates (Dufour et al., 2007; Pelé et al., 2011) give up waiting earlier than expected during higher delay stages. Whether giving up times are purely explained by decisions about anticipated time or rather also by frustration about not receiving the delayed option, however, is difficult to infer.

Simplified delay of gratification paradigm and effects of test procedures on performance

To make the delay of gratification test more easily implementable in an applied setting, we simplified the test procedure in a way that no additional equipment is needed to conduct the test. Furthermore, since horses were not required to directly exchange food items but rather only refrain from consuming them, we could reduce the training to a minimum. Horses are very sensitive to various human social cues (e.g., Clever Hans; Pfungst, 1911; Proops et al., 2010) and since our simplified test design involved direct interactions with an experimenter we aimed at testing whether one of the potential cues emitted by the experimenter, namely the gaze, affected horses' performance in the test. For example, dogs refrain from taking food, if a human is directly gazing at them but are less inhibited, if the human closes the eyes (Call et al., 2003). Consequently, also horses might experience social inhibition when the experimenter directly gazes at them. We found that horses reached equally high delay stages independent of whether the experimenter's eyes were visible (i.e., directly gazing at the horse) or invisible (i.e., wearing sunglasses); accordingly, the presence of the experimenter's eyes did not induce social inhibition in horses. It needs to be noted that the experimenter could have provided also other subtle behavioral cues to the horses, such as changes in body tension or posture. To rule out effects of such subtle behavior, however, one would need to conduct the test in the absence of an experimenter, for example in an automated setting (e.g., Evans and Beran, 2007) or at hide the experimenter behind a barrier (e.g., Brucks et al., 2017b).

While the results from Experiment 1 showed that the simplified delay of gratification was feasible in a farm setting and resulted in enormous individual variation in performance, we wanted to ensure that the inclusion of multiple experimenters and the rather relaxed success criteria did not affect the horses' self-control abilities in our simplified test. Consequently, we refined the procedures in Experiment 2 for making the results more comparable to other studies.

Indeed, a comparison between the horses' performance in Experiment 1 and Experiment 2, revealed differences in the maximally tolerated delay [median exp. 1: 40 s, exp. 2 (quality): 10 s]. Even though individual variation is likely one explanation for the observed differences in self-control abilities between the two study populations, small modifications in the test procedure might also account for it. Firstly, only one female experimenter conducted all tests; thus, reducing the individual variation in the experimenter's behavior. Secondly, the test environment was more controlled as all horses were tested in the same box with a barrier adjusted to their height. And thirdly, we adjusted the criteria for success to reduce the occurrence of horses passing a delay stage by chance as horses were required to show a stable performance in consecutive sessions instead of passing the criteria only once. To avoid overtraining the horses due to the stricter criterion for success, we reduced the number of delay stages (i.e., fewer incremental steps) in Experiment 2. Furthermore, different reward types were used as LVR in Experiment 1 (hay) and Experiment 2 (lucerne), which could have affected horses' ability to wait. Indeed, horses needed fewer sessions to reach the criterion in the food preference test in Experiment 1 (mean: 1.18 sessions, range: 1-3) compared to Experiment 2 (mean: 2.39 sessions; range: 1-6); thus, indicating that lucerne was potentially valued higher compared to hay as LVR. These differences in self-control performance of horses in the two experiments indicates that rather small changes in procedure can greatly affect the outcome of studies. Furthermore, control conditions should be implemented to rule out that the horses rely on avoidance learning (i.e., always avoid reward on one side) instead of having a complete understanding of the task's contingencies. For example, the sides of rewards (left/right) could be randomly switched instead of keeping fixed sides, the order of rewards could be reversed (i.e., HVR first and LVR after delay), or both rewards could be of low quality. But, also the criteria for success, and the experimental paradigms (e.g., standard exchange task and rotating tray task) might affect individual self-control abilities. Certainly, the development of simpler experimental procedures opens up the possibility to collect data on a larger scale (e.g., using a citizen science approach), however, procedural caveats need to be considered carefully when designing such studies. Future studies need to investigate how such procedural differences affect individual self-control abilities.

Role of self-control in other behaviors

The horse owners' predictions about their horses' selfcontrol abilities were not correlated with the actual performance in the test. This is interesting as past research has shown that owners are e.g., able to correctly predict their horses' reaction in behavioral tests (e.g., Ijichi et al., 2013); however, these behavioral tests did not involve any food rewards. Considering that most horse owners rely on negative reinforcement to train their horses instead of positive reinforcement using food rewards (McLean and Christensen, 2017), they might have only limited experience regarding their horses' behavior in the context of food. Self-control as assessed in the present study likely is linked very closely to food motivation (as also supported by the influence of the horses' hay feeding regimen, though contradicted by the missing link to owners' assessment of their horse's food motivation), and this is a different motivational axis compared to the motivations that need to be inhibited when, e.g., refraining from showing fear reactions to frightening stimuli or to show other strongly motivated behaviors in a training setting. Additionally, as suggested by McLean and Christensen (2017), training success may be affected by factors such as arousal, affective and attachment states. For example, arousal levels in the present training setting may have been different from those typically encountered for the participating horses in their regular training sessions with their owners. Generally, owners' assessment of their pets' behavioral tendencies should always be treated cautiously as pet owners might not be able to accurately predict their animals' behavior or might define behaviors differently compared to those assessed in experimental studies.

Individual self-control abilities were additionally not correlated with other behavioral traits that were rated by the owners, such as trainability, patience, food motivation, and reactions in stressful situations. In light of the findings that self-control abilities are linked to general intelligence (Moffitt et al., 2011; Beran and Hopkins, 2018), including learning performance (Schnell et al., 2021), we would have expected to observe better self-control in horses that were rated as more trainable and patient; however, this lack of a correlation between trainability and self-control might be due to two aspects. On the one hand, we did not test the horses' learning capacity or trainability but rather relied on the owners' assessment, and, on the other hand, it needs to established whether self-control is actually consistent in situations involving food (i.e., delay of gratification paradigm) and situations outside of the food context (i.e., training or handling).

Further investigations into the links between inhibitory control and trainability, but also general coping capacities,

are warranted. Individual differences in inhibitory control abilities, and self-control in particular, might be responsible for differences in coping abilities and behavioral flexibility in captive animals. Considering that in humans, self-control can be improved by training (Murray et al., 2016; but see Friese et al., 2017), similar training regimes might be implemented in horse training to improve human-animal interactions and ultimately horse welfare.

Horses' self-control abilities in a comparative context

Considering that horses' foraging behavior requires only little self-control as resources are evenly distributed with slowly changing quality, and they face no delays to access the resource, we would have expected horses to show rather poor self-control in such a food-based delay of gratification paradigm. Contrary to our hypothesis, horses exhibited rather good self-control abilities on a group level. In Experiment 1, the horses waited on average for 36.1 s (median: 40 s), while in Experiment 2, the average of the maximally tolerated delay was 13.4 s (median: 10 s) in the quality condition and 15.1 s (median: 10 s) in the quantity condition. In both experiments, a number of horses successfully waited for 60 s, while, for example, dogs waited for up to 15 min (Leonardi et al., 2012; Brucks et al., 2017b), pigs up to 20 s (Zebunke et al., 2018), chicken up to 7 s (Abeyesinghe et al., 2005). Other non-domesticated species, however, tolerated much higher delay times [e.g., long-tailed macaques: 21 min (Pelé et al., 2010), cleaner wrasse: 480 s (Aellen et al., 2021), ravens: 640 s (Hillemann et al., 2014), and cuttlefish: 130 s (Schnell et al., 2021)]. Interestingly, horses were more successful in the quantity condition compared to the quality condition. All horses passed the food preference test and training in the quantity condition, while several horses failed to pass these pre-tests in the quality condition. Furthermore, starting with the quantity condition subsequently facilitated success in the quality condition but not vice versa. Previous research in other species has shown that many species are more willing to wait for rewards of better quality than quantity (e.g., cockatoos: Auersperg et al., 2013; corvids: Hillemann et al., 2014; dogs: Brucks et al., 2017b; pigs: Zebunke et al., 2018; and children: Miller et al., 2019b). Cleaner wrasse, which regularly encounter quantitative but only rarely qualitative differences in resources in a natural context, tolerated higher delays if the rewards differed in terms of quantity (Aellen et al., 2021). Accordingly, the ability of horses to wait for quantitative, but less so for qualitative rewards, might be linked to their foraging ecology; under natural conditions resources are more evenly distributed and do not differ as strongly in quality (Devenport et al., 2005) as for species with other foraging styles (e.g., dogs, parrots, and corvids). This aspect of horses' foraging ecology might make it more adaptive to pay attention to differences in quantity.

Other studies, however, suggest that social complexity is the main driver for the evolution of self-control abilities (Amici et al., 2008; Aellen et al., 2021; but see Schnell et al., 2021). Horses live in complex social environments (Krueger, 2008) and dominance regulates access to limited resources (Ingólfsdóttir and Sigurjónsdóttir, 2008); consequently, self-control in social interactions is certainly important as, for example, subordinate horses need to refrain from accessing limited resources in the presence of dominant horses. Accordingly, our results certainly lend some support for this hypothesis; however, since comparable data of self-control abilities in closely-related species is missing, it is difficult to draw strong conclusions. Equidae with their small variation in foraging ecology but differences in sociality (Linklater, 2000) definitely pose an interesting model taxon to further investigate the role of sociality in the evolution of self-control abilities.

Conclusion

Horses showed great individual variation in their selfcontrol abilities ranging from 0 to 60 s. This variation is partly explained by food availability (i.e., hay feeding regime) and reward type (quality and quantity), but also engagement in distraction behaviors during the waiting period. Our study provides the first data on self-control abilities in a grazing species; thus, broadening our knowledge about underlying evolutionary forces driving the evolution of self-control across animal species. While we found no link between self-control and behavioral traits of horses outside of the test context, we hope that our study gives rise to further research questions related to horse welfare, such as understanding the role of self-control in coping behaviors and general trainability.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Animal Welfare Officer, University of Giessen (approval number: JLU_kTV_6_2022). We adhered to the Guidelines for the Treatment of Animals in Behavioural Research and Teaching (Animal Behaviour, 2020). Written informed consent for participation was not obtained from the owners because some owners conducted the study themselves (i.e., in Experiment 1) and the other owners were verbally informed and gave consent for their horses to participate in the study.

Author contributions

DB and UKvB designed the study. AH collected the data and scored the videos. DB analyzed the data and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. UB reviewed and edited the manuscript. All authors read and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

We thank all students for participation and data collection in Experiment 1. Furthermore, we are grateful to all horse owners for allowing us to test their horses. We would also like to thank Louise Marchal for help with the reliability coding.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fpsyg.2022.954472/full#supplementary-material

```
SUPPLEMENTARY FILE
```

Model diagnostics (i.e., model stability, tests for odds assumptions in CLMM) and outputs of reduced models.

SUPPLEMENTARY VIDEO

Video illustrating the food preference test, training and test procedure.

Individual characteristics, housing and hay feeding regime of horses participating in Experiments 1 and 2.

SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 2

Results of Kaplan-Meier analyses of error times for each horse.

SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 3

Overview of questions (translated from German) asked in the questionnaire with scoring options and correlations between owners' answers.

SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 4

Raw data sets of Experiments 1 and 2.

References

Abeyesinghe, S. M., Nicol, C. J., Hartnell, S. J., and Wathes, C. M. (2005). Can domestic fowl, *Gallus gallus domesticus*, show self-control? *Anim. Behav.* 70, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2004.10.011

Aellen, M., Dufour, V., and Bshary, R. (2021). Cleaner fish and other wrasse match primates in their ability to delay gratification. *Anim. Behav.* 176, 125–143. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2021.04.002

Agresti, A. (2002). Categorical Data Analysis., 2nd edn. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Amici, F., Aureli, F., and Call, J. (2008). Fission-Fusion Dynamics, Behavioral Flexibility, and Inhibitory Control in Primates. *Curr. Biol.* 18, 1415–1419. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2008.08.020

Animal Behaviour (2020). Guidelines for the treatment of animals in behavioural research and teaching. *Anim. Behav.* 159, I–XI. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav. 2019.11.002

Auersperg, A. M. I., Laumer, I. B., and Bugnyar, T. (2013). Goffin cockatoos wait for qualitative and quantitative gains but prefer "better" to "more". *Biol. Lett.* 9:20121092. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2012.1092

Baayen, R. (2008). Analyzing Linguistic Data: A Practical Introduction To Statistics Using R. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B., and Walker, S. (2015). Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using Ime4. J. Stat. Softw. 67, 1–48.

Beran, M. J. (2008). Self-Control In Animals And People. Cambridge: Academic Press.

Beran, M. J. (2015). The comparative science of "self-control": what are we talking about? *Front. Psychol.* 6:51. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00051

Beran, M. J., and Hopkins, W. D. (2018). Self-Control in Chimpanzees Relates to General Intelligence. Curr. Biol. 28, 574–579.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2017.12.043

Birke, L., Hockenhull, J., Creighton, E., Pinno, L., Mee, J., Mills, D., et al. (2011). Horses' responses to variation in human approach. *Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci.* 134, 56–63. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2011.06.002

Bramlett, J. L., Perdue, B. M., Evans, T. A., and Beran, M. J. (2012). Capuchin monkeys (*Cebus apella*) let lesser rewards pass them by to get better rewards. *Anim. Cogn.* 15, 963–969. doi: 10.1007/s10071-012-0522-x

Brandão, M. L., Fernandes, A. M. T., de, A., and Gonçalves-de-Freitas, E. (2019). Male and female cichlid fish show cognitive inhibitory control ability. *Sci. Rep.* 9:15795. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-52384-2

Bray, E. E., MacLean, E. L., and Hare, B. A. (2013). Context specificity of inhibitory control in dogs. *Anim. Cogn.* 17, 15-31. doi: 10.1007/s10071-013-0 633-z

Brucks, D., Marshall-Pescini, S., and Range, F. (2019). Dogs and wolves do not differ in their inhibitory control abilities in a non-social test battery. *Anim. Cogn.* 22:1–15. doi: 10.1007/s10071-018-1216-9

Brucks, D., Soliani, M., Range, F., and Marshall-Pescini, S. (2017b). Reward type and behavioural patterns predict dogs' success in a delay of gratification paradigm. *Sci. Rep.* 7, 42459. doi: 10.1038/srep42459

Brucks, D., Marshall-Pescini, S., Wallis, L. J., Huber, L., and Range, F. (2017a). Measures of dogs' inhibitory control abilities do not correlate across tasks. *Front. Psychol.* 8:849. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00849

Brucks, D., Petelle, M., Baldoni, C., Krasheninnikova, A., Rovegno, E., von Bayern, A. M. P., et al. (2021). Intra - and interspecific variation in self - control capacities of parrots in a delay of gratification task. *Anim. Cogn.* 25, 473–491. doi: 10.1007/s10071-021-01565-6

Call, J., Bräuer, J., Kaminski, J., and Tomasello, M. (2003). Domestic dogs (*Canis familiaris*) are sensitive to the attentional state of humans. *J. Comp. Psychol.* 117, 257–263. doi: 10.1037/0735-7036.117.3.257

Cervantes, M. C., and Delville, Y. (2007). Individual differences in offensive aggression in golden hamsters: a model of reactive and impulsive aggression? *Neuroscience* 150, 511–521. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.09.034

Christensen, R. H. (2019). Ordinal - Regression Models For Ordinal Data R Package Version 2019.12-10.

Coppens, C. M., de Boer, S. F., Buwalda, B., and Koolhaas, J. M. (2014). Aggression and aspects of impulsivity in wild-type rats. *Aggress. Behav.* 40, 300–308. doi: 10.1002/ab.21527

De Petrillo, F., Micucci, A., Gori, E., Truppa, V., Ariely, D., Addessi, E., et al. (2015). Self-control depletion in tufted capuchin monkeys (Sapajus spp.): does delay of gratification rely on a limited resource? *Front. Psychol.* 6:1193. doi: 10. 3389/fpsyg.2015.01193

Devenport, J. A., Patterson, M. R., and Devenport, L. D. (2005). Dynamic averaging and foraging decisions in horses (*Equus callabus*). J. Comp. Psychol. 119, 352–358. doi: 10.1037/0735-7036.119.3.352

Dobson, A. J., and Barnett, A. G. (2018). An Introduction to Generalized Linear Models., 4th edn. New York, NY: Chapman and Hall.

Dufour, V., Pelé, M., Sterck, E. H. M., and Thierry, B. (2007). Chimpanzee (*Pan troglodytes*) anticipation of food return: coping with waiting time in an exchange task. *J. Comp. Psychol.* 121, 145–155. doi: 10.1037/0735-7036.121. 2.145

Evans, T. A., and Beran, M. J. (2007). Chimpanzees use self-distraction to cope with impulsivity. *Biol. Lett.* 3, 599-602. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2007.0399

Friese, M., Frankenbach, J., Job, V., and Loschelder, D. D. (2017). Does Self-Control Training Improve Self-Control? A Meta-Analysis. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 12, 1077–1099. doi: 10.1177/1745691617697076

Gamer, M., Lemon, J., Fellows, I., and Singh, P. (2019). IRR: Various Coefficients of Interrater Reliability and Agreement R package version, 0.84.1.

Garnham, L. C., Clarke, C., and Løvlie, H. (2022). How Inhibitory Control Relates to Positive and Negative Affective States in Red Junglefowl. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 9:872487. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.872487

Gatto, E., Lucon-Xiccato, T., and Bisazza, A. (2018). Factors affecting the measure of inhibitory control in a fish (Poecilia reticulata). *Behav. Process.* 157, 11–17. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2018.08.003

Gobbo, E., and Zupan Šemrov, M. (2022). Dogs Exhibiting High Levels of Aggressive Reactivity Show Impaired Self-Control Abilities. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 9:869068. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2022.869068

Goodwin, D., Davidson, H. P. B., and Harris, P. (2007). Responses of horses offered a choice between stables containing single or multiple forages. *Vet. Rec.* 160, 548–551. doi: 10.1136/vr.160.16.548

Haccou, P., and Meelis, E. (1992). Statistical Analysis Of Behavioural Data. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Henselek, Y., Fischer, J., and Schloegl, C. (2012). Does the stimulus type influence horses' performance in a quantity discrimination task? *Front. Psychol.* 3:504. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00504

Hillemann, F., Bugnyar, T., Kotrschal, K., and Wascher, C. A. F. F. (2014). Waiting for better, not for more: corvids respond to quality in two delay maintenance tasks. *Anim. Behav.* 90, 1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2014.01.007

Ijichi, C., Collins, L. M., Creighton, E., and Elwood, R. W. (2013). Harnessing the power of personality assessment: subjective assessment predicts behaviour in horses. *Behav. Process.* 96, 47–52. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2013.02.017

Ingólfsdóttir, H. B., and Sigurjónsdóttir, H. (2008). The benefits of high rank in the wintertime-A study of the Icelandic horse. *Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci.* 114, 485–491. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2008.04.014

Jackson, D. B., Newsome, J., Vaughn, M. G., and Johnson, K. R. (2018). Considering the role of food insecurity in low self-control and early delinquency. *J. Crim. Just.* 56, 127–139. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2017.07.002

Johnson-Ulrich, L., and Holekamp, K. E. (2020). Group size and social rank predict inhibitory control in spotted hyaenas. *Anim. Behav.* 160, 157–168. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2019.11.020

Koepke, A. E., Gray, S. L., and Pepperberg, I. M. (2015). Delayed Gratification: a Grey Parrot (*Psittacus erithacus*) Will Wait for a Better Reward. *J. Comp. Psychol.* 129, 339–346.

König von Borstel, U. (2013). Assessing and influencing personality for improvement of animal welfare: a review of equine studies. *CAB Rev. Perspect. Agric. Vet. Sci. Nutr. Nat. Resour.* 8, 1–27. doi: 10.1079/PAVSNNR20138006

Krause, A., Kreiser, M., Puppe, B., Tuchscherer, A., and Düpjan, S. (2021). The effect of age on discrimination learning and self - control in a marshmallow test for pigs. *Sci. Rep.* 11:18287. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-97770-x

Krueger, K. (2008). "Social Ecology of Horses," in *Ecology of Social Evolution*, eds J. Korb and J. Heinze (Heidelberg: Springer), 266.

Kruska, D. C. T. (2007). "The Effects of Domestication on Brain Size," in *Evolution of Nervous Systems. The Evolution of Nervous Systems in Mammals*, eds L. Krubitzer and J. Kaas (London: Elsevier), 143–153.

Langbein, J. (2018). Motor self-regulation in goats (*Capra aegagrus hircus*) in a detour-reaching task. *PeerJ.* 6:e5139. doi: 10.7717/peerj.5139

Leonardi, R. J., Vick, S. J., and Dufour, V. (2012). Waiting for more: the performance of domestic dogs (Canis familiaris) on exchange tasks. *Anim. Cogn.* 15, 107–120. doi: 10.1007/s10071-011-0437-y

Linklater, W. L. (2000). Adaptive explanation in socio-ecology: lessons from the equidae. *Biol. Rev.* 75, 1–20. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-185X.1999.tb00039.x

Lucon-Xiccato, T., Montalbano, G., Reddon, A. R., and Bertolucci, C. (2022). Social environment affects inhibitory control via developmental plasticity in a fish. *Anim. Behav.* 183, 69–76.

MacLean, E. L., Hare, B., Nunn, C. L., Addessi, E., Amici, F., Anderson, R. C., et al. (2014). The evolution of self-control. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.U.S.A.* 111:E2140–E2148. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1323533111

Maeda, T., Sueur, C., Hirata, S., and Yamamoto, S. (2021). Behavioural synchronization in a multilevel society of feral horses. *PLoS One* 16:e0258944. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0258944

Marshall-Pescini, S., Virányi, Z., and Range, F. (2015). The Effect of Domestication on Inhibitory Control: wolves and Dogs Compared. *PLoS One* 10:e0118469. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0118469

Mason, G., Burn, C. C., Dallaire, J. A., Kroshko, J., Kinkaid, H. M., Jeschke, J. M., et al. (2013). Plastic animals in cages: behavioural flexibility and responses to captivity. *Anim. Behav.* 85, 1113–1126. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2013.02.002

Mayack, C., and Naug, D. (2015). Starving honeybees lose self-control. *Biol. Lett.* 11:20140820. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2014.0820

McLean, A. N., and Christensen, J. W. (2017). The application of learning theory in horse training. *Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci.* 190, 18–27. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim. 2017.02.020

Meier, C., Pant, S. R., van Horik, J. O., Laker, P. R., Langley, E. J. G., Whiteside, M. A., et al. (2017). A novel continuous inhibitory-control task: variation in individual performance by young pheasants (*Phasianus colchicus*). *Anim. Cogn.* 20, 1035–1047. doi: 10.1007/s10071-017-1120-8

Miller, H. C., Pattison, K. F., Laude, J. R., and Zentall, T. R. (2015). Self-regulatory depletion in dogs: insulin release is not necessary for the replenishment of persistence. *Behav. Process.* 110, 22–26. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2014.09.030

Miller, R., Boeckle, M., Jelbert, S. A., Frohnwieser, A., Wascher, C. A. F., Clayton, N. S., et al. (2019a). Self-control in crows, parrots and nonhuman primates. *Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Cogn. Sci.* 10:e1504. doi: 10.1002/wcs.1504

Miller, R., Frohnwieser, A., Schiestl, M.,McCoy, D. E., Gray, R. D., Taylor, A. H., et al. (2019b). Delayed gratification in New Caledonian crows and young children: influence of reward type and visibility. *Anim. Cogn.* 23, 71–85. doi: 10.1007/s10071-019-01317-7

Moffitt, T. E., Arseneault, L., Belsky, D., Dickson, N., Hancox, R. J., Harrington, H., et al. (2011). A gradient of childhood self-control predicts health, wealth, and public safety. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 2693–2698. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1010076108

Murray, J., Theakston, A., and Wells, A. (2016). Can the attention training technique turn one marshmallow into two? Improving children's ability to delay gratification. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 77, 34–39. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2015.11.009

Pelé, M., Dufour, V., Micheletta, J., and Thierry, B. (2010). Long-tailed macaques display unexpected waiting abilities in exchange tasks. *Anim. Cogn.* 13, 263–271. doi: 10.1007/s10071-009-0264-6

Pelé, M., Micheletta, J., Uhlrich, P., Thierry, B., and Dufour, V. (2011). Delay Maintenance in Tonkean Macaques (Macaca tonkeana) and Brown Capuchin Monkeys (*Cebus apella*). *Int. J. Primatol.* 32, 149–166. doi: 10.1007/s10764-010-9446-y

Petrazzini, M. E. M. (2014). Trained quantity abilities in horses (Equus caballus): a preliminary investigation. *Behav. Sci.* 4, 213–225. doi: 10.3390/bs4030213

Pfungst, O. (1911). Clever hans (the horse of mr. Von osten) a Contribution to Experimental Animal and Human Psychology. New York, NY: Henry Holt and company.

Price, E. O. (1999). Behavioral development in animals undergoing domestication. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 65, 245–271.

Proops, L., and McComb, K. (2010). Attributing attention: the use of humangiven cues by domestic horses (*Equus caballus*). Anim. Cogn. 13, 197–205. doi: 10.1007/s10071-009-0257-5

Proops, L., Walton, M., and McComb, K. (2010). The use of human-given cues by domestic horses, Equus caballus, during an object choice task. *Anim. Behav.* 79, 1205–1209. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2010.02.015

R Core Team. (2021). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Range, F., Brucks, D., and Virányi, Z. (2020). Dogs wait longer for better rewards than wolves in a delay of gratification task: but why? *Anim. Cogn.* 23, 443–453. doi: 10.1007/s10071-020-01346-7

Rauw, W. M., Johnson, A. K., Gomez-Raya, L., and Dekkers, J. C. M. (2017). A hypothesis and review of the relationship between selection for improved production efficiency, coping behavior, and domestication. *Front. Genet.* 8:134. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2017.00134

Ryding, S., Garnham, L. C., Abbey-Lee, R. N., Petkova, I., Kreshchenko, A., Løvlie, H., et al. (2021). Impulsivity is affected by cognitive enrichment and links to brain gene expression in red junglefowl chicks. *Anim. Behav.* 178, 195–207. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2021.06.007

Salter, R. E., and Hudson, R. J. (1979). Feeding Ecology of Feral Horses in Western Alberta. J. Range Manag. 32:221. doi: 10.2307/3897127

Santos, L. R., and Rosati, A. G. (2015). The evolutionary roots of human decision making. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 66, 321–347. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-010814-015310

Schielzeth, H., and Forstmeier, W. (2009). Conclusions beyond support: overconfident estimates in mixed models. *Behav. Ecol.* 20, 416–420. doi: 10.1093/beheco/arn145

Schnell, A. K., Boeckle, M., Rivera, M., Clayton, N. S., and Hanlon, R. T. (2021). Cuttlefish exert self-control in a delay of gratification task. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 288:20203161. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2020.3161

Schwing, R., Weber, S., and Bugnyar, T. (2017). Kea (Nestor notabilis) Decide Early When to Wait in Food Exchange Task. J. Comp. Psychol. 131, 269–276.

Shoda, Y., Mischel, W., and Peake, P. K. (1990). Predicting adolescent cognitive and self-regulatory competencies from preschool delay of gratification: identifying diagnostic conditions. *Dev. Psychol.* 26, 978–986. doi: 10.1037//0012-1649.26.6. 978

Sozou, P. D., and Seymour, R. M. (2003). Augmented discounting: interaction between ageing and time-preference behaviour. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 270, 1047–1053. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2003.2344

Steelandt, S., Thierry, B., Broihanne, M. H., and Dufour, V. (2012). The ability of children to delay gratification in an exchange task. *Cognition* 122, 416–425. doi: 10.1016/j.cognition.2011.11.009

Stevens, J. R. (2014). Evolutionary pressures on primate intertemporal choice. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 281:20140499. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2014.0499

Stevens, J. R., Hallinan, E. V., and Hauser, M. D. (2005). The ecology and evolution of patience in two New World monkeys. *Biol. Lett.* 1, 223–226. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2004.0285

Stevens, J. R., and Mühlhoff, N. (2012). Intertemporal choice in lemurs. *Behav. Process.* 89, 121–127. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2011.10.002

Stevens, J. R., and Stephens, D. W. (2010). "The adaptive nature of impulsivity," in *Impulsivity: The Behavioral and Neurological Science of Discounting*, eds G. J. Madden and W. K. Bickel (Washington DC: American Psychological Association), 361–388.

Susini, I., Safryghin, A., Hillemann, F., and Wascher, C. A. F. (2021). Delay of gratification in non-human animals: a review of inter- and intra-specific variation in performance. *bioRxiv* [Preprint]. doi: 10.1101/2020.05.078659

Uller, C., and Lewis, J. (2009). Horses (*Equus caballus*) select the greater of two quantities in small numerical contrasts. *Anim. Cogn.* 12, 733–738. doi: 10.1007/s10071-009-0225-0

van den Berg, M., Giagos, V., Lee, C., Brown, W. Y., Cawdell-Smith, A. J., Hinch, G. N., et al. (2016). The influence of odour, taste and nutrients on feeding behaviour and food preferences in horses. *Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci.* 184, 41–50. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2016.08.015

van Horik, J. O., Langley, E. J. G., Whiteside, M. A., and Madden, J. R. (2017). Differential participation in cognitive tests is driven by personality, sex, body condition and experience. *Behav. Process.* 134, 22–30. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc.2016. 07.001

Watts, T. W., Duncan, G. J., and Quan, H. (2018). Revisiting the Marshmallow Test: a Conceptual Replication Investigating Links Between Early Delay of Gratification and Later Outcomes. *Psychol. Sci.* 29, 1159–1177. doi: 10.1177/0956797618761661

Zebunke, M., Kreiser, M., Melzer, N., Langbein, J., and Puppe, B. (2018). Better, Not Just More — Contrast in Qualitative Aspects of Reward Facilitates Impulse Control in Pigs. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 9:2099. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02099

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Christian Nawroth, Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN), Germany

REVIEWED BY Rebecca E. Nordquist, Utrecht University, Netherlands Irene Camerlink, Polish Academy of Sciences, Poland

*CORRESPONDENCE Anissa Dudde anissa.dudde@fli.de

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Comparative Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

RECEIVED 21 March 2022 ACCEPTED 11 August 2022 PUBLISHED 15 September 2022

CITATION

Dudde A, Phi Van L, Schrader L, Obert AJ and Krause ET (2022) Brain gain— Is the cognitive performance of domestic hens affected by a functional polymorphism in the serotonin transporter gene? *Front. Psychol.* 13:901022. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.901022

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Dudde, Phi Van, Schrader, Obert and Krause. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Brain gain—Is the cognitive performance of domestic hens affected by a functional polymorphism in the serotonin transporter gene?

Anissa Dudde^{1*}, Loc Phi Van¹, Lars Schrader¹, Arnd J. Obert² and E. Tobias Krause¹

¹Institute of Animal Welfare and Animal Husbandry, Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, Celle, Germany, ²Hannover Medical School, Institute for Diagnostic and Interventional Radiology, Hannover, Germany

The serotonin transporter (5-HTT) plays an important role in regulating serotonergic transmission via removal of serotonin (5-HT) from synaptic clefts. Alterations in 5-HTT expression and subsequent 5-HT transmission have been found to be associated with changes in behaviour, such as fearfulness or activity, in humans and other vertebrates. In humans, alterations in 5-HTT expression have been suggested to be able to lead to better learning performance, with more fearful persons being better at learning. Similar effects of the variation in the 5-HTT on fearfulness have been found in chickens, and in this study, we investigated effects on learning. Therefore, we tested 52 adult laying hens, differing in their functional 5-HTT genotype (W/W, W/D and D/D) in an operant learning paradigm in three different phases (initial learning, reversal learning and extinction) and in a tonic immobility test for fearfulness. We found that the 5-HTT polymorphism affects the initial learning performance of laying hens, with homogeneous wild-type (W/W) hens being the slowest learners, and the most fearful birds. W/W hens, showed significantly more choices to solve the initial learning task (LME, p=0.031) and had the highest latencies in a tonic immobility test (p=0.039), indicating the highest fearfulness. Our results provide interesting first insights into the role of 5-HTT in chickens and its sensitive interaction with the environment. We further suggest that the 5-HTT gene can be an interesting target gene for future breeding strategies as well as for further experimental studies.

KEYWORDS

chicken cognition, learning, serotonin transporter, domestic chicken, reversal learning

Introduction

Serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine, 5-HT) is an important hormone in the body as well as a key regulatory neurotransmitter in the brains of vertebrates (Lesch et al., 1996). The transmission of neural serotonin from the pre-to the postsynapse is controlled through a reuptake of 5-HT from the synaptic clefts by the serotonin transporter (5-HTT, abbreviation for the 5-HT transporter). Thus, serotonin transporters are crucially involved in the neural serotonin regulatory system. In humans, a polymorphism of the 5-HTT gene is associated with functional consequences in the emotional system (Lesch et al., 1996). Humans with an S-allele, i.e. a short allele, in comparison to the individuals with an L-allele, i.e. long allele, have a lower 5-HTT expression as a result of decreased 5-HTT gene promoter efficiency. This change contributes to behavioural modifications, such as increased anxiousness-like traits or the prevalence of the occurrence of depression (Lesch et al., 1996; Canli and Lesch, 2007). Similar patterns are also found in other mammalian species, such as monkeys (Lesch et al., 1997) and rodents (Brigman et al., 2010).

These effects of polymorphisms in the 5-HTT gene on behaviour have led the focus to similar effects in other mammals. The domestic chicken possesses a functional polymorphism in the 5-HTT gene (Phi-van et al., 2014), with a wild-type allele (W) and a deletion allele (D). In the deletion allele, four bases are deleted (5'-AATT-3'), and a single base (A \rightarrow T) is exchanged (Phi-van et al., 2014) in comparison to the wild-type allele. Interestingly, the W allele of domestic chickens functionally resembles the human S allele in terms of lowered 5-HTT expression and increased fearlike behaviours (Phi-van et al., 2014; Krause et al., 2017; Phi Van et al., 2018). In line with this behaviour, the D-allele of domestic chickens shows 5-HTT and behavioural pattern expression comparable to the human L-allele. Domestic chickens with D-alleles, in comparison to homozygous W-allele chickens, show increased body mass and abdominal fat deposition (Phi-van et al., 2014; Kjaer and Phi van, 2016; Krause et al., 2017), increased feed uptake during ontogeny (Kjaer and Phi van, 2016), increased locomotor activity (Phi-van et al., 2014; Krause et al., 2019), and a lower level of fearfulness (Krause et al., 2017, 2019) but no differences in social-related behaviours (Krause et al., 2019).

One aspect, linked to the polymorphism at the 5-HTT gene in humans, has not yet been studied in domestic chickens. In humans, 5-HTT polymorphisms are thought to be linked to cognitive performance, such as learning (Lesch et al., 1997). The S-allele human carriers tend to show increased attention towards biological conditioned stimuli and hence might perform better in learning (Homberg and Lesch, 2011). This assumption is supported by other studies showing that humans carrying S-alleles perform better in decision-making and learning than homozygote L-allele carriers (Roiser et al., 2007; Strobel et al., 2007; Madsen et al., 2011; Karabeg et al., 2013). In line with these findings, mice and monkeys demonstrated a higher flexibility in learning when carrying shorter alleles in various reversal learning tasks using visual or auditorial cues (Brigman et al., 2010; Jedema et al., 2010; Harris et al., 2012). However, in rats, such differences were not revealed (Karabeg et al., 2013). Based on the strong indications of a role of 5-HTT polymorphisms in cognitive performance in mammalian species, we aimed to address the question of whether the domestic chicken polymorphism in the 5-HTT gene also has a functional impact on cognitive performance.

Complex forms of learning are in general quite well documented in domestic chickens (Krause et al., 2006; Marino, 2017; Dudde et al., 2018; Garnham and Løvlie, 2018). Thus, we aimed to characterise the cognitive abilities of domestic chickens with three different 5-HTT genotypes, homozygous wild-type W/W, homozygous deletion D/D and heterozygous genotype W/D, and to validate their differences in fearfulness using a tonic immobility test (Krause et al., 2019). To study their cognitive performance, we used an established automated operant learning paradigm for domestic chickens (Dudde et al., 2018), which included initial associative learning, followed by reversal learning and finally an extinction phase. In accordance with mammalian studies and the convergence of the human S-allele with the domestic chicken W-allele, we assume that domestic chickens with a homozygous wildtype allele W/W would perform better in the cognitive task and be more fearful compared to the homozygous deletion D/D birds, while heterozygous chickens should perform in the intermediate range.

Materials and methods

Animals and housing

Adult domestic hens (Gallus gallus forma domestica) with polymorphisms in the flanking region of the 5-HTT gene were used (Phi-van et al., 2014). The D-allele is characterised by the deletion of four nucleotides (5'-AATT-3') and a nearby single nucleotide substitution $(A \rightarrow T)$ compared to the wild-type allele W (Phi-van et al., 2014; Phi Van et al., 2018). From these two alleles, three 5-HTT genotypes appeared: homozygous wild-type W/W, homozygous deletion-type D/D and heterozygous W/D. The hens with the three 5-HTT genotypes were obtained through a controlled breeding regime using W/W and D/D parents from the laboratory stock, returning to the genetic Lohmann Brown (Phi-van et al., 2014; Kjaer and Phivan, 2016; Krause et al., 2017; Phi Van et al., 2018). Briefly, 20 cockerels of each genotype were randomly intercrossed with 20 hens of the same genotype and with 10 hens of the other genotype. The hens of that breeding were marked with numbered wing tags and raised in identical littered pens until the experiments. For the experiment, we used 52 hens, 15 hens of the W/W, 19 hens of the W/D and 18 hens of the D/D alleles that had an age of 1.5 years at the start of the tests. The three genotypes of the hens are not linked to their phenotypic appearance, which enabled us to conduct all data collection blind with respect to the genotype of the animal.

The genotypes were revealed after completion of data collection for the analysis.

Approximately 12 weeks before the behavioural tests started, hens were randomly allocated to two identical compartments that were next to the room used for the behaviour test, all in the same stable. These litter floor compartments (each a size of 11 m²) were equipped with perches, a box filled with sand for dustbathing, pick blocks and a group nest. The birds had *ad libitum* access to standard commercial food (15.5% crude protein, 5.2% crude fat, 3.4% crude fibre, and 12.8% crude ash; the three main ingredients were 35.7% wheat, 18.4% maize, and 17.3% soy) and to water. Light was provided for 14 h per day. To habituate the hens to the experimenters and the food reward of the test, the chickens were additionally fed wheat grains once a day by the experimenters.

Learning experiment setup

The experimental setup and the procedures of the learning experiment were similar to the experimental setup and the procedures described in Dudde et al. (2018). The procedures are briefly described in the following. Hens were trained and tested in different phases: (a) habituation, (b) screen training that consisted of three stages, and (c) the cognitive test phase that consisted of three learning stages: (i) initial associative learning, (ii) reversal learning, and (iii) extinction (see Table 1). The hens were tested during these phases in one out of four identical custom-built test boxes, which were located in a room adjacent to the home compartments of the hens. The test boxes (width, depth, height: $55 \text{ cm} \times 46.5 \text{ cm} \times 66 \text{ cm}$) with a touchscreen (height \times wide: 19 cm \times 25 cm), a speaker and a food rewarddelivery system (foldable food trough (height \times wide \times depth: $1.5 \text{ cm} \times 4 \text{ cm} \times 8 \text{ cm}$) are described in detail in Dudde et al. (2018). An in-house developed C++ software (Microsoft Visual Studio, 2010, Microsoft, Redmond, WA, United States; code can be provided upon request) controlled the complete electronic setup of the test box, such as light, sound, reward delivery, touchscreen and monitor. For additional observation of the hens, a video camera was installed at one side of each test box. During the experiments, the hens were not able to see each other from inside the boxes. For habituation, training and learning phases, hens were individually taken from their home compartments and gently placed into the test boxes. They were rewarded with wheat grains to which they had been familiarised in advance. At no time in the experiment were hens' food restricted prior to testing. The experience of success with only positive rewards was established in a previous study (Dudde et al., 2018). The time in the test box was increased during the habituation stage (see Table 1). The hens remained in the test box for a session that lasted up to a maximum of 20 min. However, if a hen made quicker decisions, she could decrease the time in the test box in that respective session, as each hen had to make 20 decisions per session (for details see Dudde et al. (2018)) or alternatively, the time in the test box ended after 20 min. If a hen did not finish one of the training phases (see details below) or one of the three learning phases within 20 daily sessions, the testing ended, and she was thus excluded from the further experiments (Dudde et al., 2018). To successfully solve each training phase, initial learning and reversal learning, hens needed 80% correct decisions out of at least ten decisions (Dudde et al., 2018). This learning criterion differs from the 50% chance level and is in accordance with other learning studies (Garner et al., 2006; Brust et al., 2014; Dudde et al., 2018). To successfully finish the extinction, hens needed to demonstrate no responses in 70% of at least ten trials (Dudde et al., 2018).

Habituation and training phases

During the habituation phase, hens were individually habituated in five consecutive sessions, with increasing time in the box from 5 to 20 min (Table 1). Thereafter, the training phase started, and hens were familiarised with pecks on a dot on the touch screen to receive a food reward (Table 1). During training, hens were asked to go through three training phases as described in detail in Dudde et al. (2018). Once a hen had successfully finished the training, she was tested in the initial associative learning phase.

Testing in three learning phases

The cognitive testing consisted of three phases: (i) initial associative learning, (ii) reversal learning, and (iii) extinction phase.

i.) Initial associative learning phase

For the initial associative learning, the hens needed to learn to differentiate between two simultaneously shown coloured bars, red and green, independent of the orientation of the bars (for details, see Dudde et al., 2018). Which colour was rewarded was alternatingly changed between subjects. To avoid side preferences, the presentation side of the rewarded bar was randomised on both sides within sessions (de Haas et al., 2017a,b). Pecking one of the bars was recorded as an active decision and as correct when the bar pecked was the rewarded bar and as incorrect when the bar packed was the unrewarded bar. Pecking the rest of the screen outside the bars, i.e. the black screen, was not recorded as a decision. If a hen made a correct decision, she received wheat grains for 5s before the next trial appeared. Thereafter, a black screen was shown for 20s (intercomponent time) before the two coloured bars reappeared with a randomised position and orientation. If a hen made a wrong decision, no reward was provided, and a black screen appeared for 5 s, followed again by 20s of intercomponent time. Then, the previously shown bars appeared at the same position again. Hens solved the initial learning phase when they made 80% correct decisions of at least ten decisions within a session.

	Level	Time	Stimulus	Task/reward for	Learning criteria
Habituation	0	One session	None	Stay 5 min in the box and eat wheat grain <i>ad libitum</i>	None
		One session	None	Stay 10 min in the box and eat wheat grain ad libitum	None
		One session	None	Stay 10 min in the box and eat wheat grain ad libitum, turning on and off of reward delivery system	None
		One session	None	Stay 15 min in the box and eat wheat grain only when reward system turns on, time to eat 20 s	None
		One session	None	Stay 15 min in the box and eat wheat grain only when reward system turns on, time to eat 5 s	None
Screen training	1	Individual	Circle	Peck on circle or no peck on circle within 30s—rewarded	80% correct
	2	Individual	Circle	Peck three times on circle—rewarded	80% correct
	ŝ	Individual	Circle	Peck five times on circle—rewarded	80% correct
Discrimination	4	Individual	Bars	Peck five times on correct symbol—rewarded	80% correct
Reversal	Ŋ	Individual	Bars	Peck five times on correct symbol—rewarded	80% correct
Extinction	9	Individual	Bars	No response, not rewarded	70% correct

Dudde et al.

ii.) Reversal learning phase

During reversal learning, the initially unrewarded colour was rewarded, and the initially rewarded colour was unrewarded. Everything else remained identical to the process described in the initial learning phase (Dudde et al., 2018). The reversal learning was successfully finished after 80% correct decisions of at least ten decisions within a session.

iii.) Extinction phase

In the extinction phase, none of the two bars were rewarded, and the extinction learning criterion was reached when a hen did not respond to any of the two symbols on the screen in 70% of a least ten trials within a session. If a hen did not peck, the symbols vanished after 20 s, followed by an intercomponent time of 20 s. If a hen pecked on one of the symbols on the touchscreen, the black screen appeared for an intercomponent time of 20 s (see as well Dudde et al., 2018, for details).

Stimuli used in the training and cognitive phases

During the training phase, we used as stimulus a grey circle (diameter: 2 cm, colour in red-green-blue (RGB) values: R=224, G=224, B=224) that was shown on the touch screen. During the cognitive testing, we used a green bar (high × length: 10 mm × 40 mm, colour in RGB values: R=20, G=184, B=29) and a red bar (high × length: 10 mm × 40 mm, colour in RGB values: R=237, G=28, B=36) as stimuli, which were presented on a black screen and were all suited for the visual physiology of the hens (Osorio et al., 1999). These stimuli had already been used successfully in former experiments (Dudde et al., 2018). The screens were thin-film transistor (TFT) screens 12.1″ with super video graphics array (SVGA) 600 * 800 with an infrared (IR) frame for touch detection (IR Touch-kit 121.-A301, Citron GmbH, Augsburg, Germany).

Fear-related measures estimated by the tonic immobility test

We further measured a fear-related trait in advance using the tonic immobility paradigm to understand potential genotyperelated links between fear-related behaviours (Krause et al., 2017, 2019) and cognitive performance. Therefore, all individuals were individually tested in a tonic immobility (TI) test approximately 8 weeks prior to the learning test. The TI is a robust measure for fearfulness in chickens (Gallup et al., 1971; Jones, 1986). A longer latency to rise reflects a higher level of fear (Gallup et al., 1971; Jones, 1986). The test was conducted as described earlier (Krause et al., 2019): briefly, hens were individually tested in an adjacent room using a V-shaped cradle. Birds were put on their backs into the cradle, and once they remained immobile for 10 s, the latency to rise was measured (maximal 600 s). Birds that did not remain immobile within three attempts were recorded with 0 s, which was

TABLE 1 Experimental phases and their characteristics

only the case for a single bird (from the D/D genotype). Immediately after testing, birds were released into their respective home compartments.

Statistical analysis

To analyse the participation success of the hens from the different genotypes, we first compared the proportion of hens that met the criterion for each phase of the screen training (three phases) and cognitive tasks (three phases). Thus, hens solving all tasks successfully achieved 6 phases in total. These numbers were tested for survival curve differences using the Gehan-Wilcox test.

Thereafter, we compared the learning performance of the hens with respect to their 5-HTT genotype. We analysed the sum of active decisions they needed to fulfil the learning criteria of each level. Active decisions were counted as the number of correct and wrong decisions, whereby inactive trials with no decisions were not counted, in line with Dudde et al. (2018). The respective data processing was performed using a custom-written MATLAB script (Matlab and Statistics Toolbox Release, 2017). The residuals of the average number of active decisions per learning phase were tested for normal distribution with Shapiro-Wilk tests and homogeneity of variances with Levene's test. We analysed the respective data for each learning level with a linear mixed effects (LME) model. The active decisions at the respective level were analysed in linear mixed effects models with the explanatory factor 5-HTT genotype (3-level factor: W/W, W/D, D/D) and housing compartment as a random factor. For significant linear models, we calculated *post-hoc* pairwise *t*-test comparisons for genotypes. Body weight was analysed using an LME model as described above. In addition, body weights were correlated to the active choice from the three different learning levels to examine whether there was a linkage using Pearson correlations. Latencies from the tonic immobility test were not normally distributed even after transformation and thus analysed with the nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis test with regard to the 5-HTT genotype, as a pairwise post-hoc unpaired Wilcoxon test was used. Furthermore, tonic immobility test latencies were correlated with the active choice from the three different learning levels to examine whether there was a linkage using Spearman correlations.

All analyses were calculated with R 4.0.3 (R Core Team, 2019), the package nlme (Pinheiro et al., 2007) car (Fox, 2019) and survival (Therneau, 2020).

The raw data of the study are available from Dudde et al. (2022).

Ethical note

Animals were visually controlled daily for health status. The study was in accordance with the German Laws and has been approved by the respective regional authority, the Lower Saxony State Office for Consumer Protection and Food Safety (LaVes) (# 33.19–42,502–04-18/2993). The hens were housed as laying hens after the tests had ended, and the eggs were marketed.

Results

Success in participating throughout the experiment

The proportion of hens successfully participating in the experiment differed between the three 5-HTT genotypes. In particular, hens from the W/W genotype failed to achieve the learning criteria of the different learning levels throughout the experiment compared to hens from the D/D and W/D genotypes (Gehan-Wilcox test, Chi²=8.6, df=2, p=0.01, see Figure 1).

Cognitive performance

(i.) Initial learning

The initial learning performance was significantly affected by the 5-HTT genotype of the hens (LME: factor genotype: $F_{2,20}$ =4.14, *p*=0.031, Figure 2). The *post-hoc* pairwise comparison revealed that W/W differed significantly from W/D and D/D (both *p* <0.02), whereas D/D and W/D did not differ from each other (*p*=0.73). W/W hens needed more active decisions to reach the learning criteria compared to the other genotypes. Three WW hens, 12 W/D hens and 9 D/D hens were tested in initial learning.

ii.) Reversal learning and extinction



FIGURE 1

Proportion of hens that successfully passed the learning tasks of each level according to their genetic origin. In particular, hens from the W/W genotype failed to achieve the learning criteria of the different learning levels compared to hens from the D/D and W/D genotypes (Gehan-Wilcox test, Chi2=7.5, df=2 p=0.02). In the phases, the following number of hens took part in the respective phase: W/W (phase 1–6: 15,3,3,3,1,1); W/D (19,13,12,12,11,10); D/D (18,10,10,9,8,7). In reversal learning, hens from all three 5-HTT genotypes did not differ in the number of active decisions needed to reach the respective learning criteria (LME: factor genotype, $F_{2,16}$ =1.46, p=0.26, Figure 3A). Additionally, in the extinction, 5-HTT genotypes did not show differences in the number of active choices (LME: factor genotype, $F_{2,14}$ =0.48, p=0.63, Figure 3B). There were 1 W/W, 11 D/W and 8 D/D hens tested in the reversal tests and one less of each W/D and D/D in the extinction, according to the learning criteria.

Body weight

The body weight of the hens from the three 5-HTT genotypes differed significantly from each other (LME: factor genotype, $F_{2,48}$ =4.60, *p*=0.015; Figure 4). Pairwise *post-hoc* tests revealed that W/W differed from W/D and D/D (both *p*<0.038), but D/D



and W/D did not differ from each other (p=0.65). On an individual level, body weight was not correlated with any of the three numbers of active choices from the cognitive performance (Pearson correlations, all three r < -0.16, all three p>0.26).

Fear-related measures estimated by the tonic immobility test

The latency in the tonic immobility test differed between the hens of the three 5-HTT genotypes (Kruskal-Wallis test, X^2 =6.48, df=2, *p*=0.039; Figure 5). *Post-hoc* comparisons between the three 5-HTT genotypes showed that WW differed from DD (*p*=0.018), while all other comparisons were not different (both *p*>0.12). On an individual level, tonic immobility latency was not correlated with any of the three numbers of active choices from the cognitive performance (Spearman correlations, all three r<0.25, all three *p*>0.24).

Discussion

Hens with the 5-HTT genotypes W/D and D/D performed significantly better in the initial learning phase than hens with the W/W genotype. The D/D and W/D hens not only performed better in the learning phase but also participated in all three cognitive phases at a higher rate than the W/W hens and were also less fearful in a tonic immobility test than the W/W hens.

This result on cognitive performance is in contrast to our initial assumption that was derived from humans and other mammalian studies (Homberg and Lesch, 2011); however, the result is in line with our expectation with regard to fearfulness (Krause et al., 2019). W/W hens were the most fearful, participated less in the learning task and had worse results in this task. This functional effect of the 5-HTT genotype is interesting. The effect



Mean number $(\pm$ SE) of active choices required: (A) reversal learning, as well as (B) extinction learning, with no significant differences found between the three genotypes. The number in the bars indicates the number of hens that participated in the initial learning.



Mean body (\pm SE) mass in grams from the hens of the three 5-HTT genotypes, with the W/W being significantly lighter than the other two. The number in the bars indicates the number of hens that were measured



may have been caused by several factors, which we discuss in the following.

One of the main factors affecting learning performance in this experiment can be the diverging fearfulness of the hens. The hens with the W/W genotype are more fearful than the other types (Krause et al., 2017, 2019), as shown in the tonic immobility test, where longer latencies to rise indicate a higher level of fearfulness (Gallup et al., 1971; Jones, 1986). This is an interesting difference from humans, where the genotype resembling the chicken W allele is the S allele, which is also linked to more fearful responses but is assumed to show more thoughtfulness towards learning tasks (Homberg and Lesch, 2011). In our experiment, an assumption for worse learning of D/D hens could be associated with the potentially stressful learning situation in the Skinner box, separated from the conspecifics, hence paying more attention to the environment but not to the actual learning task. Future studies should therefore also address the question of whether D/D and W/W hens differ in their

coping style, e.g., reactive or proactive (Koolhaas et al., 1999, 2010), as such is also known to affect learning speed (Guillette et al., 2015). However, in contrast to humans, learning performance is not positively linked to fearfulness, but it might be that fear hinders chickens from training and learning. This idea also supports the finding that the participation success in training and testing over all experimental phases was significantly different between the genotypes and lowest in W/W hens, either reflecting their fearfulness or alternatively cognitive limitations.

Whether hens with the W/W genotype might be better at learning in a fear-free context might be considered in future studies. However, intrinsic fear cannot be compensated for by a fear-reducing environmental situation.

A further potential factor, which might theoretically have affected the learning performance of the hens in our study, is the different motivations for the food reward used in our test (Dudde et al., 2018). Previous studies, as well as this study, have shown that hens possessing the D/D genotype are heavier and feed more during certain juvenile stages in comparison to W/W hens (Kjaer and Phi van, 2016). Therefore, even adult D/D hens might have a higher food motivation in certain contexts and hence have a higher motivation to participate in the learning task. We cannot fully exclude effects caused by food motivation in this study design, although all hens were not food deprived prior to the study. Nevertheless, it could be interesting to design future experiments that use other than food rewards in cognitive tasks, e.g. social rewards, to avoid potential bias of food motivation.

Significant differences in cognitive performance were only detected in the initial learning, while during reversal, learning was solved by hens from all three 5-HTT genotypes similarly well. This finding has to be taken with a certain caution, as in the reversal and extinction phase, only a single hen from the W/W genotype participated in testing. Thus, whether the performance of the individuals from the three genotypes differs in these two phases cannot be robustly evaluated and may be further examined in future studies. Nevertheless, it is of great general interest that, although in the opposite direction as expected from mammalian studies, polymorphisms in the 5-HTT gene affect the initial learning of domestic chickens.

The results of the tonic immobility test show that W/W hens had the longest latencies to rise and thus the highest levels of fearfulness (Gallup et al., 1971; Jones, 1986). In addition to their help to potentially understand why W/W hens participated less and poorly in the learning test, the result itself is a nice replication of the findings of earlier studies (Krause et al., 2019). On the genotype group level, tonic immobility latencies were high in W/W hens as the number of active choices needed in the learning phases; however, no significant correlation between both parameters was found. Thus, there does not seem to be a strong association between the level of fearfulness and cognitive performance in individuals. No such correlation was found for body masses and cognitive performance; however, genotype-level differences in body masses replicate earlier studies (e.g. Phi-van et al., 2014; Krause et al., 2017, 2019).

10.3389/fpsyg.2022.901022

From an applied animal science perspective, the polymorphism at the serotonin transporter gene is an interesting candidate for future commercial breeding strategies. Selecting for the deletion D-allele may lead not only to heavier hens but also to more robust and thus less fearful hens, which might be important for the mental welfare of the hens. However, thus far, the abundance of the D allele in commercial breeds investigated is quite low, e.g., approximately 7.5% in a brown layer strain (Krause et al., 2019).

Taken together, we found that polymorphisms in the serotonin transporter gene 5-HTT significantly affected the training and initial learning performance of laying hens. Genotypes related to less fearfulness perform better in the initial associative learning task, showing the impact of the 5-HTT polymorphism on cognitive performance in domestic chickens.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are publicly available. This data can be found here: https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.20237754.v1.

Ethics statement

The study was carried out in accordance to the German Laws and has been approved by the respective regional authority, the Lower Saxony State Office for Consumer Protection and Food Safety (LaVes;# 33.19–42502–04-18/2993).

Author contributions

AD, EK, LS, and LP contributed to conception and design of the study. AD and EK organised the experiments. EK and AO

References

Brigman, J. L., Mathur, P., Harvey-White, J., Izquierdo, A., Saksida, L. M., Bussey, T. J., et al. (2010). Pharmacological or genetic inactivation of the serotonin transporter improves reversal learning in mice. *Cereb. Cortex* 20, 1955–1963. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhp266

Brust, V., Krüger, O., Naguib, M., and Krause, E. T. (2014). Lifelong consequences of early nutritional conditions on learning performance in zebra finches (Taeniopygia guttata). *Behav. Processes* 103, 320–326. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc. 2014.01.019

Canli, T., and Lesch, K. P. (2007). Long story short: the serotonin transporter in emotion regulation and social cognition. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10, 1103–1109. doi: 10.1038/nn1964

de Haas, E. N., Lee, C., Hernandez, C. E., Naguib, M., and Rodenburg, T. B. (2017a). Individual differences in personality in laying hens are related to learning a colour cue association. *Behav. Processes* 134, 37–42. doi: 10.1016/j.beproc. 2016.11.001

de Haas, E. N., Lee, C., and Rodenburg, T. B. (2017b). Learning and judgment can be affected by predisposed fearfulness in laying hens. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 4:113. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2017.00113

Dudde, A., Krause, E. T., Matthews, L. R., and Schrader, L. (2018). More Than eggs-relationship Between productivity and learning in laying hens. *Front. Psychol.* 9:2000. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02000

performed the statistical analysis. AD wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

We thank the editor and two reviewers for extremely helpful comments on an earlier version of the manuscript. Furthermore, we thank the staff of the experimental station, especially Karsten Knop, Klaus Gehrling, and Philipp Knorscheidt, for taking care of the animals. We are grateful to Oliver Sanders and Matthias Friedrich for construction, building and programming the learning boxes. Anetta Köllner helped during the installation of the boxes. Enormous help during the testing was provided by Anna-Lea Bühring, Laura Brockmann, Kathrin Körner, Stine Heindorff, Sabine Medic, Marie-Therese Knoll, and Ute Lenert.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Fox, J. (2019). John Fox and Sanford Weisberg. An R Companion to Applied Regression. 3rd Edn. Los Angeles: Sage Publications.

Gallup, G. G., Nash, R. F., and Wagner, A. M. (1971). The tonic immobility reaction in chickens: response characteristics and methodology. *Behav. Res. Methods Instrum.* 3, 237–239. doi: 10.3758/BF03208389

Garner, J. P., Thogerson, C. M., Würbel, H., Murray, J. D., and Mench, J. A. (2006). Animal neuropsychology: validation of the intra-dimensional extradimensional set shifting task for mice. *Behav. Brain Res.* 173, 53–61. doi: 10.1016/j. bbr.2006.06.002

Garnham, L., and Løvlie, H. (2018). Sophisticated fowl: The complex behaviour and cognitive skills of chickens and red Junglefowl. *Behav. Sci.* 8:13. doi: 10.3390/bs8010013

Guillette, L. M., Hahn, A. H., Hoeschele, M., Przyslupski, A. M., and Sturdy, C. B. (2015). Individual differences in learning speed, performance accuracy and exploratory behaviour in black-capped chickadees. *Anim. Cogn.* 18, 165–178. doi: 10.1007/s10071-014-0787-3

Dudde, A., Phi-Van, L., Schrader, L., Obert, A. J., and Krause, E. T. (2022). Data from brain gain - is the cognitive performance of domestic hens affected by a functional polymorphism in the serotonin transporter gene? *Figshare*. doi: 10.6084/m9. figshare.20237754

Harris, J. J., Jolivet, R., and Attwell, D. (2012). Synaptic energy use and supply. *Neuron* 75, 762–777. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.08.019

Homberg, J. R., and Lesch, K. P. (2011). Looking on the bright side of serotonin transporter gene variation. *Biol. Psychiatry* 69, 513–519. doi: 10.1016/j. biopsych.2010.09.024

Jedema, H. P., Gianaros, P. J., Greer, P. J., Kerr, D. D., Liu, S., Higley, J. D., et al. (2010). Cognitive impact of genetic variation of the serotonin transporter in primates is associated with differences in brain morphology rather than serotonin neurotransmission. *Mol. Psychiatry* 15, 512–522. doi: 10.1038/mp.2009.90

Jones, R. B. (1986). The tonic immobility reaction of the domestic fowl: a review. *Worlds Poult. Sci. J.* 42, 82–96. doi: 10.1079/WPS19860008

Karabeg, M. M., Grauthoff, S., Kollert, S. Y., Weidner, M., Heiming, R. S., Jansen, F., et al. (2013). 5-HTT deficiency affects neuroplasticity and increases stress sensitivity resulting in altered spatial learning performance in the Morris water maze but not in the Barnes maze. *PLoS One* 8:e78238. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0078238

Kjaer, J. B., and Phi van, L. (2016). Evidence for the association of a deleted variant in the 5'- flanking region of the chicken serotonin transporter 5-HTT gene with a temporary increase in feed intake and growth rate. *Animals* 6:63. doi: 10.3390/ani6100063

Koolhaas, J., De Boer, S., Coppens, C., and Buwalda, B. (2010). Neuroendocrinology of coping styles: towards understanding the biology of individual variation. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.* 31, 307–321. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne. 2010.04.001

Koolhaas, J., Korte, S., De Boer, S., Van Der Vegt, B., Van Reenen, C., Hopster, H., et al. (1999). Coping styles in animals: current status in behavior and stress-physiology. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 23, 925–935. doi: 10.1016/S0149-7634 (99)00026-3

Krause, E. T., Kjaer, J. B., Dudde, A., Schrader, L., and Phi-van, L. (2019). Fear but not social behaviour is affected by a polymorphism in the 5'-flanking region of the serotonin transporter (5-HTT) gene in adult hens. *Behav. Brain Res.* 361, 50–53. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2018.12.029

Krause, E. T., Kjaer, J. B., and Lüders, C. (2017). A polymorphism in the 5'-flanking region of the serotonin transporter (5-HTT) gene affects fear-related behaviors of adult domestic chickens. *Behav. Brain Res.* 330, 92–96. doi: 10.1016/j. bbr.2017.04.051

Krause, E. T., Naguib, M., Trillmich, F., and Schrader, L. (2006). The effects of short term enrichment on learning in chickens from a laying strain (Gallus gallus domesticus). *Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci.* 101, 318–327. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2006.02.005

Lesch, K.-P., Bengel, D., Heils, A., Sabol, S. Z., Greenberg, B. D., Petri, S., et al. (1996). Association of anxiety-related traits with a polymorphism in the serotonin

transporter gene regulatory region. Science 274, 1527-1531. doi: 10.1126/science.274.5292.1527

Lesch, K., Meyer, J., Glatz, K., Flügge, G., Hinney, A., Hebebrand, J., et al. (1997). The 5-HT transporter gene-linked polymorphic region (5-HTTLPR) in evolutionary perspective: alternative biallelic variation in rhesus monkeys. *J. Neural Transm.* 104, 1259–1266. doi: 10.1007/BF01294726

Madsen, K., Erritzoe, D., Mortensen, E. L., Gade, A., Madsen, J., Baaré, W., et al. (2011). Cognitive function is related to fronto-striatal serotonin transporter levels–a brain PET study in young healthy subjects. *Psychopharmacology* 213, 573–581. doi: 10.1007/s00213-010-1926-4

Marino, L. (2017). Thinking chickens: a review of cognition, emotion, and behavior in the domestic chicken. *Anim. Cogn.* 20, 127-147. doi: 10.1007/s10071-016-1064-4

Matlab and Statistics Toolbox Release (2017). Matlab and Statistics Toolbox Release. Natick, MA: The MathWorks, Inc.

Osorio, D., Miklósi, A., and Gonda, Z. (1999). Visual ecology and perception of coloration patterns by domestic chicks. *Evol. Ecol.* 13, 673–689. doi: 10.1023/A:1011059715610

Phi Van, V. D., Krause, E. T., and Phi-Van, L. (2018). Modulation of fear and arousal behavior by serotonin transporter (5-HTT) genotypes in newly hatched chickens. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 12:284. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2018. 00284

Phi-van, L., Holtz, M., Kjaer, J. B., van Phi, V. D., and Zimmermann, K. (2014). A functional variant in the 5'-flanking region of the chicken serotonin transporter gene is associated with increased body weight and locomotor activity. *J. Neurochem.* 131, 12–20. doi: 10.1111/jnc.12799

Pinheiro, J., Bates, D., DebRoy, S., and Sarkar, D. R. C. Team (2007). Linear and nonlinear mixed effects models. *R package version* 3, 1–89.

Roiser, J. P., Müller, U., Clark, L., and Sahakian, B. J. (2007). The effects of acute tryptophan depletion and serotonin transporter polymorphism on emotional processing in memory and attention. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 10, 449–461. doi: 10.1017/S146114570600705X

Strobel, A., Dreisbach, G., Müller, J., Goschke, T., Brocke, B., and Lesch, K.-P. (2007). Genetic variation of serotonin function and cognitive control. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 19, 1923–1931. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2007.19.12.1923

R Core Team. (2019). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria: Available at: https://www. R-project.org/.[Google Scholar].

Therneau, T. (2020). A Package for Survival Analysis in R: R Package Version 3.1–12 eds book a Package for Survival Analysis in R. R Package version 3, 1-12.

Frontiers in **Veterinary Science**

Transforms how we investigate and improve animal health

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Contact us

frontiers

Frontiers in **Veterinary Science**



